

ADVANCES IN MEDICAL, PHAR ACEUTICAL PHAR ACEUTICAL BENTAL JOURNAL VOLUME 5

ISSUE 1 JUNE 2025

E-ISSN: 2812-4898

Academy Publishing Center

Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research [AMPDR] First edition 2021



Arab Academy for Science, Technology, and Maritime Transport, AASTMT Abu Kir Campus, Alexandria, EGYPT P.O. Box: Miami 1029 Tel: [+203] 5622366/88 – EXT 1069 and [+203] 5611818 Fax: [+203] 5611818 Web Site:http://apc.aast.edu

No responsibility is assumed by the publisher for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of products liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions or ideas contained in the material herein.

Every effort has been made to trace the permission holders of figures and in obtaining permissions where necessary.

Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research is a peer-reviewed, open access, multidisciplinary journal with two issues yearly. The aim of the journal is to publish updated reviews besides research articles with comprehensive theoretical and experimental details. Short communications are also accepted. The multidisciplinary journal welcomes manuscripts covering a wide range of aspects involved in medical, pharmaceutical and dental sciences. All submitted articles should report original, previously unpublished research results, experimental or theoretical. Articles submitted to the journal should meet these criteria and must not be under consideration for publication elsewhere. The manuscript should follow the style specified by the journal.

The journal is open-access with a liberal Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial 4.0 International License which preserves the copyrights of published materials to the authors and protects it from unauthorized commercial use.

The AMPDR journal does not collect Articles Processing Charges [APCs] or submission fees, and is free of charge for authors and readers, and operates an online submission with the peer review system allowing authors to submit articles online and track their progress via its web interface.

The journal is financially supported by the Arab Academy for Science, Technology, and Maritime Transport AASTMT in order to maintain quality open-access source of research papers

AMPDR has an outstanding editorial and advisory board of eminent scientists, researchers and engineers who contribute and enrich the journal with their vast experience in different fields of interest to the journal.

Editorial Committee

Honorary Editors-in-Chief

Prof. Mahmoud Mohamed Alzalabany, Ph.D.

Chair of the executive committee of the medical sector , Arab Academy for Science and Technology and Maritime Transport [AASTMT] El Alamein Campus, El Alamein, EGYPT Email: Mahmoud.Elzalabany@aast.edu

Prof. Mohamed Hesham A. A. Hassan, Ph.D.

Dean, College of Medicine, Arab Academy for Science and Technology and Maritime Transport [AASTMT] El Alamein Campus, El Alamein, EGYPT Email: mhesham@aast.edu

Prof. Hosny Fouad, Ph.D.

Professor Emeritus of Biochemistry, College of Pharmacy, Arab Academy for Science and Technology and Maritime Transport [AASTMT] Abu Kir Campus, Alexandria, EGYPT Email: drhfouad@aast.edu

Prof. Evan Ibrahim Saad, Ph.D.

Dean, College of Pharmacy, Arab Academy for Science and Technology and Maritime Transport [AASTMT] El Alamein Campus, El Alamein, EGYPT Email: e.l.Saad@aast.edu

Prof. Tarek Mahmoud Aly, Ph.D.

Dean, College of of Dentistry, Arab Academy for Science and Technology and Maritime Transport [AASTMT] Abu Kir Campus, Alexandria, EGYPT Email: tarek.mahmoud.aly@aast.edu

Editor-in-Chief

Prof. Amira M. Senbel, Ph.D.

Dean, College of Pharmacy, Arab Academy for Science and Technology and Maritime Transport [AASTMT] Abu Kir Campus, Alexandria, EGYPT E-mail: amira.senbel@aast.edu

Associate Editors

Rasha M. Abu El Khair, Ph.D.

Associate Professor of Pharmacognosy, College of Pharmacy, Arab Academy for Science and Technology and Maritime Transport [AASTMT] Abu Kir Campus, Alexandria, EGYPT Email: rasha.aboelkhair@aast.edu

Botros Beshay, Ph.D

Assistant Professor of Medicinal Chemistry, College of Pharmacy, Arab Academy for Science and Technology and Maritime Transport [AASTMT] Abu Kir Campus, Alexandria, EGYPT Email: botros_beshay@aast.edu

Maha Refaat, Ph.D.

Lecturer of Endodontics, College of Dentistry Arab Academy for Science and Techmology and Maritime Transport [AASTMT] El Alamein Campus, El Alamein, EGYPT Email: maharefaat@aast.edu

Mona Hamdy, Ph.D

Vice-Dean of Education, Faculty of Medicine, El Alamein Arab Academy for Science, Technology and Maritime Transport, Egypt Email: Mona.ashry@aast.edu

Editorial Board

Abdel Rahman Tawfik, Ph.D

Assistant Professor of Oral Surgery, Hamdan Bin Mohamed College of Dentistry, MBRU, UAE

Adnan Bekhit, Ph.D

Professor of Pharmaceutical Chemistry & Pharmacy Program, Allied Health Department, College of Health and Sport Sciences, University of Bahrain, Bahrain

Ahmed Mahrous, Ph.D

Clinical Assistant Professor, Department of Prosthodontics, University of Iowa, USA

Alaa El-Din Bekhit, Ph.D

Associate Professor of Food Science, University of Otago, New Zealand

Angelo Troedhan, Ph.D

Visiting Professor of Faculty of Dentistry of Health Science Vientiane University, Consultant specialist, Accident department, Wilhelminenspital of the municipality of Vienna, Austria

Ashraf M. Omar. Ph.D

Postdoctoral Researcher, Natural Drug Discovery Laboratory Institute of Natural Medicine, University of Toyama, Japan

Diana Messadi, Ph.D

Professor, Section of Oral Medicine and OroFacial Pain, Division of Oral Biology & Medicine, Vice-Dean, School of Dentistry, UCLA, USA

Gulsev Ozen, Ph.D

Associate Professor, University Of Istanbul, Turkey

Luca Solemei, Ph.D

Professor a.c., Department of Surgical and Diagnostic Sciences [D.I.S.C], University of Genova, Italy

Mohamed M. Radwan, Ph.D

Senior Research Scientist, School of Pharmacy, University of Mississippi, USA

Mohamed Maksoud, Ph.D

Lecturer on Oral Medicine, Infection, and Immunity, [Part-time], Harvard University USA

Paris Georghiou, Ph.D

Honorary Research Professor of Chemistry, Memorial University of Newfoundland, Canada

Stefano Benedicenti, Ph.D

Associate Professor in Restorative Dentistry and Endodontics, Dean of the laser department center, University of Genova, Italy

Administrative Board

Journal Manager.

Professor Yasser Gaber Dessouky,

Dean of Scientific Research and Innovation, Arab Academy for Science, Technology & Maritime Transport, Egypt.

Copy Editor.

Professor Abeer Refky,

Dean of the Institute for Language Studies, Arab Academy for Science, Technology & Maritime Transport, Egypt.

Documentation Manger.

Dr. Mohamed Ahmed El-Sakran,

Deanery of scientific research and innovation, Academy Publishing Center, Arab Academy for Science, Technology & Maritime Transport, Egypt.

Dina Mostafa El-Sawy,

Coordinator, Academy Publishing Center, Arab Academy for Science , Technology & Maritime Transport, Egypt.

Layout Editor and Proof-reader.

Engineer Sara Gad,

Graphic Designer, Academy Publishing Center, Arab Academy for Science, Technology & Maritime Transport, Egypt.

Engineer Yara El Rayess,

Graphic Designer, Academy Publishing Center, Arab Academy for Science, Technology & Maritime Transport, Egypt.

IT Manager.

Engineer Ahmad Abdel Latif Goudah,

Web Developer and System Engineer, Arab Academy for Science, Technology & Maritime Transport, Egypt.

Publishing Consultant.

Dr. Mahmoud Khalifa,

Consultant, Academy Publishing Center, Arab Academy for Science, Technology & Maritime Transport, Egypt.

Table of Contents

01 New Developments in the Optometrist's Assessment and Treatment of Common Headaches

Maduabuchukwu Innocent Nkollo and Aghogho Odogu

10 Piper guineense (Swhan and Thon) Inhibits Lanosterol-140demethylase in Multi-Drug Resistant Non-albicans Candida Species: In vitro and In silico Studies

Olumide Oluyele, Damilola Alex Omoboyowa, Ayomide Esther Aderogba and Koffi Adusa Osei

22 Knowledge, Attitude, and Practice towards Voluntary Counseling and Testing Services among University Students in Kigali, Rwanda: A crosssectional study

John Bayingana M., Papias Kanani, Raissah Igiribambe and Japheths Ogendi

33 Age And Pattern Of Cervical Smear Cytology In Federal Medical Centre Asaba – A Five Year Review

Daniel Nnaemeka Onwusulu, Samuel Okwuchukwu Ilikannu, Chikodili Ogugua Ochuba, Valentine Idama, Emmanuel Egboduku, Adeniyi Johnson Fagbemi and Sunday Emmanuel Jombo **38** Context-Dependent Autophagy in Cancer: Deciphering Cytoprotective vs. Cytotoxic Roles and Therapeutic Modulation Strategies

Samer Osama Kostandy, Salwa Aburageh Abuiessa, Mai Mostafa Helmy and Maged Wasfy Helmy

57 Modeling Schizophrenia Endophenotypes In Drosophila Melanogaster: Effects Of Ketamine On Anxiety, Aggression, Locomotion And Inflammatory Responses

Abdulrahman Adesola Bello and Royhaan Olamide Folarin

67 Bispecific T-Cell Engagers and Related Immunotherapies: Advances and Challenges

Emmanuel Owusu Ansah, Benard Ansong and Foster Kyei

82 Unveiling the Multi-Targeted Therapeutic Potentials of Vernonia amygdalina: A Comprehensive Review of Bioactive Compounds, Molecular Mechanisms, and Clinical Opportunities

Emmanuel Okoro Enyi and Obiageri Florence Ajah

93 Pancytopenia in Epidemic Dropsy: A Case Report

Ashish Gautam , Poonam Gupta , Jitendra Shukla and Ajeet Chaurasia

100 A Primer on Fabricating Bioactive Regenerative Scaffolds – From Materials and Surface Properties to Microenvironment Mgi M. Ali

122 Dose-dependent response of metformin in enhancing motor performance and dopamine release in C57BL/6 mice afflicted by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)

Daha Umar ISHAQ , Binta Garba KURFI and Solomon Ojodemi Oguche



June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

New Developments in the Optometrist's Assessment and Treatment of Common Headaches

Maduabuchukwu Innocent Nkollo¹ and Aghogho Odogu²

^{1,2} Department of Optometry, Novena University, Ogume, Nigeria.

Emails: nkolloinnocent@gmail.com, tessonic2023@gmail.com

Received on, 01 December 2024 - Accepted on, 02 January 2025 - Published on, 30 January 2025

ABSTRACT:

Headache is pain experienced in the head and neck. It varies in types as it is caused by several reasons but is chiefly of two types, primary and secondary headaches. Primary headaches have no known cause, but secondary headaches have several causes. Tension, cluster and Migraine headaches are examples of primary headaches but hormonal, allergies, caffeine, exertional, hypertension, rebound, post-traumatic and headaches of ocular origin are secondary headaches. Primary and secondary headaches have their respective presentations, signs and symptoms. These headaches also have their peculiar management plans which have been addressed in this article. However, it is expected that the Optometrist will carry out the required eye examination procedures and/or prescribe the ideal medications, if need be, to remedy the headache complaint.

KEYWORDS:

headache, presentation, assessment, treatment & optometrist.

1. Introduction

Headache is pain experienced in the head and neck regions that may be either a disorder in its own right or a symptom of an underlying medical condition.¹ The medical term for headache is "cephalagia".¹ It is estimated that approximately 64–77% of people have a headache at some point in their lives; however, in each year, on average, 46–53% of people have been found to experience a headache.³ Headache pain is felt when there is a lesion along specialized nerve endings called nociceptors.⁴

Nociceptors are located in the skin, walls of blood vessels, internal organs,² cervical spine, the trigeminal, glossopharyngeal, and vagus

cranial nerves, the nerves innervating the upper part of the neck, the venous sinuses inside the head, the large arteries at the base of the brain, the large arteries innervating the dura mater, which is the outermost layer of the meninges, and the portion of the dura mater at the base of the skull.⁴

2. Materials and Method

Materials were sourced from the internet using PubMed, Google Scholar, and Science Direct. Recent literature relating to headaches, drugs used for treating headaches, and the eye were used for the review. Relevant papers were also obtained from the university library.

Classification of Headaches

Headaches can be classified into two categories based on cause, namely primary and secondary headaches.¹ Primary headaches are headaches without a known cause; tension, cluster, and migraine headaches are examples. Secondary headaches are caused by diseases, disorders, or accidents; allergies or sinus infections and caffeine. Hormonal, exertional, hypertensive, rebound, and post-traumatic headaches and headaches of ocular origin are examples. Whatever the cause may be, all headaches vary in duration, presentation, and intensity.¹

Primary Headaches

Tension Headaches Presentation

Tension headache presents as a reoccurring type of headache pain that lasts from minutes to weeks.⁵ The headache is bilateral, pressing with mild to moderate intensity.⁵ It is not throbbing in nature, and there is tenderness around the neck, forehead, scalp, and shoulder. Tension headaches can occur in anybody, as they are often triggered by stress.⁵ Tension headache is of two subtypes. The Episodic and Chronic. The episodic tension headache occurs once in a while and can last from half an hour to several hours, while chronic tension headaches can consistently occur throughout the month. It occurs at 15 or more days per month, lasting hours or days.⁸ However, both types of tension headaches share similar clinical features except for frequency.⁵

Cluster Headaches

Presentation

Cluster headaches are characterized by a severe burning and piercing pain.⁸ Cluster headaches occur in series, each lasting from 15 minutes to 3 hours, with an average of 45–90 minutes in duration between 6 and 12 weeks.^{16,17} It can occur from trauma and affect an eye and one side of the face at the same time. It most often comes with swelling, redness, flushing, sweating, nasal congestion, and tearing that occur on the side that is affected by the headache.⁹ Cluster headaches are divided into episodic and chronic types. Episodic cluster headache attacks occur from several days to a year if untreated, and chronic occurs more frequently.¹

Associated factors

Cluster headaches are associated with some cardiovascular risk factors causing irregularities in blood pressure leading to fluctuating blood pressure levels in the patients.¹⁰ It is found to be associated with acute maxillary sinusitis." Cluster headaches attacks may be triggered by various substances, which include but are not limited to alcohol, fumes from petroleum products, nail varnish, etc.^{9,12} The administration of intravenous nitroglycerin can induce cluster headaches.¹³ Most studies have shown cluster headaches to be more common in men than in women;⁷ men are three times more likely to suffer from this condition than women. However, any age is possible for onset, but the typical age is 30 years.¹³ There is a high incidence of cluster headaches in patients with head trauma.14,15 Other risk factors for cluster headaches include gender, age, history of brain surgery or trauma and family history.^{15,16}

Migraine Headaches

Presentation

Migraine is an intense pain experienced deep within the head. It is throbbing and usually onesided.¹⁸ The pain from migraine can last for days and can significantly limit the individual's ability to carry out daily routine task. Headache comes with nausea, photophobia, phonophobia, rhinorrhea, tearing, and osmophobia.¹⁹ Migraine occurs in four phases.¹ These phases include:

Prodrome: This is the first phase of migraine attacks.²⁰ Here the migraine headache sufferer experiences symptoms like yawning, mood swings, lethargy, neck symptoms, photophobia, restlessness, craving, sound sensitivity, sweating, excess energy, thirst, and edema.²¹

Aura: Aura is the second phase of migraine. However, it is present in some migraines. Aura can precede a migraine headache or occur simultaneously with it.²² Symptoms of aura include ear ringing, tingling sensation in the skin, rhythmic movements, vision loss and hearing loss.^{1,18,19}

Headache: This is the third phase of migraine attack where the actual headache is felt. This headache phase can last from hours to days. Sufferers may seek relief in dark places, as the pain usually resolves in sleep.¹⁹

Postdrome: This is the last phase of migraine attack. Common symptoms seen include exhaustion, dizziness, difficult concentration, and euphoria.²⁰Associated factors include age, family history and gender. Migraine is common amongst young adults and declines with increase in age.^{19,18} Migraine is hereditary and is associated with other nervous system conditions.^{1,2,10} Migraine also is gender based as women are three times more likely to develop a migraine than men.⁹ People with post-traumatic stress disorder have an increased risk of migraine.¹⁸

Secondary Headaches

Allergy or Sinus Headaches Presentation

Allergy or sinus headaches are caused by an allergic reaction or infection of any of the paranasal sinuses in the head.^{1,11} When the sinuses become infected, inflammation sets in. Symptoms of inflamed sinuses include nasal congestion, running nose, nasal discharge, anosmia, pain when leaning forward and fever.¹¹ People who have chronic seasonal allergies or sinusitis are susceptible to this kind of headache.

Hormonal Headaches

Presentation

Hormonal headaches are headaches often experienced by women in their reproductive

years. This can take the form of migraines, however it differs from migraines because of its hormonal involvement. Associated factors include menstruation, birth control pills, and pregnancy, which can affect estrogen levels, causing headache.^{2,8}

Caffeine Headaches

Presentation

Caffeine consumption can cause headache. However, the relationship between caffeine intake and headache is poorly understood,² but what is known is that excess caffeine intake affects the brain and this can cause headache. Also withdrawal from caffeine can trigger headache, too.^{8,2,22}

Exertion or Exercise Headaches Presentation

Prolonged physical ever

Prolonged physical exertion can cause these headaches. This form of headache can cause fainting, neck pain, and pain on one or both sides of the head."

Hypertension Headaches Presentation

This headache occurs when the blood pressure becomes dangerously high. It is bilateral, and it is aggravated by any physical activity. It is pulsating, and there are changes in vision, numbness or tingling in the extremities, nosebleeds, chest pain, or shortness of breath.⁸

Rebound Headaches

Presentation

Rebound headaches (RH), also known as medication overuse headaches or drug-induced headaches, occur in patients with primary headache.^{31,32} This results in increased headache frequency, whereby the medication indicated for the treatment of the primary headache becomes the cause of headaches.^{1,29} RH is presented like a dull, tension-type headache, or at times like a migraine.¹⁷ Associated factors include regular intake of analgesics such as over-the-counter (OTC) pain relievers like acetaminophen, ibuprofen, aspirin, and naproxen, which will develop RH." Outside OTC medications, there are other risk factors that can cause RH.33 These include age, gender, anxiety and life style.^{33,34,35} RH commonly affect those who are between 30 and 50 years.^{1,36} It is more common in males than females.³⁷ However, metabolic syndromes are common in females with rebound headaches.³⁴

Post-traumatic Headaches (PTH) Presentation

A post-traumatic headache is a type of secondary headache that typically lasts for six to twelve months after a head injury occurs and starts seven days or several months after the shock or injury.²⁸ There are two types of PTH: acute, which lasts less than a year, and chronic, which lasts for a year or longer. PTH presents bilaterally, with moderate to severe intensity, pressing quality and photophobia ^{17,35,36} Associated factors linked to PTH include gender, age, greater severity of head injury, anxiety and depression.^{37,39,40} Chronic daily headache (CDH) is another subtype of headache that may develop after a head injury.³⁸ CDH is a headache that occurs more than 15 days per month in a minimum of three months.¹⁴

Headaches of Ocular Origin Presentation

Headaches of ocular origin are very common headaches experienced by people having ocular or visual challenges.¹¹⁷ The pain of this type of headache is usually felt on the forehead. It can also be bilateral or localized in one eye or take any form. Symptoms of this type of headache include photophobia, lacrimation, pain, sneezing, inflammation and general ocular discomfort. Associated factors include refractive errors, binocular vision abnormalities, head trauma, family history, birth defects, and eye diseases like glaucoma, uveitis, age related macular degeneration etc.^{4,41} Again, spectacles/prismatic prescriptions that are not fully corrective can also cause headaches as a result of a high demand on accommodation. Whatever the cause of these headaches, tackling the primary cause will take away the headache experienced and bring relief to the patient.⁵¹



Fig 1: The different types of headaches and their facial presentations (adopted from pinterest.jpy)

3. Assessment

In tackling the primary cause of headaches the optometrist needs to make a differential diagnosis and carry out clinical procedures on the patient. The differential diagnosis and clinical procedures for eye examination for headache patients are:

Case history:

The differential diagnosis of headaches begins with a complete patient history. The history must contain the age, gender, medical, family, social and work life pattern of the patient.^{4,16,18,28} The optometrist can make a diagnosis of the type of headache, if the case history is done well. In taking the case history, the following information should be obtained from the patient in a question and answer form below:⁵⁴

Character of the headache: Here the optometrist is to inquire from the patient about the nature of the headache, if throbbing or pulsating, dull, sharp, tight pressing or mild.¹

Location: the optometrist is to inquire from the patient about the area of the head where the headache occurs.^{12,17}

Frequency: Here the optometrist is to find out how often the patient experiences the headache.³⁰

Intensity: how debilitating is the headache?^{1,5}

Onset: the optometrist is to inquire from the patient about the headache trigger and the time of the day the headache occurs.^{n,³⁰}

Duration: Here the timeframe of the headache pain is required from the patient ^{2,54}

Associated Symptom/Signs: What signs and/or symptoms accompany the headache?⁵⁴

Relieving Mechanism: By what means is the headache easily relieved?^{1,54}

In taking case history, it is expected from the optometrist to know that he or she can have patients who fall into any age group, but irrespective of the age of the patient the diagnostic approach remains. However, for very young children who may not be able to verbalize pain well, the optometrist is to observe their body language, as young child is irritated easily when they experience headache.⁴

Visual acuity (VA) testing:

In measuring the VA of a patient with a headache complaint, it is expected that the optometrist observes the reading pattern, the head movement and facial expression of the patient.^{4,14,17}

External ocular examination:

The ocular adnexa is to be grossly inspected for inflammation. The face also is to be inspected for possibility of a facial scar from a post-traumatic event. Slit-lamp biomicroscopy should be performed to aid diagnosis.^{4,55}

Ophthalmoscopy/Fundoscopy:

During this procedure, the optometrist is to observe the fundus for any abnormal sign, like disc cupping, tear, inflammation, exudates etc.¹⁴

Tonometry:

Tonometry is to be carried out, if glaucoma is suspected following ophthalmoscopy Results from tonometry will determine the likely treatment options to take.^{1,12,17}

Refraction: When performing this procedure, the optometrist should be observant and pay close attention to the reaction and facial

June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

expressions of the patient. The prescription that fully provides relief for the patient and a very good and comfortable vision acuity is the best prescription to be given. Again, the optometrist is to find out from the patient, if the headache is relieved as he keeps changing the lens. Most ocular headaches are relieved when the ideal prescription is given. When the prescription does not yield results, it is then obvious that the headache cannot be resolved by spectacles.⁵⁵

Von Graeffe Technique (VGT):

Headaches from uncompensated phoria or tropia can be diagnosed with VGT. In the VGT, the Optometrist is to inquire from the patient of any likely discomfort and or headache and the prism power that relieves the headache.^{19,51}

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) technique:

TMS technique is a noninvasive form of brain stimulation in which a varying magnetic field is used to induce an electric current at a specific area of the brain through electromagnetic induction. In TMS, a stimulator is connected to a magnetic coil that is subsequently connected to the patient's scalp. The stimulator generates an alternating current within the coil which creates a varying magnetic field, inducing a current within a region in the brain itself. TMS is both a diagnostic and therapeutic procedure for headaches. In the therapeutic management of headache, it is done repeatedly.⁴²

Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) scan.

Magnetic resonance imaging, or MRI, is a noninvasive, painless medical scan that produces detailed images of almost every internal structure in the human body. ⁴³ MRI scanners create images of the body using a large magnet, radio waves and a computer. Functional magnetic resonance imaging or functional MRI (fMRI) uses MRI technology to measure brain activity. It does this by measuring blood flow to certain areas of the brain.⁵³

4. Treatment

Headache is a common complaint reported by patients visiting the eye clinic. As primary eye care providers, patients with headache complaints will likely meet the optometrist first before other healthcare providers. Optometrists also get referrals from general practitioners and others in the health sector. Whatever the case maybe, the optometrists first line of treatment should be to carryout a detailed case history and eye examination which should culminate in giving the patient the ideal lens or prism prescriptions that will solve the headache problem. Outside of lenses and prisms, the optometrist may add some drugs to the treatment regimen. For tension headache, pain relievers, like Acetaminophen 500mg should be included.⁴ If this fails, refer the patient to a general practitioner. The optometrist can also recommend a hot compress for the patient. This is done by placing a hot pad on the patient's neck or the back of the head and massaging for a few minutes the patient's forehead, neck, and temples until the patient is relieved of the headache. Also, for these headaches, amitriptyline and mirtazapine can be prescribed as they have been found to be effective at reducing the frequency and intensity of headaches. Again, both drugs have no associated adverse-effect profile.⁷ In treating cluster headaches oxygen therapy, sumatriptan and or lidocaine can be used to provide pain relief.⁸ Migraines can be treated or relieved with pain relievers, like oral ergotamine and caffeine since they are efficacious in the treatment of migraine.9 However, if the pain relievers fail, then triptans such as the sumatriptans should be prescribed. The triptans are available in oral, intranasal powder, liquid nasal spray and subcutaneous injection forms.⁴ Rimegepant,⁴⁵ a relatively new drug can be used for the treatment of acute migraine and can also be used as a prophylactic treatment for migraines in adult. Pharmacologically, rimegepant is a receptor antagonist to the calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP).⁴⁶ CGRP has been implicated as a cause for migraines.⁴⁷ Rimegepant is available in 75mg tab and can be given orally, on or under the tongue once a day. ²⁸

Another way to treat migraines is by prescribing drugs that prevent its occurrence. These drugs decrease the frequency of migraine attacks and improve the patient's response to acute migraine medications. These drugs also greatly help to improve the quality of life and productivity of people with migraine. Useful preventive medications are propanolol, metoprolol, topimarate, amitriptyline and cold ice.48 Butterbur,49 an extract of Petasite has been found to be effective for the prevention of migraine. This natural remedy has no risk of hepatotoxicity.^{49,50} This reason makes it more useful for patients who prefer natural remedies. migraines come with photophobia, Since patients and sufferers are to be counseled on the need to use blinds on windows and screens, to be on sunglasses or photochromic lenses when outdoors, to use anti-glare screens when using the computer and to use daylight-spectrum

fluorescent bulbs in light fixtures. Same time using nasal steroid sprays, phenylephrine, and antihistamines like cetirizine, as these will be useful in relieving the headache.^{14, 24} A tentative remediation is by placing a warm cloth on the area that hurts. Hormonal headache treatment is like migraine headache treatment except for the use of alternative remedies that may have a role in decreasing the headache pain. Alternative remedies include relaxation, taking part in yoga and modifying one's diet.²⁵

Caffeine headache can be prevented by keeping caffeine intake at a very low level or quitting it entirely.^{4,27,28} Exertion headaches usually resolve within a few minutes or several hours. However, if headache continues, analgesics, such as aspirin and ibuprofen should be prescribed to ease the symptoms.^{28,29} However, if this fails, then medical attention is required.²³ Hypertension headaches rescind when blood pressure is under control. Medications like Acetazolamide can be prescribed to ease the symptoms.14,30 The only treatment for rebound headaches is to wean the patient off the medication he/she has been taking to control pain. Patient education and motivation.^{31,33} Patient should be educated on the condition and motivated to discontinue the over-used drug.³² For patients with a high risk of drugs toxicity, it is advised to prescribe an alternative medication that will run for two weeks or less. Post-traumatic headache (PTH) can be treated in several ways. Neutralizing prisms have been found to be a treatment modality for PTH in patients with vertical heterophoria (VH).⁵¹

Paracetamol and ibuprofen tablets can be prescribed to manage mild to moderate headaches. However, like all analgesics, these drugs should be prescribed with caution especially for young people, as it is shown to cause sterility.²⁰ But when headache is chronic, Tricyclic antidepressants, or antiepileptic medications such as amitriptyline can also be prescribed. Onabotulinum toxin A given intravenously, has been found to be effective in treating PTH.^{52,53} Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) is another way for

References

- 1. Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society (IHS) The International Classification of Headache Disorders, 3rd edition. Cephalalgia. 2018 Jan 25;38(1):1–211.
- 2. Manzoni GC, Stovner LJ. Epidemiology of headache. In 2010. p. 3–22.

treating PTH. But this is the therapeutic procedure for TMS.¹⁷ Cognitive behavioral therapy, physical therapy, biofeedback and relaxation techniques are psychological approaches that can be used for PTH treatment. Patient counseling and health education should be followed alongside any treatment option the optometrist desires to choose. However, if all this fail, the patient should be referred immediately.

5. Conclusion

Headache is a very common complaint encountered in any healthcare facility as it is a general health burden and because of its association with various health conditions including those that affect the eyes. Thus, making it necessary for optometrists not to overlook and underestimate headache cases irrespective of the type or frequency. Being primary healthcare providers, it is the duty of optometrists to properly diagnose and manage effectively headache complaints that come to them from time to time. Since headache is both a systemic and ocular problem, optometrists should also consider following an interdisciplinary approach.²⁰ But this should come after the eye examination procedures. The optometrist, whether working single handedly or not, should refer headache cases that are beyond his or her scope of practice and should follow up such cases to ensure complete treatment.

Optometrists are encouraged to know the various examination techniques required in the diagnosis of headache to advise their patients properly on the best treatment to take. Even as more studies are ongoing to further alleviate this global health burden, optometrists are encouraged to be part of these studies by carrying out research that promotes effective patient care in the examination and management of headaches. The management of multidisciplinary and specialist hospitals are to equip their facilities to promote further works on headache and ensure headache patients are given full and complete treatment.

- 3. Stovner LJ, Andree C. Prevalence of headache in Europe: A review for the Eurolight project. Vol. 11, Journal of Headache and Pain. 2010.
- 4. Longo D, Fauci A, Kasper D, Hauser S, Jameson J., Loscalzo J. Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine, 18th Edition. 18th Ed. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2012.

- 5. Chowdhury D. Tension type headache. Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology.2012;15(5):83.
- 6. Freitag F. Managing and Treating Tensiontype Headache. Vol. 97, Medical Clinics of North America. 2013.
- 7. Ghadiri-Sani M, Silver N. Headache (chronic tension-type). Vol. 2016, BMJ clinical evidence. 2016.
- Wei DY, Khalil M, Goadsby PJ. Managing cluster headache. Practical Neurology. 2019;19(6).
- 9. Hoffmann J, May A. Diagnosis, pathophysiology, and management of cluster headache. Vol. 17, The Lancet Neurology. 2018.
- Lasaosa SS, Diago EB, Calzada JN, Benito AV. Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Cluster Headache. Pain Medicine. 2016 Dec 29;pnw305.
- 11. Edvardsson B. Cluster headache associated with acute maxillary sinusitis. Springerplus. 2013;2(1).
- 12. Nesbitt AD, Goadsby PJ. Cluster headache. BMJ. 2012 Apr 11;344(apr11 1):e2407–e2407.
- 13. Tfelt-Hansen PC, Tfelt-Hansen J. Nitroglycerin headache and nitroglycerininduced primary headaches from 1846 and onwards: A historical overview and an update. Vol. 49, Headache. 2009.
- 14. Barloese MCJ, Beske RP, Petersen AS, Haddock B, Lund N, Jensen RH. Episodic and Chronic Cluster Headache: Differences in Family History, Traumatic Head Injury, and Chronorisk. Headache. 2020;60(3).
- Waung MW, Taylor A, Qualmann KJ, Burish MJ. Family History of Cluster Headache: A Systematic Review. JAMA Neurology. 2020;77(7).
- Hoffmann J, May A. Diagnosis, pathophysiology, and management of cluster headache. Lancet Neurology. 2018 Jan;17(1):75–83..
- 17. Robert D, Gerald F, Joseph J, John M. Headache and other craniofacial pain. In:

Bradley's Neurology in Clinical Practice, 7th Ed. 7TH ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier/ Saunders; 2016.

- 18. Vetvik KG, MacGregor EA. Sex differences in the epidemiology, clinical features, and pathophysiology of migraine. Vol. 16, The Lancet Neurology. 2017.
- Tonini MC. Gender differences in migraine. Neurological Sciences. 2018 Jun 12;39(S1):77–8.
- 20. Karsan N, Goadsby PJ. Imaging the Premonitory Phase of Migraine. Vol. 11, Frontiers in Neurology. 2020.
- Laurell K, Artto V, Bendtsen L, Hagen K, Häggström J, Linde M, et al. Premonitory symptoms in migraine: A cross-sectional study in 2714 persons. Cephalalgia. 2016;36(10).
- 22. Hansen JM, Lipton RB, Dodick DW, Silberstein SD, Saper JR, Aurora SK, et al. Migraine headache is present in the aura phase: A prospective study. Neurology. 2012;79(20).
- 23. Hansen JM, Charles A. Differences in treatment response between migraine with aura and migraine without aura: Lessons from clinical practice and RCTs. Vol. 20, Journal of Headache and Pain. 2019.
- 24. Maurya A, Qureshi S, Jadia S, Maurya M. "Sinus Headache": Diagnosis and Dilemma?? An Analytical and Prospective Study. Indian Journal of Otolaryngology and Head and Neck Surgery. 2019;71(3).
- 25. Sacco S, Ricci S, Degan D, Carolei A. Migraine in women: The role of hormones and their impact on vascular diseases. Vol. 13, Journal of Headache and Pain. 2012.
- Zduńska A, Cegielska J, Zduński S, Domitrz I. Caffeine for Headaches: Helpful or Harmful? A Brief Review of the Literature. Vol. 15, Nutrients. 2023.
- Nowaczewska M, Wiciński M, Kaźmierczak W. The ambiguous role of caffeine in migraine headache: From trigger to treatment. Vol. 12, Nutrients. 2020.
- 28. Nappi G, Moskowitz M. Headache. In: Handbook of Clinical Neurology. 1st Ed. Saunders Elsevier, Philadelphia, Pa ; 2010.

- 29. González-Quintanilla V, Madera J, Pascual J. Update on headaches associated with physical exertion. Vol. 43, Cephalalgia. 2023.
- 30. Arca KN, Halker Singh RB. The Hypertensive Headache: a Review. Current Pain and Headache Reports. 2019 May 14;23(5):30.
- 31. Vandenbussche N, Laterza D, Lisicki M, Lloyd J, Lupi C, Tischler H, et al. Medicationoveruse headache: a widely recognized entity amidst ongoing debate. Vol. 19, Journal of Headache and Pain. 2018.
- 32. Scher AI, Lipton RB, Stewart WF, Bigal M. Patterns of medication use by chronic and episodic headache sufferers in the general population: Results from the frequent headache epidemiology study. Cephalalgia. 2010;30(3).
- Hagen K, Linde M, Steiner TJ, Stovner LJ, Zwart JA. Risk factors for medicationoveruse headache: An 11-year follow-up study. the Nord-Trøndelag Health Studies. Pain. 2012;153(1).
- 34. He Z, Dong L, Zhang Y, Kong Q, Tan G, Zhou J. Metabolic syndrome in female migraine patients is associated with medication overuse headache: A clinic-based study in China. European Journal of Neurology. 2015;22(8).
- 35. Roper LS, Nightingale P, Su Z, Mitchell JL, Belli A, Sinclair AJ. Disability from posttraumatic headache is compounded by coexisting posttraumatic stress disorder. Journal of Pain Research. 2017;10.
- Levy D, Gruener H, Riabinin M, Feingold Y, Schreiber S, Pick CG, et al. Different clinical phenotypes of persistent post-traumatic headache exhibit distinct sensory profiles. Cephalalgia. 2020;40(7).
- 37. Åhman S, Saveman BI, Styrke J, Björnstig U, Stålnacke BM. Long-term follow-up of patients with mild traumatic brain injury: A mixed-methods study. Journal of Rehabilitative Medicine. 2013;45(8).
- Shaw L, Morozova M, Abu-Arafeh I. Chronic post-traumatic headache in children and adolescents: Systematic review of prevalence and headache features. Vol. 8, Pain Management. 2018.

- 39. Mavroudis I, Ciobica A, Luca AC, Balmus IM. Post-Traumatic Headache: A Review of Prevalence, Clinical Features, Risk Factors, and Treatment Strategies. Vol. 12, Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2023.
- 40. Kristoffersen ES, Lundqvist C. Medicationoveruse headache: epidemiology, diagnosis and treatment. Therapeutic Adverse Drug Safety. 2014 Apr 6;5(2):87– 99.
- 41. Sergott RC. Headaches associated with papilledema. Current Pain and Headache Reports. 2012;16(4).
- 42. Mollica A, Safavifar F, Fralick M, Giacobbe P, Lipsman N, Burke MJ. Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation for the Treatment of Concussion: A Systematic Review. Vol. 24, Neuromodulation. 2021.
- 43. Li ML, Zhang F, Chen YY, Luo HY, Quan ZW, Wang YF, et al. A state-of-the-art review of functional magnetic resonance imaging technique integrated with advanced statistical modeling and machine learning for primary headache diagnosis. Vol. 17, Frontiers in Human Neuroscience. 2023.
- 44. Hassan M, Asaad T. Tension-type headache, its relation to stress, and how to relieve it by cryotherapy among academic students. Middle East Current Psychiatry. 2020;27(1).
- 45. Lipton RB, Croop R, Stock EG, Stock DA, Morris BA, Frost M, et al. Rimegepant, an Oral Calcitonin Gene–Related Peptide Receptor Antagonist, for Migraine. New England Journal of Medicine. 2019;381(2).
- 46. Hargreaves R, Olesen J. Calcitonin Gene-Related Peptide Modulators – The History and Renaissance of a New Migraine Drug Class. Headache. 2019;59(6).
- 47. Dubowchik GM, Conway CM, Xin AW. Blocking the CGRP Pathway for Acute and Preventive Treatment of Migraine: The Evolution of Success. Vol. 63, Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 2020.
- 48. Holland S, Silberstein SD, Freitag F, Dodick DW, Argoff C, Ashman E. Evidence-based guideline update: NSAIDs and other complementary treatments for episodic migraine prevention in adults: [RETIRED].

Neurology. 2012 Apr 24;78(17):1346–53.

- 49. Diener H, Freitag F, Danesch U. Safety profile of a special butterbur extract from Petasites hybridus in migraine prevention with emphasis on the liver . Cephalalgia Rep. 2018;1.
- Borlak J, Diener HC, Kleeberg-Hartmann J, Messlinger K, Silberstein S. Petasites for Migraine Prevention: New Data on Mode of Action, Pharmacology and Safety. A Narrative Review. Frontiers of Neurology. 2022 Apr 26;13.
- 51. Rosner MS, Feinberg DL, Doble JE, Rosner AJ. Treatment of vertical heterophoria ameliorates persistent post-concussive symptoms: A retrospective analysis utilizing a multi-faceted assessment battery. Brain Injury. 2016;30(3).

- 52. Yerry JA, Kuehn D, Finkel AG. Onabotulinum toxin A for the treatment of headache in service members with a history of mild traumatic brain injury: A cohort study. Headache. 2015;55(3).
- 53. Hranilovich JA, Legget KT, Dodd KC, Wylie KP, Tregellas JR. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of headache: Issues, best-practices, and new directions, a narrative review. Headache. 2023;63(3).
- 54. Grosvenor T. Primary Care Optometry. 5th Edition. Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford; 2006.
- 55. Benjamin WJ. Borish's Clinical Refraction. Borish's Clinical Refraction. 2006.

Piper guineense (Swhan and Thon) Inhibits Lanosterol-14αdemethylase in Multi-Drug Resistant Non-albicans Candida Species: In vitro and In silico Studies

^{1*}Olumide Oluyele, ²Damilola Alex Omoboyowa, ³Ayomide Esther Aderogba and ⁴Koffi Adusa Osei

^{1,3,4}Department of Microbiology, Adekunle Ajasin University Akungba-Akoko, Nigeria.

²Phyto-medicine and Computational Biology Lab., Department of Biochemistry, Adekunle Ajasin University Akungba-Akoko, Nigeria.

Emails: olumideoluyele@gmail.com, damilola.omoboyowa@aaua.edu.ng, aderogbaa989@gmail.com, oooomoowumi@gmail.com

Received on, 17 October 2024 - Accepted on, 15 January 2025 - Published on, 15 March 2025

ABSTRACT:

Background:

Candida species are globally recognized for invasive infections with poor prognosis. Burgeoning quest for the discovery of novel therapeutics has increased the scientific scrutiny of several medicinal plants. This study assessed the efficacy of Piper guineense crude extract and fractions against selected multidrug resistant non- albicans Candida species.

Results

Both the crude and fractionated extracts of P. guineense elicited marked anti-candidal activity. Overall, the crude extract showed better efficacy over the fractions with the highest inhibition zone (25.0mm) recorded against Candida tropicalis; amongst the fractions, n-hexane fraction (F2) produced the highest inhibition zone (23mm) against Candida glabrata. The MIC ranged from 25mg/ml to 50mg/ml, while the MBC ranged between 100 mg/ml to 200 mg/ml. HPLC analysis revealed the presence of 14 compounds in the extract, with prominent members being quercetin, ellagic acid, persin, catechin, p-coumaric acid, and lutein. The binding affinity and free binding energy results reveal that most of these bioactive compounds were better than the standard drug (Fluconazole).

Conclusion:

Conclusively, P. guineense extracts demonstrated impressive anti-candidal properties against the tested multi-drug resistant non-albicans Candida species and could have potential as new drug lead for the treatment of infections resulting from these pathogens.

KEYWORDS:

P. guineense, non-albicans Candida, Lanosterol-14α-demethylase, Antimicrobial resistance

1. Introduction

Each year, more than 6.5 million people contract life-threatening fungal infections; about 1.5 million of these are attributable to invasive candidiasis, with a 63.6% mortality rate [1]. The clinical spectrum of candidiasis, which is caused by yeasts of the genus Candida, extends from superficial diseases such as cutaneous, nail, digestive, and genital candidiasis to systemic diseases such as candidemia [2]. *Candida* spp are generally commensal germs that develop in the skin, inside the body, in the mouth, throat, intestines, and vagina, without causing infection [3]. They express their pathogenic power only in the presence of factors favoring the origin of the translation of endogenous commensal to the disease-causing parasite. These factors can be intrinsic or extrinsic to the host, including overweight and prolonged use of broadspectrum antibiotic therapy and corticosteroids, among others [4]. Immunosuppression remains one of the most prevalent risk factors [5]. The resurgence of diseases weakening the immune system, such as AIDS, and immunosuppressive

treatments, such as heavy chemotherapy, has led to a drastic increase in Candida infections, which have become a major cause of morbidity, mortality, and increased treatment expenses in hospitals. The disseminated forms of candidiasis can be life-threatening, with high mortality rates among immunocompromised cancer patients and those exposed to multiple treatments, such as broad-spectrum antibiotics, chemotherapy, immunosuppressive therapy, and antiretroviral therapy [2,6]. On the other hand, inappropriate medical practices such as misdiagnosis and inadequate medication are responsible for the exacerbation, spread, and persistence of the infection. The pathogenicity of Candida spp. Emanates from a diversity of factors, including its heightened ability to adapt to stressful conditions [7]. Moreover, virulence attributes such as the expression of surface molecules as adhesins, the ability to change its morphology, biofilm forming capacity, and the secretion of hydrolytic enzymes are essential for establishing infection [4].

products Natural obtained plants from have a vast repertoire of biologically active compounds that represent rich prospects for drug development [8]. Piper guineense (African black pepper), belonging to the order Piperales and the Piperaceae family, is one of the most commonly used spices. It is considered as "the king of spices" due to its trade in the international market [9,10]. African black pepper is cultivated in many tropical regions like Brazil, Nigeria, India, Ghana, Indonesia, and Senegal [2]. P. guineense adapts well to a broad range of environmental conditions, including vast altitudinal regions [10]. Interestingly, *P. guineense* has been used for several purposes as a natural medicinal agent for the treatment and alleviation of digestive and respiratory disorders [11]. It has also been used in human dietaries and perfumery as a preservative and biocontrol agent [12,13].

Despite therapeutic advances, the incidence of candidiasis continues to aggravate with increasing mortality. Moreover, non-albicans Candida species (NACs) are more frequently implicated in the epidemiology of the disease nowadays [6,14,15]. The poor prognosis of candidal infections is partly attributable to the limited antifungal armamentarium, toxicity of antifungal drugs, and the current challenge of antifungal resistance [16,17]. Against this background, it becomes pertinent to develop alternative therapies for treating Candida infections. This study, therefore, evaluated the efficacy of Piper guineense crude and fractionated leaf extracts against multi-drug resistant NACs.

2. METHODS

Test Organisms and Preparation of Inoculum

The test organisms used in this study were multidrug resistant strains of Candida krusei, Candida tropicalis, and Candida glabrata obtained from the stock culture of previously identified isolates at the Microbiology Laboratory, AAUA. The test organisms were maintained on Sabauraud dextrose agar (SDA) agar slant and stored in the refrigerator at 4°C for further studies. McFarland standard (0.5) was prepared by combining 0.05ml of 1% barium chloride Dihydrate (BaCl,.2H,O) with 9.95ml of 1% Sulfuric acid (H_2SO_4) to yield 1.0%w/v barium sulphate suspension. The accuracy of the density of a prepared McFarland standard was checked by using a spectrophotometer at 625 nm. The McFarland standard was vigorously agitated on a vortex mixer before use. The Inoculum of each test organism was prepared by picking five distinct colonies of approximately 1 mm in diameter from a 24-hour-old culture. Colonies were suspended in 5 mL of sterile 0.85% saline. The resulting suspension was vortexed for 15 seconds, and its turbidity was adjusted to 0.5 McFarland standards. This procedure yielded a yeast stock suspension of 1-5 x 10⁶ cells per mL [6].

Extraction and Fractionation of Plant Material

Fresh leaves of *Piper guineense* (Swhan and Thon) were sourced from AAUA medicinal garden, Akungba-Akoko (Latitude 7.4740 °N and Longitude 5.7379 °E), Ondo state, Nigeria. The plant was authenticated at the Department of Plant Science and Biotechnology Herbarium of our institution. Voucher specimen number PSBH 254 was deposited for the plant.

The maceration method, as described by Oluyele et al. [18], was used for the crudeextraction process. Briefly, the leaves of Piper guineense were air-dried at room temperature and pulverized. Thereafter, 850g of the powdered leaves were soaked in 2550 ml of 70% ethanol for 7 days with occasional shaking to allow the full extraction of the active ingredients. The mixture was sieved using a muslin cloth and then filtered using Whatman No.1 filter paper. The filtrates were concentrated using a rotary evaporator. The extract obtained was stored in the refrigerator at 4°C for further studies. Fractionation of P. guineense crude extract was performed using liquid-liquid extraction according to the method of Pham et al. [19]. Briefly, the crude extract was dissolved in distilled water (1:10, w/v), transferred into a separating funnel, and successively fractionated with n-hexane and ethyl acetate to yield different fractions, respectively designated hexane fractions (F1 and F2) and ethyl acetate fraction (F3). The residue was generated, namely aqueous fraction (F4). The resulting fractions (F1, F2, F3, F4) were then concentrated using a rotary evaporator. All fractions were then freeze-dried and stored at 4°C until further experiments.

Antifungal Assay of Piper guineense leaf extract

The agar well diffusion technique, as described by Oluyele *et al.* [18], was used to determine the antifungal activity of the crude extract and fractions. One (1ml) aliquot of each test organism suspension (standardized) was transferred onto the well dried sterile Sabauraud dextrose agar (SDA) plates and was spread evenly using sterile swab sticks. The plates were allowed to dry; a standard sterile cork borer of 6mm diameter was used to cut uniform wells on the SDA plates. Each well was appropriately labeled on the reverse side of the plates. Then, 50 μ L of 100 mg/mL of the extract and fractions prepared in 5% dimethyl-sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma Aldrich, Germany) were filled into the corresponding wells. Fluconazole was used as a control in one of the wells. The plates were allowed to stand for 15 minutes at room temperature to allow proper diffusion of the extract to occur. All the plates were incubated at 35°C for 48 hours, after which the zones of inhibition were measured.

Determination of Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) and Minimum Fungicidal Concentration (MBC)

The MIC and MFC of the extract were determined using tube-dilution and plating methods respectively [18]. For MIC, different concentrations of the extract were prepared at 200, 100, 50, 25, 12.5, 6.25, and 3.125 mg/ml. This was followed by the addition of 0.1 ml of the standardized test inoculum into each test tube. A set of test tubes containing only sterile Sabauraud dextrose broth (SDB) was used as a negative control, and another set of test tubes containing SDB plus test organisms was used as a positive control. All the test tubes were then incubated at 35°C for 48 hours. Growth in each tube was checked by visible observation and by using a spectrophotometer (Beckman model 35). The concentration that produced no visible turbidity was taken as the MIC. The MFC was determined using the plating method by subculturing from the MIC tube and other tubes that showed no turbidity onto freshly prepared Sabauraud dextrose agar and incubated at 35°C for 48 hours. The concentration that showed no visible growth after incubation was taken as the MFC.

High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) Analysis of Extract

About 2g of sample was measured into an

Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research Journal (AMPDR)- ISSN 2812-4898 http://dx.doi.org/10.21622/AMPDR.2025.05.1.1060

amber bottle, followed by the addition of 20mls of (Acetonitrile/methanol) and vigorous agitation for 30 minutes. Thereafter, the aqueous end was run off while the organic solvent end was collected into a 25ml standard flask, made up to the mark, and ready for analysis. The sample was run using gradient elution according to the following chromatographic conditions: reversed phase chromatography (Agilent Technologies 1200 HPLC), mobile phase composition: 0.1% formic acid + acetonitrile, stationary phase: Hypersil BDS C18 (Agilent), column dimension: 250mm x 4.0 mm, injection volume: 20µL, flow rate 0.6 ml/min, detector wavelength: 280 nm. The standard form of analyte profile was first injected into the HPLC, and this generated a chromatograph with a given peak area and peak profile. These were used to create a window in the HPLC in preparation for the test sample analysis. An Aliquot of the extracted test sample was also injected into the HPLC to obtain a corresponding peak area and peak profile in a chromatograph. By keeping track of retention time and analyzing UV spectra, the peaks were identified by comparing them with reference standards [20].

Generation and Preparation of Compound Library

The compounds that were identified from *P. guineense* by HPLC analysis were downloaded from the PubChem (https:// pubchem.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov) repository alongside with the protein standard drug in structure data file (sdf) format. These molecules were exported onto Schrodinger workspace (Schrodinger, 2021v2) and prepared using Ligprep tool for the *in silico* study.

Protein Preparation

The research collaborator for the structural bioinformatics protein databank (RCSB PDB) [www.rcsb.org] website provided the x-ray crystallographic structure of the lanosterol- 14α -demethylase complex with ketoconazole having

PDB ID of 3LD6. The missing residues and loop in the protein and other side chain anomalies were resolved, followed by energetic optimization with force field OPLS3 using the protein preparation wizard of Schrodinger suit 2021. The receptor grid generator was used to generate a glide grid on the co-ligand (digoxin) attached site with glide coordinates of x = 42.47, y = 4.96, and z = 2.02. The prepared protein crystallographic structure and Ramachandran residues' distribution are shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Crystal structure of Lanosterol-14α-demethylase and Ramachandran plot of residues distribution

Structure-based virtual screening

The prepared compounds from *P. guineense* and the standard ligand were screened against lanosterol- 14α -demethylase using the extra precision (XP) GLIDE docking filtering procedure in the Maestro Schrodinger suite (v 2021). This scoring function is known for its robustness and discriminating ability, but it requires more time to run [21].

Prime/MM-GBSA calculations

The lanosterol-14 α -demethylase-ligand complexes were minimized by using the local optimization feature in Prime; the binding energy (Δ^{bind}) for the complexes was determined using the OPLS3 force field. Molecular mechanics generalized the Born surface area (MM/GBSA) calculation, which was carried out on the docking complexes. The following equation was used to calculate the binding free energy:

3. RESULTS

Anti-candidal Activity of Piper guineense Extracts

As shown in Tables 1 and 2, the extracts of *P. guineense* showed marked anti-candidal

activity in this study. The highest activity was observed against *Candida tropicalis* 25.0mm for the crude extract of *P. guineense*, and against *Candida glabrata* (N-hexane fraction 2) amongst the fractions. The MIC ranged from 25mg/ml to 50mg/ml; while the MBC ranged between 100 mg/ml to 200 mg/ml.

Table 1: Antifungal Potency of Piper guineense Extracts

Organism	CE	F1	F 2	F 3	F 4	FLC
Candida glabrata	23.0 ^b	21.5°	23 .0°	17.5±0.29°	20.5 ^b	26.0ª
Candida tropicalis	25.0±0.29°	19.5⊳	5.5ª	4.5ª	18.5±0.29°	26.0ª
Candida krusei	22.0±0.29°	17.0±0.29°	11.5±0.29 [⊾]	16.5 [⊾]	21.5±0.33°	28.0ª

Legend: CE- Crude extract, FI- N-hexane fraction 1, F2- N-hexane fraction 2, F3- Ethyl acetate fraction, F4- Aqueous fraction, FLC - Fluconazole. Values with the same superscript across the column are not significantly different.

Table 2: Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) and Minimum Fungicidal concentration (MFC) of Piper guineense Crude-Extract against Test Organisms

Organism	MIC	MBC
Candida glabrata	50mg/ml	100mg/ml
Candida tropicalis	25mg/ml	100mg/ml
Candida krusei	50mg/ml	200mg/ml

HPLC Identified Compounds of Piper guineense Crude-Extract

As presented in Figure 2 and Table 3, HPLC analysis revealed fourteen compounds in the crude leaf extract of *P. guineense*. Some of the notable constituents include quercetin, ellagic acid, persin, catechin, p-coumaric acid, and lutein.

Table 3: Compounds identified in the Piper guineense Leaf Extract

Compounds	Retention	Area	Height
Ellagic acid	3.70	1781.7085	48.923
Zeaxanthin	5.883	308.7870	8.077
P-Coumaric Acid	7.966	609.2790	13.901
Camphene	9.116	64.5150	3.573
Catechin	10.500	128.7600	3.217
Epicatechin	11.300	108.8825	5.707
Obovaten	12.000	59.3410	4.334
Obovatinal	13.833	75.0890	4.515
Persin	15.500	863.8795	14.749
Quercetin	17.233	2761.1350	37.005
Persenone A	19.166	105.4600	7.437
Lutein	19.950	84.0050	5.832
Scorpoletein	20.500	62.7400	5.332
Afzelin	21.416	66.7880	2.356

June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research Journal (AMPDR)-ISSN 2812-4898 http://dx.doi.org/10.21622/AMPDR.2025.05.1.1060



Figure 2: HPLC Chromatograph of Piper guineense

Molecular Docking and MM/GBSA of the bioactive compounds against the target

As shown in Figure 3, the active compounds had varying binding affinities against lanosterol- 14α -demethylase ranging from -5.752 to -10.227 kcal/mol, which is comparable with the standard drug (fluconazole = -8.454 kcal/ mol). Quercetin, persin, persenone A, afzelin, epicatechin, catechin, and ellagic acid were observed to have better binding affinities (-10.227, -10 027, -9.555, -9.948, -9.081, -9.310 and -9.286 kcal/mol respectively) against lanosterol-14 α -demethylase compared with the standard drug. The binding affinities obtained might be attributed to the formation of various interactions between the functional groups of the bioactive compounds and the amino acid residues at the binding site of lanosterol- 14α -demethylase. From Figure 4, the active compounds from the plant interacted with various amino acids present at the pocket of the protein through various molecular interactions like van der Waals, alkyl bond hydrogen bonds, and pi-alkyl bonds. Catechin and ellagic acid formed four (4) hydrogen bonds with other hydrophobic interactions while afzelin and obovatin formed three (3) hydrogen bonds with other hydrophobic bonds which is equivalent to the number of hydrogen bonds formed by fluconazole (standard drug) with TYR 131, ILE 397 and MET 378.

The binding free energies of the complex were determined by calculating the molecular mechanics generalized born surface area (MM/GBSA). From Figure 2, all the compounds except p-coumaric acid and camphene has binding free energy more than -40 kcal/mol. Obovaten, ellagic acid, catechin, persin, persenone A and afzelin have better binding free energies than the standard drug (fluconazole = -49.21 kcal/mol).



Figure 3: Graphical representation of the binding affinity and binding free energy calculation of bioactive compounds against lanosterol-14α-demethylase



15

ILE A:379

Pi-Alkyl

PHE A:77

MET A:381

Pi-Alkyl

MET A:487

Pi-Alkyl

P #E

Alkyl Pi-Alkyl

MET 4:100



Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research Journal (AMPDR)-ISSN 2812-4898 http://dx.doi.org/10.21622/AMPDR.2025.05.1.1060



Quercetin

Scopoletein

Figure 4:2D interaction between the compounds-lanosterol-14lpha-demethylase complexes

Table 4: Post-docking analysis of Ligand-protein complexes

Name	Structure	Binding Affinity (kcal/mol)	No of H-bonds	Amino Acids
Afzelin		-9.948	3	THR 315; LEU 310; TYR 145
Camphene		-5.576	Nil	Nil
Catechin	HO CH CH	-9.310	4	ILE 379; MET 487; LEU 310
Ellagic acid		-9.286	4	PRO 376; MET 378; HIS 489
Epicatechin	HO CH CH	-9.061	1	MET 378
Persin	"	-10.027	2	LYS 156; HIS 467
Obovaten		-9.251	3	THR 315; LEU 318

P-coumaric acid	но он	-5.752	1	ILE 378
Quercetin	HO OH OH OH OH	-10.227	2	HIS 236; MET 378
Ascopoletin	O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	-7.191	2	ILE 379; TYR 131
Persenone A		-9.555	1	MET 487

4. DISCUSSION

Candida spp are globally recognized for invasive infections with poor prognosis [6]. The burgeoning quest for the discovery of novel therapeutics has increased the scientific scrutiny of several medicinal plants. In this study, we evaluated the efficacy of *Piper* guineense crude extract and fractions against some pathogenic multi-drug resistant nonalbicans Candida species. Both the crude extract and the fractions of P. guineense elicited impressive activities against the test pathogens in this study. Overall, the crude extract showed higher efficacy compared to the fractions. This higher activity observed could be attributed to the crude extract containing a larger proportion of the bioactive constituents of the plant, owing to the ability of the extraction solvent to retrieve these constituents. The results obtained showed variations in the inhibition zones (IZs) of the extracts on the test yeast strains. The highest inhibition zones were observed against Candida tropicalis for the crude extract, against Candida glabrata for F1, F2, and F3, and against Candida krusei for F4. Notably, F2 and F3 had minimal effect on Candida tropicalis, and the inhibition zones observed were the least overall. The variation seen in the inhibition zones is presumed to be due to different active compounds present in each extract and the susceptibility profile of the Candida strains studied.

In tandem with this report, the hexane and ethanolic fruit extracts of *P. guineense* were chronicled to be effective against the growth of *C. albicans* and *C. glabrata* [22]; the hexane leaf extract elicited appreciable activity against Sarcina sp., Staphylococcus aureus, and Enterobacter aerogenes. However, the water extracts were not active against the bacterial strains tested [23]. Moreover, another study revealed that the seed extracts of *P. guineense* showed antimicrobial potency against Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Salmonella typhi, Shigella dysenteriae, Aspergillus flavus, Aspergillus niger and Candida albicans [24].

The MIC and MFC of the crude extract were further determined since the IZs were the most prominent of all the extracts. The MIC was 50mg/ml for Candida glabrata and Candida krusei and 25 mg/ml for Candida tropicalis, while the MFC was 100mg/ml for Candida glabrata and Candida tropicalis and 200mg/ml for Candida krusei. The activities of the extracts (especially the crude) compared favorably with the standard drug (Fluconazole) employed in this study, although Fluconazole produced higher inhibition zones. The better activity of the standard drug over the extracts could be connected to the fact that organic extracts are in crude form compared to synthetic antibiotics, which have a high degree of purity; hence, the secondary active metabolites could be present in low concentrations or masked in the extracts [18].

Considering that the crude extract portrayed the overall higher activity in this study, it was subjected to HPLC profiling. Distinctive among the compounds identified include quercetin, ellagic acid, persin, catechin, p-coumaric

June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

acid, and lutein. Notably, these compounds are different from those reported by a previous study [23]. The compounds identified from our analysis are most likely responsible for the observed efficacy of *P. guineense* in our experiment. For instance, quercetin a flavonoid with antioxidant properties and many beneficial effects on health [25], has been reported to show a broad inhibitory effect on bacteria, and its combination with amphotericin-B and fluconazole produced promising synergistic antifungal-activity [26,27]. Quercetin enhanced fluconazole-resistant Candida albicansinduced apoptosis by regulating quorum sensing [28]. The presence of ellagic acid in P. guinesse studied is of great importance, as it is a bioactive polyphenolic compound naturally occurring as a secondary metabolite in many plant taxa [25]. Varying concentrations of ellagic acid were reported to inhibit the growth of Candida albicans [29]. Persin is a fungicidal compound present in avocados [30]. Catechin has been proven to exhibit antimicrobial activity against clinical isolates of methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus [31]. Lutein from extract of Helianthus annuus was found to be active against Bacillus subtilis, Escherichia coli, Salmonella typhi and Staphylococcus aureus [32].

The virtual screening analysis of the active molecules from the HPLC analysis of the crude extract against the binding site lanosterol- 14α -demethylase was carried out. The fungal lanosterol-14 α -demethylase is a vital protein in the pathway that synthesizes ergosterol cholesterol biosynthetic pathways in and humans [33]. This cytochrome P450 enzyme remains the target for the azole antifungals used in the treatment of fungal infections in humans [34]. Inhibition of the binding domain of this protein results in the termination of ergosterol biosynthesis and the formation and accumulation of the intermediates that might lead to inhibition of microbial growth [35]. The virtual screening of active molecules through a molecular docking procedure is one of the vital methods of drug design. This method forecasts the interaction between small molecules and the amino acid residues at the binding site of the target [21]. Inhibition of lanosterol- 14α demethylase by bioactive compounds from Piper guineense was selected to study the antifungal mechanism of the compounds from the plant and complement the in vitro antifungal activity of the plant observed in this study. The

result of the binding affinities obtained in this study, as shown in Fig. 3, suggests that eight out of the eleven active compounds from Piper guineense were potent inhibitors of lanosterol- 14α -demethylase with better binding affinity compared with fluconazole (standard drug). This result agrees with the findings of Oladimeji et al. [33], who observed the inhibition of sterol- 14α -demethylase by the active compounds from E. coccinea essential oil. Rosam et al. [35] have also reported that sterol-14 α demethylase-ligand binding pocket mediated acquired and intrinsic azole resistance in fungal pathogens. The ligand-protein interactions in molecular docking contributed to the binding affinity of small molecules against the target, which has been observed to be a key regulator of their action [36]. Figure 4 showed that afzelin interacted with THR 315, LEU 310, and TYR 145 with hydrogen bonds, catechin interacted with ILE 379, MET 487, and LEU 310 with four hydrogen bonds, ellagic acid interacted with PRO 376, MET 378, HIS 489 with four hydrogen bonds and obovaten interacted with THR 315 and LEU 310 with three hydrogen bonds. These active compounds have the highest hydrogen bond interactions among the compounds identified from *Piper quineense*, which is comparable with the standard drug (fluconazole) interacting with TYR 131, ILE 379, and MET 378 with three hydrogen bonds. Other hydrophobic interactions were also observed in the protein-ligand complex, which might contribute to the docking score. The observed inhibitory activity of these active compounds against fungi lanosterol-14 α demethylase presents the enzyme as the antifungal mechanism of the plant, as observed in the in vitro study.

5. Conclusion

Conclusively,*P.guineense* extracts demonstrated impressive anti-candidal efficacy against the test multi-drug resistant non-*albicans Candida* species and could have potential as a new therapeutic agent for the treatment of infections resulting from these pathogens. The efficacy of *P. guineense* recorded in our study could be attributed to the diversity of bioactive compounds identified with the inhibition of lanosterol-14 α -demethylase proposed as the mechanism of anti-fungi action. Further, *in vivo* studies on the isolated bioactive compounds are necessary to validate the findings from the *in vitro* and *in silico* analyses in this study for safe therapeutic resolution of Candidal infections.

References

- 1. Denning DW. Global incidence and mortality of severe fungal disease. Lancet Infect Dis. 2024 Jul;24(7):e428-38.
- 2. Pappas PG, Lionakis MS, Arendrup MC, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, Kullberg BJ. Invasive candidiasis. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2018 May 11;4(1):18026.
- Netea MG, Joosten LAB, van der Meer JWM, Kullberg BJ, van de Veerdonk FL. Immune defence against Candida fungal infections. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015 Oct 21;15(10):630– 42.
- 4. Mayer FL, Wilson D, Hube B. *Candida albicans* pathogenicity mechanisms. Virulence. 2013 Feb 15;4(2):119–28.
- 5. Pfaller MA. Antifungal drug resistance: Mechanisms, epidemiology, and consequences for treatment. American Journal of Medicine. 2012;125(1 SUPPL.).
- Oluyele O, Oladunmoye MK, Ogundare AO, Onifade AK, Okunnuga NA. Microbial spectrum and susceptibility profile of opportunistic pathogens isolated from cancer patients attending a tertiary healthcare centre in Akure, Nigeria. Microbes, Infection and Chemotherapy. 2023;3.
- Dhanya K, Kizhakkayil J, Syamkumar S, Sasikumar B. Isolation and Amplification of Genomic DNA from Recalcitrant Dried Berries of Black Pepper (Piper nigrum L.)—A Medicinal Spice. Mol Biotechnol. 2007 Sep 13;37(2):165–8.
- 8. Oluyele O, Oladunmoye MK, Ogundare AO. Toxicity Studies on Essential Oil from Phoenix dactylifera (L.) Seed in Wistar Rats. Biologics. 2022;2(1).
- 9. Singh VK, Singh P, Patel AMA, Yadav KKM. Piperine: delightful surprise to the biological world, made by plant "pepper" and a great bioavailability enhancer for our drugs and supplements. World J Pharm Res. 2014;3(6).
- Matsuda H, Ninomiya K, Morikawa T, Yasuda D, Yamaguchi I, Yoshikawa M. Protective effects of amide constituents from the fruit of Piper chaba on d-galactosamine/ TNF-α-induced cell death in mouse hepatocytes. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2008 Mar;18(6):2038-42.

- 11. Damanhouri ZA. A Review on Therapeutic Potential of Piper nigrum L. (Black Pepper): The King of Spices. Med Aromat Plants (Los Angel). 2014;03(03).
- 12. Mathew PJ, Mathew PM, Kumar V. Graph clustering of Piper guineense L. (black pepper). Vol. 18. Euphytica; 2020. 257–264 p.
- Ahmad N, Fazal H, Abbasi BH, Farooq S, Ali M, Khan MA. Biological role of Piper nigrum L. (Black pepper): A review. Asian Pac J Trop Biomed. 2012 Jan;2(3):S1945–53.
- Hernández-Pabón JC, Tabares B, Gil Ó, Lugo-Sánchez C, Santana A, Barón A, et al. Candida Non-albicans and Non-auris Causing Invasive Candidiasis in a Fourth-Level Hospital in Colombia: Epidemiology, Antifungal Susceptibility, and Genetic Diversity. Journal of Fungi. 2024 Apr 30;10(5):326.
- Jannati B, Pourdad A, Izadjoo A, Zarrinfar H, Najafzadeh Mj, Fata A. The prevalence of Non-albicans Candida and Candida mixed-species in vulvovaginal candidiasis in Iran. Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol. 2024;51(3):77.
- Galocha M, Pais P, Cavalheiro M, Pereira D, Viana R, Teixeira MC. Divergent approaches to virulence in C. Albicans and C. Glabrata: Two sides of the same coin. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(9).
- Ceballos Garzon A, Amado D, Robert E, Parra Giraldo CM, Le Pape P. Impact of calmodulin inhibition by fluphenazine on susceptibility, biofilm formation and pathogenicity of caspofungin-resistant Candida glabrata. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2020;75(5).
- Oluyele O, Oladunmoye M. Susceptibility Patterns of Staphylococcus aureus Isolated from Wounds Swabs to Extracts of Vernonia amygdalina. J Adv Med Pharm Sci. 2017;13(4).
- Pham DC, Truong DH, Tran QH, Ho QT, Nguyen TAD, Nguyen TNH, et al. Fractionation, identification of chemical constituents, and biological properties of cashew (Anacardium occidentale L.) leaf extracts. Food Sci Nutr. 2023;11(12).
- 20. Khan S, Mirza KJ, Anwar F, Abdin MZ. Development of RAPD markers for

authentication of Piper nigrum (L.) . Environmental International Journals of Science Technology . 2010;5:47–56.

- Omoboyowa DA. Exploring molecular docking with E-pharmacophore and QSAR models to predict potent inhibitors of 14-α-demethylase protease from Moringa spp. Pharmacological Research - Modern Chinese Medicine. 2022;4.
- 22. Mgbeahuruike EE, Holm Y, Vuorela H, Amandikwa C, Fyhrquist P. An ethnobotanical survey and antifungal activity of Piper guineense used for the treatment of fungal infections in West-African traditional medicine. J Ethnopharmacol. 2019;229.
- 23. Mgbeahuruike EE, Fyhrquist P, Vuorela H, Julkunen-Tiitto R, Holm Y. Alkaloid-Rich Crude Extracts, Fractions and Piperamide Alkaloids of Piper guineense Possess Promising Antibacterial Effects. Antibiotics. 2018 Nov 9;7(4):98.
- 24. Ogunmefun OT, Akharaiyi FC, Adegunle SJ. Phytochemical and Antimicrobial Properties of Piper guineense (Shumach and Thonn) on Selected Human Pathogens. J Chem Pharm Res. 2020;9(11):180–6.
- 25. Chitlange SS, Payal BS, Sanjay D, Nipanikar S, Dheeraj N. Development and validation of RPHPLC method for quantification of piperine from single herb formulation containing Piper guineense extract. . International Journals of Pharmacological Science Revised. 2020;6(2):16–21.
- 26. Gao M, Wang H, Zhu L. Quercetin Assists Fluconazole to Inhibit Biofilm Formations of Fluconazole-Resistant Candida Albicans in In Vitro and in Vivo Antifungal Managements of Vulvovaginal Candidiasis. Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry. 2016;40(3– 4).
- 27. Oliveira VM, Carraro E, Auler ME, Khalil NM. Quercetin and rutin as potential agents antifungal against Cryptococcus spp. Brazilian Journal of Biology. 2016 May 6;76(4):1029-34.
- 28. Singh BN, Upreti DK, Singh BR, Pandey G, Verma S, Roy S, et al. Quercetin Sensitizes Fluconazole-Resistant Candida albicans

To Induce Apoptotic Cell Death by Modulating Quorum Sensing. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2015 Apr;59(4):2153– 68.

- 29. Nejatbakhsh S, Ilkhanizadeh-Qomi M, Razzaghi-Abyaneh M, Jahanshiri Z. The Effects of Ellagic Acid on Growth and Biofilm Formation of Candida albicans. Journal of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. 2020 Jan 1;8(1):14–8.
- 30. G V, K MA, M KC, M RM, R S, H S, et al. REVIEW OF PLANTS USED AS KSHAR OF FAMILY PIPERACEAE. International Journal of Ayurvedic Medicine. 2010 Oct 9;1(2).
- 31. Sinsinwar S, Vadivel V. Catechin isolated from cashew nut shell exhibits antibacterial activity against clinical isolates of MRSA through ROS-mediated oxidative stress. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2020;104(19).
- 32. Kusmiati, Ningsih EB, Ramadhani I, Amir M. Antibacterial and antioxidant activity test of crude lutein extracted from sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.). In: AIP Conference Proceedings. 2021.
- Oladimeji AO, Karigidi KO, Yeye EO, Omoboyowa DA. Phytochemical composition, antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of essential oils extracted from Emilia coccinea (Sims) G. Don using invitro and in-silico approaches. Vegetos. 2024 Aug 28;
- Monk BC, Sagatova AA, Hosseini P, Ruma YN, Wilson RK, Keniya MV. Fungal Lanosterol 14α-demethylase: A target for nextgeneration antifungal design. Vol. 1868, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Proteins and Proteomics. 2020.
- Rosam K, Monk BC, Lackner M. Sterol 14α-Demethylase Ligand-Binding Pocket-Mediated Acquired and Intrinsic Azole Resistance in Fungal Pathogens. Journal of Fungi. 2020 Dec 22;7(1):1.
- 36. Rampogu S, Baek A, Zeb A, Lee KW. Exploration for novel inhibitors showing back-to-front approach against VEGFR-2 kinase domain (4AG8) employing molecular docking mechanism and molecular dynamics simulations. BMC Cancer. 2018 Dec 7;18(1):264.

Issue 1

Knowledge, Attitude, and Practice towards Voluntary Counseling and Testing Services among University Students in Kigali, Rwanda: A cross-sectional study.

John Bayingana M.^{1*}, Papias Kanani¹, Raissah Igiribambe², Japheths Ogendi³

^{1,1*}Rwanda Polytechnic, Huye College.

² Public health, Mount Kenya University, Kigali-Kicukiro-Rwanda.

³ Sen Lect, School of Public Health, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Rwanda.

Emails: jbayingana2020@gmail.com, kapapy15@yahoo.fr, igiribamber@gmail.com, ogendi2003@yahoo.com

Received on, 11 December 2024 - Accepted on, 18 February 2025 - Published on, 04 March 2025

ABSTRACT:

Background:

Voluntary Counseling and Testing (VCT) is recommended as effective in reducing risks in sexually active young adults, such as college students.

Objective: This study was aimed to assess the level of knowledge, attitude and practice towards VCT service among University students in Kigali City, Rwanda.

Method:

A cross-sectional study was conducted using a stratified sampling method from March to August 2021. A total of 374 participants filled out a structured questionnaire to gather information. A chi-square test was used to determine an association between a number of independent factors and dependent variables.

Result:

A total of 374 participants were interviewed. The majority, 278(74.3%), were in the age bracket of 20-24 years. A total of 223(59.6%) students demonstrated good knowledge of VCT; 219(58.6%) had a positive attitude towards VCT for HIV. Less than half, 160(42.8%), reported that they had VCT for HIV within the past year. Respondents' age (p-value<0.001), religion (p-value<0.001), income category (p-value<0.001), level of education (p-value<0.001), and occupation (p-value <0.001) were among the sociodemographic variables that were significantly associated with practices of HIV prevention and control. The ignorance of the VCT center was reported as the main barrier to VCT uptake.

Conclusion:

The findings show positive views on VCT, but over half didn't get tested due to a lack of knowledge about VCT centers.

Keywords: knowledge, Attitudes, practices, voluntary counseling, and testing, HIV/AIDS.

1. Introduction

Every year, a total of 940,000 HIV/AIDS-related deaths occur globally, while 36.9 million people are infected and living with HIV/AIDS.[1] UNAID report indicates that 1.8 million new infections occur every year globally [2]. UNAIDS additionally states that on a global scale, around 5,000 new infections arise each day, with 33% of these cases impacting individuals aged 15 to 24, and among them, 19% are young women.[3] Sub-Saharan Africa is noted as the most severely affected region globally, with approximately 23.5 million people living with HIV infection.[4]

In sub-Saharan Africa, Eastern and Southern Africa are particularly impacted. These regions account for 20.6 million (54%) of the total individuals living with HIV/AIDS worldwide. They also represent 45% of the global HIV infections and 53% of the global population affected by HIV/ AIDS.[3] Voluntary testing and counseling (VCT) refers to the procedure whereby an individual receives private counseling to help them make an informed decision about discovering their HIV status and receive guidance on taking suitable steps thereafter.[5] It is a widely embraced method for identifying individuals potentially exposed to or infected with the HIV virus and serves as a crucial tool in halting the transmission of HIV.[6]976 Ethiopians are currently living with HIV and all of them require antiretroviral treatment (ART Voluntary Counseling and Testing (VCT) has proven to be an effective strategy in encouraging behavioral changes aimed at both preventing HIV transmission and ensuring early access to care and support. 7 VCT has also been shown to play a crucial role in promoting behavioral changes and contributes significantly to the reduction of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections (STIs).[6976 Ethiopians are currently living with HIV and all of them require antiretroviral treatment (ART, 8a person who had no record of contact with the health facility for at least three consecutive months was considered LTFUP. LTFUP incidence rates were computed, and the Fine-Gray's competing risk regression models were used to determine factors associated with time to first LTFUP. Generalized estimating equations (GEEs) To reach the UNAIDS goal of ensuring that 90% of all people living with HIV know their status, [990% of those who are HIV positive treated, and 90% of those treated achieve an undetectable viral load. The latter indicates viral suppression, the goal for clinicians treating people living with HIV (PLWH) targeted HIV testing and counseling (HTC) services need to be implemented across diverse community and facility-based settings. Specifically, adolescent and youth clients aged 15-24 are among the groups prioritized for HIV testing and counseling initiatives. [10respiratory infections, malnutrition, schistosomiasis, malaria, soil-transmitted helminth infections and trachoma from exposure to inadequate drinking-water, sanitation and hygiene behaviours (WASH)

A recent report from 2021 surveys conducted in 12 high-burden sub-Saharan African countries indicates that only 12% of men and 10% of women in the general population have undergone HIV testing and received their results. (11)

In Rwanda, HIV infection remains a critical public health concern, contributing significantly to mortality rates and imposing social and economic burdens that affect both individuals and the nation as a whole. Rwanda has made significant strides in advancing universal access to HIV and AIDS services by implementing comprehensive national multi-sector strategic plans. Top of Form These plans, such as the one spanning from 2005 to 2009 and the subsequent National Strategic Plan from 2013 to 2018, signify Rwanda's commitment to combatting HIV/AIDS comprehensively and effectively. [12]

More than 50% of global HIV cases occur among adolescents aged 10 to 24 years.[13] Voluntary Counseling and Testing (VCT), which remains a crucial gateway for HIV prevention, management, and treatment, VCT services are underutilized by the youths; consequently, many adolescents are unaware of their HIV status.[14]

In Rwanda, there are 256 VCT (Voluntary Counseling and Testing) sites identified by the Treatment and Research on AIDS Centre (TRAC). TRAC was introduced in Rwanda in 1997 with specific objectives focused on AIDS treatment and research. [15]

2019/2020 According to the Rwanda Demographic and Health Survey, 59% of men and 45% of women aged 15-24 have never undergone HIV testing.[16] Although VCT is a widely embraced method for identifying individuals potentially exposed to or infected with the HIV virus and serves as a key tool in reducing the transmission of the virus, [6] 976 Ethiopians are currently living with HIV and all of them require antiretroviral treatment (ART context-based studies on the KAP regarding VCT services in Rwanda are scarce. This study evaluated the knowledge, attitude, and practice of University students towards VCT service in Kigali, Rwanda.

2. Method

Ethical consideration

The study was reviewed by Mount Kenya University's Ethical Review Board. Additional permissions to conduct the research were obtained from the three selected universities involved in the study. Participants were informed that their involvement was voluntary, with the option to withdraw at any point without repercussions. Confidentiality of the provided information was underscored. Before joining the study, participants received comprehensive explanations about its objectives. They were then invited to sign a consent form willingly, without pressure. Measures were implemented to safeguard participants' dignity, respect, and independence throughout the study.

Study area and study setting.

This was a cross sectional study that interviewed students registered in three(3) out of seventeen(17) universities located in Kigali City, Rwanda. Kigali, the capital of Rwanda, is positioned approximately at the country's geographical center, covering an area of 730 square kilometers with a population of 1,745,555.

[17] The three Universities were Mount Kenya University (MKU), Independent University of Kigali (UK), and University of Rwanda (UR); College of Science and Technology and College of Medicine and Health Sciences. Those higher learning institutions were purposively selected for three main reasons. First, the three are the largest universities in Kigali City in terms of student population. Two, at the time of data collection, all three universities were in session, so the students could be reached for interviews. Third, there is a diversity of students, female and male, as well as national and international students, and there is respect for student culture and policy to abrogate discrimination.

The research undertaken followed a quantitative cross-sectional design and was carried out between March and August 2021 among university students in Kigali, Rwanda. The term "university" in this context encompasses all institutions of higher learning. The study was conducted across three out of the seventeen universities situated in Kigali, Rwanda.

Population, sample size, and sampling techniques

The study population was undergraduate students in the three selected Universities who, at the time of data collection, from March and August 2021, were in session. A sample size of 374 students was determined using the Fischer formula.[18]

$$N = \frac{Z^2 p (1-p)}{d^2}$$

Where,

"d," the preferred margin of error of 5%;

"p," the prevalence (58%) of VCT uptake based on a study conducted in Ethiopia among university students; [19]

"z" is the standard normal deviation (1.96) that matches the 95% confidence level.

Substituting,

$$\frac{(1.96)^2 \ 0.58 \ (1-0.58)}{(0.05)^2} = 374$$

The study employed a stratified sampling technique to select participants. Strata were defined based on schools, departments, and intake levels. A target population list, including registration numbers, was obtained from each institution's registrar's office. Within each stratum, participants were selected using simple random sampling, achieved through random number generation. Questionnaires were distributed until all selected numbers within each stratum were covered.

Table 1: Distribution of target population

Universities	Target population	Sample size	Sampling technique
Mount Kenya University	2418	Ni/N*n= 2418/8968* 374 = 101	Stratified
Independent University of Kigali	2750	Ni/N*n= 2750/8968*374= 115	Stratified
UR- college of medicine and health sciences	1800	Ni/N*n= 1800/8960*374= 75	Stratified
UR- College of Science and Technology	2000	Ni/N*n= 2000/8968*374= 83	Stratified
Total	8968		
N.B: Ni/N*n; Ni= Total population in the university;			

N= Grand Total Population;

n= Sample size

The data collection instrument used was a selfadministered structured questionnaire. This questionnaire was adapted from previous studies [20,21] and comprised four parts.

Part I focused on sociodemographic characteristics of the students. Part II assessed students' knowledge about Voluntary Counseling and Testing (VCT) for HIV. Part III evaluated students' attitudes towards VCT. Part IV examined their VCT practices.

Knowledge about VCT was assessed using an eleven-item questionnaire that covered aspects such as awareness of VCT centers in Kigali, understanding the voluntary nature of testing, knowledge of locations offering VCT services, and awareness of the importance of VCT in HIV prevention and control.

Attitudes towards VCT were evaluated through an eleven-item questionnaire that explored perceptions related to confidentiality of testing, cost considerations, support from friends during testing, feelings of embarrassment, fairness towards HIV-positive individuals, and perceptions of eligibility for VCT.

The practice of VCT was assessed with a single question: "Have you ever had VCT in the past?" with responses recorded as "Yes" or "No."

The structured questionnaire used in this study was adapted from similar studies conducted in Ethiopia. [20,21]. The questionnaire underwent modifications to align with the context of Rwanda. To guarantee clarity and reliability, a pre-test was conducted with twenty students from another campus of the university, not included in the selection, to test the validity of the tool. The feedback from this pre-test was utilized to refine the phrasing of questions in the questionnaire, ensuring its comprehensibility and effectiveness.

Scoring

For the knowledge about VCT, each question was scored with "Yes" for correct answers and "No" for incorrect answers. The scores of all respondents were summed up, and participants who scored six or more correct answers out of eleven were categorized as good knowledge, while others were categorized as poor knowledge.

Students' attitudes toward VCT service were assessed based on their negative perceptions of HIV-positive individuals in society and among friends, confidentiality during counseling and testing for HIV, among other factors. A positive attitude was indicated by respondents who disagreed with most statements, except for four questions. Participants who scored six or above were classified as having a positive attitude, while those scoring lower were deemed to have a negative attitude.

Practice was evaluated with a single question requiring a "Yes" or "No" response, with those answering "Yes" considered to have undergone VCT services in the past.

Data management and analysis

The collected data were first entered into Excel, where they underwent coding and cleaning procedures. Following this, the data were exported and analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows version 25.0. The results were presented in tables, and descriptive statistics were employed to provide a comprehensive overview of background variables such as age, sex, and other parameters outlined in the structured questionnaire.

Frequency distributions of both dependent variables (knowledge, attitude, and practice of VCT) and independent variables (sociodemographic factors) were calculated to understand their distribution within the sample. The association between variables was assessed using the chi-square test, with a significance level set at p < 0.05 for all analyses.

This analytical approach aimed to explore relationships and identify significant associations between sociodemographic factors and participants' knowledge, attitudes, and practices regarding VCT.

3. Results

Socio-demographic information

A total number of 374 university students participated in this study. Of these, 193 (51.6%) were male, and 181(48.4%) were. About threequarters were in the age bracket of 20 to 24; more than half, 202 (54%); Slightly less than half, 177 (47.3%), belonged to category (ubudehe) II; while 161 (44.1%) were in category three. An overwhelming majority, 369 (98.7%), reported that they were not married. The majority, 328 (87.7%) of the respondents were students as occupation and around one-third, 120 (32.1%) of them, were from year one, and 87 (23.3%), 85(22.7%) and 82 (21.9%) were at level two, three and four respectively.

Table 2: Knowledge of VCT services among university students in Kigali city.

Variables	Frequency (n= 374)	Percent (%)
Ever heard of VCT services Yes No	319 55	85.3 14.7
Where did you hear it from (n = 319) Radio TV Friends and family School	142 39 34 <u>10</u> 4	38 10.4 9.1 27.8
Do you know the place where VC	T is provided? (**)	
Government hospital Private hospital HIV awareness program	198 34 142	52.9 9.1 38
Do you know that? (**) HIV tests are voluntary HIV test is given with counseling HIV medication is given at the VCT center	188 135 51	50.3 36.1 13.6
Is VCT important for the prevention a	ind control of HIV/AIDS	
Yes No	368 6	98.4 1.6
Do you know any VCT centers in Kigali? Yes No	256 118	68.4 31.6
Are prostitutes the only ones visiting VCT? Yes No	42 332	11.2 88.8
Is VCT visit for married only Yes No	0 374	0 100
Is VCT visit for people with multiple partners Yes No	18 356	4.8 95.2
Is VCT visit for people with STD Yes No	20 354	5.3 94.7
To undergo VCT for healthy looking person Yes No	321 53	85.8 14.2
VCT services are for everyone Yes No (**) means multiple answers	347 27	92.8 7.2

Knowledge on VCT

The majority, 319 (85.3%) of the respondents, had heard about VCT service from some The major sources cited were radio, sources. 142 (38.0%) and, and 104 (27.8%) from schools (see Table 1). A total of 55(14.7%) reported that they had never heard about VCT service The majority, 368 (98.4%) of in their lifetime. respondents, agreed that VCT is important for HIV prevention; 256 (68.4%) knew at least one VCT Centre in Kigali. All the participants, 374 (100%), did not agree that only married had to visit VCT; 332 (88.8%), 356 (95.2%), and 354 (94.7%) don't agree that only prostitutes, people with multiple partners and people with sexually transmitted disease respectively have to visit VCT service. The majority, 347 (92.8%) and 321 (85.8%) of respondents agreed that VCT service is for everyone and healthy-looking persons, respectively. Half, 187(50%) of the respondents, knew that VCT is provided at government hospitals. About 188 (50.3%) of them knew that HIV test is voluntary, 135 (36.1%) knew HIV test is given with counseling, and only 51 (13.6%) of them knew that HIV medication is given at VCT centers.

VCT attitudes of university students in Kigali

Of the study participant, 190 (50.8%) agreed to be embarrassed to go for VCT, and 296 (79.1% agreed their friends should support them if they decided to go for VCT. The majority, 234 (91.1%) of respondents, agreed that VCT is confidential, 319 (85.3%) and 298 (79.7%) agreed to take care of a sick relative with HIV in his house and buy a fresh vegetable from an HIV-positive vendor About 314 (84%) of respondents respectively. disagreed that VCT is expensive for students, 229 (61.2%) and 215 (57.5%) of them disagreed that people could abandon an HIV-positive person and be disclosed to other persons, respectively. The majority, 345 (92.2%) of respondents, disagreed with the fact of not attending VCT service because of no cure for HIV/AIDS, 325 (86.9%) and 198 (52.9%) disagreed that people with HIV should be ashamed of themselves and ashamed of bringing the virus to the community.

Practices towards VCT service among university students.

About 160 (42.8%) of the respondents have had VCT in the past, and 214 (57.2%) of them have never had VCT. Among those who have taken VCT service in the past, 62 (16.6%) of them took their VCT service in the hospital, 54 (14.4%) of them were taken during the HIV campaign, and 130 (34.8%) were taken on campus. The

majority, 335 (89.6%) of the respondents, were ready to take the VCT test if available, and 109 (29.1%) of them didn't know the VCT center. The reason for not taking the VCT service, for many, 109 (29.1%), was for not knowing the VCT center, and 51 (13.6%) of them use condoms during sex. The majority, 352 (94.1%) of respondents, agreed to get an HIV test if available and free; only 22 (5.9%) of them were not ready.

The majority, 94.1% (325) of the respondent, decided to take HIV VCT uptake by their own choice, 90.4% (325) of them found it comfortable using HIV VCT service, and 79.9% (299) of them agreed to take HIV VCT services in the campus. Almost half 46% (172) of the respondents admitted that HIV VCT is available on campus, 73.3% (274) of them agreed HIV VCT is affordable, and 78.9% (295) admitted that VCT/HIV service is convenient to them.



Figure 1: Knowledge, attitude, and practice towards VCT service among University students in Kigali

The finding revealed that 59.6% of the respondent are knowledgeable towards VCT and more than of half 58.6% of students had positive attitudes for VCT. However only 42.8% of the respondent are practiced VCT (Figure 1).

Table 3: Association between sociodemographic variables with the knowledge of respondents about VCT service

Variables	Knowl- edgeable	Not knowl- edgeable	(P-val- ue)
Gender Male Female	107 55.4 116 64.1%	86 44.6% 65 35.9%	2.902 (0.088)
Age >20 20-24 25-29 30-34	31 66.0% 152 54.7% 34 79.1% 6 100%	16 34.0% 126 45.3% 9 20.9% 0 0.0%	14.428 (0.02) *

Volume 5

Issue 1

Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research Journal (AMPDR)- ISSN 2812-4898
http://dx.doi.org/10.21622/AMPDR.2025.05.1.1129

Marital status Single Married	218 59.1% 5 100%	151 40.9% 0 0.0%	3.432 (0.064)
Year of Study Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4	69 (57.5%) 53 (60.9%) 53 (62.4%) 48 (58.5%)	51 (42.5%) 34 (39.1%) 32 (37.6%) 34 (41.5%)	0.589 (0.899)
Religion Protestant Catholic Muslim Atheist	33 (35.9%) 142 (70.3%) 36 (81.8%) 12 (33.3%)	59 (64.1%) 60 (29.7%) 8 (18.2%) 24 (40.4%)	50.462 (<0.001) *
Category (ubudehe) Class1 Class2 Class3	2 (6.3%) 95 (53.7%) 126 (76.4%)	30 (93.8%) 82 (46.3%) 39 (23.6%)	59.678 (<0.001) *
Parent education No education Primary Secondary University	3 (5.4%) 35 (41.2% 84 (81.8% 104 (77.6%	53 94.6% 50 58.8% 18 18.2% 30 22.4%	118.788 (<0.001) *
Occupation Student Government em- ployee Businessman/ woman	180 (54.9%) 24 (100%) 19 (86.4%)	148 (45.1%) 0 (0.0%) 3 (13.6%)	25.856 (<0.001) *

Table 3 presents the factors that were associated with knowledge. Age of the respondents, religion of the respondents, category class (ubudehe) of the respondents, occupation of the respondents and parents education of the respondents (χ^2 = 14.428, P-value < 0.02; χ^2 = 50.462, P-value < 0.001; χ^2 = 59.678, P-value < 0.001, χ^2 = 25.856, P-value < 0.001 and χ^2 = 118.788, P-value < 0.001) respectively were significant associated with the knowledge status on VCT service (table 3)

Table 4: Association between sociodemographic variables
and knowledge of VCT with the attitude of respondents
towards VCT service

Variables	Positive attitude	Negative attitude	χ² (P-value)
Gender Male Female	186 (96.4%) 174 (96.1%)	7 (3.6%) 7 (3.9%)	0.015 (0.903)
Age >20 20-24 25-29 30-34	45 (95.7%) 266 (95.7%) 43 (100%) 6 (100%)	2 (4.3%) 12 (4.3%) 0 (0.0%) 0 (0.0%)	2.193 (0.533)
Marital status Single Married	355 (96.2%) 5 (100%)	14 (3.8%) 0 (0.0%)	0.197 (0.657)

Year of Study Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4	113 (94.2%) 87 (100%) 84 (98.8%) 76 (92.7%)	7 (5.8%) 0 (0.0%) 1 (1.2%) 6 (7.3%)	9.299 (0.026) *
Religion Protestant Catholic Muslim Atheist	85 (92.4%) 199 (98.5%) 43 (97.7%) 33 (91.7%)	7 (7.6%) 3 (1.5%) 1 (2.3%) 3 (8.3%)	9.043 (0.029) *
Category (ubu- dehe) Class1 Class2 Class3	32 (100%) 169 (95.5%) 159 (96.4%)	0 (0.0%) 8 (4.5%) 6 (3.6%)	1.546 (0.462)
Parent educa- tion No education Primary Secondary University	53 (94.6%) 79 (92.9%) 98 (99.0%) 130 (97.0)	3 (5.4%) 6 (7.1%) 1 (1.0%) 4 (3.0%)	5.264 (0.153)
Occupation Student G o v e r n m e n t employee Businessman/ woman	314 (95.7%) 24 (100%) 22 (100%)	14 (4.3%) 0 (0.0%) 0 (0.0%)	2.040 (0.361)
Knowledge Knowledgeable Not knowledge- able	216 (96.9%) 144 (95.4%)	7 (3.1%) 7 (4.6%)	0.560 (0.454)

During the survey, it was found that the year of study and the religion of respondents showed a statistically significant association with their attitudes towards VCT services at $\chi 2$ (P-value) of 9.299 (<0.026 and 9.043 (<0.029) respectively, as shown in Table 4.

Table 5: Association between sociodemographic variables and knowledge about VCT with practice of VCT service

Variables	Use VCT	Not use VCT	χ² (P-value)
Gender Male Female	82 (42.5%) 78 (43.1%)	111 (57.5%) 103 (56.9%)	0.014 (0.906)
Age >20 20-24 25-29 30-34	35 (74.5%) 101 (36.3%) 23 (53.5%) 1 (16.7%)	12 (4.3%) 177 (63.7%) 20 (46.5%) 5 (83.3%)	27.689 (<0.001) *
Marital status Single Married	159 (43.1%) 1 (20%)	210 (56.9%) 4 (80%)	1.074 (0.3)
Year of Study Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4	63 (52.5%) 40 (46%) 33 (38.8%) 24 (29.3%)	57 (47.5%) 47 (54%) 52 (61.2%) 58 (70.7%)	11.654 (0.009) *

Religion Protestant Catholic Muslim Atheist	29 (31.5%) 88 (43.6%) 33 (75%) 10 (27.8%)	63 (68.5%) 114 (56.4%) 11 (25%) 26 (72.2%)	26.784 (<0.001) *
C a t e g o r y (ubudehe) Class1 Class2 Class3	17 (53.1%) 74 (41.8%) 69 (41.8%)	15 (46.9%) 103 (58.2%) 96 (58.2%)	1.530 (0.465)
Parent edu- cation No education Primary Secondary University	29 (51.8%) 32 (37.6%) 38 (38.4%) 61 (45.5%)	27 (48.2%) 53 (62.4%) 61 (61.6%) 73 (54.5%)	3.964 (0.265)
Occupation Student Government employee B u s i n e s s - man/woman	150 (45.7%) 6 (25%) 4 (18.2%)	178 (54.3%) 18 (75%) 18 (81.8%)	9.705 (0.008) *
Knowledge Knowledge- able Not knowl- edgeable	108 (48.4%) 52 (34.4%)	115 (51.6%) 99 (65.6%)	7.202 (0.007) *

Age of the respondent, year of study of respondents, the religion of the respondent, occupation of the respondent, and knowledge of the respondent had a statistically significant association with the attitude towards VCT service at $\chi 2$ (P-value) of 27.689 (<0.001), 11.654 (0.009), 26.784 (<0.001), 9.705 (<0.008) and 7.202 (0.007) respectively (table 5).

4. Discussion

The study aimed to assess the level of knowledge, attitude, and practice toward VCT service among University students in Kigali City, Rwanda. Our findings indicate that the majority, 319 (85.3%), reported that they had never heard about VCT. The finding is lower than the results reported in a similar study conducted among university students in Ethiopia [20], which reported that 93.4% of the participants were knowledgeable about VCT of HIV. This study reports that 59.6% of the students had good knowledge of VCT, which is slightly lower than the findings of a study conducted among university students in Ethiopia, which reported that 66% of the students were knowledgeable about VCT. [22] Other studies in Ethiopia and Nigeria reported much higher knowledge levels, 93.4% and 82.9%, respectively, which is higher compared to the results from this study. [20,23] The majority of the students in Ethiopia with high knowledge are comparatively older than the majority age

bracket in Kigali, 20-24 versus 24 and above age groups for Kigali and Ethiopia, respectively. Consequently, they may not be fully informed about available services such as counseling and partner advice, seeing VCT primarily as blood Closing this knowledge gap requires testing. Information about effective communication. VCT services was mainly received from radio (38%) and schools (27.8%). In contrast, a study in Malawi revealed that 42% of students had acquired information about VCT from church or funeral gatherings, while 25% cited friends as their primary source of information [24]. In another study conducted in Nigeria, it was found that mass media and churches were the primary sources of information on VCT. This trend could be attributed to the wide reach of mass media, making it a potent tool for reaching young people, while churches also play a significant role in disseminating information. Schools, on the other hand, are considered a vital avenue for accessing young individuals.[25]

An evaluation of the influence of sociodemographic factors on VCT knowledge revealed significant associations with age, religion, category, parents' education, and occupation of the surveyed respondents. This finding contrasts with a study conducted in Ethiopia, where only the residency status of respondents showed a statistically significant association with VCT knowledge. [22]

As the overall attitude score showed 58.6% of participants have a positive attitude towards VCT, lower results were reported compared with a study from students in North West Ethiopia, in which 73.3% of respondents had favorable attitudes towards VCT services.[21] This is in contrast to the study, which reported 40 % positive attitudes toward VCT. [23] The variation in awareness levels between the study regions and ongoing enhancements in health interventions could account for these differences. Marital status and religious affiliation emerged as significant sociodemographic variables influencing students' attitudes toward VCT. Christian students are often inclined towards abstinence or condom use (if they know their HIV status); if married, they exhibit distinct attitudes. This association with religious beliefs may stem from heightened knowledge among students, thereby influencing their attitudes positively. Conversely, a study in Addis Ababa suggested that students from rural areas, potentially lacking comprehensive information about VCT, might exhibit lower levels of favorable attitudes, albeit not statistically significant. 25which is essential for the management of the disease. This study sought to determine the prevalence

and factors that influence the utilization of VHCT services among young people. In this study, young people in the Tema Metropolis were cross-sectionally surveyed. The simple random sampling method was used to select the participants. The majority (60%]

The results of this study revealed that 42.8% of respondents demonstrated a positive attitude towards VCT services. In comparison, a study among high school students [26] reported a relatively higher attendance rate of VCT at 65.1%. This finding contrasts with a study conducted at Addis Ababa University [27which is essential for the management of the disease. This study sought to determine the prevalence and factors that influence the utilization of VHCT services among young people. In this study, young people in the Tema Metropolis were cross-sectionally surveyed. The simple random sampling method was used to select the participants. The majority (60%], where only 23% of participants had undergone VCT, with a mere 15.3% of them testing for HIV. [29] In line with a study conducted in Nigeria, the primary reasons cited by individuals who had never undergone VCT in the past were attributed to concerns regarding trust in partners and oneself (18.5%), fear of stigma (21.2%), and apprehension about receiving the test results (18.3%). Despite variations in VCT attendance rates, the primary reasons for not visiting VCT centers appear to be consistent across different study areas, including communitybased surveys. [28, 30] Individuals with good knowledge and positive attitudes are more likely to be aware of prevention methods related to HIV/AIDS, suggesting that interventions focusing on improving knowledge could lead to attitude changes and subsequently facilitate the uptake of VCT services. The current study found statistically significant associations between VCT uptake and factors such as age, year of study, religion, occupation, and knowledge level, consistent with findings from previous research. Furthermore, there was a notable association between knowledge about HIV, knowledge about VCT, attitude towards VCT, and VCT practice, indicating their interconnectedness. Therefore, efforts aimed at enhancing knowledge and fostering attitude changes are crucial for increasing the uptake of VCT services.

5. Conclusion

Generally, students' knowledge and attitudes towards VCT services are relatively satisfactory, but their actual practice of utilizing VCT services is relatively unsatisfactory. Information education communication and peer-to-peer discussions are highly valuable in addressing this gap. Factors such as age, religion, socio-economic category (ubudehe), occupation, and parents' education are associated with knowledge about VCT. This allows for targeted interventions toward specific groups when universal approaches are not feasible. Additionally, the year of study and religion are significantly associated with having a positive attitude towards VCT services. Regarding the utilization of VCT services, factors such as age, year of study, religion, occupation of the respondent, and having knowledge about VCT are significantly associated with actually using these services. These findings highlight the importance of targeted interventions and tailored educational efforts to improve VCT uptake among students. As a recommendation, first, it is important to raise awareness within families and higher education institutions to prevent stigma and discrimination among Secondly, enhancing knowledge students. about VCT/HIV among university students can be achieved by expanding VCT facilities that offer services, along with training counselors, which will play a key role in increasing the use of these services.

6. Limitations of the study

The findings reported in this study should be considered within the context of certain limitations. One, as a cross-sectional study, we relied solely on the information provided by respondents, introducing the potential for information bias. Therefore, the results may not be broadly applicable to the wider population of tertiary-level students. Additionally, we did not assess the perceived risk of HIV, which could have strengthened the findings. Despite these limitations, our study offers valuable insights for future research, suggesting the need for multicenter studies involving larger study populations to further validate and expand upon our findings.
References

1. UNAIDS. AIDS by the numbers 2015; UNAIDS 2016–2021 Strategy: targets, goals, vision [Internet]. Available from: https://www.unaids. org/en/resources/documents/2015/UNAIDS_ PCB37_15-18

2. UNAIDS. Fact sheet, People living with HIV, HIV, antiretroviral therapy, new HIV infections, AIDS,tuberculosis,facts [Internet].2016. Available from: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/ files/media_asset/UNAIDS_FactSheet_en.pdf

3. Mekonnen N, Abdulkadir M, Shumetie E, Baraki AG, Yenit MK. Incidence and predictors of loss to follow-up among HIV infected adults after initiation of first line anti-retroviral therapy at University of Gondar comprehensive specialized Hospital Northwest Ethiopia, 2018: retrospective follow up study. BMC Res Notes. 2019 Dec 28;12(1):111.

4. Wekesa P, McLigeyo A, Owuor K, Mwangi J, Nganga E, Masamaro K. Factors associated with 36-month loss to follow-up and mortality outcomes among HIV-infected adults on antiretroviral therapy in Central Kenya. BMC Public Health. 2020 Dec 14;20(1):328.

5. EM W. Implementing evidence-Bases Preventions for Key and Prioriry Population in the Republic of Rwanda under the President's Emergency Plan for AIDS relief (PEPFAR) [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://www.grants.gov/

6. NATIONAL CONSOLIDATED GUIDELINES FOR COMPREHENSIVE HIV PREVENTION, CARE AND TREATMENT [Internet]. 2018. Available from: https://www.afro.who.int/sites/default/ files/2019-04/National%20Comprehensive%20 HIV%20Care%20%20Guideline%202018.pdf

7. Rwanda HIV and AIDS National Strategic Plan Extension 2018-2020 Rwanda HIV and AIDS National Strategic Plan [Internet]. 2013. Available from: https://rbc.gov.rw/fileadmin/ user_upload/stra2019/strategie2019/ Rwanda%20Strategic%20Plan%20for%20HIV%20 Extended%20to%202020.pdf

8. Ntabanganyimana D, Rugema L, Omolo J, Nsekuye O, Malamba SS. Incidence and factors associated with being lost to follow-up among people living with HIV and receiving antiretroviral therapy in Nyarugenge the central business district of Kigali city, Rwanda. PLoS One. 2022 Oct 13;17(10):e0275954. 9. Corless IB, Hoyt AJ, Tyer-Viola L, Sefcik E, Kemppainen J, Holzemer WL, et al. 90-90-90-Plus: Maintaining Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapies. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2017 May;31(5):227-36.

10. Prüss-Ustün A, Wolf J, Bartram J, Clasen T, Cumming O, Freeman MC, et al. Burden of disease from inadequate water, sanitation and hygiene for selected adverse health outcomes: An updated analysis with a focus on low- and middle-income countries. Int J Hyg Environ Health. 2019 Jun;222(5):765–77.

11. NISR. National Gender Statistics Report 2021. 2022; Available from: https:// e-ihuriro.rcsprwanda.org/wp-content/ uploads/2023/06/NATIONAL-GENDER-STATISTICS-REPORT-2021.pdf

12. Rwanda Demographic and Health Survey 2019-20 - Supplemental Report for HIV Prevalence | National Institute of Statistics Rwanda [Internet]. Available from: https://www. statistics.gov.rw/publication/1994

13. Xu Z, Ma P, Chu M, Chen Y, Miao J, Xia H, et al. Understanding the Role of Voluntary Counseling and Testing (VCT) in HIV Prevention in Nantong, China. Biomed Res Int. 2020 Jan 5;2020(1).

14. Woldeyohannes D, Asmamaw Y, Sisay S, Hailesselassie W, Birmeta K, Tekeste Z. Risky HIV sexual behavior and utilization of voluntary counseling and HIV testing and associated factors among undergraduate students in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. BMC Public Health. 2017 Dec 25;17(1):121.

15. Department of Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes (HHS) [Internet]. Available from: https://www. who.int/teams/global-hiv-hepatitis-and-stisprogrammes/overview

16. Rwanda Demographic and Health Survey 2019-20. Final Report. 2019th-20th ed. Kigali: Ministry of Health, National Institute of Statistics of Rwanda, RDHS Program. 2021; Available from: https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR370/ FR370.pdf

17. MAIN INDICATORS: 5th Rwanda Population and Housing Census (PHC) | National Institute of Statistics Rwanda [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://www.statistics.gov.rw/publication/ main_indicators_2022 18. Bekele YA, Fekadu GA. Factors associated with HIV testing among young females; further analysis of the 2016 Ethiopian demographic and health survey data. PLoS One. 2020 Feb 11;15(2):e0228783.

19. Dagne S, Agedew E, Misikir D, Haftu D. Voluntary Counseling and Testing Utilization and Associated Factors among Arba Minch University Students, South Ethiopia. J AIDS Clin Res. 2017;08(06).

20. Ermeko T, Kebede D, Lette A. Knowledge, Attitude and Practice towards Voluntary Counseling and Testing Service among University Students, Southern Ethiopia. Microbiol Res J Int. 2019 Jun 25;1–10.

21. Addis Z, Yalew A, Shiferaw Y, Alemu A, Birhan W, Mathewose B, et al. Knowledge, attitude and practice towards voluntary counseling and testing among university students in North West Ethiopia: a cross sectional study. BMC Public Health. 2013 Dec 2;13(1):714.

22. Abdu OA, Teshome G, Dereje MM, Girma A, Daniel K, Agizie A. Knowledge, attitude, practice and associated factors of voluntary counseling and testing for HIV/AIDS among Wolkite university students in Ethiopia. Journal of AIDS and HIV Research. 2017 May 31;9(5):98–105.

23. Bibiana NE, O EP, D A, M RY, Nasir IA. Knowledge, attitude and factors affecting voluntary HIV counseling and testing services among women of reproductive age group in an Abuja Suburb community, Nigeria. Med J Zambia. 2018 Jul 11;45(1):13–22.

24. RBC: HIV/AIDs and STIs Diseases [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://rbc.gov. rw/who-we-are/our-divisions-and-units/hiv/ aids-and-stis-diseases 25. Abdissa D, Tazebew M, Gerbi A. Prevalence of Voluntary Counseling and Testing Utilization and Its Associated Factors Among Merawi Preparatory School Students in Merawi Town, West Gojjam, Ethiopia
HIV/AIDS – Research and Palliative Care. 2020 Dec;Volume 12:923–30.

26. Derebew B, Mola M, Kalyankar VB, Padwal ND, Chauhan NM, Humbe AS, et al. Determination of knowledge, attitude and practice of voluntary counseling testing on HIV among youths from Tepi Town, Ethiopia. PEC Innovation. 2023 Dec;2:100102.

27. Anaba EA, Buabeng Z, Okai GA. Voluntary HIV Counselling and Testing Services: Knowledge, Attitudes, and Correlates of Utilisation among Young People in the Tema Metropolis, Ghana. Youth. 2022 Oct 9;2(4):469–78.

28. Kuruche MM, Obsa MS. Assessment of Knowledge, Attitude and Practice towards Voluntary Counseling And testing Services of Areka High school, South Ethiopia. IOSR Journal of Nursing and Health Science. 2020;9(3):44–51.

29. Awa M.J., P.E.N.Onyemachi, Enukeme JU, Ejikem MEC. A cross sectional study of knowledge, attitude and utilization of HIV voluntary counseling and testing among University students in Abia State, Nigeria. International Journal of Novel Research in Healthcare and Nursing. 2020;7(3):108–18.

30. Ikechebelu I, Udigwe G, Ikechebelu N, Imoh L. The knowledge, attitude and practice of voluntary counselling and testing (VCT) for HIV/ AIDS among undergraduates in a polytechnic in south-east Nigeria. Nigerian Journal of Medicine. 2007 Jan 11;15(3).



June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

Age And Pattern Of Cervical Smear Cytology In Federal Medical Centre Asaba – A Five Year Review

Daniel Nnaemeka Onwusulu¹, Samuel Okwuchukwu Ilikannu², Chikodili Ogugua Ochuba³, Valentine Idama⁴, Emmanuel Egboduku⁵, Adeniyi Johnson Fagbemi⁶ and Sunday Emmanuel Jombo⁷

¹Onwusulu Daniel Nnaemeka of the Department of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, Faculty of medicine, Awka, Nigeria.

^{2,4,5,6,7} Federal Medical Centre Asaba, Nigeria.

³ Department of Health, Ethics and Society, Faculty of Health, Medicine and Life Sciences Maastricht University, Netherlands, Nigeria.

Emails: dn.onwusulu@unizik.edu.ng, dr.ilikannu@gmail.com, chikodiliilikannu@gmail.com, jombosunday@yahoo.com, sunday.jombo@npmcn.edu.ng, niyijohnson8@gmail.com, jpmbosunday@yahoo.com

Received on, 30 January 2025 - Accepted on, 17 March 2025 - Published on, 14 April 2025

ABSTRACT:

Background: Cancer of the cervix is a leading cause of cancer deaths among women in low and middle-income countries. Screening for premalignant lesions of the cervix using a cervical smear is preventive. The pattern of cytological findings varies with age; this pattern is not well known in our environment.

Objective: To assess the pattern of cervical smear cytology in the Federal Medical Centre, Asaba.

Methods: This was a retrospective descriptive study of all cervical smears received and processed at the histopathology department of the Federal Medical Centre (FMC), Asaba, between 1st January 2016 and 31st December 2020. Those with inadequate data were excluded from the study. The classification was by the 2014 Bethesda system. Data collected was analyzed using the SPSS (IBM version 20), and the results were presented in frequencies, percentages, and tables.

Results: A total of 1184 cervical smear samples were received in the histopathology department of FMC, Asaba, during the period of study. One thousand one hundred and fifty were satisfactory. The mean age was 43+/-10.58 and ranged between 19 and 76 years. The age group with the largest number of cervical smears was 41-50 years (412; 35.8%). About 807(70.2%) were normal smears while 343(29.8%) had abnormal results. Of the abnormal results, 173(15.0%) were negative for intraepithelial cell abnormalities. Of these were ASC-US (13; 1.1%),

LSIL (129; 11.2%), HSIL (28; 2.4%). The prevalence of HSIL increased with age; the highest was >60 years (35.7%). The reverse was the case for the lower grade lesions. There was a significant relationship between the ages of the patient and the pattern of cervical smear results (P < 0.01).

Conclusion: Population screening programs should be encouraged for the inclusion of younger women in whom lower grade lesions are commoner to reduce the prevalence of cervical cancer in our population.

Keywords: Age, screening, cervical smear, cytology, cervical intra epithelial lesion, and cervical cancer.

1. Introduction

Cancer of the cervix is a potentially preventable disease.¹ Approximately 570 000 cases of cervical cancer and 311000 deaths from the disease occurred in 2018.² Cervical cancer was the fourth most common cancer in women, ranking after breast cancer (2·1 million cases), colorectal cancer (0.8 million) and lung cancer (0.7 million).² It is the commonest in developing countries, and it progresses slowly in the body. ³Majority of the morbidities and mortalities from cervical cancer occur mainly in these developing countries; this can be largely as a result of late presentation when only palliative care is available.^{4, 5} The goal of cervical cancer screening is to find pre-cancers early so they can be treated before they transform into cancer. ^{6,} ⁷ Although screening is a known cost-effective strategy used in reducing the burden of cervical cancer worldwide, its uptake, particularly in developing countries, is still abysmal.^{8,9}

The Pap smear test results are reported using the 2014 Bethesda nomenclature.¹⁰ According to this classification system, the adequacy of the specimen was properly assessed based on either being satisfactory or unsatisfactory or a general categorization of either being normal or abnormal. The abnormal result could further be divided into negative for intraepithelial lesion/ malignancy, epithelial cell abnormality, which could either be of squamous cell or glandular origin and others.¹⁰ The squamous cell type is further divided into atypical squamous cells (of undetermined significance ASC-US and cannot exclude HSIL - ASC-H), low grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (LSIL), high grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (HSIL) and squamous cell carcinoma.

The glandular cell type is further divided into Atypical glandular cells, endocervical adenocarcinoma in situ, adenocarcinoma, and others.

This study assesses the pattern of Pap smear results in FMC, Asaba, over five years.

2. Methodology

Study Design

This was a retrospective study of all cervical smears received and processed at the Pathology department over 5 years (1st January 2016 - 31st December 2020) in Federal Medical Centre, Asaba.

Setting

Federal Medical Centre Asaba is a tertiary health institution located in Oshimili South LGA of Delta State situated in the South-South Geopolitical zone of Nigeria. It provides primary, secondary and tertiary health services to the Delta populace. It also serves as a referral center for patients from neighbouring states like Anambra and Edo.

The Histopathology department provides services to the entire hospital as the need arises during working hours of weekdays. The department has two Consultants and other support staff that direct activities of the department. The cervical cytology smear testing is one of their services in conjunction with the Obstetrics and Gynaecology department where the samples are collected before being sent for histopathology evaluation.

Study Population

Cervical cytology smears performed at FMC Asaba between January 2016 and December 2020 were studied and analyzed.

Data collection methods

A register of all women who had a cervical cytology smear done at the histopathology department is maintained electronically. This register was used to identify cervical cytology smear results done between 1st January 2016 and 31st December 2020. Relevant data retrieved included the age, cervical cytology smear pattern and the amount of cervical cytology smears done annually. A proforma was designed and used to extract these data.

3. Data Analysis

Data collected was entered into and analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 20.0 (IBM SPSS). The results were presented in statements, frequency distribution tables, and charts. The test of significance was by the chi-square test and Fisher's exact test. The level of significance was considered if the p-value was < 0.05

Ethical Approval

Approval for the study was granted by the Research and Ethics Committee of Federal Medical Centre Asaba.

4. Results

The total number of pap smears received was 1184. Thirty-four (2.9%) were unsatisfactory and, therefore, not included in the study. One thousand one hundred and fifty (1150) smears were analyzed. The age range of the women screened was between 19 and 76 years. The largest number of smears was between ages 41–50years (412 = 35.8%) and 31–40years (366 = 31.8%) while (177 = 15.4%) was for age bracket 51–60years, (119 = 10.3%) for 21–30years and (75 = 6.5%) for ages above 61years. Only 0.1% was found in the 20-year age group below. (Table 1)

The year 2019 had the highest amount of cervical cytology tests done, with 299(26.0%) smear results. This was followed by 275(23.9%) for 2017, 232(20.2%) for 2016 and 216(18.8%) for 2018. The year 2020(128=11%) witnessed the lowest amount of Pap smears done in the last

Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research Journal (AMPDR)-ISSN 2812-4898 http://dx.doi.org/10.21622/AMPDR.2025.05.1.1209

five years, as shown in Figure 1.

Majority of the smears 807(70.2%) were in the category of normal while 343(29.8%) had an abnormal Pap smear result. Of the abnormal results, 173(15.0%) were negative for intraepithelial lesion whereas 170(14.8%) were positive. These positive smear results were made of ASC-US 13(1.1%), LSIL 129(11.2%) and HSIL 28(2.4%). There was no invasive carcinoma found as shown in Figure 2.

Smears that revealed an HSIL occurred more in the 51-60 years age group and were closely followed by the 41- 50 years age group, while smears that revealed an LSIL occurred more in the 41-50 years age group and were followed by the 31-40 years age group. Cervical smears with ASCUS also occurred more in the 41-50 years age group. There appeared to be a significant relationship between the age of the patients examined under the period and their cervical cytology results, as the P-value was < 0.05. See Table 4

Table 1. Age distribution of the cervical smears

Age	Frequency	Percentage(%)
<20	1	.1
21-30	119	10.3
31-40	366	31.8
41-50	412	35.8
51-60	177	15.4
>61	75	6.5
Total	1150	100.0



Figure 1. The yearly trend of uptake of cervical cytology smears.

RESULT OF PAP SMEAR CYTOLOGY



Using the chi-square test and Fisher's exact test for correction, as more than 20% of the cells have an expected count of less than 5.

Table 4. Relationship between the age of the patient and their cervical cytology result.

		RESULT				Total	X ²	P value	
NO	RMAL	INFLAMMATORY	ASC-US	LSIL	HSIL				
	<20	1	0	0	0	0	1	79.854	0.000
	21-30	92	17	2	8	0	119		
1.05	31-40	268	62	1	32	3	366		
AGE	41-50	301	53	5	46	7	412		
	51-60	111	28	4	26	8	177		
	>61	34	13	1	17	10	75		
Total		807	173	13	129	28	1150		

From the table above, there is a significant relationship between age and cervical cytology results of patients. The p value is <0.05.

5. Discussion

Cervical cytology smears are usually taken for screening of cervical cancers as this disease may be prevented by early detection alongside appropriate management of precursor lesions.². ¹¹ The low rates of cancer of the cervix in more developed climes are probably the result of successful cytological screening. This is possible because of the routine against opportunistic and institution-based screening in low- and middle-income countries; the latter is erratic and does not cover all the relevant groups. These screening programs have counteracted the increased exposure to risk factors among generations born after 1945, as established from age-period-cohort analyses.²

Of the 1150 smears analyzed, 807(70.2%) were normal smears, while 343(29.8%) had abnormal Pap smear results. The abnormal Pap smear result obtained in this study was similar to the results in Imo¹² and Zaria¹³ but was higher than the results obtained in Calabar,¹⁴ Enugu¹⁵, and Saudi Arabia.¹⁶ It was, however, lower than the results obtained in Osun,¹⁷ Gombe⁷, and India.¹⁸ Of the abnormal results, 173(15.0%) were negative for intraepithelial lesions whereas 170(14.8%) were positive for intraepithelial lesions. Inflammatory lesions (15%), such as acute and chronic cervicitis, accounted for the smears that were negative for intraepithelial lesions. This was similar to the 14.6% published by Obaseki et al. in Benin¹⁹ and 13% in Zaria,¹³ but lower than 52.5% in Gombe,⁷ 29.9% in Ile-Ife¹⁷, and 50.2% in India.¹⁸ Inflammatory lesions obtained in our study were higher than the 5.2% obtained in Saudi Arabia.¹⁶

The LSIL 129(11.2%) was the commonest intraepithelial lesion seen in this study and was similar to the findings in Zaria,¹³ IIe-Ife^{17,} and Benin.¹⁹ This was followed by HSIL 28(2.4%) and ASC-US 13(1.1%). However, Duru et al. in Imo reported HSIL(36.8%) to be the commonest intraepithelial lesion, followed by squamous cell carcinoma(35.1%) and LSIL(14.0%)¹² while Samar et al.²⁰ and Elhakeem et al.²¹ reported ASCUS to be the commonest intraepithelial lesion in Saudi Arabia. The varying pattern could be due to the

differences in the population and method of screening.

The year 2019 had the highest number of cervical smears done over the five-year review of our study, while 2020(11.1%) had the lowest amount of Pap smears done. This was probably due to the effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on the reproductive health of women.

The oldest patient with a positive smear result in this series was 76 years old, supporting the facts by some authors that there should be no upper age limit for the first smear.¹⁵ The majority of the women who had a pap smear were between the 41- 50 years age group 412(35.8%). This was followed by the 31-40 years age group, 366(31.8%). This was comparable with similar studies in Imo,12 Zaria,13 Calabar,14 Ile-Ife,17 Benin,19 India¹⁸ and Saudi Arabia.²¹ The majority of the ASC-US and LSIL cases also occurred in this 41-50-year-old age group, while a higher proportion of pap smear results with HSIL occurred in the 51-60-year-old age group. This was in contrast with findings in Benin¹⁹ and Saudi Arabia^{20,} where LSIL occurred more in the 50-59-year-old group while HSIL occurred more in the 40-49-year-old age group.²⁰

This study showed a significant relationship between age and the pattern of cervical smear results, as the p-value was < 0.05. It also showed that the number of abnormal lesions in the different age brackets increased with age. This emphasizes the fact that there are more women affected by increasing age, hence the importance of organized screening.

6. Conclusion

Screeningfor cancer of the cervix has been proven to be an effective tool in the detection of preinvasive stages of cervical cancer. Population based screening should be encouraged for adequate inclusion of all relevant age groups, especially the younger ones in whom the lower grade lesions are commoner. Hence, all tiers of government and the organized private sector should devise a strategy for effective cervical smear uptake with follow-up and referrals to specialist clinics for treatment when abnormal smears are found.

References

1. Owoeye IOG, Ibrahim . IA. Knowledge and attitude towards cervical cancer screening among female students and staff in a tertiary institution in the Niger Delta. International Journal of Medicine and Biomedical Research. 2013;2(1).

2. Arbyn M, Weiderpass E, Bruni L, de Sanjosé S, Saraiya M, Ferlay J, et al. Estimates of incidence and mortality of cervical cancer in 2018: a worldwide analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2020;8(2).

3. Kashyap N, Krishnan N, Kaur S, Ghai S. Risk Factors of Cervical Cancer: A Case-Control Study. In: Asia-Pacific Journal of Oncology Nursing. 2019.

4. Jimoh A, Abdul I. A Review of One Hundred and Three (103) Histologically Confirmed Cases of Carcinoma of the Cervix at the University of llorin Teaching Hospital, llorin, Nigeria. Nigerian Medical Practitioner. 2004;45(3).

5. Durosinmi-Etti FA. Cancer Patients in Nigeria, Causes of Delay in Diagnosis and Treatment. Nigeria Quarterly Journal of Hospital Medicine. 1985;3:28–30.

6. Screening for cervical cancer. CA Cancer J Clin. 2020 Sep 30;70(5):347–8.

7. Audu BM, Elnafaty AU, Pindiga HU. Prevalence of Abnormal Cervical Smears from Sporadic Screening in a Gynaecological Clinic. Nigerian Medical Practitioner. 2007;51(6).

8. Jeronimo J, Bansil P, Lim J, Peck R, Paul P, Amador JJ, et al. A Multicountry Evaluation of careHPV Testing, Visual Inspection With Acetic Acid, and Papanicolaou Testing for the Detection of Cervical Cancer. International Journal of Gynecological Cancer. 2014 Mar;24(3):576–85.

9. Hoque M, Hoque E, Kader SB. Evaluation of cervical cancer screening program at a rural community of South Africa. East Afr J Public Health. 2008;5(2).

10. Nayar R, Wilbur DC. The Pap test and Bethesda 2014. Cancer Cytopathol. 2015 May;123(5):271–81. 11. Ubajaka C, Ukegbu A, Ilikannu S, Ibeh C. Knowledge of Cervical Cancer and Practice of Pap Smear Testing among Secondary School Teachers in Nnewi North Local Government Area of Anambra State, South Eastern Nigeria. Advances in Sexual Medicine. 2015;05(02).

12. Duru CB, Oluoha UR, Uwakwe K, Diwe KC. Pattern of PAP Smear Test Results among Nigerian Women attending clinics in a Teaching Hospital. Int J Curr Microbiol Appl Sci. 2015;4(4):989–98.

13. Avidime S, Ahmed S, Oguntayo A, Abu T, Ndako J. Pattern of cervical dysplasia among women of reproductive age in Zaria, Northern Nigeria. J Med Trop. 2014;16(2).

14. P.O O. Pattern of Cervical Smear Cytology in Calabar, Nigeria,. IOSR Journal of VLSI and Signal Processing. 2013;2(6):37–41.

15. Chukwuali LI, Onuigbo WIB, Mgbor NC. Cervical Cancer Screening in Enugu, Nigeria. Trop J Obstet Gynaecol. 2004;20(2).

16. Mansoor I. Profile Of Cervical Smears Cytology In Western Region Of Saudi Arabia. The Internet Journal of Pathology. 2012;2(1).

17. Akinfolarin AC, Olusegun AK, Omoladun O, Omoniyi-Esan GO, Onwundiegu U. Age and pattern of Pap smear abnormalities: Implications for cervical cancer control in a developing country. J Cytol. 2017;34(4).

18. Rana S, Jairajpuri Z, Jetley S. Cervical smear cytology on routine screening in a semi urban population in New Delhi: A review of 610 cases. Archives of Medicine and Health Sciences. 2013;1(2).

19. Obaseki D E ODE. Cervical Cancer Screening In Benin City, South-South Nigeria. IOSR Journal of Dental and Medical Sciences. 2013;5(1).

20. Musmar SG. Pattern and Factors Affecting Pap Smear Test in Nablus, a Retrospective Study. Middle East Journal of Family Medicine. 2004;4(4):1–11.

21. Elhakeem HA, Al-Ghamdi AS, Al-Maghrabi JA. Cytopathological pattern of cervical Pap smear according to the Bethesda system in Southwestern Saudi Arabia. Vol. 26, Saudi Medical Journal. 2005.

Context-Dependent Autophagy in Cancer: Deciphering Cytoprotective vs. Cytotoxic Roles and Therapeutic Modulation Strategies

Samer Osama Kostandy¹, Salwa Aburageh Abuiessa², Mai Mostafa Helmy³ and Maged Wasfy Helmy⁴

¹Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Clinical and biological Sciences Division, College of pharmacy, Arab Academy for Science, Technology & Maritime Transport (AASTMT), Alexandria, Egypt.

^{2,3} Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt.

⁴ Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Damanhour University, Damanhour, Egypt.

Emails: samerosama@aast.edu, salwa.aborajeh@alexu.edu.eg, mai.helmy@alexu.edu.eg, maged.helmy@pharm.dmu.edu.eg

Received on, 05 March 2025 - Accepted on, 18 March 2025 - Published on, 15 April 2025

ABSTRACT:

Autophagy is a highly conserved cellular process activated when cells are exposed to stress. It is responsible for maintaining cellular homeostasis by degrading and recycling the exhausted cell components. However, autophagy is considered a cell survival mechanism; recent studies revealed its dual role in cancer. Autophagy can act as a cytoprotective in early tumor stages or cytotoxic in advanced malignancies. This review explores the underlying molecular mechanisms and key regulatory pathways of autophagy, such as mTOR, AMPK, and p53, and their roles in tumorigenesis. The contradictory nature of autophagy in cancer varies according to the cellular context and depends on genomic stability, metabolic adaptation, immune evasion, and therapy resistance. Additionally, this review discusses different therapeutic strategies targeting autophagy, including inhibitors such as hydroxychloroquine and inducers like rapamycin, which have shown promise in modulating autophagy for improved cancer treatment outcomes. The review also examines the role of autophagy in cancer stem cells, metastasis, and therapy resistance, providing insights into how autophagy modulation can enhance chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and immunotherapy. Given its context-dependent functions, a deeper understanding of autophagy's intricate regulation is crucial for developing precision medicine approaches to effectively integrate autophagytargeting strategies in cancer treatment.

Keywords: autophagy, cytoprotective, cytotoxic, cellular context, cancer.

1. Introduction

Autophagy is a cellular process that is responsible for maintaining cellular homeostasis by degrading and recycling the intracellular components. It has been preserved throughout evolution [1]. The term autophagy is derived from two Greek words, "auto" (self) and "phage" (eating), which allows cells to remove damaged organelles, misfolded proteins, and infections to protect their cellular integrity and survival [2]. The process begins with the formation of the phagophore, which is a double membrane vesicle thatengulfsthecytoplasmicdebrisuntilmaturing into an autophagosome. Subsequently, the autophagosome fuses with hydrolytic lysosome enzymes that break down the engulfed content and release macromolecule building blocks to be reused by the cell. Control of autophagic activity in response to food availability and cellular stress comes from autophagy-related (ATG) genes and signaling pathways, including mTOR and AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) [3]. The beginning of the study of autophagy stretches back to the 1950s and 1960s when Christian de Duve discovered that intracellular breakdown is done by the lysosomes. Hereafter, the word "autophagy" was created in 1963, but its importance in cellular homeostasis was not completely understood until the 1990s when Yoshinori Ohsumi discovered ATG genes in yeast, which earned him the 2016 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine [4]. Recently, autophagy has been associated with various physiological and pathological processes, including immunological modulation, neurodegeneration, and, most importantly, cancer. Recent findings

June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

have increased our knowledge of autophagy's involvement in cellular metabolism, aging, and disease development, emphasizing its potential as a therapeutic target [1, 5]. Autophagy is well known for its controversial role in cancer, as it acts by dual function, and it may operate as a tumor suppressor or promoter depending on the cellular context. Autophagy protects normal cells by eliminating damaged organelles and reducing genetic instability, which inhibits tumorigenesis. However, in some tumors, cancer cells may adapt cytoprotective autophagy to evade apoptosis, increase cell survival under metabolic stress, and develop drug resistance [6]. The dual function of autophagy complicates therapy attempts as, depending on the kind and stage of cancer, both repression and activation have benefits. Designing effective cancer treatments depends on understanding the processes behind cytoprotective rather than cytotoxic autophagy [7]. Autophagy has a significant impact on cancer treatment and drug resistance. Many cancers use autophagy adapt harsh microenvironmental to to circumstances, including hypoxia and food deprivation, which help cell growth and survival. Moreover, autophagy helps chemoresistance by boosting cytotoxic agent breakdown and inhibiting drug-induced apoptosis [8]. This has led to using autophagy inhibitors in clinical trials, such as hydroxychloroquine, as adjuvant chemotherapy to enhance the effect of the treatment [9]. In contrast, in malignancies, when autophagy is reduced, reactivating autophagy may restore normal cellular functions and trigger tumor cell death [10]. Small-molecule autophagy activators, such as rapamycin and metformin, have been shown in certain studies to have anti-cancer characteristics by increasing autophagy-mediated cell death and decreasing resistance to treatment. Given the context-dependent nature of autophagy in cancer, targeting autophagic pathways offers a viable route for precision medicine techniques [7]. This review attempts to clarify the molecular mechanisms controlling autophagy by means of key regulatory pathways and signaling networks, differentiate between the conditions under which autophagy displays cytoprotective rather than cytotoxic activities in cancer, and investigate therapeutic strategies targeting autophagy, including both inhibitors and activators, to enhance the outcome of cancer treatment.

1. Types of Autophagy

Autophagy has three forms: macroautophagy, microautophagy, and chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA), all of which depend on lysosomal degradation [11]. Macroautophagy is the most studied form that involves the formation of autophagosomes to sequester damaged organelles, misfolded proteins, and pathogens. Then, the autophagosome is fused with the lysosome for content degradation. This form of autophagy is regulated by mTOR and AMPK signaling and is important for cancer suppression, neuroprotection, and immune function. Any dysregulation with macroautophagy is always associated with neurodegenerative diseases and cancer [1]. The microautophagy directly engulfs the small cytoplasmic portions with the aid of lysosomes without autophagosome formation. It is responsible for organelle turnover, lipid metabolism, and protein homeostasis, with roles in aging, metabolic disorders, and neurodegeneration [12]. On the other hand, chaperone-mediated autophagy is a specific mode of lipophagy that begins with the recognition of a conserved KFERQ peptide sequence in the target proteins, LD coat proteins, including PLIN2 and PLIN3, which are demonstrated to be substrates of this pathway. Specifically, cargos to be degraded are recognized by a chaperone, Hsc70. Hsc70 thereby links these cargo molecules to a lysosomal structural protein called LAMP2A. It is vital for protein quality control, oxidative stress response, and metabolic regulation, with implications in aging, cancer, and neurodegenerative diseases [13]. Although different, these autophagy mechanisms are constantly controlled depending on cellular demands and are linked, so their regulation has immense potential as a therapeutic approach for disorders like cancer and neurodegeneration. Therefore, their crosstalk is an important focus for further studies.

2. Molecular mechanism of autophagy

Autophagy's molecular mechanism is a process controlled by many proteins and signaling pathways that guarantee exact execution and control by means of several consecutive phases. The induction phase of autophagy is the one in which cellular stress or nutrient deprivation inhibits the mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) [14]. The inhibition of mTOR activates Unc-51-like autophagy, which further activates the kinase 1 (ULK1) complex, which includes ULK1, ATG13, FIP200, and ATG101. After activation of the ULK1 complex, the nucleation phase is initiated, recruiting ATG proteins to form the preautophagosomal structure (PAS) [15]. Nucleation is facilitated by the class III PI3K complex, consisting of VP\$34, Beclin-1, VP\$15, and ATG14L. These complexes form phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate (PI3P) at the PAS, which leads to

the accumulation of ATG proteins necessary for the elongation of the autophagosome membrane [16]. Membrane elongation and expansion depend critically on the ATG12-ATG5-ATG16L1 complex and microtubule-associated protein one light chain 3 (LC3). LC3-II is formed phosphatidylethanolamine by conjugating with LC3-II, which hooks the autophagosomal membrane to permit cytoplasmic cargo to be engulfed [17]. Some adaptor proteins like p62/SQSTM1, NBR1, and optineurin will bind to ubiquitinated cargo and LC3 to guarantee the selective destruction of certain cellular components [18]. Linking ubiquitinated proteins to the autophagic machinery for destruction and acting in the nuclear factor-kappa B (NF**kB**) pathway, P62 functions both in autophagy and signaling pathways [19].

Autophagosome closure involves additional ATG proteins and membrane fusion events, leading to a mature autophagosome formation. Then, the lysosomes are fused with the autophagosome; this fusion process is regulated by SNARE proteins such as syntaxin 17, vesicle-associated membrane protein 8, and synaptosomalassociated protein 29. Consequently, the autolysosome is formed after the fusion, where lysosomal hydrolases degrade the autophagic cargo [20]. Autophagy is regulated by miRNA-34 by targeting ATG, which induces the expression and function of proteins involved in autophagic pathways [21]. P2X7 receptor also stimulates autophagy by increasing calcium influx and thereby activating downstream signaling pathways [22]. Interacting with Beclin-1, Bcl-2 is an anti-apoptotic protein that reduces autophagy under normal settings. BH3only proteins may replace Beclin-1 from Bcl-2 under stress, thereby enabling autophagy [23]. Additionally, autophagy is activated when the AMPK pathway inhibits mTORC1 and directly phosphorylates ULK1 [24]. The JNK pathway can also regulate autophagy by phosphorylating Bcl-2, disrupting its interaction with Beclin-1 [25].

Overall, autophagy regulation is a complex process involving interactions between molecules and interplay of many signaling pathways. Understanding these mechanisms, including the roles of miRNA-34, P2X7, p62, Bcl-2, AMPK, and JNK, is important to develop new therapeutic strategies to modulate autophagy in diseases such as cancer, where autophagy can play both protective and detrimental roles depending on the context.

3. Functional Roles of Autophagy: Cellular Homeostasis, Organelle Turnover, and Response to Stress

Autophagy maintains cellular homeostasis through the degradation and recycling of misfolded damaged organelles, proteins, and any toxic content. This process is crucial to preserve cellular integrity and prevent dysfunction, especially in metabolically active tissues like neurons, muscles, and the liver [26]. However, autophagy is responsible for removing aged proteins and defective cytoplasmic content; its malfunction leads to aging and cancer progression, making it a promising therapeutic target [6].

One of the major functions of autophagy is organelle turnover to ensure the removal of dysfunctional organelles such as mitochondria, peroxisomes, and the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) [1]. For example, mitophagy is the selective clearance of damaged mitochondria, which further prevents oxidative stress and inflammation and preserves redox homeostasis to maintain metabolic balance [27]. Similarly, reticulophagy is responsible for removing damaged ER segments and preventing ER stress, which is a key factor in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's [28].

Furthermore, autophagy acts as a first-line defense when the cell is exposed to nutrient deprivation, hypoxia, infection, and oxidative stress. Under these conditions, it provides an alternative energy source by repurposing the intracellular macromolecules for metabolism. It also gets rid of oxidized proteins and damaged mitochondria to prevent excessive ROS accumulation and reduce age-related disorders [29]. However, excessive autophagy for a prolonged duration of stress may result in autophagy-dependent cell death (ADCD) and is known as cytotoxic autophagy, which highlights its dual role in cell survival and disease [30].

The balance between cytoprotective and cytotoxic autophagy relies on cellular context, activation intensity, and environmental conditions [31]. Understanding its molecular mechanisms will allow for precise therapeutic modulation and offer potential treatments for neurodegeneration, cancer, metabolic disorders, and aging-related diseases.

4. Role of autophagy in tumorigenesis

4.1. Tumor-Suppressive Role of Autophagy in Early Tumorigenesis

In the early stages of tumorigenesis, autophagy acts as a tumor suppressor by maintaining cellular homeostasis and genomic integrity by removal of damaged organelles and misfolded proteins to prevent the release of ROS and genomic instability, which may lead to carcinogenesis [32]. Previous studies highlight the role of autophagy as a preventive factor of tumorigenesis by the elimination of precancerous cells and inhibiting oncogenic mutations. For example, in mouse models, deletion of ATGs, including ATG5, ATG7, and Beclin-1, has been found to speed carcinogenesis, especially in liver and breast cancer models [33], thereby highlighting the protective function of autophagy in early cancer suppression.

Moreover, as discussed, autophagy uses a selective mechanism called mitophagy to break down defective mitochondria, hence promoting metabolic balance. Early tumor formation is characterized by mitochondrial dysfunction as it causes metabolic reprogramming and increases oncogenic signaling. By preventing mitochondrial dysfunction, autophagy inhibits cancer progression [27]. Furthermore, autophagy is known to regulate oncogeneinduced senescence (OIS), which is a tumorsuppressive mechanism that decreases the proliferation of cells carrying oncogenic mutations. This results in inhibiting the escape of precancerous cells for senescence and reducing malignant transformation [34].

Autophagy also has an immune function that is involved in tumor suppression through intracellular pathogen degradation and antigen presentation. Autophagy also enhances the ability of various immune cells, such as natural killer cells and cytotoxic T cells, to recognize and eliminate early tumor cells. The failure of autophagy-mediated immune surveillance allows pre-malignant cells to evade detection and progress to more aggressive tumor phenotypes [35]. This highlights the importance of autophagy in preventing tumor initiation by integrating metabolic regulation, immune response, and genomic stability.

4.2. Tumor-Promoting Role of Autophagy in Established Cancers

Autophagy, in some cases, shifts from a cytoprotective form into a cytotoxic one as

the tumor progresses, which promotes the transformation of normal cells to cancerous ones and increases therapy resistance. When cancer cells are exposed to a hypoxic and nutrition-deprived environment, autophagy will degrade the cellular components to sustain the tumor growth and survival, as seen in pancreatic, lung, and colorectal cancers [36]. Furthermore, the poor prognosis of cancer and treatment resistance is proved by high autophagic flux.

Autophagy provides the cancer cell with an alternative energy source through the AMPK/mTOR pathway to ensure tumor cell progression and proliferation [37]. Autophagy also helps cancer cells to evade immune cells by degrading damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and inhibiting type I interferon signaling, subsequently preventing effective immune responses [38].

Furthermore, autophagy is widely known nowadays as a tumor protector because it increases chemotherapy resistance and protects tumor cells from radiation and targeted therapy through its cleaning machinery process. Previous studies in glioblastoma and breast cancer have shown that chemotherapy-induced autophagy prevents apoptosis and reduces treatment efficacy [39, 40]. Some autophagy inhibitors like chloroquine (CQ) and hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) are used to increase cancer sensitivity to therapy, though their effectiveness varies by tumor type and stage [41].

5. Molecular Pathways Involved in Cancer-Associated Autophagy: PI3K/AKT/mTOR, p53, and Hypoxia-Inducible Factors

Autophagy in cancer is regulated by various signaling pathways such as PI3K/AKT/mTOR, p53, and HIF-1 α pathways that play a crucial role in tumor progression, cell survival, and drug resistance [7]. Recent studies demonstrated that these pathways are promising targets for cancer therapy.

The activation PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway upon decreasing cell nutrients, inhibits autophagy by phosphorylating ULK1/2 and further prevents autophagosome formation [42]. This pathway is highly activated in breast [43], prostate [44], and lung cancers [45], which inhibits autophagy and supports tumor growth and therapy resistance.

However, mTOR inhibitors like rapamycin, everolimus induce autophagy, which can either increase cancer cells sensitivity to chemotherapy or enhance their survival by providing metabolic flexibility [46]. Combining mTOR inhibitors with autophagy inhibitors like CQ is now considered an inducer of cancer cell death [47].

P53 has dual roles in autophagy. Nuclear p53 acts as an autophagy inducer through activation of DRAM1 and SESN2, suppressing mTOR and preventing genomic instability, which will suppress tumor growth. Conversely, cytoplasmic p53 acts as an autophagy inhibitor and promotes tumor growth and survival, furthermore increasing therapy resistance as seen in glioblastoma and pancreatic cancers [48].

More than 50% of cancers develop p53 mutations that lead to dysregulation in autophagy and increasing tumor growth [49]. Therefore, therapies like PRIMA-1 and APR-246 aim to restore p53-dependent autophagy, promoting tumor cell death [50].

In solid tumor, hypoxia is known to stabilize HIFl α , which will induce autophagy via BNIP3/BNIP3L and further inhibit mTOR and enable tumor adaptation. HIF-l α -driven autophagy enhances metabolic reprogramming (Warburg effect) and therapy resistance, as demonstrated in glioblastomas and pancreatic and liver cancers [51].

Digoxin, acriflavine, and PX-478 are HIF-1 α inhibitors and are used to block hypoxia-induced autophagy and enhance chemotherapy and radiation sensitivity [52]. Combining HIF-1 α and autophagy inhibitors represents a promising anti-cancer strategy.

6. Autophagy and Cancer Metabolism: Adaptation to Metabolic Stress

Autophagy is one of the cell machinery processes that help cancer cells to adapt to nutrient deprivation, hypoxia, oxidative stress, and chemotherapy by recycling the intracellular components to sustain metabolism. Through playing a dual role, autophagy supports tumor survival in stressed microenvironments while also acting as a potential mechanism of cell death in specific contexts [7].

Autophagy can recycle nutrients under high metabolic stress through the degradation of damaged organelles and lipid droplets to generate energy. One such mechanism is lipophagy, which releases free fatty acids and induces tumor growth in cancers like pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) and glioblastoma. High autophagic flux in tumors also enhances amino acid homeostasis, which maintains tumor growth even under systemic

nutrient depletion [53].

HIF-1 α induces BNIP3/BNIP3L-mediated autophagy, known as mitophagy, in case of hypoxia, which prevents the release of ROS and shifts the cell metabolism towards anaerobic glycolysis (Warburg effect) [51]. This adaptation has been shown in lung, breast, and colorectal cancers, and this is believed to support tumor survival and therapy resistance [36].

Finally, autophagy has a significant role in helping chemotherapy-resistant tumors to survive the metabolic stress induced by therapy through maintaining glutamine metabolism and redox balance. It acquires glutaminolysis to sustain the TCA cycle and relieves oxidative damage by destroying dysfunctional mitochondria [54]. The observed active autophagic flux seen in multiple myeloma and ovarian cancer is always associated with drug resistance [55].

7. Autophagy in Cancer Stem Cells (CSC) and Metastasis

Autophagy is one of the cell signaling pathways that is essential for CSC survival, therapy resistance, and metastasis, which enables tumors to adapt to stress, escape immune cells, and sustain growth [56]. CSCs use autophagy to survive hypoxic and nutrient-poor environments, which further prevents apoptosis and maintains stemness factors such as SOX2, OCT4, and NANOG. This directs the cell to self-renewal and resistance to chemotherapy and radiotherapy [57]. Previous studies in glioblastoma, colorectal, and pancreatic cancers have shown that targeting ATG5, ATG7, and Beclin-1 could reduce CSC tumor-initiating capacity and enhance chemotherapy sensitivity [58].

Autophagy aids the metastatic cancer cells in surviving harsh oxidative and metabolic stress. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is one of the crucial processes for metastasis; it is widely known to be regulated by some transcription factors derived from autophagy, such as ZEB1, SNAIL, and TWIST [59]. Studies indicate that inhibiting autophagy suppresses EMT and reduces metastasis in lung and breast cancer [60].

Autophagy can also adapt to mitochondrial dysfunction by acquiring lipophagy that provides metastatic growth by converting the lipid content into free fatty acids to sustain oxidative phosphorylation in distant organs like the liver and lungs [53].

Furthermore, autophagy degrades MHC

proteins to help circulating tumor cells evade immune destruction, which results in preventing recognition by NK cells and cytotoxic T cells. It also promotes metastatic potential by allowing disseminated tumor cells (DTCs) to survive in a dormant state before transforming into secondary tumors [61]. Therefore, targeting autophagy in latent cells is considered a promising approach to prevent metastasis.

Recently, clinical trials are investigating the role of the combination of autophagy inhibitors such as CQ and HCQ with chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and immunotherapy to inhibit CSC survival and metastasis [62]. Some metabolic strategies using glutaminase and glycolysis inhibitors can target lipophagy and oxidative phosphorylation, which could deprive metastatic cells of essential nutrients [63]. Moreover, autophagy-targeting immunotherapies seek to boost antigen presentation to restore anti-tumor immune responses [61].

8. Determinants of Cytoprotective Versus Cytotoxic Autophagy

8.1. Determinants of Cytoprotective Versus Cytotoxic Autophagy: Intracellular Determinants

P53, Beclin-1, PI3K/AKT/mTOR, AMPK, and stressresponsive pathways are key regulators, which determine whether autophagy will induce tumor suppression or trigger tumor growth [64, 65]. More research is done to investigate those molecular determinants to help in developing promising therapies against autophagy.

8.1.1. p53 and Beclin-1: Key Regulators of Autophagy Fate

Wild-type p53 normally inhibits mTOR and activates DRAM1 and SESN1/2, which in turn enhances cytoprotective autophagy and

promotes the degradation of dysfunctional organelles. Consequently, the cell preserves its genomic stability and prevents tumorigenesis. However, mutant p53 inhibits autophagy, promotes tumor survival, and increases drug resistance. At the same time, cytoplasmic p53 prevents the initiation of through interaction with ATG7 and Beclin-1, which further halts autophagosome formation [65]. On the other hand, tumors with p53 deficiency will exhibit a highly active autophagic flux that allows the cancer cells to escape immune cells and develop resistance to chemotherapy [66]. That is why targeting autophagy-mediated cell death in p53-mutant cancers is a promising therapeutic strategy.

Beclin-1 is a key component of the PI3KC3 complex, and it is important for autophagy to initiate and maintain the integrity of the phagophore membrane [67]. In some cancers, Beclin-1 is lost, such as breast, ovarian, and prostate cancers, which will impair autophagy and lead to genomic instability and tumor metastasis [68]. Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL usually inhibit Beclin-1 as they bind and inhibit it, further preventing excessive autophagy. Therefore, recent studies aim to disrupt Bcl-2/Beclin-1 interactions to enhance cytotoxic autophagy, making it a potential therapeutic target [69].

Autophagy-related biomarkers have significant potential in cancer diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment stratification. Among these, LC3-II, p62/SQSTM1, and Beclin-1 are widely studied for their roles in autophagy regulation and their expression patterns in various malignancies. Their levels can reflect autophagy activity and correlate with therapeutic response and clinical outcomes [70]. T**able 1** below summarizes the key autophagy biomarkers, their biological functions, associated tumor types, and their clinical significance in guiding biomarker-driven therapies.

Table 1: Autophagy Biomarkers in Cancer

Biomarker	Biological Function	Associated Cancers	Clinical Relevance
LC3-II	The marker of autophagosome formation reflects autophagy flux	Pancreatic, Breast, Colorectal	High levels indicate active autophagy, linked to poor prognosis in pancreatic cancer, a potential predictor of response to autophagy inhibitors. [71]
р62/SQSTM1	Selective autophagy substrate accumulates when autophagy is impaired	Hepatocellular, Colorectal, Lung	Elevated levels correlate with therapy resistance and reduced survival, potential prognostic and predictive biomarkers. [72]
Beclin-1	Initiates autophagosome formation; regulates autophagy initiation	Breast, Glioblastoma, Ovarian	Reduced expression in breast cancer associated with tumor progression; overexpression in glioblastoma linked to chemoresistance. [73]

The clinical utility of autophagy biomarkers extends beyond their prognostic value, offering significant potential for guiding biomarkerdriven cancer therapies. These biomarkers can facilitate patient stratification based on autophagy dependency, predict therapeutic response, and refine personalized treatment approaches. Their integration with genomic and transcriptomic profiling enables a precision oncology framework, supporting the development of tailored autophagy-targeted interventions [74]. The following **table 2** outlines key clinical applications of autophagy biomarkers and examples of their relevance in current therapeutic strategies.

Table 2: Clinical Applications of Autophagy Biomarkers in Biomarker-Driven Cancer Therapy

Clinical Application	Biomarker(s) Involved	Example/Context	Implications
Patient Stratification Based on Autophagy Dependency	LC3-II, p62/SQSTM1	High LC3-II or p62 levels may identify patients suitable for autophagy inhibition therapy.	Enhances treatment personalization; avoids ineffective therapies in autophagy- independent tumors [75]
Predicting Therapeutic Response to Autophagy Inhibitors	LC3-11, p62/SQSTM1	Trials using hydroxychloroquine + chemotherapy stratify patients by autophagy biomarker levels.	Improves therapeutic efficacy; reduces adverse effects from unnecessary drug exposure [76]
Integration with Omics Data for Precision Medicine	LC3-II, Beclin-1, p62 + Genomic Profiling	TCGA data integration correlates biomarker levels with tumor genotype and transcriptome	Enables development of personalized, genotype-specific autophagy-targeted therapies [77]

8.1.2. Signaling Pathways Controlling Cytoprotective vs. Cytotoxic Autophagy

The PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway is known to inhibit ULK1/2, which inhibits autophagy and promotes cancer cell survival. Hyperactivation of PI3K/AKT in cancer cells shifts autophagy to a cytoprotective form, which helps tumors withstand harsh metabolic stress by recycling intracellular components. However, mTOR inhibitors such as rapamycin, everolimus, or temsirolimus induce cytotoxic autophagy and lead to apoptosis. Therefore, recent studies investigate the combination effect of mTOR inhibitors with autophagy modulators, which may enhance cancer therapy [44].

AMPK is another signaling pathway known as a metabolic stress sensor that activates autophagy by inhibiting mTOR and activating ULK1. Unlike PI3K/AKT, AMPK is considered a cytotoxic autophagic factor inducer, particularly in tumors that depend on glycolysis, as AMPK activation results in the induction of mitophagy, which further decreases ATP production and induces apoptosis in cancer cells [42]. One example of an AMPK activator is metformin, which is combined with autophagy inducers, and recently, this combination has shown a promising therapeutic option to induce autophagy-dependent cancer cell death, particularly in therapy-resistant tumors [78].

Under oxidative stress and DNA damage, JNK and MAPK pathways control autophagy. JNK

activation phosphorylates Bcl-2, therefore disturbing its regulation of Beclin-1 and triggering autophagy-mediated cell death [79]. Furthermore, autophagy driven by ER stress via the PERK-elF2 α pathway may cause death in aggressive cancers. A proteasome inhibitor, bortezomib, causes ER stress and excessive autophagy, which results in cell death in many myelomas [80].

8.2. Determinants of Cytoprotective Versus Cytotoxic Autophagy: Extracellular Factors

Autophagy is highly affected by tumor microenvironment conditions such as availability of nutrients, hypoxic conditions, and immune signaling. Studies confirm that tumors acquire autophagy to adapt to high-stress conditions. However, excessive autophagy can shift into a cytotoxic form, which induces cancer cell death under certain conditions [81].

The TME is a composition of cancer cells, stromal fibroblasts, immune cells, and ECM components, which are the determinants of whether the cell will acquire cytoprotective or cytotoxic autophagy. In response to harsh TME conditions, autophagy helps cancer cells maintain cell integrity, genomic stability, metabolic balance, and resist therapy [82]. Cytokines and growth factors such as TGF- β , IL-6, TNF- α , and IL- 1β are secreted by stromal cells and tumor-associated macrophages and will upregulate pro-survival autophagy under metabolic stress. However, tumors in the early stages will adapt

autophagy to remove the damaged organelles and maintain the metabolic balance to prevent genetic mutation function as tumor suppressors. In advanced cancer, tumors hijack autophagy for self-survival and therapy resistance; that's why it is considered an attractive therapeutic target [83].

As tumors proliferate, the level of glucose, amino acids, and lipids is decreased, which inhibits mTOR through AMPK activation that results in activation of autophagy and sustained energy homeostasis [84]. Lipophagy is an activated specialized form of autophagy that converts the lipid droplets to free fatty acids to fuel oxidative phosphorylation and support tumor survival and growth under metabolic stress. This is demonstrated in several types of cancer, such as pancreatic and colorectal cancers, which depend mainly on lipid metabolism. However, nutrient deprivation for prolonged durations may lead to excessive autophagy that results in ADCD, further degradation of mitochondria and ER, and the release of ROS and apoptosis [53].

A common characteristic of solid tumors is hypoxia that stabilizes HIF-1 α and further activates ATGs (BNIP3, BNIP3L) to induce mitophagy, hence avoiding ROS buildup and facilitating tumor survival under low oxygen conditions. In some types of cancer, such glioblastoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, as and breast cancer, autophagy induced by hypoxia is considered a cytoprotective one and correlates with increased tumor aggression and therapy resistance [36]. However, therapies like radiation therapy can exacerbate hypoxia and shift autophagy to a cytotoxic one, which is favorable in cancer treatment. Targeting HIF-1 α or decreasing autophagy induced by hypoxia could enhance radiation therapy efficacy in hypoxia-adaptive tumors [85].

8.3. Determinants of Cytoprotective vs. Cytotoxic Autophagy: Role of Cellular Context and Stressors

Autophagy in cancer is influenced by cellular context as well external stress factors such as chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and oxidative stress. Although tumors often use autophagy as a defense mechanism against therapy and metabolic changes, excessive autophagy activation may result in ADCD. This balance relies on stressor type, duration of autophagy, and tumor genetics [86].

8.3.1. Autophagy in Chemotherapy: Survival vs. Cell Death

Chemotherapy is known to damage DNA and increase the release of ROS, which leads to cell apoptosis. However, cancer cells induce autophagy as a protective mechanism to counteract these effects. Some chemotherapies, such as cisplatin, doxorubicin, and temozolomide, activate p53 and inhibit mTOR, which consequently activate cytoprotective autophagy and develop chemoresistance [87]. For example, ovarian cancer adapts autophagy to resist chemotherapy and promote tumor recurrence, which is demonstrated by increased autophagic flux biomarkers such as Beclin-1 [88]. Cytoprotective autophagy in leukemia, glioblastoma, and pancreatic cancer decreases ATP, which further increases ROS [89]. Recent studies support the use of autophagy inhibitors such as CQ and HCQ to suppress cytoprotective autophagy and improve the effect of chemotherapy [62].

8.3.2. Autophagy in Radiotherapy: A Double-Edged Sword

Radiotherapy is widely used nowadays in earlystage cancer due to its reduced side effects, and it kills tumor cells by inducing DNA damage and oxidative stress induction, but tumors subjected to radiotherapy activate autophagy as a survival mechanism [90]. In glioblastoma, prostate cancer, and hepatocellular carcinoma, the cancer cells induce mitophagy, which helps radio-resistance by removing damaged mitochondria and reducing ROS released from the tumor [91]. Additionally, radiation-induced autophagy promotes CSC survival, increasing resistance. However, therapy excessive autophagic flux can push cells into autophagymediated apoptosis [57]. Autophagy inducers (rapamycin, resveratrol) have shown potential in sensitizing tumors to radiation [92]. Recent clinical trials have used autophagy inhibitors as lysosomal inhibitors to prevent DNA repair induced by autophagy and, hence, enhance radiotherapy outcomes [93].

8.3.3. Oxidative Stress and Autophagy: A Critical Balance

ROS affects responsiveness to treatment and tumor development. Moderate ROS levels enable autophagy for survival, therefore enabling tumors to adapt to hypoxia and inflammation [89]. In colorectal and breast cancer, KEAPI-NRF2 is activated to maintain redox homeostasis by autophagy [94]. However, excessive ROS shifts autophagy to a cytotoxic one that is irresistible to antioxidant defenses and degrades mitochondria. Lung, ovarian, and pancreatic tumors, where oxidative stressinduced autophagy drives death, have also shown this impact [86]. Recently, some prooxidant therapies, such as arsenic trioxide and photodynamic therapy, utilize ROS overload to induce cytotoxic autophagy. The combination of an autophagy inducer and oxidative stress shows a profound effect as an anti-cancer strategy [95].

8.4. Biomarkers for Predicting Autophagic Response: Determinants of Cytoprotective Versus Cytotoxic Autophagy

Biomarkers play a vital role in predicting the fate of autophagy; therefore, it is crucial to identify them for targeted cancer therapy. These biomarkers include ATGs, transcription factors, metabolic markers, and lysosomal activity, which serve as key determinants of autophagic responses [6].

8.4.1. Autophagy-Related Gene (ATG) Expression as Biomarkers

ATGs such as ATG5 and ATG12 are considered autophagy key markers as they are known to regulate autophagosome formation and autophagic flux [96]. In breast and lung cancer, the presence of high levels of ATG12 is often associated with therapy resistance due to cytoprotective adaptations by these cancers [97]. Conversely, ATG5 induces cytotoxic autophagy and is considered a target to increase therapy response. LC3 is a protein that maintains the integrity of the autophagosome membrane, and it is widely used as an autophagic flux marker. Its accumulation is an indicator of enhanced autophagic activity, which is often associated with therapy resistance [98]. However, in the presence of lysosomal inhibitors such as CQ, the increased level of LC3-II may be an indicator of impaired degradation, which further leads to cytotoxic autophagy [99].

8.4.2. Beclin-1 and PI3K/AKT/mTOR Pathway Components

Another biomarker is Beclin-1, which is a key autophagy initiator. Recent studies in breast and ovarian cancers demonstrated a downregulation in Beclin-1 and promoted tumor progression [100]. However, in some cancers, such as glioblastoma and colorectal cancer, the increased level of Beclin-1 is associated with tumor suppression and is considered a biomarker for cytotoxic autophagy [101]. The PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway is an important one that inhibits autophagy. The elevated levels of phosphorylated AKT (p-AKT) and activation of mTOR are always accompanied by decreased

autophagy processes that indicate the tumors suppress autophagy for cytoprotective functions. Low mTOR activity, on the other hand, seen in metabolically stressed tumors, are indicators of enhanced autophagic flux, which depends on context and may either contribute to cancer cell survival or death [44].

8.4.3. Lysosomal Markers and Autophagic Degradation Biomarkers

LAMP1 (Lysosomal Associated Membrane Protein 1) is one of the lysosomal activity's key determinants of autophagic function and is used to assess autophagic degradation. A high level of LAMP1 is associated with an efficient lysosomal function that enhances tumor growth even under stress conditions [102]. However, HCQ, one of the lysosomal inhibitors, can block LAMP1-mediated autophagy, which shifts autophagy to a cytotoxic one [103].

p62 (SQSTMI) is another cargo protein that is decreased by enhanced autophagic processes while its level is increased upon autophagy impairment. The elevated expression level of p62 is an indicator of poor response to autophagytargeting therapies, while reduced levels of p62 are linked to cancers, which adapt cytotoxic autophagy [104].

8.4.4. Metabolic and Redox Biomarkers for Autophagic Response

Autophagy is intricately linked to tumor metabolism. Glutamine metabolism under control by glutaminase (GLS1) predicts survival driven by autophagy in pancreatic cancer. While GLS1 inhibition with autophagy activation pushes cells toward autophagic death, high GLS1 expression shows autophagy promotes metabolism [105]. Oxidative stress markers such as ROS levels and Nrf2 activation are used as detriments of autophagic response. Increased activation of Nrf2 enhances cancer cells to acquire cytoprotective autophagy; conversely, excessive ROS accumulation promotes autophagy-mediated cell death. Reducing Nrf2 activation in tumors associated with high autophagic activity could shift autophagy toward cytotoxicity and enhance therapy [106].

8.4.5. Autophagy-related miRNAs and Predictive Genetic Markers

Different families of microRNAs (miRNAs) regulate autophagy. For example, the downregulation of miR-148a-3p could enhance autophagic flux and promote chemotherapy resistance in gastric cancer [107]. On the other hand, some miRNAs, such as miR-101, suppress Beclin-1-mediated autophagy and push tumors toward cytotoxic autophagy [108].

Autophagic fate in ATG genes is influenced by genetic variants. In colorectal cancer, ATG16L1 mutations reduce autophagy, hence increasing sensitivity to treatments that induce autophagy. Also, mutations in ULK1 may disrupt autophagy initiation and potentially make tumors more sensitive to autophagy activators [109].

9. Therapeutic Implications: Autophagy Modulators in Cancer Therapy

Autophagy modulators could be autophagy inhibitors such as CQ and HCQ or autophagy inducers such as rapamycin and everolimus. Both autophagy inhibitors and inducers have gained attention as potential co-adjuvant therapies to traditional cancer therapies. The ability to either prevent or promote autophagy offers a special opportunity to sensitize tumors to chemotherapy, radiation, and immunotherapy, thereby improving the effectiveness of cancer treatment [110].

9.1. Autophagy Inhibitors in Cancer Therapy

CQandHCQareusedasautophagyinhibitorsthat prevent lysosomal acidification, which disrupts the last step of autophagic degradation. It works by preventing the fusion of autophagosomes with lysosomes and the formation of autolysosomes, which further leads to this accumulation of defective proteins and organelles and finally shifts the cancer cells to apoptosis [103]. Recent studies in pancreatic cancer, glioblastoma, and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) have demonstrated that when CQ and HCQ are used in combination with chemotherapy, the effect of the treatment increases compared chemotherapy alone [111]. One to such known combination is HCQ and gemcitabine, doxorubicin, and temozolomide, which is used in pancreatic cancer, and this combination has the effect of inhibiting tumor growth by inhibiting the cytoprotective autophagy [112]. Similarly, in GBM, the combination treatment of CQ and temozolomide has been reported to enhance the cytotoxic effects and prevent chemoresistance induced by autophagy [113]. Also, their ability to inhibit autophagy to overcome therapyinduced resistance is well-studied in CSCs. Recent research investigated the effect of CQ to reduce the stemness properties of CSCs, which prevents tumor relapse and metastasis [114]. Furthermore, clinical trials are actively examining CQ and HCQ as adjuvants in combination with chemotherapy and immunotherapy for therapyresistant cancers. However, CQ and HCQ have some limitations, such as potential toxicity and off-target effects, especially for prolonged treatment duration, including retinopathy and cardiotoxicity [115]. Therefore, more studies are being conducted to develop next-generation autophagy inhibitors with greater specificity, such as Lys05 and dimeric CQ derivatives, which exhibit enhanced potency with reduced toxicity [116].

9.2. Autophagy Inducers in Cancer Therapy

Rapamycin is an mTOR inhibitor. It is one of the most widely studied autophagy inducers in cancer therapy. When mTOR is inhibited by rapamycin, autophagy is enhanced, which may lead to cancer suppression and increase the treatment response when used in combination with antitumor therapies [46]. Recent studies done on breast cancer, renal cell carcinoma, and glioblastoma have investigated the effect of other mTOR inhibitors, such as everolimus, temsirolimus, and sirolimus, to determine their anti-tumor effect [117]. Rapamycin is known to suppress tumor growth through the induction of cytotoxic autophagy, especially in cancer with hyperactive PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling. Research shows that rapamycin restores autophagic flux in PTEN-deficient cancers, which show constitutive mTOR activity, therefore suppressing the tumors [118]. Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) has very clearly shown this impact where PI3K/ mTOR pathway dysregulation is prevalent [119]. Another novel strategy is to combine autophagy inducers with apoptosis inducers to promote cancer cells to adapt to cytotoxic autophagy. For example, in leukemia and lymphoma, studies have demonstrated that rapamycin has a synergistic effect with Bcl-2 inhibitors, such as venetoclax, to enhance cell death autophagy. This strategy is justified by the fact that autophagy stimulation may provide metabolic stress, which drives cancer cells into irreversible cell death pathways [120].

However, using rapamycin and its analogs as autophagy inducers is their context-dependent effects is still a major challenge because in some cancers, such as glioblastoma, the prolonged use of rapamycin could induce adaptive resistance mechanisms, where tumors use autophagy to prevent themselves from dying [121].

9.3. Therapeutic Implications: Combination Therapies Targeting Autophagy

Recently, studies demonstrated that combination of different classes of autophagy modulator could enhance the therapeutic

outcome, which has been reported in different types of cancer as shown in table 3.

Table 3: Combination Strategies Targeting Autophagy to Enhance Cancer Therapy

Combination Therapy	Strategy	Key Findings	Cancer Types	
Autophagy Inhibition + Chemotherapy	Blocking autophagic degradation to enhance chemosensitivity	 CQ and HCQ block lysosomal degradation, sensitizing tumors to chemotherapy [122]. HCQ + gemcitabine/nab-paclitaxel improves survival in pancreatic cancer [123]. CQ + temozolomide enhances chemotherapy response in glioblastoma [124]. CQ reduces CSC survival in breast and colorectal cancers, preventing relapse [114]. 	Breast cancer [114, 122], Pancreatic cancer [123], Glioblastoma [124], Colorectal cancer [114]	
Autophagy Induction + Chemotherapy	Inducing autophagic apoptosis to increase DNA- damaging agent efficacy	 mTOR inhibitors (rapamycin, everolimus) shift cells into autophagic apoptosis [125]. In PTEN-deficient prostate and breast cancers, rapamycin + etoposide/cisplatin enhances tumor suppression [126, 127]. 	PTEN-deficient prostate cancer [125, 126], Breast cancer [127]	
Autophagy Inhibition + Immunotherapy	Inhibiting autophagy to improve immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) response	 CQ + anti-PD-1 therapy increases CD8+ T-cell infiltration in TNBC, improving immune response [128]. CQ and HCQ stimulate cytotoxic T cells to recognize tumors in lung cancer and melanoma [41]. Autophagy inhibition in Tregs and MDSCs reduces tumor immune suppression, enhancing PD-1 and CTLA-4 blockade responses [129]. 	TNBC [128], Melanoma [41, 129], Lung cancer [129]	

10. Challenges and Future Directions in Autophagy-Targeting Cancer Therapy

Recently, autophagy has become an essential target in cancer therapy, which can help in tumor suppression and decreasing treatment resistance. Although there are many promising preclinical and clinical findings, several major challenges remain in translating autophagytargeting strategies into effective personalized cancer treatments. The most common challenge is overcoming autophagy-induced resistance and developing individualized therapy tailored to the genetic profile of the specific tumor. Therefore, recent studies highlight the need for developing novel strategies to modulate autophagy while addressing therapy resistance and inter-patient variability [130].

10.1. Overcoming Resistance to Autophagy-Targeting Therapies

10.1.1. Adaptive Resistance to Autophagy Inhibition

Tumors always use the possibility of switching in the autophagy pathway to switch between cytoprotective and cytotoxic autophagy. This phenomenon has been investigated in tumors that are subjected to prolonged durations of autophagic inhibition, leading to exhibiting a compensatory metabolic reprogramming, which allows cancer cells to survive by stimulating other nutrient scavenging pathways such as macropinocytosis and mitochondrial

biogenesis [1, 3, 6].

For example, in PDAC, where autophagy is a vital survival strategy, extended suppression with either HCQ or CQ has been demonstrated to induce metabolic changes that maintain tumor development despite autophagy inhibition [131]. Likewise, chronic autophagy suppression increases mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in GBM, therefore enabling tumor cells to survive in nutrient-deprived environments [121].

To overcome this adaptive resistance, some recent researchers investigated the dualtargeting strategies that combine autophagy inhibition with metabolic inhibitors, such as the combination of autophagy inhibitors like CQ or HCQ with glycolysis inhibitors (2-deoxyglucose). This combination has been shown to have a better effect against tumors more effectively than monotherapy [132]. Another combination that targets both autophagy and mitochondrial function, such as metformin + HCQ, has been proposed as a strategy to prevent metabolic compensation [133].

10.1.2. Overcoming Resistance to Autophagy Induction Therapies

Whileautophagyinductionhasbeeninvestigated as a means of inducing tumor cell death, certain cancer cells acquire resistance by altering important survival pathways. One of the main obstacles is that tumors with intact PI3K/AKT/ mTOR signaling generally restrict the efficacy of autophagy inducers such as rapamycin and everolimus by suppressing autophagy induction [43]. Recent research suggests that tumors that develop mTOR-resistant need additional combination approaches, such as combining autophagy inducers with proteasome inhibitors (rapamycin + bortezomib), which could switch the autophagy pathway to a cytotoxic one as seen in hematological malignancies [134]. Another strategy is combining autophagy inducers with checkpoint inhibitors that may enhance T-cell activation and tumor cell recognition [128]. Additionally, heterogeneity plays a key role in therapy resistance. For example, different subpopulations within a tumor may show various levels of autophagic activity. For instance, single-cell RNA sequencing studies have demonstrated that some cells within TNBC depend mainly on autophagy for survival and growth, while other cells demonstrate autophagy suppression [135]. This highlights the need for individualized treatment approaches that consider tumor heterogeneity when designing targeted therapies against autophagy.

10.2. Developing Patient-Specific Autophagy-Targeting Therapies

10.2.1. Biomarker-DrivenPersonalizedTreatment Approaches

biomarker-driven, The development of patient-specific treatment plans is one of the main potential paths in autophagy-targeting therapy. Given the double function of autophagy in cancer, it is essential to predict whether a patient's tumor will react to autophagy suppression or autophagy stimulation. Insight into autophagic flow and tumor dependence on autophagy may come from biomarkers such as LC3-II/LC3-I ratios, p62/SQSTM1 levels, Beclin-1 expression, and lysosomal activity indicators. Since cancers with high LC3-II and low p62 expression are often autophagy-dependent, indicating that autophagy suppression might be a more effective treatment strategy [136]. Conversely, cancers with defective autophagy with low Beclin-1 expression may benefit from autophagy-inducing treatments such as caloric restriction mimics or mTOR inhibitors [137].

Future studies should concentrate on creating real-time imaging tools to evaluate tumor autophagy levels, therefore enabling tailored, real-time changes to treatment plans.

10.2.2. Integrating Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Precision Medicine in Autophagy Therapy

Recently, with the evolution of precision oncology, machine learning, and AI-driven approaches are being evaluated to predict autophagy dependence in tumors and optimize treatment regimens. Al-driven models can integrate multiomics data such as genomics, proteomics, and metabolomics, which help in classifying tumors based on autophagy signatures, which further predict whether inhibition or induction of autophagy would have a better effect [138]. Hence, identifying novel drug combinations tailored to specific autophagic responses that reduce trial-and-error in clinical settings. For example, an AI-driven model published recently is used to analyze more than 10,000 tumor samples to predict which tumors are most likely to develop resistance to autophagy inhibitors [139]. This approach further guides clinical trial design and patient selection.

11. Future Directions: Expanding Autophagy-Targeting Approaches in Clinical Trials

Currently, several autophagy-targeting therapies are being evaluated in clinical trials; for instance, phase II trials use CQ and HCQ as adjuvant therapy in pancreatic cancer, glioblastoma, and NSCLC [115] and determine the effect of combinations of rapamycin with chemotherapy and immunotherapy in triple-negative breast cancer and melanoma [41, 128]. Several novel agents, such as HCQ derivatives (e.g., Lys05) and specific VPS34 inhibitors (e.g., SAR405), are under investigation in preclinical and early-phase clinical trials, aiming to selectively inhibit autophagy in tumor cells while minimizing systemic toxicity [140]. Many areas still need further research despite these developments. Optimizing The ideal timing and dose techniques for combining autophagy modulators with chemotherapy, radiation, or immunotherapy must be found via further study. Also, reducing off-target effects requires the development of new autophagy modulators with enhanced selectivity and less toxicity. Therapies should be targeted to tumor microenvironmental circumstances, as hypoxia, immune cell penetration, and metabolic stress affect autophagy. Finally, future clinical studies should stratify patients depending on autophagy-related indicators so that treatments are administered only in malignancies where autophagy targeting is probably advantageous.

Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research Journal (AMPDR)- ISSN 2812-4898 http://dx.doi.org/10.21622/AMPDR.2025.05.1.1251



Graphical abstract

References

- Gómez-Virgilio L, Silva-Lucero MDC, Flores-Morelos DS, Gallardo-Nieto J, Lopez-Toledo G, Abarca-Fernandez AM, et al. Autophagy: A Key Regulator of Homeostasis and Disease: An Overview of Molecular Mechanisms and Modulators. Vol. 11, Cells. 2022.
- 2. Khandia R, Dadar M, Munjal A, Dhama K, Karthik K, Tiwari R, et al. A comprehensive review of autophagy and its various roles in infectious, non-infectious, and lifestyle diseases: Current knowledge and prospects for disease prevention, novel drug design, and therapy. Vol. 8, Cells. 2019.
- 3. Parzych KR, Klionsky DJ. An overview of autophagy: Morphology, mechanism, and regulation. Vol. 20, Antioxidants and Redox Signaling. 2014.
- 4. Harnett MM, Pineda MA, Latré de Laté P, Eason RJ, Besteiro S, Harnett W, et al. From Christian de Duve to Yoshinori Ohsumi: More to autophagy than just dining at home. Vol. 40, Biomedical Journal. 2017.
- 5. Ariosa AR, Lahiri V, Lei Y, Yang Y, Yin Z, Zhang Z, et al. A perspective on the role of autophagy in cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis. 2021;1867(12).
- Vitto VAM, Bianchin S, Zolondick AA, Pellielo G, Rimessi A, Chianese D, et al. Molecular Mechanisms of Autophagy in Cancer Development, Progression, and Therapy. Vol. 10, Biomedicines. 2022.
- 7. Yang ZJ, Chee CE, Huang S, Sinicrope FA. The role of autophagy in cancer: Therapeutic implications. Vol. 10, Molecular Cancer Therapeutics. 2011.
- 8. Rakesh R, PriyaDharshini LC, Sakthivel KM, Rasmi RR. Role and regulation of autophagy

Data Availability

This study did not perform any data

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Funding

This study was self-funded

in cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis. 2022;1868(7).

- Cook KL, Wärri A, Soto-Pantoja DR, Clarke PAG, Cruz MI, Zwart A, et al. Hydroxychloroquine inhibits autophagy to potentiate antiestrogen responsiveness in ER+ breast cancer. Clinical Cancer Research. 2014;20(12).
- Degenhardt K, Mathew R, Beaudoin B, Bray K, Anderson D, Chen G, et al. Autophagy promotes tumor cell survival and restricts necrosis, inflammation, and tumorigenesis. Cancer Cell. 2006;10(1).
- 11. Kaushik S, Massey AC, Mizushima N, Cuervo AM. Constitutive activation of chaperonemediated autophagy in cells with impaired macroautophagy. Mol Biol Cell. 2008;19(5).
- 12. Li WW, Li J, Bao JK. Microautophagy: Lesserknown self-eating. Vol. 69, Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 2012.
- 13. Alfaro IE, Albornoz A, Molina A, Moreno J, Cordero K, Criollo A, et al. Chaperone mediated autophagy in the crosstalk of neurodegenerative diseases and metabolic disorders. Vol. 10, Frontiers in Endocrinology. 2019.
- 14. Wang CW, Klionsky DJ. The Molecular Mechanism of Autophagy. Molecular Medicine. 2003 Mar 15;9(3-4):65-76.
- 15. Zachari M, Ganley IG. The mammalian ULK1 complex and autophagy initiation. Vol. 61, Essays in Biochemistry. 2017.
- Thoresen SB, Pedersen NM, Liestøl K, Stenmark H. A phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase class III sub-complex containing VPS15, VPS34, Beclin 1, UVRAG and BIF-1 regulates cytokinesis and degradative endocytic traffic. Exp Cell Res. 2010;316(20).

- Iriondo MN, Etxaniz A, Varela YR, Ballesteros U, Lázaro M, Valle M, et al. Effect of ATG12– ATG5–ATG16L1 autophagy E3–like complex on the ability of LC3/GABARAP proteins to induce vesicle tethering and fusion. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 2023;80(2).
- Gatica D, Lahiri V, Klionsky DJ. Cargo recognition and degradation by selective autophagy. Vol. 20, Nature Cell Biology. 2018.
- 19. Hennig P, Fenini G, Filippo M Di, Karakaya T, Beer HD. The pathways underlying the multiple roles of p62 in inflammation and cancer. Vol. 9, Biomedicines. 2021.
- 20. Nishimura T, Tooze SA. Emerging roles of ATG proteins and membrane lipids in autophagosome formation. Vol. 6, Cell Discovery. 2020.
- 21. Roy SG. Regulation of autophagy by miRNAs in human diseases. Vol. 64, Nucleus (India). 2021.
- 22. Orioli E, De Marchi E, Giuliani AL, Adinolfi E. P2X7 Receptor Orchestrates Multiple Signalling Pathways Triggering Inflammation, Autophagy and Metabolic/ Trophic Responses. Curr Med Chem. 2017;24(21).
- 23. Levine B, Sinha S, Kroemer G. Bcl-2 family members: Dual regulators of apoptosis and autophagy. Vol. 4, Autophagy. 2008.
- 24. Afinanisa Q, Cho MK, Seong HA. AMPK localization: A key to differential energy regulation. Vol. 22, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2021.
- 25. Sabapathy K. Role of the JNK Pathway in human diseases. In: Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science. 2012.
- 26. Chun Y, Kim J. Autophagy: An essential degradation program for cellular homeostasis and life. Vol. 7, Cells. 2018.
- 27. Ma K, Chen G, Li W, Kepp O, Zhu Y, Chen Q. Mitophagy, Mitochondrial Homeostasis, and Cell Fate. Vol. 8, Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology. 2020.
- 28. Guan X, Iyaswamy A, Sreenivasmurthy SG, Su C, Zhu Z, Liu J, et al. Mechanistic Insights into Selective Autophagy Subtypes in Alzheimer's Disease. Vol. 23, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2022.

- 29. Filomeni G, De Zio D, Cecconi F. Oxidative stress and autophagy: The clash between damage and metabolic needs. Vol. 22, Cell Death and Differentiation. 2015.
- 30. Bialik S, Dasari SK, Kimchi A. Autophagydependent cell death - where, how and why a cell eats itself to death. Vol. 131, Journal of Cell Science. 2018.
- 31. Wilson EN, Bristol ML, Di X, Maltese WA, Koterba K, Beckman MJ, et al. A Switch Between Cytoprotective and Cytotoxic Autophagy in the Radiosensitization of Breast Tumor Cells by Chloroquine and Vitamin D. Horm Cancer. 2011;2(5).
- 32. Miller DR, Thorburn A. Autophagy and organelle homeostasis in cancer. Vol. 56, Developmental Cell. 2021.
- Huang T, Song X, Yang Y, Wan X, Alvarez AA, Sastry N, et al. Autophagy and hallmarks of cancer. Crit Rev Oncog. 2018;23(5–6).
- Schmitt CA, Wang B, Demaria M. Senescence and cancer – role and therapeutic opportunities. Vol. 19, Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology. 2022.
- 35. Gerada C, Ryan KM. Autophagy, the innate immune response and cancer. Vol. 14, Molecular Oncology. 2020.
- Zaarour RF, Azakir B, Hajam EY, Nawafleh H, Zeinelabdin NA, Engelsen AST, et al. Role of hypoxia-mediated autophagy in tumor cell death and survival. Vol. 13, Cancers. 2021.
- Zhang J, Xiang Q, Wu M, Lao YZ, Xian YF, Xu HX, et al. Autophagy Regulators in Cancer. Vol. 24, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2023.
- Pan H, Chen L, Xu Y, Han W, Lou F, Fei W, et al. Autophagy-associated immune responses and cancer immunotherapy. Oncotarget. 2016;7(16).
- 39. Hwang YK, Lee DH, Lee EC, Oh JS. Importance of Autophagy Regulation in Glioblastoma with Temozolomide Resistance. Cells. 2024 Aug 11;13(16):1332.
- 40. Jain K, Paranandi KS, Sridharan S, Basu A. Autophagy in breast cancer and its implications for therapy. Vol. 3, American Journal of Cancer Research. 2013.

- 41. Manic G, Obrist F, Kroemer G, Vitale I, Galluzzi L. Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine for cancer therapy. Vol. 1, Molecular and Cellular Oncology. 2014.
- 42. Alers S, Löffler AS, Wesselborg S, Stork B. Role of AMPK-mTOR-Ulk1/2 in the Regulation of Autophagy: Cross Talk, Shortcuts, and Feedbacks. Mol Cell Biol. 2012;32(1).
- 43. Skolariki A, D'Costa J, Little M, Lord S. Role of PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway in mediating endocrine resistance: concept to clinic. Vol. 3, Exploration of Targeted Anti-tumor Therapy. 2022.
- 44. Butler DE, Marlein C, Walker HF, Frame FM, Mann VM, Simms MS, et al. Inhibition of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway activates autophagy and compensatory Ras/Raf/ MEK/ERK signalling in prostate cancer. Oncotarget. 2017;8(34).
- 45. Sanaei MJ, Razi S, Pourbagheri-Sigaroodi A, Bashash D. The PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway in lung cancer; oncogenic alterations, therapeutic opportunities, challenges, and a glance at the application of nanoparticles. Vol. 18, Translational Oncology. 2022.
- 46. Tian T, Li X, Zhang J. mTOR signaling in cancer and mtor inhibitors in solid tumor targeting therapy. Vol. 20, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2019.
- 47. Liu T, Zhang J, Li K, Deng L, Wang H. Combination of an Autophagy Inducer and an Autophagy Inhibitor: A Smarter Strategy Emerging in Cancer Therapy. Vol. 11, Frontiers in Pharmacology. 2020.
- 48. Tasdemir E, Maiuri MC, Morselli E, Criollo A, D'Amelio M, Djavaheri-Mergny M, et al. A dual role of p53 in the control of autophagy. Autophagy. 2008;4(6).
- 49. Shi Y, Norberg E, Vakifahmetoglu-Norberg H. Mutant p53 as a Regulator and Target of Autophagy. Vol. 10, Frontiers in Oncology. 2021.
- 50. Menichini P, Monti P, Speciale A, Cutrona G, Matis S, Fais F, et al. Antitumor Effects of PRIMA-1 and PRIMA-1Met (APR246) in Hematological Malignancies: Still a Mutant P53-Dependent Affair? Cells. 2021 Jan 7;10(1):98.
- 51. Pandey A, Yadav P, Shukla S. Unfolding the role of autophagy in the cancer metabolism.

Biochem Biophys Rep. 2021;28.

- 52. Zhao T, Ren H, Jia L, Chen J, Xin W, Yan F, et al. Inhibition of HIF-1 α by PX-478 enhances the anti-tumor effect of gemcitabine by inducing immunogenic cell death in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Oncotarget. 2015 Feb 10;6(4):2250-62.
- 53. Maan M, Peters JM, Dutta M, Patterson AD. Lipid metabolism and lipophagy in cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2018;504(3).
- 54. Villar VH, Merhi F, Djavaheri-Mergny M, Durán R V. Glutaminolysis and autophagy in cancer. Vol. 11, Autophagy. 2015.
- 55. Chang H, Zou Z. Targeting autophagy to overcome drug resistance: further developments. Vol. 13, Journal of Hematology and Oncology. 2020.
- 56. Li D, Peng X, He G, Liu J, Li X, Lin W, et al. Crosstalk between autophagy and CSCs: molecular mechanisms and translational implications. Vol. 14, Cell Death and Disease. 2023.
- 57. Jahangiri L, Ishola T, Pucci P, Trigg RM, Pereira J, Williams JA, et al. The role of autophagy and Incrnas in the maintenance of cancer stem cells. Vol. 13, Cancers. 2021.
- 58. Nazio F, Bordi M, Cianfanelli V, Locatelli F, Cecconi F. Autophagy and cancer stem cells: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic applications. Vol. 26, Cell Death and Differentiation. 2019.
- 59. Strippoli R, Niayesh-Mehr R, Adelipour M, Khosravi A, Cordani M, Zarrabi A, et al. Contribution of Autophagy to Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition Induction during Cancer Progression. Vol. 16, Cancers. 2024.
- 60. Gundamaraju R, Lu W, Paul MK, Jha NK, Gupta PK, Ojha S, et al. Autophagy and EMT in cancer and metastasis: Who controls whom? Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis. 2022;1868(9).
- 61. Leone K, Poggiana C, Zamarchi R. The interplay between circulating tumor cells and the immune system: From immune escape to cancer immunotherapy. Vol. 8, Diagnostics. 2018.
- 62. Agalakova NI. Chloroquine and Chemotherapeutic Compounds in

Experimental Cancer Treatment. Vol. 25, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2024.

- 63. Schiliro C, Firestein BL. Mechanisms of metabolic reprogramming in cancer cells supporting enhanced growth and proliferation. Vol. 10, Cells. 2021.
- 64. Rascio F, Spadaccino F, Rocchetti MT, Castellano G, Stallone G, Netti GS, et al. The pathogenic role of PI3K/AKT pathway in cancer onset and drug resistance: an updated review. Vol. 13, Cancers. 2021.
- 65. Rahman MA, Park MN, Rahman MH, Rashid MM, Islam R, Uddin MJ, et al. p53 Modulation of Autophagy Signaling in Cancer Therapies: Perspectives Mechanism and Therapeutic Targets. Vol. 10, Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology. 2022.
- Rosenfeldt MT, O'Prey J, Morton JP, Nixon C, Mackay G, Mrowinska A, et al. P53 status determines the role of autophagy in pancreatic tumour development. Nature. 2013;504(7479).
- 67. McKnight NC, Yue Z. Beclin 1, an Essential Component and Master Regulator of PI3K-III in Health and Disease. Curr Pathobiol Rep. 2013;1(4).
- 68. Hu YJ, Zhong JT, Gong L, Zhang SC, Zhou SH. Autophagy-related beclin 1 and head and neck cancers. Vol. 13, OncoTargets and Therapy. 2020.
- 69. Pattingre S, Tassa A, Qu X, Garuti R, Xiao HL, Mizushima N, et al. Bcl-2 antiapoptotic proteins inhibit Beclin 1-dependent autophagy. Cell. 2005;122(6).
- Zamani M, Sadeghi E, Mokarram P, Kadkhodaei B, Ghasemi H. Autophagy related proteins as potential biomarkers in predicting cancer prognosis after chemoradiotherapy: systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Radiat Biol. 2025 Mar 4;101(3):232–9.
- 71. Tanida I, Ueno T, Kominami E. LC3 and Autophagy. In 2008. p. 77–88.
- 72. Kumar A V., Mills J, Lapierre LR. Selective Autophagy Receptor p62/SQSTM1, a Pivotal Player in Stress and Aging. Vol. 10, Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology. 2022.
- 73. Kang R, Zeh HJ, Lotze MT, Tang D. The

Beclin 1 network regulates autophagy and apoptosis. Vol. 18, Cell Death and Differentiation. 2011.

- 74. Bortnik S, Gorski SM. Clinical applications of autophagy proteins in cancer: From potential targets to biomarkers. Vol. 18, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2017.
- 75. Jiang P, Mizushima N. LC3- and p62-based biochemical methods for the analysis of autophagy progression in mammalian cells. Methods. 2015;75.
- 76. Rajendran P, Renu K, Ali EM, Genena MAM, Veeraraghavan V, Sekar R, et al. Promising and challenging phytochemicals targeting LC3 mediated autophagy signaling in cancer therapy. Immun Inflamm Dis. 2024 Oct 22;12(10).
- 77. Park JM, Huang S, Wu TT, Foster NR, Sinicrope FA. Prognostic impact of Beclin 1, p62/sequestosome 1 and LC3 protein expression in colon carcinomas from patients receiving 5-fluorouracil as adjuvant chemotherapy. Cancer Biol Ther. 2013;14(2).
- 78. Li W, Saud SM, Young MR, Chen G, Hua B. Targeting AMPK for cancer prevention and treatment. Vol. 6, Oncotarget. 2015.
- 79. Wyrsch P, Blenn C, Bader J, Althaus FR. Cell Death and Autophagy under Oxidative Stress: Roles of Poly(ADP-Ribose) Polymerases and Ca 2+ . Mol Cell Biol. 2012;32(17).
- 80. Velasco G, Verfaillie T, Salazar M, Agostinis P. Linking ER stress to autophagy: Potential implications for cancer therapy. International Journal of Cell Biology. 2010.
- 81. Xia H, Green DR, Zou W. Autophagy in tumour immunity and therapy. Vol. 21, Nature Reviews Cancer. 2021.
- 82. Anderson NM, Simon MC. The tumor microenvironment. Vol. 30, Current Biology. 2020.
- Toledo B, Zhu Chen L, Paniagua-Sancho M, Marchal JA, Perán M, Giovannetti E. Deciphering the performance of macrophagesintumourmicroenvironment: a call for precision immunotherapy. J Hematol Oncol. 2024 Jun 11;17(1):44.

- 84. Keerthana CK, Rayginia TP, Shifana SC, Anto NP, Kalimuthu K, Isakov N, et al. The role of AMPK in cancer metabolism and its impact on the immunomodulation of the tumor microenvironment. Vol. 14, Frontiers in Immunology. 2023.
- 85. Hill RM, Fok M, Grundy G, Parsons JL, Rocha S. The role of autophagy in hypoxia-induced radioresistance. Vol. 189, Radiotherapy and Oncology. 2023.
- 86. Taucher E, Mykoliuk I, Fediuk M, Smolle-Juettner FM. Autophagy, Oxidative Stress and Cancer Development. Vol. 14, Cancers. 2022.
- 87. Xu J, Patel NH, Gewirtz DA. Triangular relationship between p53, autophagy, and chemotherapy resistance. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(23).
- Ahmadi-Dehlaghi F, Mohammadi P, Valipour E, Pournaghi P, Kiani S, Mansouri K. Autophagy: A challengeable paradox in cancer treatment. Vol. 12, Cancer Medicine. 2023.
- 89. Hasan A, Rizvi SF, Parveen S, Pathak N, Nazir A, Mir SS. Crosstalk Between ROS and Autophagy in Tumorigenesis: Understanding the Multifaceted Paradox. Vol. 12, Frontiers in Oncology. 2022.
- 90. Roy A, Bera S, Saso L, Dwarakanath BS. Role of autophagy in tumor response to radiation: Implications for improving radiotherapy. Vol. 12, Frontiers in Oncology. 2022.
- 91. Vara-Perez M, Felipe-Abrio B, Agostinis P. Mitophagy in cancer: A tale of adaptation. Vol. 8, Cells. 2019.
- Tian Y, Song W, Li D, Cai L, Zhao Y. Resveratrol as a natural regulator of autophagy for prevention and treatment of cancer. Vol. 12, OncoTargets and Therapy. 2019.
- Saleh T, As Sobeai HM, Alhoshani A, Alhazzani K, Almutairi MM, Alotaibi M. Effect of Autophagy Inhibitors on Radiosensitivity in DNA Repair-Proficient and -Deficient Glioma Cells. Medicina (Lithuania). 2022;58(7).
- 94. Shan C, Wang Y, Wang Y. The Crosstalk between Autophagy and Nrf2 Signaling in Cancer: from Biology to Clinical Applications. Int J Biol Sci. 2024 Nov

11;20(15):6181-206.

- 95. Fang S, Wan X, Zou X, Sun S, Hao X, Liang C, et al. Arsenic trioxide induces macrophage autophagy and atheroprotection by regulating ROS-dependent TFEB nuclear translocation and AKT/mTOR pathway. Cell Death Dis. 2021;12(1).
- 96. Mai S, Muster B, Bereiter-Hahn J, Jendrach M. Autophagy proteins LC3B, ATG5 and ATG12 participate in quality control after mitochondrial damage and influence lifespan. Autophagy. 2012 Jan 27;8(1):47– 62.
- Cook KL, Shajahan AN, Clarke R. Autophagy and endocrine resistance in breast cancer. Vol. 11, Expert Review of Anticancer Therapy. 2011.
- 98. Silva VR, Neves SP, Santos L de S, Dias RB, Bezerra DP. Challenges and therapeutic opportunities of autophagy in cancer therapy. Vol. 12, Cancers. 2020.
- 99. Tanida I, Ueno T, Kominami E. LC3 conjugation system in mammalian autophagy. Vol. 36, International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology. 2004.
- 100. Cao Z, Tian K, Ran Y, Zhou H, Zhou L, Ding Y, et al. Beclin-1: a therapeutic target at the intersection of autophagy, immunotherapy, and cancer treatment. Front Immunol. 2024 Nov 22;15.
- Wechman SL, Pradhan AK, DeSalle R, Das SK, Emdad L, Sarkar D, et al. New Insights Into Beclin-1: Evolution and Pan-Malignancy Inhibitor Activity. In: Advances in Cancer Research. 2018.
- 102. Cheng XT, Xie YX, Zhou B, Huang N, Farfel-Becker T, Sheng ZH. Revisiting LAMP1 as a marker for degradative autophagylysosomal organelles in the nervous system. Vol. 14, Autophagy. 2018.
- 103. Mauthe M, Orhon I, Rocchi C, Zhou X, Luhr M, Hijlkema KJ, et al. Chloroquine inhibits autophagic flux by decreasing autophagosome-lysosome fusion. Autophagy. 2018;14(8).
- 104. Sahani MH, Itakura E, Mizushima N. Expression of the autophagy substrate SQSTM1/p62 is restored during prolonged starvation depending on transcriptional upregulation and autophagy-derived

Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research Journal (AMPDR)-ISSN 2812-4898 http://dx.doi.org/10.21622/AMPDR.2025.05.1.1251

amino acids. Autophagy. 2014;10(3).

- 105. Wang L, Bi RR, Li L, Zhou K, Liu HL. Functional characteristics of autophagy in pancreatic cancer induced by glutamate metabolism in pancreatic stellate cells. Journal of International Medical Research. 2019;48(4).
- 106. Ngo V, Duennwald ML. Nrf2 and Oxidative Stress: A General Overview of Mechanisms and Implications in Human Disease. Vol. 11, Antioxidants. 2022.
- 107. Li B, Wang W, Li Z, Chen Z, Zhi X, Xu J, et al. MicroRNA-148a-3p enhances cisplatin cytotoxicity in gastric cancer through mitochondrial fission induction and cytoprotective autophagy suppression. Cancer Lett. 2017;410.
- 108. Wei J, Wang X, Yu D, Tu Y, Yu Y. MicroRNAmediated autophagy and drug resistance in cancer: mechanisms and therapeutic strategies. Discover Oncology. 2024 Nov 16;15(1):662.
- 109. Levine B, Kroemer G. Biological Functions of Autophagy Genes: A Disease Perspective. Vol. 176, Cell. 2019.
- Tavakol S, Ashrafizadeh M, Deng S, Azarian M, Abdoli A, Motavaf M, et al. Autophagy modulators: Mechanistic aspects and drug delivery systems. Vol. 9, Biomolecules. 2019.
- 111. Li Y, Cao F, Li M, Li P, Yu Y, Xiang L, et al. Hydroxychloroquine induced lung cancer suppression by enhancing chemosensitization and promoting the transition of M2-TAMs to M1-like macrophages. Journal of Experimental and Clinical Cancer Research. 2018;37(1).
- 112. Boone BA, Bahary N, Zureikat AH, Moser AJ, Normolle DP, Wu WC, et al. Safety and Biologic Response of Pre-operative Autophagy Inhibition in Combination with Gemcitabine in Patients with Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(13).
- 113. Elshazly AM, Gewirtz DA. Is Autophagy Inhibition in Combination with Temozolomide a Therapeutically Viable Strategy? Vol. 12, Cells. 2023.
- 114. Lo Iacono M, Gaggianesi M, Bianca P, Brancato OR, Muratore G, Modica C, et al. Destroying the Shield of Cancer Stem Cells: Natural Compounds as Promising Players

in Cancer Therapy. Vol. 11, Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2022.

- 115. Verbaanderd C, Maes H, Schaaf MB, Sukhatme VP, Pantziarka P, Sukhatme V, et al. Repurposing drugs in oncology (ReDO) - Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine as anti-cancer agents. Ecancermedicalscience. 2017;11.
- 116. Amaravadi RK, Winkler JD. Lys05: A new lysosomal autophagy inhibitor. Vol. 8, Autophagy. 2012.
- 117. Pal SK, Quinn DI. Differentiating mTOR inhibitors in renal cell carcinoma. Vol. 39, Cancer Treatment Reviews. 2013.
- 118. Dai ZJ, Gao J, Kang HF, Ma YG, Ma X Bin, Lu WF, et al. Targeted inhibition of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) enhances radiosensitivity in pancreatic carcinoma cells. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2013;7.
- 119. Massihnia D, Galvano A, Fanale D, Perez A, Castiglia M, Incorvaia L, et al. Triple negative breast cancer: Shedding light onto the role of pi3k/akt/mtor pathway. Vol. 7, Oncotarget. 2016.
- 120. Satta T, Li L, Chalasani SL, Hu X, Nkwocha J, Sharma K, et al. Dual mTORC1/2 Inhibition Synergistically Enhances AML Cell Death in Combination with the BCL2 Antagonist Venetoclax. Clinical Cancer Research. 2023;29(7).
- 121. Escamilla-Ramírez A, Castillo-Rodríguez RA, Zavala-Vega S, Jimenez-Farfan D, Anaya-Rubio I, Briseño E, et al. Autophagy as a potential therapy for malignant glioma. Vol. 13, Pharmaceuticals. 2020.
- 122. Maycotte P, Aryal S, Cummings CT, Thorburn J, Morgan MJ, Thorburn A. Chloroquine sensitizes breast cancer cells to chemotherapy independent of autophagy. Autophagy. 2012;8(2).
- 123. Karasic TB, O'Hara MH, Loaiza-Bonilla A, Reiss KA, Teitelbaum UR, Borazanci E, et al. Effect of Gemcitabine and nab-Paclitaxel with or Without Hydroxychloroquine on Patients with Advanced Pancreatic Cancer: A Phase 2 Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5(7).
- 124. Golden EB, Cho HY, Jahanian A, Hofman FM, Louie SG, Schönthal AH, et al. Chloroquine enhances temozolomide cytotoxicity in

malignant gliomas by blocking autophagy. Neurosurg Focus. 2014;37(6).

- 125. Cao C, Subhawong T, Albert JM, Kim KW, Geng L, Sekhar KR, et al. Inhibition of mammalian target of rapamycin or apoptotic pathway induces autophagy and radiosensitizes PTEN null prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2006;66(20).
- 126. Imrali A, Mao X, Yeste-Velasco M, Shamash J, Lu Y. Rapamycin inhibits prostate cancer cell growth through cyclin D1 and enhances the cytotoxic efficacy of cisplatin. Am J Cancer Res. 2016;6(8).
- 127. Wong SW, Tiong KH, Kong WY, Yue YC, Chua CH, Lim JY, et al. Rapamycin synergizes cisplatin sensitivity in basal-like breast cancer cells through up-regulation of p73. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;128(2).
- 128. Zhou M, Luo C, Zhou Z, Li L, Huang Y. Improving anti-PD-L1 therapy in triple negative breast cancer by polymerenhanced immunogenic cell death and CXCR4 blockade. Journal of Controlled Release. 2021;334.
- 129. Alissafi T, Hatzioannou A, Mintzas K, Barouni RM, Banos A, Sormendi S, et al. Autophagy orchestrates the regulatory program of tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 2018;128(9).
- 130. Gewirtz DA. The challenge of developing autophagy inhibition as a therapeutic strategy. Cancer Res. 2016;76(19).
- 131. Troumpoukis D, Papadimitropoulou A, Charalampous C, Kogionou P, Palamaris K, Sarantis P, et al. Targeting autophagy in pancreatic cancer: The cancer stem cell perspective. Vol. 12, Frontiers in Oncology. 2022.
- 132. Zhou N, Liu Q, Wang X, He L, Zhang T, Zhou H, et al. The combination of hydroxychloroquine and 2-deoxyglucose enhances apoptosis in breast cancer cells by blocking protective autophagy and sustaining endoplasmic reticulum stress. Cell Death Discov. 2022;8(1).

- 133. Zhao W, Chen C, Zhou J, Chen X, Cai K, Shen M, et al. Inhibition of Autophagy Promotes the Anti-Tumor Effect of Metformin in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Cancers (Basel). 2022;14(17).
- 134. Fang J, Rhyasen G, Bolanos L, Rasch C, Varney M, Wunderlich M, et al. Cytotoxic effects of bortezomib in myelodysplastic syndrome/acutemyeloidleukemia.depend on autophagy-mediated lysosomal degradation of TRAF6 and repression of PSMA 1. Blood. 2012;120(4).
- 135. Song H, Zhao Z, Ma L, Zhao W, Hu Y, Song Y. Novel exosomal circEGFR facilitates triple negative breast cancer autophagy via promoting TFEB nuclear trafficking and modulating miR-224-5p/ATG13/ULK1 feedback loop. Oncogene. 2024;43(11).
- 136. Schläfli AM, Adams O, Galván JA, Gugger M, Savic S, Bubendorf L, et al. Prognostic value of the autophagy markers LC3 and p62/ SQSTM1 in early-stage non-small cell lung cancer. Oncotarget. 2016;7(26).
- 137. Fu W, Wu G. Targeting mTOR for Anti-Aging and Anti-Cancer Therapy. Vol. 28, Molecules. 2023.
- 138. Theodorakis N, Feretzakis G, Tzelves L, Paxinou E, Hitas C, Vamvakou G, et al. Integrating Machine Learning with Multi-Omics Technologies in Geroscience: Towards Personalized Medicine. J Pers Med. 2024 Aug 31;14(9):931.
- 139. Sun F, Zhang L, Tong Z. Application progress of artificial intelligence in tumor diagnosis and treatment. Front Artif Intell. 2025 Jan 7;7.
- 140. Chude CI, Amaravadi RK. Targeting autophagy in cancer: Update on clinical trials and novel inhibitors. Vol. 18, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2017.



Modeling Schizophrenia Endophenotypes In Drosophila Melanogaster: Effects Of Ketamine On Anxiety, Aggression, Locomotion And Inflammatory Responses

Abdulrahman Adesola Bello¹ and Royhaan Olamide Folarin¹

¹Group for Biopsychiatry Research and Innovative Neuroscience (G-BRaIN), Department of Anatomy, Olabisi Onabanjo, University, Sagamu, Nigeria

Emails: adesholabaylow@gmail.com, royhaan.folarin@oouagoiwoye.edu.ng

Received on, 22 January 2025 - Accepted on, 06 April 2025 - Published on, 12 May 2025

ABSTRACT:

Schizophrenia presents a significant challenge in mental health, characterized by a profound distortion of reality, often accompanied by hallucinations, delusions, cognitive deficits, and neuroinflammatory processes. Ketamine has been widely used as a pharmacological agent to model schizophrenia symptoms in both human and animal studies. However, the potential of ketamine to induce schizophrenia-like phenotypes in Drosophila melanogaster remains under investigated. This study, therefore, investigated the effects of ketamine on anxiety, aggression, locomotor activities, and inflammatory response in Drosophila melanogaster as a preliminary step toward developing a pharmacological model of schizophrenia in this organism.

Virgin male and female Oregon-R flies were collected after eclosion and exposed to four different concentrations of ketamine (100, 250, 500, 1000 μ g/mL) for 1 week under standard laboratory conditions (22-25°C, 50-60% humidity). Experimental groups consisted of 10 vials, each containing 10 flies. Anxiety, aggression, and locomotory functions were assessed behaviorally through the open field, aggression, and rapid iterative negative geotaxis (RING) assays. Pro-inflammatory and astrogliotic responses were measured immunohistochemically using Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) antibodies. The general neuronal architecture was evaluated using the H&E histological staining techniques.

The results showed a dose-dependent induction of aggressive behavior. Motor function assays demonstrated that ketamine impaired these functions in a dose-dependent manner. Survival assays indicated that higher doses of ketamine reduced survival rates. Immunohistochemical analysis revealed a dose-dependent increase in TNF- α and GFAP mean fluorescence intensity across the treatment groups, indicating upregulation of TNF- α and GFAP expressions. This suggests a robust pro-inflammatory and astrogliotic response to ketamine administration, aligning with the emerging neuroinflammatory endophenotype theory of schizophrenia aetiology and its experimental modeling. Histological analysis displayed significant dose-dependent histopathological changes, including increased cell loss and vacuolization at higher ketamine concentrations.

In conclusion, the findings suggest that ketamine has potential as a pharmacological model of schizophrenia in Drosophila. Overall, these results contribute to the understanding of how ketamine influences key behavioral and neurobiological parameters, offering insights into their potential roles in inducing schizophrenia-like phenotypes like altered behavior and histopathology.

Keywords: Ketamine, Drosophila melanogaster, Neuroinflammation, TNF-α, Schizophrenia, GFAP.



Created in BioRender. Bello et al., (2024)

1. Introduction

Schizophrenia is a severe mental disorder affecting approximately 1% of the global population, significantly impacting individuals, families, and healthcare systems. lt is positive characterized symptoms by (hallucinations, delusions), negative symptoms (social withdrawal, avolition), and cognitive impairments, leading to substantial functional disability and reduced quality of life (1). Current treatments often fail to address the full spectrum of symptoms, especially cognitive and negative symptoms, highlighting the need for novel therapeutic strategies (2).

Ketamine, an NMDA receptor antagonist initially developed as an anesthetic, has gained attention for its psychotomimetic effects and rapid antidepressant properties (3). Its use as a schizophrenia model is due to its ability to induce psychotic-like symptoms and cognitive impairments in healthy individuals, closely resembling those seen in schizophrenia patients (4). Acute ketamine administration produces positive symptoms (perceptual alterations, thought disorder), negative symptoms (blunted affect, social withdrawal), and cognitive deficits in attention, working memory, and executive function. These effects are linked to ketamine's disruption of glutamatergic neurotransmission, aligning with the glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia (5).

Neuroinflammation has recently emerged as a critical factor in schizophrenia pathophysiology, providing new insights into its etiology and treatment (6). It involves an immune response within the central nervous system, marked by the activation of microglia and astrocytes and the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (7). Studies have shown elevated inflammatory markers in the blood and cerebrospinal fluid of schizophrenia patients (8), and neuroimaging reveals increased microglial activation in several brain regions (9). GFAP, a key marker for astrocytes, provides insight neuroinflammatory responses and into potential neuropathological states (10). TNF is a critical mediator of neuroinflammation, often exacerbating neurodegeneration, synaptic dysfunction, and cognitive impairments (11).

Drosophila melanogaster is a valuable model organism for studying complex neurological disorders. Despite its simplicity, it shares many molecularand cellular mechanisms with humans, making it a powerful tool for neuroscience research (12). Its advantages include a short lifespan, rapid generation time, and advanced

genetic tools. Drosophila also exhibits complex behaviors, such as learning, memory, circadian rhythms, and social interactions, which can be used to model neuropsychiatric disorders and screen for therapeutic compounds (13)autism spectrum disorders and Down syndrome, among others. They are characterized by limitations in adaptive and social behaviors, as well as intellectual disability (ID. While ketamine's effects are well-studied in mammalian models, its impact on Drosophila's cognitive function and neuroinflammatory responses remains underexplored, limiting the fly's utility in schizophrenia research. This study thus investigated the effects of ketamine on anxiety, aggression, and locomotory functions through the open field, aggression chamber, and rapid iterative negative geotaxis (RING) assays, lifespan, neuroinflammatory responses, and neuroarchitecture in Drosophila melanogaster. These findings contribute to our understanding of ketamine's effects on Drosophila and support its use as a model for schizophrenia research.

2. METHODS

Acquisition and Breeding of Flies

Wild-type Drosophila melanogaster (Oregon-R strains) were obtained from the Group for Biopsychiatry Research and Innovative Neuroscience at the Department of Anatomy, Olabisi Onabanjo University, Ogun State. The culture and feeding medium, primarily cornhygienically meal-based, was prepared according to the protocols adopted by (14). The flies were maintained under standard laboratory conditions (22-25°C, 50-60% humidity) with natural day/night cycles in the animal holding facility of the Department of Anatomy at Olabisi Onabanjo University, Sagamu, Nigeria. Ketamine HCl injection (50 mg/ml) was sourced from Jawa[®] Group in Lagos, Nigeria.

Experimental Design and Dosing

The experimental design for the research included the following groups: a control group, which was maintained on standard fly food ad libitum, and a ketamine-administered group, which received varying concentrations of ketamine hydrochloride (100, 250, 500, and 1000 μ g/mL) mixed into the fly food and allowed to feed ad libitum. The dosage of ketamine used in this study was informed by Koksal and Gürbüzel's (2020)(15) study, which provided a foundational understanding of ketamine's effects on *Drosophila*, identifying dosage ranges that elicit significant biological responses

without causing immediate toxicity.

Each vial contained 5 mL of the prepared feed dispensed into standard vials, with the appropriate volumes of ketamine added shortly after cooking the feed, prior to dispensing into the treatment vials. Each experimental group was replicated in ten vials, with each vial containing ten flies. All treatments were administered continuously for one week, and the flies were monitored daily.

Table: Experimental Design

Groups	Regimen	No flies/ vial
Control KT1 KT2 KT3 KT4	Standard fly food 100 µg/mL Ketamine in fly food 250 µg/mL Ketamine in fly food 500 µg/mL Ketamine in fly food 1000 µg/mL Ketamine in fly food	10 10 10 10 10

Behavioural Assays

1. Survival Assay

Newly eclosed flies were transferred into culture vials containing different concentrations of ketamine mixed into the diet and vials without ketamine for the control with ten flies per vial. The number of dead flies was recorded at regular intervals of three days (16)leading to reduced physical performance and increased risk of disease. Individual aging is manifest at the population level as an increase in age-dependent mortality, which is often measured in the laboratory by observing lifespan in large cohorts of age-matched individuals. Experiments that seek to quantify the extent to which genetic or environmental manipulations impact lifespan in simple model organisms have been remarkably successful for understanding the aspects of aging that are conserved across taxa and for inspiring new strategies for extending lifespan and preventing age-associated disease in mammals. The vinegar fly, Drosophila melanogaster, is an attractive model organism for studying the mechanisms of aging due to its relatively short lifespan, convenient husbandry, and facile genetics. However, demographic measures of aging, including age-specific survival and mortality, are extraordinarily susceptible to even minor variations in experimental design and environment, and the maintenance of strict

laboratory practices for the duration of aging experiments is required. These considerations, together with the need to practice careful control of genetic background, are essential for generating robust measurements. Indeed, there are many notable controversies surrounding inference from longevity experiments in yeast, worms, flies and mice that have been traced to environmental or genetic artifacts (1-4. The study examined ketamine's effects on the survival of *Drosophila melanogaster*, with daily monitoring of treatment groups consisting of 50 flies per group, separated by sex.

2. Rapid Iterative Negative Geotaxis (RING) Assay

Ten flies from each treatment vial were introduced into a climbing apparatus consisting of vertical columns made from high-density polyethylene (15 cm in length and 2 cm in diameter) on the final day of administration. After being anesthetized with mild ice, the flies were allowed to recover for one hour. A white background with horizontal lines spaced 1 cm apart was positioned behind the vials. The flies were gently tapped to the bottom of the column by lightly banging it on the assay platform. The number of flies that reached the 8 cm mark within ten seconds was recorded. Each assay was conducted five times for the same group, with a one-minute rest period between trials. The score for each trial was calculated as the average of five measurements (17).



Figure 1: RING Assay Apparatus

Schematic representation of the Rapid Iterative Negative Geotaxis (RING) assay used to assess locomotor function in Drosophila. The setup consists of vertical columns (15 cm in length, 2 cm in diameter) with a white background marked with horizontal lines at 1 cm intervals. Flies are tapped to the bottom, and their climbing ability is measured by recording the number of flies reaching the 8 cm mark within 10 seconds.

3. Open Field Assay set up

The open field assay provides valuable insights into anxiety-like behaviors and exploratory drive across treatment groups. The open field arena was set up by placing a 10 cm diameter Petri dish on a circular arena drawn on paper, divided into a central zone (50% of the total area) and a peripheral zone (50% of the total area), with a grid overlay for distance measurement and further divided into four quadrants. A video camera was positioned directly above the arena for full visibility.

Flies were acclimatized to the testing room conditions for at least one hour before the assay. A single fly was gently aspirated into the center of the arena without anesthesia to avoid altering its behavior. Video recording began immediately, allowing the fly to explore the arena for ten minutes. After each trial, the fly was removed, and the arena was cleaned with 70% ethanol to eliminate olfactory cues. This process was repeated for all experimental groups, alternating between control and treatment groups to minimize time-of-day effects. The recorded videos were analyzed for parameters including time spent in the central and peripheral zones and frequency of zone crossings (18).



Figure 2: Open Field Assay Setup

Diagram of the open field assay setup used to analyze anxiety-like behavior and exploratory activity in Drosophila. The arena consists of a 10 cm diameter Petri dish placed on a circular zone drawn on paper, divided into a central and peripheral zone. A video camera positioned above records movement patterns, including time spent in each zone and frequency of zone crossings.

4. Aggression Assay

The aggression assay was conducted to

quantify aggressive behaviors in male and female Drosophila melanogaster after various treatments. The assay used an arena chamber made from a 96-well plate, a video camera, and a timer. Pairs of male and female flies were gently placed into each cell of the arena chamber using an aspirator. The chamber was then positioned under the video camera to ensure unobstructed After loading the flies, they were recording. given 5 minutes to acclimate to reduce handling stress and encourage natural behavior. Once the acclimation period ended, a 10-minute recording session began to capture the flies' behavior. Aggressive behaviors were observed and scored based on fighting frequency and latency to fighting (19).





Illustration of the aggression assay setup used to assess aggressive interactions in Drosophila. The assay utilizes a 96-well plate as an arena chamber, with pairs of flies placed in individual wells. A video camera records interactions, scoring fighting frequency and latency to aggression.

Histology and Immunofluorescence Analysis

Following administration, the Drosophila were anesthetized on ice and transferred to a dissection dish containing ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4). Under a stereomicroscope, the heads were carefully separated from the bodies using fine forceps. Following the protocol of Karmakar & Mishra, 2020, the heads were then immediately placed into a microcentrifuge tube containing 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in PBS for fixation, which was carried out for 20 minutes at room temperature with gentle agitation. Following fixation, the samples were washed three times with PBS to remove excess fixative. After anesthetizing the flies on ice, their heads were carefully removed and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) for 2 hours at room temperature. Following fixation, the samples were washed in PBS and dehydrated through a graded ethanol series (30%, 50%, 70%, 90%, 100%) for 5 minutes each. The dehydrated heads were cleared in xylene and embedded in paraffin. Sections were cut at a thickness of 5 μm using a rotary microtome and mounted on gelatin-coated slides.

To assess neuroinflammation and neuronal integrity, two primary antibodies were used: rabbit monoclonal anti-TNF-alpha (1:200, medchem express) to detect neuroinflammatory responses and anti-GFAP (1:500, Sigma-Aldrich) to assess glial reactivity. After fixation and washing, the samples were permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 20 minutes at room temperature, followed by blocking with 5% normal goat serum in PBS for 1 hour to reduce non-specific binding.

Primary antibodies diluted in 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS were applied to the samples and incubated overnight at 4°C. The next day, samples were washed three times with PBS to remove unbound primary antibodies. Fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibodies (anti-rabbit donkey CF647, 1:500, Sigma-Aldrich) were then applied to the samples for 2 hours at room temperature in the dark, followed by washing three times with PBS. DAPI (1:500 dilution in 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS) was applied for 10 minutes to counterstain nuclei. After a final PBS wash, the samples were mounted on glass slides using Vectashield anti-fade mounting media and cover-slipped. Image acquisition was conducted using a Zeiss LSM-700 confocal microscope with standardized settings to ensure consistency. The images were processed using ImageJ/Fiji software, where they were converted to 8-bit grayscale for intensity analysis.

Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining was performed following standard protocols (20). The sections were deparaffinized in xylene, rehydrated through a descending ethanol series, and stained with Harris hematoxylin for 5 minutes. After rinsing in running tap water, the slides were counterstained with eosin for 2 minutes. The sections were then dehydrated through an ascending ethanol series, cleared in xylene, and mounted with DPX mounting medium under coverslips. Images of the H&E-stained sections were captured using an Olympus BX53 bright-field microscope equipped with a digital camera, utilizing 20x and 40x objectives for detailed visualization.

3. Statistical Analysis

Image analysis was performed using ImageJ software (FIJI) to measure fluorescence intensity.

Statistical analyses were conducted using Microsoft Excel. For each quantitative measure, the mean, standard deviation, and standard error of the mean were calculated.

4. **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

Survival Assay





Figure 4: Graph of Survival Assay

Results indicated a clear dose-dependent decrease in survival p \approx 0.018 (< 0.05) for males and p \approx 0.028 (< 0.05) for females, with the control group exhibiting high survival rates (48 males, 47 females), while the highest ketamine dose (1000 µg/mL) led to significant reductions (36 males, 37 females surviving). These findings are consistent with previous studies, such as Zou et al. (2009) (21), which reported dose dependent neurotoxicity in rat models.

In vivo, reduced survival rates imply significant physiological stress and potential neurotoxicity at higher ketamine doses. Interestingly, our results showed similar survival trends between males and females across all treatment groups, suggesting that ketamine's effects on Drosophila survival may not be strongly sex-dependent. This observation contrasts with some mammalian studies, such as (Franceschelli et al., 2015) (22), who reported sex-specific behavioral responses to ketamine in mice.

Open Field Assay



Time Spent in Peripheral Zone Time Spent in Central Zone

II Frequency of Zone Crossing

Figure 5: Graph of Open field Assay

The control group established baseline exploratory behavior, spending 19 seconds in the central zone and 587 seconds in the peripheral zone, with an average of 8 zone crossings.

Ketamine treatment showed no statistically significant differences despite appearing notable. For time spent in the central zone, p-value ≈ 0.089; for Time in the Peripheral Zone:

 $p \approx 0.94$ while For Zone Crossings: $p \approx 0.132$ (> 0.05).

Although not significant, the trend suggests a possible dose-dependent decrease with higher doses leading to increased thigmotaxis (preference for the peripheral zone), which is often interpreted as increased anxiety-like behavior in rodent models Simon et al., (1994) (23). This suggests that while ketamine may influence anxiety-like behaviors, its effects in Drosophila may be more subtle than those observed in mammalian models.

Aggression Assay







☑ Male ■Female

Figure 6: Graph of Aggression Assay

In the control group, males exhibited a 50-second latency and an average of 3.2 fights, while females showed a 160-second latency and an average of 1.6 fights. Ketamine treatment resulted in a significant dose-dependent increase in number of fights, $p \approx 0.031$ in male although there was an initial suppression of aggression at lower doses and $p \approx 0.047$ in female with moderate reduction at lower doses and peak increase at 500 µg/mL.

Lower doses (100 μ L) lead to mild aggression, longer latencies (140 seconds for males, 190 seconds for females), and fewer fights (1.6 and 1.2 fights for males and females, respectively). As doses increased (500 μ L, 1000 μ L), latencies decreased, and fighting frequency rose, with the highest aggression observed at 1000 μ L (65 seconds for males, 102 seconds for females; 4.2 and 1.8 fights). These findings align with studies like Ye et al. (2019) (24)6R, linking ketamine metabolites to altered aggression via its effects on glutamatergic neurotransmission.

Negative Geotaxis Assay



Figure 7: Graph of Negative Geotaxis Assay

The control group established a baseline climbing performance, while ketamine-treated groups showed a dose-dependent increase, most notably in the 500 μ L group, where climbing ability was markedly increased. Although the differences between the groups are not statistically significant at p \approx 0.086

This dose-dependent effect of ketamine on motor function aligns with findings from Imre et al. (2006) (25) and Chen et al. (2023) (26), who reported dose-dependent effects of ketamine on locomotor activity in rats. A dose-dependent enhanced negative geotaxis in Drosophila has previously been reported using Dizocilpine, an NMDA receptor agonist widely used to model schizophrenia-like-phenotypes (27).

However, the 1000 µL group showed a reduction in motor function, suggesting that high doses of ketamine could impair locomotion.



Figure 8: Section of Drosophila brain showing the distribution and localization of TNF-alpha (red). DAPI (Blue) is used as a nuclear stain to visualize the whole brain morphology, and the graph shows a comparison of the mean fluorescence intensity of TNF-alpha across different experimental groups.

TNF- α expression analysis revealed highly significant differences between groups (p < 0.0092), characterized by a strong dosedependent increase. The highest ketamine concentration resulted in more than doubled TNF- α expression compared to control levels, providing clear evidence of an inflammatory response. This pattern aligns with prior studies that link increased doses of pro-inflammatory agents to heightened TNF levels, reinforcing the inflammatory cascade's sensitivity to modulation (28)

The pronounced increase in TNF- α expression indicates robust neuroinflammatory activation at higher ketamine doses. Similar findings were reported by Wang et al. (2015) (29), who observed that chronic ketamine administration led to elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine levels, including TNF- α , in the hippocampus of rodents. Additionally, Li et al. (2017) (30) found that Single administration of ketamine increased the level of TNF- α_i , whereas multiple and longterm administration decreased it significantly. In Drosophila, elevated TNF levels likely mirror mammalian inflammatory processes, given the conservation of TNF pathways across species (31).



Figure 9: Section of Drosophila brain showing the distribution and localization of GFAP (green).



Figure 8: Section of Drosophila brain showing the distribution and localization of TNF-alpha (red). DAPI (Blue) is used as a nuclear stain to visualize the whole brain morphology, and Graphs show a comparison of the mean fluorescence intensity of GFAP across different experimental groups.

The analysis of GFAP expression revealed significant differences between treatment groups (p < 0.038), demonstrating a complex dose-dependent response to ketamine exposure. At the lowest concentration (100 µg/mL), GFAP expression showed an initial decrease compared to control levels, followed by a return to baseline at 250 µg/mL. Higher concentrations (500-1000 µg/mL) induced a progressive increase in GFAP expression, with peak levels observed at 1000 µg/mL, suggesting dose-dependent astrogliosis at higher concentrations.

The biphasic response of GFAP expression is particularly noteworthy. The initial decrease at low doses followed by elevation at higher concentrations suggests that ketamine's effects on astrocyte activation are dosethreshold dependent. This pattern aligns with findings from Keilhoff et al. (2004) (32), who demonstrated that repeated ketamine exposure in rats led to reactive gliosis and increased GFAP immunoreactivity.

This dose-dependent trend is consistent with previous studies showing increased astrocyte activation at higher ketamine doses (33). Lower GFAP expression at 100µL may reflect neuroprotective effects, whereas higher doses likely indicate pro-inflammatory or neurotoxic effects (34).



Figure 10: Histological Analysis of Drosophila Brain Sections

Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E)-stained brain sections of Drosophila showing structural changes across treatment groups.

Brains from control flies exhibited normal histological features with intact neuropil (Arrowhead) and no significant vacuolation across all brain regions. 100 µL Ketamine groups displayed mild degenerative changes as scattered vacuoles were observed (arrow). Moderate vacuolation was observed in the µL Ketamine groups with increased 250 disorganization of neuropil fibers (Figure 10). Marked degeneration was evident in the 500 µL Ketamine with prominent vacuolar lesions (arrow) disrupting the neuropil and necrotic cell bodies. Severe neurodegeneration was apparent, with extensive vacuolation and fragmentation in the 1000 µL Ketamine group. These findings are consistent with previous studies on ketamine's neurotoxic effects in both invertebrate and vertebrate models. For instance, Liu et al., (2013) (35) reported that ketamine induced widespread neuroapoptosis in the developing rat brain, with particular vulnerability in certain brain regions.

5. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our study demonstrates the potential utility of Drosophila as a model organism for investigating complex neuropsychiatric phenomena. The observed effects of ketamine, particularly its ability to induce some behavioral and histopathological changes, suggest potential avenues for its use as a pharmacological model of schizophrenia. However, future research should focus on elucidating the molecular mechanisms underlying these effects and exploring their relevance in mammalian models. The complex effects underscore the need for careful, nuanced approaches in translating these findings to clinical applications.

Acknowledgment

Chan Zuckerberg Initiative and the BioRTC Fellowship

Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research Journal (AMPDR)-ISSN 2812-4898 http://dx.doi.org/10.21622/AMPDR.2025.05.1.1202 June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

References

- 1. Hany M, Rehman B, Azhar Y, Chapman J. Schizophrenia [Internet]. StatPearls Publishing; 2023. Available from: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK539864/
- 2. Stępnicki P, Kondej M, Kaczor AA. Current concepts and treatments of schizophrenia. Vol. 23, Molecules. 2018.
- 3. Zorumski CF, Izumi Y, Mennerick S. Ketamine: NMDA receptors and beyond. Journal of Neuroscience. 2016;36(44).
- Beck K, Hindley G, Borgan F, Ginestet C, McCutcheon R, Brugger S, et al. Association of Ketamine with Psychiatric Symptoms and Implications for Its Therapeutic Use and for Understanding Schizophrenia: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Vol. 3, JAMA Network Open. 2020.
- 5. Frohlich J, Van Horn JD. Reviewing the ketamine model for schizophrenia. Vol. 28, Journal of Psychopharmacology. 2014.
- 6. Mosquera Guevara-Montoya FEC, MC, Serna-Ramirez V, Liscano Υ. Neuroinflammation and Schizophrenia: New Therapeutic Strategies through Psychobiotics, Nanotechnology, and Artificial Intelligence (AI). J Pers Med. 2024 Apr 6;14(4):391.
- Kölliker-Frers R, Udovin L, Otero-Losada M, Kobiec T, Herrera MI, Palacios J, et al. Neuroinflammation: An Integrating Overview of Reactive-Neuroimmune Cell Interactions in Health and Disease. Vol. 2021, Mediators of Inflammation. 2021.
- 8. Warren N, O'Gorman C, Horgan I, Weeratunga M, Halstead S, Moussiopoulou J, et al. Inflammatory cerebrospinal fluid markers in schizophrenia spectrum disorders: A systematic review and metaanalysis of 69 studies with 5710 participants. Schizophr Res. 2024;266.
- Laskaris LE, Di Biase MA, Everall I, Chana G, Christopoulos A, Skafidas E, et al. Microglial activation and progressive brain changes in schizophrenia. Vol. 173, British Journal of Pharmacology. 2016.
- 10. Li D, Liu X, Liu T, Liu H, Tong L, Jia S, et al. Neurochemical regulation of the expression and function of glial fibrillary acidic protein

in astrocytes. Vol. 68, GLIA. 2020.

- 11. McAlpineFE,TanseyMG.Neuroinflammation and tumor necrosis factor signaling in the pathophysiology of Alzheimer's disease. J Inflamm Res. 2008;1.
- 12. Jeibmann A, Paulus W. Drosophila melanogaster as a model organism of brain diseases. Vol. 10, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2009.
- 13. Mariano V, Achsel T, Bagni C, Kanellopoulos AK. Modelling Learning and Memory in Drosophila to Understand Intellectual Disabilities. Vol. 445, Neuroscience. 2020.
- 14. Folarin R, Kayode A, Adenowo T, Adeyanju M, Olugbode J, Obadeyin E. GEOTACTICAL AND NEUROCHEMICAL PHENOTYPES OF DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER FOLLOWING NIGELLA SATIVA EXPOSURE. 2019.
- 15. Koksal PM, Gürbüzel M. Analysis of genotoxic activity of ketamine and rocuronium bromide using the somatic mutation and recombination test in Drosophila melanogaster. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol. 2015;39(2).
- 16. Linford NJ, Bilgir C, Ro J, Pletcher SD. Measurement of lifespan in Drosophila melanogaster. Journal of Visualized Experiments. 2013;(71).
- Bawani SS, Anandhi DU. GC-MS Analysis of Nigella Sativa Seed Extract and Its Ameliorative Effects on Transgenic Drosophila Model of Parkinson Disease. Int J Innov Sci Res Technol. 2021;6(4).
- Soibam B, Mann M, Liu L, Tran J, Lobaina M, Kang YY, et al. Open-field arena boundary is a primary object of exploration for Drosophila. Brain Behav. 2012;2(2).
- 19. Dierick HA. A method for quantifying aggression in male drosophila melanogaster. Nat Protoc. 2007;2(11).
- 20. Karmakar P, Mishra M. Histological Analysis of the Drosophila Head with Special Reference to the Eye and Brain. In 2020. p. 39–49.
- Zou X, Patterson TA, Sadovova N, Twaddle NC, Doerge DR, Zhang X, et al. Potential neurotoxicity of ketamine in the developing rat brain. Toxicological Sciences. 2009;108(1).

June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

- 22. Franceschelli A, Sens J, Herchick S, Thelen C, Pitychoutis PM. Sex differences in the rapid and the sustained antidepressantlike effects of ketamine in stress-naïve and "depressed" mice exposed to chronic mild stress. Neuroscience. 2015;290.
- 23. Simon P, Dupuis R, Costentin J. Thigmotaxis as an index of anxiety in mice. Influence of dopaminergic transmissions. Behavioural Brain Research. 1994;61(1).
- 24. Ye L, Ko CY, Huang Y, Zheng C, Zheng Y, Chou D. Ketamine metabolite (2R,6R)hydroxynorketamine enhances aggression via periaqueductal gray glutamatergic transmission. Neuropharmacology. 2019;157.
- 25. Imre G, Fokkema DS, Boer JAD, Ter Horst GJ. Dose-response characteristics of ketamine effect on locomotion, cognitive function and central neuronal activity. Brain Res Bull. 2006;69(3).
- 26. Chen WC, Wang TS, Chang FY, Chen PA, Chen YC. Age, Dose, and Locomotion: Decoding Vulnerability to Ketamine in C57BL/6J and BALB/c Mice. Biomedicines. 2023;11(7).
- 27. Moulin TC, Stojanovic T, Rajesh RP, Pareek T, Donzelli L, Williams MJ, et al. Effects of Transient Administration of the NMDA Receptor Antagonist MK-801 in Drosophila melanogaster Activity, Sleep, and Negative Geotaxis. Biomedicines. 2023;11(1).
- Subedi L, Lee SE, Madiha S, Gaire BP, Jin M, Yumnam S, et al. Phytochemicals against TNFα-mediated neuroinflammatory diseases. Vol. 21, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2020.
- 29. Wang N, Yu HY, Shen XF, Gao ZQ, Yang C,

Yang JJ, et al. The rapid antidepressant effect of ketamine in rats is associated with down-regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the hippocampus. Ups J Med Sci. 2015;120(4).

- Li Y, Shen R, Wen G, Ding R, Du A, Zhou J, et al. Effects of ketamine on levels of inflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-1β, and TNF-α in the hippocampus of mice following acute or chronic administration. Front Pharmacol. 2017;8(MAR).
- Geuking P, Narasimamurthy R, Basler K. A genetic screen targeting the tumor necrosis factor/eiger signaling pathway: Identification of drosophila TAB2 as a functionally conserved component. Genetics. 2005;171(4).
- 32. Keilhoff G, Becker A, Grecksch G, Wolf G, Bernstein HG. Repeated application of ketamine to rats induces changes in the hippocampal expression of parvalbumin, neuronal nitric oxide synthase and cFOS similar to those found in human schizophrenia. Neuroscience. 2004;126(3).
- 33. Stenovec M. Ketamine alters functional plasticity of astroglia: An implication for antidepressant effect. Life. 2021;11(6).
- Penkowa M, Camats J, Giralt M, Molinero A, Hernández J, Carrasco J, et al. Metallothionein-I overexpression alters brain inflammation and stimulates brain repair in transgenic mice with astrocyte - Targeted interleukin-6 expression. Glia. 2003;42(3).
- Liu JR, Baek C, Han XH, Shoureshi P, Soriano SG. Role of glycogen synthase kinase-3β in ketamine-induced developmental neuroapoptosis in rats. Br J Anaesth. 2013;110(SUPPL.1).


June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

Bispecific T-Cell Engagers and Related Immunotherapies: Advances and Challenges

Emmanuel Owusu Ansah^{1,2}, Benard Ansong^{2,3} and Foster Kyei^{1,2}

¹Department of Molecular Biology and Biotechnology, University of Cape Coast

² Thrivus Institute for Biomedical Science and Technology, Accra, Ghana

³ City of Hope Fertility Centre, Accra, Ghana

Emails: emmanuel.ansah1@stu.ucc.edu.gh, ansong-nyarko@outlook.com, fkyei@ucc.edu.gh

Received on, 10 February 2025 - Accepted on, 06 April 2025 - Published on, 23 April 2025

ABSTRACT:

Bispecific T-cell engagers (BiTEs) have revolutionized immunotherapy, cancer especially in hematological malignancies. These molecules simultaneously target tumor antigens and engage T-cells, which demonstrating potent antitumor activity in various cancers. However, challenges such as rapid drug clearance, off-target effects, and cytokine release syndrome limit their broader use. Recent advances in BiTE design aim to address these obstacles, expanding their therapeutic potential. This review discusses the latest progress in BiTEs and related immunotherapies, as well as strategies to overcome current challenges.

Keywords: Bispecific, immunotherapy, cancer, cytokine, antibodies.

1. Introduction

Before bispecific antibodies (BsAbs) were introduced, traditional cancer immunotherapy relied on monoclonal antibodies (MoAbs) molecules targeting a single tumor antigen [1]. However, the complex nature of some cancers, with their ability to switch signaling pathways and evade immune responses, posed challenges for this approach [2]. A prime example is the interaction between Programmed Cell Death Protein 1 (PD-1) and Programmed Cell Death Ligand 1 (PD-L1), where tumor cells exploit this interaction to attenuate the immune response [3]. This manipulation involves inducing apoptosis in antigen-specific T cells and inhibiting the apoptosis of regulatory T cells, affecting the efficacy of single antibodytargeted immunotherapy [3]. The arrival of

bispecific antibodies marks a significant shift in addressing these challenges, offering a promising avenue for more effective cancer treatment.

BsAbs are a promising type of therapy that can target two different tumor antigens simultaneously **[4]**. These antibodies typically consist of two single-chain variable fragment (scFv) antigen-binding parts linked by a flexible amino acid linker, offering a more refined approach against cancer cells [5]. In the case of the PD-1/PD-L1 axis, bispecific antibodies can be designed to bind both PD-1 and a tumor-specific antigen at the same time. This disrupts immune evasion mechanisms and strengthens the immune response [6]. Over 100 bispecific antibodies have been evaluated across various cancer types, with many receiving marketing approvals (Table 1) [7, 8]. A significant achievement occurred in 2022 when the FDA approved a Bispecific T cell Engager (BiTE) product targeting CD3/BCMA for treating relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma [9]. Subsequently, talquetamab and elranatamab, both CD3 T-cell engagers, received FDA approval in 2023 for multiple myeloma treatment (Table 1) [10, 11]. These approvals mark substantial progress in treating adult patients with relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma.

While most bispecific antibodies focus on cancer treatment, some are directed at chronic inflammatory, autoimmune, and neurodegenerative diseases and infections. Examples include emacizumab and faricimab, both developed for hemophilia A and retinal vascular disease treatment, respectively **[12, 13]**. These diverse applications highlight the expanding role of bispecific antibodies in transformative therapeutic interventions. Although BsAbs have been effective in cancer treatment, they still face challenges like a short in vivo half-life, on-target off-tumor effects, cytokine release syndrome, and issues in manufacturing **[14-16]**. These challenges have hindered their broader application, indicating the need for advanced formats. Recent advances have led to innovative approaches addressing these challenges, paving the way for improved clinical practices.

In this review, we shed light on the evolving field of bispecific antibodies, providing insights into their present status in clinical development. Additionally, we delve into the challenges associated with bispecific antibodies and explore recent modifications aimed at enhancing their therapeutic efficacy.

2. Bispecific T cell Engager

The concept of bispecific antibodies (BsAbs) has evolved significantly since their initial description by Nisonoff in 1960, resulting in the development of several hundred formats categorized into six diverse mechanisms of action: (1) bridging cells, (2) receptor inhibition, (3) receptor activation, (4) co-factor mimetic, (5) piggybacking I, and (6) piggybacking II [8, 17]. These diverse BsAb formats have been engineered to target various components such as tumor signaling pathways, immune (ICIs), checkpoint inhibitors inflammatory cytokines, and more [18-20]. Among these formats, the bridging cell or Bispecific T-cell Engager stands out as the most common BsAb employed for the treatment of both liquid and solid tumors [21]. A crucial aspect of BiTEs is their ability to redirect naïve T cells to target tumor cells, leading to T-cell activation, clonal expansion, and subsequent tumor cytotoxicity **Figure 2 [21, 22]**. First-generation BiTE constructs were typically designed with two monoclonal antibodies (mAb) moieties tandemly fused, with one moiety targeting a specific tumor antigen and the other binding to CD3 antigen on T-cell surfaces. This design ensures that T cells engaged by BiTE molecules become activated and effectively eliminate malignant cells [23]. More than six decades, seven BiTEs have been approved for cancer treatment (Table 1), and several more are undergoing clinical testing [24]. Despite their efficacy, the use of BITE has faced challenges associated with 'on-target, off-tumor' toxicities [25, 26]. BiTE therapy primarily involves identifying suitable tumor-

associated antigens (TAAs) on target cells that differ from those on normal cells, aiming to prevent on-target/off-tumor toxicity [25]. However, the identification of antigenic targets exclusive to tumor cells presents challenges, as many target antigens are expressed on both normal and tumor cells [27]. Even minimal antigen expression on normal cells can result in adverse on-target off-tumor toxicities, leading to cytokine release syndrome (CRS). CRS, characterized by an excessive immune response leading to the release of proinflammatory cytokines, can potentially result in organ failure and, in severe cases, death [28]. Currently, the primary clinical interventions to manage CRS in T cell-engaging bispecific antibody (TCE) therapies involve dose reduction or the administration of anti-interleukin antibodies and corticosteroids [28]. While these interventions have proven effective in certain scenarios, they do not provide a complete prevention of CRS. Accordingly, increasing reports have highlighted the occurrences of off-target, on-target toxicity associated with bispecific antibody molecules, especially BiTE therapeutics **[23, 29, 30]**.

To overcome the significant challenge of ontarget, off-tumor adverse effects, including CRS, and enhance the therapeutic index of BsAbs, particularly in the context of solid malignancies, researchers have been exploring several modification strategies. One such strategy employing focuses on avidity-mediated specificity or the 2 + 1 architecture [31, 32]. In this novel approach, a bivalent antibody with low affinity for the tumor antigen is combined with a monovalent anti-CD3 molecule [32]. This unique design enables the BiTE to selectively bind to tumor cells that overexpress the target tumor-associated antigen (TAA), facilitating the specific killing of tumor cells while sparing normal cells expressing the target antigen at lower densities.

A study conducted by Bacac et al. exemplifies this approach, utilizing a bivalent anti-CEA scFv domain linked with a monovalent anti-CD3 domain for the treatment of solid tumors expressingcarcinoembryonicantigen(CEA)[33]. CEA, also known as carcinoembryonic antigenrelated cell adhesion molecule 5 (CEACAM5), is associated with glycosylphosphatidylinositol and is overexpressed in various cancers, playing a role in adhesion and invasion [34]. The resulting CEA T cell bispecific (TCB) demonstrated sustained antitumor activity in a preclinical model, exhibiting a notable increase in T-cell longevity [33]. Moreover, the CEA+CD3 TCB transformed PD-L1-negative tumors into PD-L1-positive, creating a highly inflamed tumor microenvironment. This promising development has advanced to phase 1 clinical investigation (NCT02324257), showcasing pronounced efficacy and manageable safety profiles **[33]**.

In line with these advancements, another group used an anti-HER2/CD3 T cell-dependent bispecific (TDB) antibody to redirect T cells eliminate HER2-overexpressing cells, to demonstrating potent antitumor activity [31]. This suggests that avidity-mediated selection holds promise for treating solid tumors, as it potentially addresses one of the major challenges associated with TCE therapies, offering a more targeted and controlled immune response. However, since high expression levels of the TAA are crucial for avidity specificity and bispecific antibody-mediated tumor lysis, this strategy applies primarily to cancer cells expressing very high levels of the target antigen. The challenge arises when dealing with solid tumors expressing variable densities of the target antigen. To address this challenge and enhance the versatility of the approach, future studies are needed to develop a dual bispecific antibody with a 2+1+1 architecture, where one target incorporates avidity-mediated specificity and the other features high-affinity binding. This approach would offer a comprehensive solution to rapidly target and eliminate solid tumors expressing differential levels of the target antigen.

Generally, there is currently no FDA-approved BiTE molecule for treating solid malignancies. However, catumaxomab, the first bispecific T-cell engager approved by the EMA in 2009 to treat malignant ascites of epithelial cancers, was later withdrawn from the market due to severe adverse events, including CRS and dose-dependent liver toxicity [35]. Ongoing research and development aim to address these challenges and further enhance the clinical applicability of BiTEs, emphasizing their significance in advancing cancer immunotherapy.



Figure 1: BiTE and its mechanism of action.

a. BiTE antibody construct comprises two single-chain variable fragments of monoclonal antibodies linked together through a flexible linker. b. One arm of the BiTE molecule is designed to bind to CD3, an antigen located on the surface of T cells. Simultaneously, the other arm is engineered to bind to a tumor-associated antigen (TAA). Upon successful binding of both arms to their specific targets, a synapse is formed between the T cell and the cancer cell. Subsequently, the T cells undergo expansion and release perforin, creating a pore in the cancer cell's membrane. This pore allows toxic molecules called granzymes to flow through, ultimately inducing the death of the cancer cell.

While BiTEs encounter challenges in battling solid tumors, a promising alternative, immune-

mobilizing monoclonal T-cell receptors against cancer (ImmTACs), has emerged [36]. Like BiTEs, ImmTACs facilitate the interaction between cancer cells and T cells by simultaneously engaging their proteins. However, ImmTACs take a different approach by employing a T-cell receptor instead of an antibody fragment to recognize proteins in cancer cells [36]. This unique strategy allows ImmTACs to bind to intracellular proteins processed and presented expanding externally, their target range beyond cell surface proteins. This characteristic makes ImmTACs more effective in addressing

solid tumors, where many cancer-specific proteins are primarily expressed inside the cell. Tebentafusp (Kimmtrak), an ImmTAC therapeutic, has already gained approval for treating uveal melanoma **[37]**. Considering the risks associated with BiTEs in solid tumors, especially CRS, ImmTACs emerge as a promising class of therapeutics, offering cancer-fighting immune cells a distinct advantage.

Blinatumomab, the first FDA-approved BiTE construct

Blinatumomab stands out as a significant success in BiTE therapy, marking the first FDAapproved BiTE molecule to treat B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), **Figure 2 [38]**.

This therapy combines anti-CD19 and anti-CD3 scFv, demonstrating notable clinical efficacy. Many patients experienced complete tumor regression, contributing to improved overall survival rates [39]. In a study with 54 relapsed or refractory (R/R) patients, 91% (49/54) achieved complete response with blinatumomab a treatment, highlighting its clinical effectiveness challenging R/R settings [40]. in These outcomes emphasize blinatumomab's therapeutic potential and its crucial role in advancing treatment options for B-cell ALL patients. Importantly, blinatumomab's activity is independent of major histocompatibility complex activation, ensuring rapid activation of T cells and the destruction of tumor cells **[41]**.



Figure 2 The mechanism of action for blinatumomab, the first-in-class BiTE, involves one arm binding to CD3 and the other to CD19. This interaction activates unstimulated T cells, initiating their attack on CD19+ cells.

Although blinatumomab has demonstrated significant success, crucial challenges persist. Factors such as rapid drug clearance, on-target/ off-tumor adverse effects, cytokine release syndrome, and activation of peripheral immune cells may potentially limit therapeutic efficacy in both hematological malignancies [42]. Recent reports indicate instances of relapse among patients following blinatumomab treatment, with the phenomenon associated not only with the loss of CD19 but also CD58, as proposed by Jabbour et al. [43]. Previous research has explored mechanisms contributing to CD19 escape, including CD19 mutations, CD19mutant allele-specific expression, low CD19 RNA expression, and mutations in CD19 signaling member CD81 **[44]**. However, limited attention has been given to CD58 loss and its mechanism in the context of Blinatumomab treatment.

A recent study by Yizhen et al. has identified a crucial intrinsic factor, PAX5 mutation, significantly downregulating CD58. This downregulation has been linked to a reduction in blinatumomab activity, particularly observed in patients with ALL **[45]**. Further research is needed to address the PAX5 mutation in ALL models under Blinatumomab treatment, providing a more comprehensive understanding of the role of PAX5 in CD58 loss. Moreover, additional studies have suggested regulatory T cells (Tregs) as potential regulators in the resistance process against blinatumomab, indicating that multiple factors may contribute to resistance and a reduced response rate to this therapeutic approach **[44]**. These findings suggest the complexity of the mechanisms behind resistance to Blinatumomab, emphasizing the necessity for ongoing research to unravel these intricacies

June 2025 Volume 5 I<u>ssue 1</u>

and ultimately pave the way for more effective and personalized treatment strategies.

Furthermore, the phenomenon of lineage switch represents a significant challenge associated with blinatumomab treatment, wherein refractory B lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) can undergo a transition to acute myeloid leukemia (AML) [46-48]. This shift in lineage was initially documented by Stass and colleagues following standard chemotherapy for acute leukemia [49]. The occurrence of lineage switching has been observed not only in blinatumomab therapy but also in other CD19-specific immunotherapies, including chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells [50]. It is particularly noteworthy that this switch occurs when CD19 B-cells acquire a distinct phenotype after the loss of CD19 [51-53]. While several other theories have been proposed to explain the mechanisms leading to lineage switch [54, 55], the prevailing view suggests that the selective pressure resulting from CD19-directed therapy plays a crucial role in this phenotypic transition **[56-58]**. Studies on lineage switching highlight various rearrangements of the gene encoding histone-lysine N-methyl-transferase 2A (KMT2A, also known as mixed-lineage leukemia, MLL) as a key regulator of this switch [59-61]. The development of this immunophenotype is recognized as a critical factor contributing to relapses and resistance to several antibodytargeted therapies.

In the case of blinatumomab, five chromosomal rearrangements linked to lineage switch have been identified: KMT2A-AFF1 **[62, 63]**, KMT2A/

AFF4 [58], BCR-ABL1 [64], hyperdiploidy [65], and KMT2A/EPS15 [66]. The t(4;11) (q21;q23) rearrangement with the KMT2A/AFF1 fusion protein is particularly common, especially in infants with ALL [67-69]. Lineage conversion has been observed in pediatric patients with ALL, impacting blinatumomab treatment monitoring. A switch from CD19-positive B-precursor ALL to CD19-negative AML has been documented following blinatumomab therapy [47]. Efforts to overcome this challenge include incorporating blinatumomab into the Interfant-06 backbone regimen. In an analysis of 30 infants with acute leukemia treated with standard chemotherapy and post-induction blinatumomab, no lineage switches were observed [70]. Similarly, promising outcomes have been reported in infants with KMT2A-rearranged ALL, where the addition of blinatumomab to the Interfant-06 chemotherapy trial significantly improved the 2-year overall survival compared to the Interfant-06 alone [71]. It is essential to note that the follow-up time in these studies was relatively short, and longer-term monitoring is required to comprehensively evaluate the safety and efficacy of this combined therapy. Furthermore, blinatumomab has shown promise as an effective salvage therapy following anti-CD19-CAR-T failure, surpassing chemotherapy options. In R/R B-ALL patients, blinatumomab showed an improved complete remission rate, even in those expressing low CD19 levels [72]. However, inconsistent findings warrant further comparable studies to validate its potency as a rescue or pretreatment therapy, as some reports suggest prior blinatumomab treatment can maintain anti-CD19-CAR-T efficacy [73].

Table 1: Summary of BsAbs approved for the market worldwide for clinical	use as of 2014
--	----------------

Drug (Company)	Trade name	Target antigen	Approved Countries	Year Approved	Approved indications
Blinatumomab (Amgen)	Blincyto	CD3/CD19	FDA	2014	Adults and children with B-cell precursor ALL in first or second complete remission with min- imal residual disease (MRD) greater than or equal to 0.1%. [74]
Emacizumab-kxwh (Genentech)	Hemlibra	FIXa/ FX	FDA	2017	The treatment is recommend- ed for adult and pediatric pa- tients, including newborns, with hemophilia A. This includes in- dividuals with congenital fac- tor VIII deficiency, whether or not they have developed factor VIII (FVIII) inhibitors [75]

Anniversity	Dulara			2001	
Amivantamab-vmjw(- Janssen Biotech)	Rybrevant	EGFR/c-Met	FDA/EMA	2021	Adult patients with locally ad- vanced or metastatic non- small cell lung cancer who have EGFR exon 20 insertion mutations and have previously received platinum-based che- motherapy [76]
Tebentafusp-tebn (Immunocore)	Kim- mtrak*	СD3/ др100	FDA	2022	For the treatment of adult pa- tients with unresectable or metastatic uveal melanoma who are HLA-A*02:01-positive. [77]
Faricimab-svoa (Roche)	Vabysmo	VEGF-A/Ang- 2	FDA	2022	To treat neovascular (wet) age-related macular degen- eration and diabetic macular edema [78]
Mosunetuzumab-axgb (Genentech)	Lunsumio	CD3/CD20	EMA/FDA	2022	Patients with advanced non- small cell lung cancer (NS- CLC) harboring EGFR exon 20 insertion mutations face dis- ease progression after plat- inum-based chemotherapy [79]
Cadonilimab (Akeso)	Kaitanni	pd-1/ctla-4	CFDA	2022	For patients with relapsed or metastatic cervical cancer (r/ mCC) who have experienced disease progression following platinum-based chemothera- py [80]
Teclistamab-cqyv (Janssen Biotech)	Tecvavli	CD3/BCMA	EMA/FDA	2022	Adult patients with relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma who have received at least four prior lines of therapy, including a proteasome inhibitor, an im- munomodulatory agent, and an anti-CD38 monoclonal an- tibody [81]
Epcoritamab-bysp (Genmab)	Epkinly	CD3/CD20	FDA/EMA	2023	Adults with relapsed or re- fractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), including cases arising from indolent lymphoma and high-grade B-cell lymphoma after two or more lines of systemic therapy [82]
Glofitamab-gxbm (Ge- nentech)	Columvi	CD3/CD20	FDA	2023	For adults with relapsed or re- fractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL, NOS) or large B-cell lymphoma (LBCL) arising from follicular lympho- ma after two or more lines of systemic therapy [83] .
Talquetamab-tgvs (Janssen Biotech)	Talvey	GPRC5D/ CD3	EMA/FDA	2023	Adults with relapsed or refrac- tory multiple myeloma who have undergone at least four prior lines of therapy, including a proteasome inhibitor, an im- munomodulatory agent, and an anti-CD38 monoclonal an- tibody. [84]

Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research Journal (AMPDR)- ISSN 2812-4898 http://dx.doi.org/10.21622/AMPDR.2025.05.1.1222 June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

Elranatamab (Pfizer)	Elrexfio	BCMA/CD3	FDA/EMA	2023	For adults with relapsed or re- fractory multiple myeloma who have received at least four prior lines of therapy, including a proteasome inhibitor, an im- munomodulatory agent, and an anti-CD38 monoclonal an- tibody [85]
Odronextamab (Ordspono)	Regen- eron	CD20/CD3	FDA	2024	Adult patients with relapsed/ refractory (R/R) follicular lym- phoma (FL) or R/R DLBCL who have progressed after at least two prior systemic therapies [86]

*Kimmtrak is technically a bispecific molecule, not a bispecific antibody. Like some of the other bispecific antibodies used to treat some cancers, Kimmtrak has one arm using an antibody fragment to bring killer T cells to the tumor. Kimmtrak's other arm is an analogous structure found on T cells, the T cell receptor, instead of an antibody fragment to target a tumor antigen.

Immune checkpoint bispecific antibodies

In cancer immunotherapy, the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) has been a breakthrough, particularly when used as monotherapies [87, 88]. These inhibitors tap into the potential of natural T cells that infiltrate tumors. Cancer cells often exploit immune checkpoints to avoid immune responses, and ICIs counteract this by blocking specific checkpoints [89, 90]. Approvals of drugs like ipilimumab, pembrolizumab, nivolumab and signify significant strides in ICI development (Table 2) [87]. However, the effectiveness of single antibody targets against immune checkpoints and their ligands has shown limited impact, especially in treating "cold tumors" - tumors that hinder immune responses by preventing the infiltration of immune cells into the tumor [91, **92]**. Consequently, only a minimal fraction of the patient population has experienced significant benefits from ICI monotherapies.

Recent advancements in bispecific antibodies have addressed this limitation by focusing on the dual targeting of immune checkpoints, encompassing both receptors and ligands **[93]**. Notably, programmed death protein 1 (PD-1) and programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1) checkpoint inhibitors have gained attention for their ability to restore T cells exhausted due to tumor-induced suppression [79]. PD-L1 and PD-L2, widely expressed ligands across various cancer types, have been a focus of study. PD-L2, known to bind PD-1 more strongly than PD- Ll, presents an opportunity for more impactful outcomes when targeted **[94, 95]**. In contrast to monospecific PD-1 and PD-L1 antibodies, bispecific antibodies targeting both PD-1 and PD-L1 have demonstrated powerful antitumor responses. LY3434172, a bispecific antibody cotargeting PD-1 and PD-L1, exhibited significant in vivo antitumor potency even at lower doses in preclinical studies, suggesting a synergistic effect and a distinctive pathway interaction in modulating immune responses **[96]**.

Approximately 60% of cancers express both PD-L1 and PD-L2, while around 30% express either PD-L1 or PD-L2, expanding the binding effect and reducing off-target toxicities of bispecific antibody constructs [97]. Ongoing studies are exploring dual-specific antibodies to cotarget stromal cells, Tregs, and myofibroblasts in the tumor microenvironment, facilitating the influx of T cells into poorly infiltrated tumors [98]. Emerging strategies aim to target specific surface proteins, including PD-L1/PD-L2, CD25/ CTLA-4, PD-L1/ICOS, PD-1/CD47, and PD-L1/T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains (TIGIT) (Table 1) [99, 100]. For instance, dualspecific monoclonal antibodies designed to bind PD-L1 and PD-L2 have demonstrated enhanced immune-driven anti-tumor activity [101]. In the context of treating HER2-positive solid tumors, a bispecific combination of PD1 and HER2 exhibited high effectiveness in killing HER2-positive tumor cells through antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity [102].

Undoubtedly, bispecific antibodies tailored against PD-L1 and PD-L2 play a pivotal role in facilitating the migration of host immune responses to tumor cells, thereby enhancing antitumor responses. The targeting of PD-L1 in dual antibody regimens has demonstrated effectiveness in various settings of human tumors, as evidenced by the numerous ongoing clinical trials exploring PD1/PDL1 combination regimens **[103]**

Table 2: Studies investigating the efficacy of PDI/PDL1 combination regimens in patients with advanced solid tumors (Clinical trials are registered at clinicaltrials.gov)

Target	Name	Condition	Status	Phase	NCT ID
PD-L1 and TGF- β	SHR-1701	Advanced solid tumors	Unknown	Phase I	NCT03710265
CTLA-4×PD-L1	KN064	Advanced Solid Tumors	Completed	Phase 1	NCT03733951
PD-1 and CTLA-4	MEDI5752	Advanced solid tumors	Recruiting	Phase I	NCT03530397
	MGD019	Advanced solid tumors	Active, not recruiting	Phase 1	NCT03761017
	AK104	Hepatocellular carci- noma	Recruiting	Phase I/II	NCT04444167
	COMPAS- SION-03	Advanced solid tumors	Active, not recruiting	Phase I/II	NCT03852251
LAG-3 × PD-L1	ABL501	Advanced solid tumors	Recruiting	Phase I	NCT05101109
	FS118	Advanced solid tumors	Active, not recruiting	Phase I/II	NCT03440437
	AK104	NSCLC	Active, not recruiting	Phase I/II	NCT04646330
LAG-3 × PD-1	MGD013	Advanced liver cancer	Terminated	Phase I/II	NCT04212221
	RG6139	Advanced solid tumors	Recruiting	Phase I/II	NCT04140500
	Not Given	Advanced solid tumors	Recruiting	Phase I	NCT05577182
TIM-3 × PD-L1	LY3415244	Advanced solid tumors	Terminated	Phase I	NCT03752177
	ABL501	Advanced solid tumors	Recruiting	Phase I	NCT05101109
TIGIT×PD-L1	HLX301	Advanced solid tumors	Recruiting	Phase I/II	NCT05102214
TIGIT×PD-1	ARTE- MIDE-01	Advanced NSCLC	Recruiting	Phase I/II	NCT04995523
	LB1410	Advanced Solid Tumor	Recruiting	Phase I	NCT05357651

TIM-3 × PD-1	AZD7789	Lymphoma	Recruiting	Phase I/II	NCT04931654
	RG7769	Advanced Solid Cancer	Recruiting	Phase I	NCT03708328
	Lomvas- tomig	Advanced Solid Cancer	Active, not recruiting	Phase II	NCT04785820
	Tobem- stomig	Non-small Cell Lung Cancer	Recruiting	Phase II	NCT05775289
4-1BB×PD-L1	ABL503	Advanced Solid Cancer	Recruiting	Phase I	NCT04762641
	PRS-344	Advanced Solid Cancer	Recruiting	Phase I/II	NCT05159388
	GEN1046	Advanced Solid Cancer	Recruiting	Phase I/II	NCT03917381
CD27×PD-L1	CDX-527	Advanced Solid Cancer	Completed	Phase I	NCT04440943
PD-L1 and CD137	MCLA-145	Advanced Solid Cancer	Recruiting	Phase I	NCT03922204
	AP203	Advanced Solid Cancer	Not yet recruiting	Phase I/II	NCT05473156
	FS222	Advanced Solid Cancer	Recruiting	Phase I	NCT04740424
PD-L1 and VEGF	PM8002	Advanced Solid Cancer	Recruiting	Phase II	NCT05879055
	HB0025	Advanced Solid Cancer	Recruiting	Phase I	NCT04678908
	IMM2510	Advanced Solid Cancer	Recruiting	Phase I	NCT05972460
PD-1/ VEGF	AK112	NSCLC	Recruiting	Phase II	NCT04736823

3. Future directions

Looking ahead, the success of BsAbs in effectively treating hematological malignancies is evident with FDA approvals. However, it's noteworthy that there is currently no FDA-approved BiTE molecule for addressing solid malignancies. Ongoing initiatives are exploring innovative approaches, such as incorporating masks linked through protease-cleavable linkers into firstgeneration TCEs, including Conditional Bispecific Redirected Activation, Probody TCB, and precision-activated TCEs. These attempts aim to enhance the therapeutic efficacy of bispecific T-cell engagers in treating solid tumors.

In addressing complications like cytokine associated syndrome CRS release with BsAbs therapy, future research is focused on optimizing the design to trigger immunological responses exclusively towards tumors. Unlike previous designs involving a single BsAb agent, emerging strategies adopt a unique approach by employing two Bispecific Antibodies BsAb components. Each component features a split anti-CD3 paratope and a binding moiety for a tumor antigen. These advancements signify a promising direction in the evolution of BiTE for more effective and targeted treatments of solid tumors.

4. Conclusion

The field of bispecific antibodies BsAbs, particularly exemplified by BITE therapies, has witnessed remarkable strides in cancer immunotherapy and appears superior to conventional chemotherapy in at least hematological malignancy settings. The clinical success of over 100 evaluated bsAbs, with seven BiTE approved for market use, highlights their remarkable achievements. However, challenges such as rapid drug clearance, off-target effects, and cytokine release syndrome persist, limiting their widespread application. Despite this, innovative modifications, including aviditymediated specificity, paratope masking, and the two BsAbs system, hold promise in addressing on-target/off-tumor adverse effects. Moreover, immune checkpoint bispecific antibodies, co-targeting receptors, and ligands like PD-1 and PD-L1 present a paradigm shift in cancer

References

- Salvaris R, Ong J, Gregory GP. Bispecific Antibodies: A Review of Development, Clinical Efficacy and Toxicity in B-Cell Lymphomas. J Pers Med. 2021 Apr 29;11(5):355.
- Henricks LM, Schellens JHM, Huitema ADR, Beijnen JH. The use of combinations of monoclonal antibodies in clinical oncology. Cancer Treat Rev. 2015 Dec;41(10):859–67.
- 3. Han Y, Liu D, Li L. PD-1/PD-L1 pathway: current researches in cancer. Am J Cancer Res. 2020;10(3).
- 4. Ma J, Mo Y, Tang M, Shen J, Qi Y, Zhao W, et al. Bispecific Antibodies: From Research to Clinical Application. Front Immunol. 2021 May 5;12.
- Acheampong DO, Adokoh CK, Ampomah P, Agyirifor DS, Dadzie I, Ackah FA, et al. Bispecific Antibodies (bsAbs): Promising Immunotherapeutic Agents for Cancer Therapy. Protein Pept Lett. 2017 May 10;24(5):456–65.
- Ma Y, Xue J, Zhao Y, Zhang Y, Huang Y, Yang Y, et al. Phase I trial of KN046, a novel bispecific antibody targeting PD-L1 and CTLA-4 in patients with advanced solid tumors. J Immunother Cancer. 2023 Jun;11(6):e006654.

immunotherapy, offering enhanced antitumor responses. The evolving landscape of bispecific immunotherapeutics holds great potential in advancing personalized and effective cancer treatments, emphasizing the need for ongoing research and development to overcome existing challenges and broaden therapeutic applications.

Data Availability

This study did not perform any data

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Funding

This study was self-funded

BiTEs encounter challenges in battling solid tu

- 7. Wu Y, Yi M, Zhu S, Wang H, Wu K. Recent advances and challenges of bispecific antibodies in solid tumors. Exp Hematol Oncol. 2021 Dec 18;10(1):56.
- Brinkmann U, Kontermann RE. Bispecific antibodies. Science (1979). 2021 May 28;372(6545):916-7.
- Moreau P, Garfall AL, van de Donk NWCJ, Nahi H, San-Miguel JF, Oriol A, et al. Teclistamab in Relapsed or Refractory Multiple Myeloma. New England Journal of Medicine. 2022 Aug 11;387(6):495–505.
- Lesokhin AM, Tomasson MH, Arnulf B, Bahlis NJ, Miles Prince H, Niesvizky R, et al. Elranatamab in relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma: phase 2 MagnetisMM-3 trial results. Nat Med. 2023 Sep 15;29(9):2259–67.
- 11. Keam SJ. Talquetamab: First Approval. Drugs. 2023 Oct 4;83(15):1439–45.
- 12. Scott LJ, Kim ES. Emicizumab-kxwh: First Global Approval. Drugs. 2018 Feb 22;78(2):269–74.
- 13. Shirley M. Faricimab: First Approval. Drugs. 2022 May 26;82(7):825–30.
- 14. Wu B, Jug R, Luedke C, Su P, Rehder C, McCall C, et al. Lineage Switch Between B-Lymphoblastic Leukemia and Acute Myeloid Leukemia Intermediated by "Occult" Myelodysplastic Neoplasm. Am J

Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research Journal (AMPDR)-ISSN 2812-4898 http://dx.doi.org/10.21622/AMPDR.2025.05.1.1222 June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

Clin Pathol. 2017 Aug;148(2):136–47.

- Li H, Er Saw P, Song E. Challenges and strategies for next-generation bispecific antibody-based antitumor therapeutics. Cell Mol Immunol. 2020 May 20;17(5):451– 61.
- Underwood DJ, Bettencourt J, Jawad Z. The manufacturing considerations of bispecific antibodies. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2022 Aug 3;22(8):1043-65.
- Zhang T, Lin Y, Gao Q. Bispecific antibodies targeting immunomodulatory checkpoints for cancer therapy. Cancer Biol Med. 2023 Mar 24;20(3):181–95.
- Yu GH, Li AM, Li X, Yang Z, Peng H. Bispecific antibody suppresses osteosarcoma aggressiveness through regulation of NFkB signaling pathway. Tumor Biology. 2017 Jun 20;39(6):101042831770557.
- 19. Zhong Z, Zhang M, Ning Y, Mao G, Li X, Deng Q, et al. Development of a bispecific antibody targeting PD-L1 and TIGIT with optimal cytotoxicity. Sci Rep. 2022 Oct 26;12(1):18011.
- 20. Esfandiari A, Cassidy S, Webster RM. Bispecific antibodies in oncology. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2022 Jun 4;21(6):411–2.
- Löffler A, Kufer P, Lutterbüse R, Zettl F, Daniel PT, Schwenkenbecher JM, et al. A recombinant bispecific single-chain antibody, CD19 x CD3, induces rapid and high lymphoma-directed cytotoxicity by unstimulated T lymphocytes. Blood. 2000;95(6).
- 22. Ansah EO, Baah A, Agyenim EB. Vaccine Boosting CAR-T Cell Therapy: Current and Future Strategies. Adv Cell Gene Ther. 2023 Jan 31;2023:1–9.
- Viardot A, Goebeler ME, Hess G, Neumann S, Pfreundschuh M, Adrian N, et al. Phase 2 study of the bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE) antibody blinatumomab in relapsed/ refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Blood [Internet]. 2016 Mar 17;127(11):1410–6. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/26755709
- 24. Simão DC, Zarrabi KK, Mendes JL, Luz R, Garcia JA, Kelly WK, et al. Bispecific T-Cell Engagers Therapies in Solid Tumors: Focusing on Prostate Cancer. Cancers

(Basel). 2023 Feb 23;15(5):1412.

- 25. Subklewe M. BiTEs better than CAR T cells. Blood Adv. 2021 Jan 26;5(2):607–12.
- 26. Buzzetti M, Gerlinger M. Assessing the toxicity of bispecific antibodies. Nat Biomed Eng. 2023 Dec 22;8(4):339–40.
- 27. Wang DR, Wu XL, Sun YL. Therapeutic targets and biomarkers of tumor immunotherapy: response versus non-response. Signal Transduct Target Ther [Internet]. 2022 Apr;7:1–27. Available from: https://www. nature.com/articles/s41392-022-01136-2#Fig1
- 28. Li J, Piskol R, Ybarra R, Chen YJJ, Li J, Slaga D, et al. CD3 bispecific antibody-induced cytokine release is dispensable for cytotoxic T cell activity. Sci Transl Med. 2019 Sep 4;11(508).
- 29. Wang K, Wei G, Liu D. CD19: a biomarker for B cell development, lymphoma diagnosis and therapy. Exp Hematol Oncol. 2012 Dec 29;1(1):36.
- Shimabukuro-Vornhagen A, Gödel P, Subklewe M, Stemmler HJ, Schlößer HA, Schlaak M, et al. Cytokine release syndrome. J Immunother Cancer. 2018 Dec 15;6(1):56.
- Slaga D, Ellerman D, Lombana TN, Vij R, Li J, Hristopoulos M, et al. Avidity-based binding to HER2 results in selective killing of HER2overexpressing cells by anti-HER2/CD3. Sci Transl Med. 2018 Oct 17;10(463).
- 32. Singh A, Dees S, Grewal IS. Overcoming the challenges associated with CD3+ T-cell redirection in cancer. Br J Cancer. 2021 Mar 16;124(6):1037–48.
- Bacac M, Fauti T, Sam J, Colombetti S, Weinzierl T, Ouaret D, et al. A Novel Carcinoembryonic Antigen T-Cell Bispecific Antibody (CEA TCB) for the Treatment of Solid Tumors. Clinical Cancer Research. 2016 Jul 1;22(13):3286–97.
- 34. Zhu X yi, Li Q xiao, Kong Y, Huang K ke, Wang G, Wang Y ji, et al. A novel human single-domain antibody-drug conjugate targeting CEACAM5 exhibits potent in vitro and in vivo antitumor activity. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2024 Mar 29;45(3):609–18.
- 35. Simão DC, Zarrabi KK, Mendes JL, Luz R,

Garcia JA, Kelly WK, et al. Bispecific T-Cell Engagers Therapies in Solid Tumors: Focusing on Prostate Cancer. Cancers (Basel). 2023 Feb 23;15(5):1412.

- 36. Oates J, Hassan NJ, Jakobsen BK. ImmTACs for targeted cancer therapy: Why, what, how, and which. Mol Immunol. 2015 Oct;67(2):67–74.
- 37. Howlett S, Carter TJ, Shaw HM, Nathan PD. Tebentafusp: a first-in-class treatment for metastatic uveal melanoma. Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2023 Jan 21;15.
- Pulte ED, Vallejo J, Przepiorka D, Nie L, Farrell AT, Goldberg KB, et al. FDA Supplemental Approval: Blinatumomab for Treatment of Relapsed and Refractory Precursor B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Oncologist [Internet]. 2018 Nov 1;23(11):1366–71. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/30018129.
- 39. Mocquot P, Mossazadeh Y, Lapierre L, Pineau F, Despas F. The pharmacology of blinatumomab: state of the art on pharmacodynamics, pharmacokinetics, adverse drug reactions and evaluation in clinical trials. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2022 Sep 29;47(9):1337–51.
- 40. Boissel N, Chiaretti S, Papayannidis C, Ribera JM, Bassan R, Sokolov AN, et al. Real-world use of blinatumomab in adult patients with B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in clinical practice: results from the NEUF study. Blood Cancer J. 2023 Jan 4;13(1):2.
- 41. Burt R, Warcel D, Fielding AK. Blinatumomab, a bispecific B-cell and T-cell engaging antibody, in the treatment of B-cell malignancies. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2019 Mar 4;15(3):594–602.
- 42. Zhou S, Liu M, Ren F, Meng X, Yu J. The landscape of bispecific T cell engager in cancer treatment. Biomark Res. 2021 May 26;9(1):38.
- 43. Jabbour E, Kantarjian H. Chemoimmunotherapy as a new standard of care for Burkitt leukaemia/lymphoma. The Lancet. 2016 Jun;387(10036):2360–1.
- 44. Zhao Y, Aldoss I, Qu C, Crawford JC, Gu Z, Allen EK, et al. Tumor-intrinsic and -extrinsic determinants of response to blinatumomab in adults with B-ALL. Blood.

2020 Apr;137:471-84.

- 45. Li Y, Moriyama T, Yoshimura S, Zhao X, Li Z, Yang X, et al. PAX5 epigenetically orchestrates CD58 transcription and modulates blinatumomab response in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Sci Adv. 2022 Dec 16;8(50).
- Haddox CL, Mangaonkar AA, Chen D, Shi M, He R, Oliveira JL, et al. Blinatumomabinduced lineage switch of B-ALL with t(4:11) (q21;q23) KMT2A/AFF1 into an aggressive AML: pre- and post-switch phenotypic, cytogenetic and molecular analysis. Blood Cancer J. 2017 Sep 15;7(9):e607–e607.
- 47. Rayes A, McMasters RL, O'Brien MM. Lineage Switch in MLL-Rearranged Infant Leukemia Following CD19-Directed Therapy. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2016 Jun 23;63(6):1113–5.
- 48. Jacoby E, Nguyen SM, Fountaine TJ, Welp K, Gryder B, Qin H, et al. CD19 CAR immune pressure induces B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia lineage switch exposing inherent leukaemic plasticity. Nat Commun. 2016 Jul 27;7(1):12320.
- 49. Stass S, Mirro J, Melvin S, Pui CH, Murphy SB, Williams D. Lineage switch in acute leukemia. Blood. 1984;64(3).
- 50. Perna F, Sadelain M. Myeloid leukemia switch as immune escape from CD19 chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) therapy. Transl Cancer Res. 2016 Aug;5(S2):S221–5.
- 51. Aldulescu M, Leuer K, Jennings LJ, Yap KL, Gong S. Lineage switch from acute myeloid leukemia to B-lymphoblastic lymphoma with an acquired <scp> *PIK3R1* </scp> lossof-function mutation. Am J Hematol. 2023 Jan 4;98(1).
- 52. Dorantes-Acosta E, Pelayo R. Lineage Switching in Acute Leukemias: A Consequence of Stem Cell Plasticity? Bone Marrow Res. 2012 Jul 19;2012:1–18.
- 53. Yang W, Xie S, Li Y, Wang J, Xiao J, Huang K, et al. Lineage switch from lymphoma to myeloid neoplasms: First case series from a single institution. Open Medicine. 2022 Sep 8;17(1):1466–72.
- 54. Pui CH, Raimondi SC, Behm FG, Ochs J, Furman WL, Bunin NJ, et al. Shifts in blast cell phenotype and karyotype at relapse of childhood lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood.

1986;68(6).

- 55. Zuna J, Cavé H, Eckert C, Szczepanski T, Meyer C, Mejstrikova E, et al. Childhood secondary ALL after ALL treatment. Leukemia. 2007 Jul 26;21(7):1431–5.
- 56. Li LZ, Sun Q, Fang Y, Yang LJ, Xu ZY, Hu JH, et al. A report on Lineage switch at relapse of CD19 CAR-T therapy for Philadelphia chromosome-positive B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Chin Med J (Engl). 2020 Aug 20;133(16):2001–3.
- 57. Rayes A, McMasters RL, O'Brien MM. Lineage Switch in MLL-Rearranged Infant Leukemia Following CD19-Directed Therapy. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2016 Jun 23;63(6):1113–5.
- 58. Wölfl M, Rasche M, Eyrich M, Schmid R, Reinhardt D, Schlegel PG. Spontaneous reversion of a lineage switch following an initial blinatumomab-induced ALL-to-AML switch in MLL-rearranged infant ALL. Blood Adv. 2018 Jun 26;2(12):1382–5.
- 59. lacobucci I, Mullighan CG. *KMT2A*rearranged leukemia: the shapeshifter. Blood. 2022 Oct 27;140(17):1833–5.
- 60. Shimony S, Luskin MR. Unraveling *KMT2A* -rearranged ALL. Blood. 2023 Nov 23;142(21):1764–6.
- 61. Meyer C, Larghero P, Almeida Lopes B, Burmeister T, Gröger D, Sutton R, et al. The KMT2A recombinome of acute leukemias in 2023. Leukemia. 2023 May 5;37(5):988– 1005.
- 62. Не RR, Nayer Z, Hogan M, Cuevo RS, Woodward K, Heyer D, et al. (Blinatumomab-) Immunotherapy-Related Lineage Switch of KMT2A/AFF1 Rearranged B-Lymphoblastic Leukemia into Acute Myeloid Leukemia/Myeloid Sarcoma and Subsequently into B/Myeloid Mixed Phenotype Acute Leukemia. Case Rep Hematol. 2019 Dec 7;2019:1-4.
- 63. Fournier E, Inchiappa L, Delattre C, Pignon JM, Danicourt F, Bemba M, et al. Increased risk of adverse acute myeloid leukemia after anti-CD19-targeted immunotherapies in *KMT2A* -rearranged acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a case report and review of the literature. Leuk Lymphoma. 2019 Jun 7;60(7):1827–30.
- 64. Nagel I, Bartels M, Duell J, Oberg HH, Ussat S,

Bruckmueller H, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell involvement in BCR-ABL1-positive ALL as a potential mechanism of resistance to blinatumomab therapy. Blood. 2017 Nov 2;130(18):2027-31.

- 65. Zoghbi A, zur Stadt U, Winkler B, Müller I, Escherich G. Lineage switch under blinatumomab treatment of relapsed common acute lymphoblastic leukemia without MLL rearrangement. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2017 Nov 28;64(11).
- 66. Du J, Chisholm KM, Tsuchiya K, Leger K, Lee BM, Rutledge JC, et al. Lineage Switch in an Infant B-Lymphoblastic Leukemia With t(1;11)(p32;q23); *KMT2A/EPS15*, Following Blinatumomab Therapy. Pediatric and Developmental Pathology. 2021 Aug 22;24(4):378–82.
- 67. Meyer C, Hofmann J, Burmeister T, Gröger D, Park TS, Emerenciano M, et al. The MLL recombinome of acute leukemias in 2013. Leukemia. 2013 Nov 30;27(11):2165–76.
- Piciocchi A, Messina M, Elia L, Vitale A, Soddu S, Testi AM, et al. Prognostic impact of <scp> KMT2A-AFF1 </scp> -positivity in 926 <scp> BCR-ABL1 </scp> -negative B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients treated in <scp>GIMEMA</scp> clinical trials since 1996. Am J Hematol. 2021 Sep 9;96(9).
- 69. Richard-Carpentier G, Kantarjian HM, Tang G, Yin CC, Khoury JD, Issa GC, et al. Outcomes of acute lymphoblastic leukemia with *KMT2A* (*MLL*) rearrangement: the MD Anderson experience. Blood Adv. 2021 Dec 14;5(23):5415–9.
- 70. Newman H, Tasian SK. The Brilliant Success of Blinatumomab for Babies With Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. The Hematologist. 2023;20(6).
- 71. van der Sluis IM, de Lorenzo P, Kotecha RS, Attarbaschi A, Escherich G, Nysom K, et al. Blinatumomab Added to Chemotherapy in Infant Lymphoblastic Leukemia. New England Journal of Medicine. 2023 Apr 27;388(17):1572–81.
- 72. Qi Y, Liu H, Li X, Shi Y, Mu J, Li J, et al. Blinatumomab as salvage therapy in patients with relapsed/refractory B-ALL who have failed/progressed after anti-CD19-CAR T therapy. Ann Med. 2023 Dec 12;55(1).

- 73. Shah BD, Bishop MR, Oluwole OO, Logan AC, Baer MR, Donnellan WB, et al. KTE-X19 anti-CD19 CAR T-cell therapy in adult relapsed/ refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia: ZUMA-3 phase 1 results. Blood. 2021 Jul 8;138(1):11-22.
- 74. Przepiorka D, Ko CW, Deisseroth A, Yancey CL, Candau-Chacon R, Chiu HJ, et al. FDA Approval: Blinatumomab. Clinical Cancer Research. 2015 Sep 15;21(18):4035–9.
- 75. Rodriguez-Merchan EC, Valentino LA. Emicizumab: Review of the literature and critical appraisal. Haemophilia. 2019 Jan 15;25(1):11–20.
- 76. Shah V, McNatty A, Simpson L, Ofori H, Raheem F. Amivantamab-Vmjw: A Novel Treatment for Patients with NSCLC Harboring EGFR Exon 20 Insertion Mutation after Progression on Platinum-Based Chemotherapy. Biomedicines. 2023 Mar 20;11(3):950.
- 77. Hwa PG, Carlson DD, R. Starr PBJ. Tebentafusp-tebn: A Novel Bispecific T-Cell Engager for Metastatic Uveal Melanoma. J Adv Pract Oncol. 2022 Sep 1;13(7):717–23.
- 78. Shirley M. Faricimab: First Approval. Drugs. 2022 May 26;82(7):825–30.
- 79. Shultes KC. Mosunetuzumab-axgb (LunsumioTM). Oncology Times. 2023;45(16).
- 80. Keam SJ. Cadonilimab: First Approval. Drugs. 2022 Aug 20;82(12):1333–9.
- Martino EA, Bruzzese A, Labanca C, Mendicino F, Lucia E, Olivito V, et al. Teclistamab-cqyv in multiple myeloma. Eur J Haematol. 2024 Mar 17;112(3):320-7.
- 82. Lovell A. Epcoritamab-bysp (EpkinlyTM). Oncology Times. 2023;45(18).
- Riaz R, Khan A, Siddiqui T. Epcoritamab-bysp (Epkinly) – A phenomenal breakthrough in the treatment of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Rare Tumors. 2023 Apr 31;15.
- 84. Pelosci A. FDA Gives Talquetamab Accelerated Approval for R/R Multiple Myeloma. Cancer Network, NA-NA. 2023;
- 85. Dhillon S. Elranatamab: First Approval. Drugs. 2023 Nov 4;83(17):1621–7.

- 86. Blair HA. Odronextamab: First Approval. Drugs. 2024 Dec 19;84(12):1651–8.
- 87. Lee JB, Kim HR, Ha SJ. Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in 10 Years: Contribution of Basic Research and Clinical Application in Cancer Immunotherapy. Immune Netw. 2022;22(1).
- Razaghi A, Durand-Dubief M, Brusselaers N, Björnstedt M. Combining PD-1/PD-L1 blockade with type I interferon in cancer therapy. Front Immunol. 2023 Aug 24;14.
- 89. Meybodi SM, Farasati Far B, Pourmolaei A, Baradarbarjastehbaf F, Safaei M, Mohammadkhani N, et al. Immune checkpoint inhibitors promising role in cancer therapy: clinical evidence and immune-related adverse events. Medical Oncology. 2023 Jul 15;40(8):243.
- 90. Wang Y, Yang S, Wan L, Ling W, Chen H, Wang J. New developments in the mechanism and application of immune checkpoint inhibitors in cancer therapy (Review). Int J Oncol. 2023 Jun 12;63(1):86.
- Bonaventura P, Shekarian T, Alcazer V, Valladeau-Guilemond J, Valsesia-Wittmann S, Amigorena S, et al. Cold Tumors: A Therapeutic Challenge for Immunotherapy. Front Immunol. 2019 Feb 8;10.
- 92. Wang L, Geng H, Liu Y, Liu L, Chen Y, Wu F, et al. Hot and cold tumors: Immunological features and the therapeutic strategies. MedComm (Beijing). 2023 Oct 26;4(5).
- Blanco B, Domínguez-Alonso C, Alvarez-Vallina L. Bispecific Immunomodulatory Antibodies for Cancer Immunotherapy. Clinical Cancer Research. 2021 Oct 15;27(20):5457–64.
- 94. Wang Y, Du J, Gao Z, Sun H, Mei M, Wang Y, et al. Evolving landscape of PD-L2: bring new light to checkpoint immunotherapy. Br J Cancer. 2023 Mar 30;128(7):1196–207.
- 95. Takehara T, Wakamatsu E, Machiyama H, Nishi W, Emoto K, Azuma M, et al. PD-L2 suppresses T cell signaling via coinhibitory microcluster formation and SHP2 phosphatase recruitment. Commun Biol. 2021 May 14;4(1):581.
- 96. Kotanides H, Li Y, Malabunga M, Carpenito C, Eastman SW, Shen Y, et al. Bispecific

Targeting of PD-1 and PD-L1 Enhances T-cell Activation and Antitumor Immunity. Cancer Immunol Res. 2020 Oct 1;8(10):1300–10.

- 97. Yearley JH, Gibson C, Yu N, Moon C, Murphy E, Juco J, et al. PD-L2 Expression in Human Tumors: Relevance to Anti-PD-1 Therapy in Cancer. Clinical Cancer Research. 2017 Jun 15;23(12):3158–67.
- 98. Wei J, Montalvo-Ortiz W, Yu L, Krasco A, Olson K, Rizvi S, et al. CD22-targeted CD28 bispecific antibody enhances antitumor efficacy of odronextamab in refractory diffuse large B cell lymphoma models. Sci Transl Med. 2022 Nov 9;14(670).
- 99. Ke H, Zhang F, Wang J, Xiong L, An X, Tu X, et al. HX009, a novel BsAb dual targeting PD1 x CD47, demonstrates potent antilymphoma activity in preclinical models. Sci Rep. 2023 Apr 3;13(1):5419.
- 100. Dovedi SJ, Elder MJ, Yang C, Sitnikova SI, Irving L, Hansen A, et al. Design and Efficacy of a Monovalent Bispecific PD-1/CTLA4 Antibody That Enhances CTLA4 Blockade on PD-1+ Activated T Cells. Cancer Discov. 2021 May 1;11(5):1100–17.
- Geuijen C, Tacken P, Wang LC, Klooster R, van Loo PF, Zhou J, et al. A human CD137×PD-L1 bispecific antibody promotes anti-tumor immunity via context-dependent T cell costimulation and checkpoint blockade. Nat Commun. 2021 Jul 21;12(1):4445.
- 102. Lin W, Zhang Y, Yang Y, Lin B, Zhu M, Xu J, et al. Anti-PD-1/Her2 Bispecific Antibody IBI315 Enhances the Treatment Effect of Her2-Positive Gastric Cancer through Gasdermin B-Cleavage Induced Pyroptosis. Advanced Science. 2023;10(30).
- Perez-Santos M. Bispecific anti-PD-1/CTLA-4 Antibody for Advanced Solid Tumors. Pharm Pat Anal. 2020 Sep 22;9(5):149–54.



Unveiling the Multi-Targeted Therapeutic Potentials of Vernonia amygdalina: A Comprehensive Review of Bioactive Compounds, Molecular Mechanisms, and Clinical Opportunities

Emmanuel Okoro Enyi ^{1,2} and Obiageri Florence Ajah ^{1,2}

¹Department of Biology/Biotechnology, David Umahi Federal University of Health Sciences, Uburu, Ebonyi State, Nigeria

² International Institute for Infectious Diseases, Biosafety and Biosecurity Research ORCID ID: 0009-0006-4639-8255 and 0009-0001-9676-2768

Emails: envieo@dufuhs.edu.ng, ajahof@dufuhs.edu.ng

Received on, 16 February 2025 - Accepted on, 17 March 2025 - Published on, 28 April 2025

ABSTRACT:

Vernonia amygdalina (bitter leaf) has been used as traditional medicine across Africa and beyond because of its diverse pharmacological activities. While previous studies have validated its therapeutic potential, a comprehensive understanding of the underlying molecular mechanisms driving these effects remains incomplete. This review critically examines the bioactive compounds present in V. amygdalina, their documented pharmacological effects, and the potential therapeutic applications of this plant, focusing specifically on elucidating the key molecular pathways modulated by its constituents. A systematic literature search was conducted using Web of Science, Scopus, PubMed, and ScienceDirect. Identification and analyses of a wide array of bioactive compounds, including sesquiterpene lactones (vernodalin, vernolepin), flavonoids (luteolin, apigenin), and saponins were carried out. Critical analyses revealed that these compounds exert their effects through multiple, interconnected pathways, including but not limited to the method of extraction, their robust antioxidant and cytoprotective effects, and the direct cytotoxic effects on cancer cells through induction of apoptosis and cell cycle arrest. Bitter leaf is used in the traditional treatment of malaria, diabetes, and gastrointestinal disorders. In light of these established mechanisms, its antimicrobial properties and its effectiveness in managing metabolic syndromes were discussed. However, significant challenges remain in translating V. amygdalina's therapeutic benefits into standardized and safe clinical applications, including variability in bioactive compound concentrations due to environmental

factors and preparation methods, limited data on human bioavailability and pharmacokinetics and a lack of rigorous clinical trials demonstrating efficacy and safety. Addressing these challenges through targeted research into optimized extraction techniques, formulation development, and welldesigned clinical studies are crucial. Bitter leaf represents a promising source of novel drug leads, particularly for the development of multi-targeted therapies for complex diseases. Future research should prioritize the identification and validation of specific bioactive compounds responsible for the observed effects and the elucidation of their detailed molecular mechanisms of action.

Keywords: Vernonia amygdalina, bioactive compounds, therapeutic applications, pharmaceutical potentials, ethnomedicine.

1. Introduction

Natural products have been critical in drug discovery/development for centuries for several therapeutic purposes [1, 2]. The potential therapeutic benefits of medicinal plant-derived compounds, including enhanced efficacy, minimized toxicity, and increased bioavailability, have revitalized research interest in plants [3, 4]. Vernonia amygdalina(bitter leaf) is an angiosperm that belongs to the plant family known as Asteraceae and the genus Vernonia. Of over 1000 species of this genus available, 300 species are common in Africa. Among the four species whose leaves are used as vegetable including, bitter leaf (Vernonia amygdalina), sweet bitter leaf (V. hymenolepis), star-flowered bitter leaf (V. colorata) and country bitter leaf

(V. thomsoniana); Vernonia amygdalina is most common because of its versatility. It thrives well in tropical Africa and Asia and grows to about 2-5 m high with oval-shaped leaves of about 20 cm [5]. The leaf extracts stems, and barks are of immense significance due to their usefulness for culinary, medical, and curative reasons in many parts of Africa and beyond. In fact, traditionally, it has been effective in the treatment of some common ailments such as fever, stomach aches, malaria, wounds, and so on. [6]. Bitter Leaf's long time track records of medicinal and curative values have earned it recognition in the pharmaceutical space. Notably, the acceptance and usefulness of bitter leaf as an alternative source of medicine is gaining recognition across different countries, including Nigeria [5, 6, 7]. This review is designed to unveil the pharmaceutical worth of V. amygdalina and its bioactive compounds, highlighting their potential applications in contemporary medicine.

2. Methodology

comprehensive literature Α search was prominent databases, conducted using including Web of Science, Scopus, PubMed, Springer, ScienceDirect, and Google Scholar. English-language publications were exclusively utilized for this review. Relevant studies were identified by employing strategic keyword combinations and concatenation, such as "Vernonia amygdalina bioactive compounds," "ethnopharmacology of bitter leaf," and "Vernonia amygdalina pharmacology." The search yielded a range of studies examining the phytochemical, ethnobotanical, and pharmacological properties of Vernonia amygdalina. The retrieved articles were meticulously reviewed, with particular attention paid to their titles, abstracts, and results.





Plate 1: Vernonia amygdalina: (A) Life V. amygdalina in a garden located at Ishiagu, Ebonyi State, Nigeria (B) V. amygdalina after its leaf extraction

Chemical composition of bitter leaf

The actual chemical composition, particularly bioactive chemical compounds of bitter leaf, has yet to be fully explored. Notably, substantial scientific evidence exists concerning bitter leaf's increasing usefulness attributable to its vast bioactive compounds (3, 4). The nutritive constituents of the bitter leaf include protein, sugars, iodine, lipids, copper, iron, thiamine, vitamins A and E, etc. [7]. Aside from these nutrient components, it also harbors many secondary metabolites termed bioactive compounds, which are referred to as phytochemicals. These include saponins, coumarins, flavonoids, lignans, alkaloids, xanthones, etc. (Figure 2).

According to a study by Edo *et al.* [7], about 20 different alkaloids of bioactive significance have been detected in bitter leaves. The vast therapeutic applications or effects of the bitter leaf have been attributed to biologically important chemical compounds harbored in its leaf, stem as well as in root. Bioactive members of sesquiterpenes contained in bitter leaf are numerous; they include vernolide, vernolepin, vernodalinol, hydroxyvernolide, vernolic, vernodalin, vernomenin, and vernomydin [7, 8]. Compounds such as Lupeol and α -amyrin are examples of terpenes found in bitter leaves [7, 8, 9. Studies have also revealed isorhamnetin, rhamnetin, 7-0-b-gluconide, luteolin and luteolin 7-O-b-glucoronoside as important examples of flavonoids in bitter leaves [2, 7, 10]. Ugbogu et al. [2] highlighted the vigorous antioxidant activities of three flavones, especially luteolin (3´,4´,5,7 tetrahydroxyflavone) present in bitter leaf extract.

According to studies, many bioactive compounds were unraveled in the classes of alkaloids, terpenoids, flavonoids, saponins, and tannins (Figure 2) [2, 7, 11-12]. Based on the studies, the solvents employed for extraction were mainly ethanol and methanol. It is imperative to note that the specific bioactive compounds present in the bitter leaf may vary depending on some factors, which include: the plant's geographic location, growing conditions, processing, and extraction methods.

				Vernonia amygdalina										
]	ſerpenoids		Tannins		Saponins		nins Alkaloids		Alkaloids Flavonoids		Flavonoids			
$\left \right $	Vernodalin		Catechins		saponin		saponin Vernonine		saponin Vernonine				Quercetin	
H	Vernomygdin	n	Epicatechin		Vernonyosides		Vernonyosides Vernolide		Iso	orhapontigenin				
H	Ursolic acid	L	Ellagic acid		Amygdalinosid		les	Betaine		Luteolin				
H	Lupeol		Gallic acid		╞	Bitter leaf sapor (BLS2)	in 2	Nicotiflorir	1		Apigenin			
	Stigmasterol	l	Sinapic acid		╞	Bitter leaf sapor (BLS1)	in 1	Astragalin			Quercetin-3-0 rutinoside)-		
	β-Sitosterol		Ferulic acid		╞	Saponins of quer and kaempfer	cetin ol	Kaempferol-3- glucoside	-0-		Dihydroquerce	tin		
Ц	Oleanolic aci	d	Chlorogenic ad	id	Glycosides of urs		solic	Amygdaline	ę		Taxifolin			
			Caffeic acid			Glycosides c oleanolic aci	of d				Eriodictyol			
								•			Naringenin			

Pharmacological properties of bitter leaf and its bioactive compounds underlying principles of action

Bitter leaf contains interesting bioactive potential compounds with therapeutic applications (Figure 2). studies Various have shown that bitter leaf has significant antimicrobial activity against many bacterial, fungal (yeast inclusive), and viral pathogens: Staphylococcus Escherichia coli, aureus, Candida albicans, and Salmonella typhi. Using chloroform and methanol extraction methods, among others, bitter leaf extracts have been reported to have antimicrobial/antifungal effects against Staphylococcus aureus, Salmonella enterica, Bacillus subtilis, Klebsiella pneumonia, Toxoplasma gondii, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Botrytis cinereal, H. contortus. [2, 7, 9, 13-16]. The alkaloid and flavonoid constituents of the bitter leaf have been reported to be responsible for its antimicrobial activities. Edo et al. [7] further reported that bitter leaf generates superoxide radicals, which possess antimicrobial activity by inhibiting the growth and proliferation of human pathogens.



Figure 2: Pharmacological properties of bitter leaf

Many researchers have reported the antioxidant potentials of bitter leaf: in an *in vivo* investigation using mice as a model organism, the extract from the stem-bark of bitter leaf demonstrated freeradical scavenging activities against toxicity caused by acetaminophen, thus depleting the oxidative stress. A significant reduction of brain tissue oxidative stress was also reported on exposure to bitter leaf extracts. Bitter leaf extracts demonstrated antioxidant activity when administrated to a model rat exposed to arsenic-induced free radicals. However, the efficacy of the extract depends on the extraction method used; the leaf extract obtained from the methanol extraction method proved to have the most antioxidant potency when compared with acetone and water extraction methods [2, 12, 17]. It is therefore recommended that the methanol extraction method be utilized for optimal antioxidant benefits of bitter leaf extract.

Several studies have supported the antiinflammatory potential of bitter leaves. Many bioactive compounds like cynaroside, vernonioside, and zinc oxide isolated from bitter leaf showed anti-inflammatory effects in mice. Bitter leaf extracts exhibited significant antiinflammatory activities against inflammation, fever, and pain artificially generated in rats using carrageenan when compared to standard drugs (diclofenac) [2, 18, 19]. Bitter leaf contains bioactive compounds like tannins, quercetin, and kaempfero; they have been attributed to its antioxidants' capabilities, which scavenge free radicals, obstruct appropriate pyrogens, and shield vital body components against oxidative stress [9, 7, 20].

Researchers have reported anti-cancerous properties of bitter leaf extracts: their mechanism of action includes the cause apoptosis of infected cells, elevated cell inactivity during the mitotic phase, and obstructed cellular communication networks; the compounds in the extracts assist in suppressing the proliferation of cells. Ugbogu et al. [2] reported that the extract of bitter leaf stimulated the production of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase, which mechanistically triggered the appearance of rapamycin among murine mammary carcinoma cells. Myasita et al. [11] further reported the inhibitory activities of bitter leaf extracts against the multiplication of human cancer cells. In the same vein, Yedjou et al. [21] reported the potential of bitter leaf extract to obstruct the progression of breast carcinomas. Additionally, bitter leaf extracts have been reported to cause significant depletion in the volume of MDA-MB-468 tumor cells and obstructed MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 growth [22-23]. The anti-cancer potential of bitter leaf extract is attributed to its sesquiterpene lactones content, notably vernolide and vernodalin, which have been demonstrated to exhibit cytotoxic and ant proliferative abilities [7, 8].

The pharmacodynamics of bitter leaf extracts have also been reported in *vivo* experimentations with rats: Ugbogu *et al.* [2], while evaluating the phytochemistry, ethnobotanical, and pharmacological potentials of *V. amygdalina*, reported the anti-hepatoprotective effects of

bitter leaf extracts on experimental mice with liver disorder induced by acetaminophen. The extract was also reported to have enhanced the antioxidant potency of certain enzymes against carbon tetrachloride (CCl4) given to mice. Bitter leaf extracts exhibited hepatoprotective effects synergistically with certain drugs, including isoniazid and rifampicin, in the mice. Bitter leaf extract generally demonstrated its ability to protect the liver and kidney against the deleterious effects of heavy metals and liver enzyme depletion, such as aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase, gamma-glutamyltransferase, and etc. Δ combination of bitter leaf and red sorrel extracts with ascorbic acid showed hepatoprotective activities against rat disease conditions caused by gamma radiation (4 Gy) [2]. A combination of vitamin C and bitter leaf extracts was reported to deplete the volume of alkaline phosphatase lipid peroxidation (LPO) [24]. These and activities have been reported to be powered by the flavonoid and saponin constituents present in bitter leaf extracts [7, 20].

The therapeutic efficacy of bitter leaf has also been widely demonstrated by several studies, which have evaluated its potential medicinal applications. In the work of Yunusa et al. [25] on the cytotoxic and the genotoxicity evaluation of V. amygdalina, the presence of alkaloids and flavonoids in the extract of bitter leaf reportedly had immunomodulatory properties which elevated immune responses and formed a shield against gastric ulcers. Many researchers like Edo et al. [7] and Egharevba [26] reported strong anti-parasitic activities of bitter leaf extracts which have the ability to fight against certain protozoan diseases such as leishmaniasis, malaria, and trypanosomiasis; they stressed that the presence of terpenoids in bitter leaf extract slowed down the metabolic processes of the cell membrane, proteins and the mitochondria of the parasitic organisms. A notable decrease in parasite density of Plasmodium berghei was further reported in malaria-infected mice after administration of bitter leaf extract, hence highlighting the antimalarial abilities of the aqueous and acetonewater extracts of bitter leaf leaves and roots [2]. The presence of saponin compounds, dioscin, gracillin, and pseudo-protodioscin in bitter leaf extract has been reported to have antirheumatic properties [27].

Bitter leaf extract has demonstrated its ability to decrease lipid serum (triacylglycerol) levels,

lower blood pressure, increase blood clotting abilities as well and control immune response; these abilities are attributed to the tannins contents of the bitter leaf extract [7, 28]. Bitter leaf extract also demonstrated its ability to reduce obesity in rats treated with obesitygenerating substances. Ugbogu *et al* [2] reported a significant decrease in body weight and cholesterol in the brain, as well as a reduction in insulin and leptin after the administration of bitter leaf extract to the model organism.

The anti-diabetic properties of the bitter leaf have been extensively investigated, with numerous studies revealing its potential in managing both type 1 and type 2 diabetes [2, 12, 29]. Bitter leaf extracts have been shown to significantly reduce diabetes in mice induced with streptozotocin (STZ) [12]. Furthermore, phytochemical compounds isolated from bitter leaf stem-bark, namely 6β , 10β , 14β -trimethylheptadecan- 15α oyl-15-O- β -Dglucopyranosyl-1,5 β -olide, have been found to lower glucose levels in rats with STZ-induced hyperglycemia [29]. In the same vein, hot water extracts of bitter leaf have been shown to inhibit α -glucosidase activity and enhance insulin secretion by stimulating β -cell activity [2, 12, 29]. The synergistic anti-diabetic effects of bitter leaf extract have also been demonstrated in combination with metformin, resulting in improved glucose control in mice alloxan-induced hyperglycemia with 12. Moreover, a decoction of African basil and bitter leaf has been found to reduce blood glucose levels in diabetic rats [2, 12, 29].

Some researchers have also reported the purgative potentials of bitter leaf extract. Ugbogu et al. [2] reported the cathartic activity of bitter leaf extracts, while mice fed with charcoal meal experienced constipation, but on the administration of bitter leaf extract, there was a speed-up of catabolic process within the mice, which caused it to have a bowel movement; releasing feces. Nitrobenzene thus, was reportedly used to cause neurological disease in rats and was treated with bitter leaf extracts in methanol afterward; the results revealed its ability to enhance neuronal growth and health [30]. Studies have also uncovered bitter leaf extract's anti-diarrheal properties; diarrhea was induced in mice by exposing it to castor oil, Vibrio cholera, but after the administration of bitter leaf extract, there was a significant improvement in the stoppage of the diarrhea [2, 31].

Interestingly, a study conducted by Ugogbu

et al. [2] revealed that the administration of bitter leaf extracts to HIV-positive patients undergoing anti-retroviral therapy resulted in a significant increase in lymphocyte levels. Notably, the lymphocyte count was found to be dose-dependent, with higher concentrations of bitter leaf extracts yielding greater increases in lymphocyte levels. Again, the study also indicated an enhancement in immune cell levels, suggesting a potential immunomodulatory effect of bitter leaf extracts in HIV-positive individuals.

Based on scientific evidence, bitter leaf extract's vast pharmacological properties have been attributed to its numerous phytochemicals and bioactive compound contents; it is also worth noting that the method of extraction contributes to the efficacy of the extracts.

Vernonia amygdalina extracts have been shown to be therapeutic in female health: it has been reported to have uterine contraction abilities in both humans and model organisms [38, 39], as well as used in the treatment of polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) in female Wistar rats [40]. Attah et al. [38] reported that freshly squeezed bitter leaf extract administered to women during labor aided easy labor progression, strengthened or toned the uterus muscle, and prevented complications such as pain and bleeding. Among all other plant extracts used, bitter leaf extracts yielded the highest uterine contractility of 28.3 % at 150 minutes. The contractile effect was reported to last for 2.5 to 3.5 hours, suggesting that bitter leaf extract exhibits uterotonic activity, which may facilitate easy and uncomplicated labor in humans by enhancing uterine contractions. In the work of Ijeh et al. [39] on the effect of leaf extracts of Vernonia amygdalina on the contraction of the mammary gland and uterus of guinea pigs, they reported that the extracts of bitter leaf contain a potent uterotonic agent that induced uterine contraction amplitudes in guinea pig at 100 mg/ They also reported that the guinea pigs ml. exposed to varying concentrations of bitter leaf extracts produced more milk than the control groups of guinea pigs.

These assertions authenticate the reasons why traditional healers and midwives in maternity clinics and rural communities use herbal remedies to speed up contractions and childbirths. In another study with Wistar rats, Adedoun *et al.* [40] reported that after administering extracts of bitter leaf for 14 days to female Wistar rats with PCOS, there was a significant reduction of insulin and luteinizing hormone levels, increased follicle-stimulating hormone and progesterone levels when compared with the PCOS untreated group. They also reported the reduction of Serum IL-6, CRP, and TNF- α levels in the treated group when compared with the untreated group. A significant reduction in malondialdehyde level was also reported, as well as a significant reduction in triglycerides and LDL-C levels in the bitter leaf extract-treated rats.

Therapeutic Applications

The pharmaceutical potentials of bitter leaf extracts have been extensively investigated and substantially documented in various therapeutic applications (traditional, modern, and nutraceutical); these are attributed to their unique phytochemical profile and pharmacological properties. Bitter leaf has been deployed to cure several diseases such as fever, malaria, gastrointestinal conditions, respiratory ailments, skin infections, wounds, and so on, especially in Africa and Asia, for many decades as traditional medicine. Various formulations used were infusions, decoctions, and topical [5, 9, 13]. Notably, bitter leaf has gained positive recognition as a novel pharmaceutical lead, showing a broad spectrum of biological activities, including antimicrobial, antiinflammatory, anticancer, hepatoprotective, and immunomodulatory abilities [9, 13, 20, 22, 25]. Thus, according to Li *et al.* [4], the bitter leaf has been incorporated into food in the form of dietary supplements, functional foods, herbal teas, capsules, or tablets, providing certain nutraceutical advantages such as antioxidant 361, anti-inflammatory effects impacts, immune system assistance, and digestive enhancement.

Additionally, bitter leaf extracts has demonstrated strong effects against hypertension when evaluated using laboratory mice, even producing high level of synergistic activity in combination with *Ocimum gratissimun* (African basil) [7]. Some studies have affirmed bitter leaf's ability to reduce surplus calories and fat [2, 7]. Bitter leaf's bioactive compound (elotides), a hormone balancing compound enables it boost the fertility of women [2].

The Bitter Taste of Bitter Leaf and Chloroquine: Pharmaceutical Implication

The bitter taste shared by bitter leaf and chloroquine is a result of the similar chemical structures they possess; alkaloids are partly responsible for the bitter taste. Alkaloids in bitter leaf and chloroquine possess antimicrobial properties [9, 13, 20]. Both have played critical roles in the treatment of human ailments for a long time. Chloroquine is a well-known antimalarial drug, while bitter leaf has shown potential for anti-malarial properties [5, 25]. Regarding their taste, both activate bitter taste receptors in the tongue, thereby triggering a bitter sensation [32]. Structurally, chloroquine is C18H26CIN3 [33], while bitter leaf alkaloids (vernoline) are C21H25NO4 [9]. Chloroquine's structure consists of a quinoline ring, a chlorine atom, and a side chain containing two nitrogen atoms [33]. This guinoline ring plays a vital role in its anti-malarial properties [34]. Chlorine atom contributes to its pharmacological properties, including antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory effects [35]. On the other hand, bitter leaf alkaloid is (e.g., vernoline, C21H25NO4); the structure of vernoline comprises a sesquiterpene lactone ring, a nitrogen atom, and four oxygen atoms. According to a study, the antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory properties exhibited by vernoline are thought to be due to the presence of a sesquiterpene lactone ring [9]. Yunusa et al. [25], in their findings, suggested that the presence of four oxygen atoms in vernoline may play a role in its antioxidant effects. Consequently, the interesting pharmaceutical implications are significant. It impacts its antimalarial property, attributing it to the quinoline ring component of chloroquine, suggesting that bitter leaf alkaloids may demonstrate similar anti-malarial effects driven by the presence of their sesquiterpene lactone ring [34].

antimicrobial anti-Secondly, the and inflammatory activities reveal that chloroquine and bitter leaf alkaloids display antimicrobial and anti-inflammatory activities because of their nitrogen-containing rings [9, 35]. Furthermore, the antioxidant abilities maintained by the bitter leaf's structure of alkaloids are probably due to being rich in oxygen, which might play a vital role in their antioxidant effects, making them different from chloroquine [25]. Regarding drug design and development, novel anti-malarial and antimicrobial agents may be possible by rigorously investigating the structural analogies and differences between chloroquine and bitter

leaf alkaloids. It was noted in some studies that well-defined chemical structures may affect the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of chloroquine and bitter leaf alkaloids, influencing their bioavailability. [9, 20].

Summary of a critical analysis of the studies cited in this review article

The researchers seem to have done rigorous studies over the years covering the various aspects of bitter leaf's pharmaceutical prospects; however, there appear to be gray areas that need some attention; they are as listed below:

a. Methodological limitations

i. Lack of standardization: Many studies used different extraction methods, solvents, and concentrations, making it challenging to compare results.

ii. Limited sample sizes: Many of the studies had small sample sizes, reducing the precision of the results while broadening the margin of error in their studies.

iii. In vitro and *in vivo* studies: While *in vitro* studies provide valuable insights, more *in vivo* studies are necessary to confirm the efficacy and safety of bitter leaf extracts in humans.

b. Pharmacological properties

i. Antimicrobial activity: The antimicrobial activities of bitter leaf extracts against various micro-organisms are well documented. However, the mechanisms of action and the specific compounds responsible for this activity require further investigation.

ii. Anti-inflammatory activity: Bitter leaf extracts have shown anti-inflammatory activities in various studies. However, the specific compounds responsible for this activity and the underlying mechanisms require more investigation.

iii. Anti-cancer activity: The anti-cancer activities of bitter leaf extracts have been reported in several studies, although the specific compounds responsible for these activities have not been elucidated; thus, further investigations are needed to pinpoint the proteins and bioactive compounds of interest so that they can be isolated and used for pharmaceutical drug preparation at scale. Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research Journal (AMPDR)-ISSN 2812-4898 http://dx.doi.org/10.21622/AMPDR.2025.05.1.1233

c. Therapeutic applications

i. Traditional medicine: Bitter leaf has been used in traditional medicine for various purposes. However, the efficacy, adequate dosage and safety of these uses require further investigations.

ii. Modern medicine: Bitter leaf extracts have shown potential in modern medicine, particularly in the treatment of infectious diseases, cancer, and inflammatory disorders. However, further research is necessary to confirm the efficacy and safety levels of their uses.

iii. Nutraceuticals: Bitter leaf extracts have been incorporated into food products and

dietary supplements. However, the safety, dosage, and efficacy of these products require further investigation.

Future research directions on bitter leaf's pharmaceutical potential

In order to fully exploit the pharmaceutical potential of bitter leaf and unlock its broad therapeutic applications, future research should focus on the isolation and characterization of its bioactive compounds, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics studies of bitter leaf-based products, clinical trials for the efficacy and safety dosage of bitter leaf based-products, toxicity and biosafety of bitter leaf based-products, and Regulatory guidelines (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Future research focuses on the pharmaceutical potentials of bitter leaf

Challenges and Opportunities

The major obstacles and prospects in tapping bitter leaf's full pharmaceutical potential are scalability and sustainability (scalability and sustainability entail producing bitter leafbased products in large quantities without reducing the product's quality or environmental sustainability), regulatory frameworks (policy formulation and implementation for the regulation and standardization of bitter leafbased products), and patent and intellectual property (protecting *novel*/native knowledge and inventions).

3. Conclusion

Vernonia amygdalina, generally known as a bitter leaf, has drawn notable recognition for its tremendous pharmaceutical potential. This review has comprehensively examined several bioactive compounds and pharmacological effects of bitter leaf, highlighting its potential as a therapeutic agent. Bitter leaf contains many bioactive compounds, including alkaloids, flavonoids, terpenes, and sesquiterpene lactones. However, further research is necessary to confirm the efficacy and safety of bitter leaf extracts in humans. Standardization of extraction methods, solvents, and concentrations is essential to ensure consistency in results.

References

- Enyi EO, Chigozie VU, Okezie UM, Udeagbala NT, Oko AO. A review of the pharmaceutical applications of endophytic fungal secondary metabolites. Nat Prod Res. 2024 Nov 8;1–17.
- 2. Ugbogu EA, Emmanuel O, Dike ED, Agi GO, Ugbogu OC, Ibe C, et al. The Phytochemistry, Ethnobotanical, and Pharmacological Potentials of the Medicinal Plant-Vernonia amygdalina L. (bitter Leaf). Clinical Complementary Medicine and Pharmacology. 2021;1(1).
- Atanasov AG, Zotchev SB, Dirsch VM, Orhan IE, Banach M, Rollinger JM, et al. Natural products in drug discovery: advances and opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2021 Mar 28;20(3):200–16.
- 4. Chaachouay N, Zidane L. Plant-Derived Natural Products: A Source for Drug Discovery and Development. Drugs and Drug Candidates. 2024 Feb 19;3(1):184–207.

Additionally, *in vivo* studies and clinical trials are necessary to confirm the therapeutic potential of bitter leaf extracts.

Ethics approval

Ethics approval is not applicable; a review article.

Consent to participate

It does not apply to a review article.

Consent for publication

The authors have given their consent for the article to be published.

Availability of data and materials

As synthesized from databases.

Competing interests

The authors declare no competing interests.

Funding

No funding was received.

Authors' contributions

Both authors contributed equally to the production of this manuscript.

Acknowledgment

None

- 5. Ijeh II, Ejike CECC. Current perspectives on the medicinal potentials of Vernonia amygdalina Del. Vol. 5, Journal of Medicinal Plants Research. 2011.
- 6. Asante DB, Wiafe GA, Tsegah KM, Domey NK. Therapeutic Benefits of Vernonia amygdalina in the Treatment of Inflammation and Its Associated Diseases. Clinical Complementary Medicine and Pharmacology. 2024 Mar;4(1):100122.
- Edo GI, Samuel PO, Jikah AN, Onoharigho FO, Idu LI, Obasohan P, et al. Biological and bioactive components of bitter leaf (Vernonia amygdalina leaf): Insight on health and nutritional benefits. A review. Food Chemistry Advances. 2023 Dec;3:100488.
- 8. Owheruo JO, Edo GI, Bashir ZA, Akpoghelie PO, Agbo JJ. Quality Evaluation of Breakfast Cereal Meal Produced from Finger Millet

(Eleusine coracana) and Roasted African Yam Beans (Sphenostylis stenocarpa) Flour Blends. Food Science and Engineering. 2023 Jun 12;182–90.

- Masyita A, Mustika Sari R, Dwi Astuti A, Yasir B, Rahma Rumata N, Emran T Bin, et al. Terpenes and terpenoids as main bioactive compounds of essential oils, their roles in human health and potential application as natural food preservatives. Food Chem X. 2022 Mar;13:100217.
- Hasibuan PAZ, Harahap U, Sitorus P, Satria D. The anticancer activities of Vernonia amygdalina Delile. Leaves on 4T1 breast cancer cells through phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway. Heliyon. 2020 Jul;6(7):e04449.
- 11. Alabi QK, Adeyemi WJ. Vernonia amygdalina (Del) as an antioxidant, aspirin toxicity, and oxidative stress. In: Toxicology. Elsevier; 2021. p. 491–504.
- 12. IfedibaluChukwu El, Aparoop D, Kamaruz Z. Antidiabetic, anthelmintic and antioxidation properties of novel and new phytocompounds isolated from the methanolic stem-bark of Vernonia amygdalina Delile (Asteraceae). Sci Afr. 2020 Nov;10:e00578.
- 13. Dégbé M, Debierre-Grockiego F, Tété-Bénissan A, Débare H, Aklikokou K, Dimier-Poisson I, et al. Extracts of *Tectona grandis* and *Vernonia amygdalina* have anti- *Toxoplasma* and pro-inflammatory properties *in vitro*. Parasite. 2018 Mar 13;25:11.
- 14. Dumas NGE, Anderson NTY, Godswill N, Thiruvengadam M, Ana-Maria G, Ramona P, et al. Secondary metabolite contents and antimicrobial activity of leaf extracts reveal genetic variability of Vernonia amygdalina and Vernonia calvoana morphotypes. Biotechnol Appl Biochem. 2021 Aug 21;68(4):938–47.
- Yusoff SF, Haron FF, Tengku Muda Mohamed M, Asib N, Sakimin SZ, Abu Kassim F, et al. Antifungal Activity and Phytochemical Screening of Vernonia amygdalina Extract against Botrytis cinerea Causing Gray Mold Disease on Tomato Fruits. Biology (Basel). 2020 Sep 11;9(9):286.
- 16. Habtamu A, Melaku Y. Antibacterial and Antioxidant Compounds from the Flower

Extracts of *Vernonia amygdalina*. Adv Pharmacol Sci. 2018;2018:1–6.

- 17. Ugbaja RN, Akinhanmi TF, James AS, Ugwor El, Babalola AA, Ezenandu EO, et al. Flavonoid-rich fractions from Clerodendrum volubile and Vernonia amygdalina extenuates arsenic-invoked hepato-renal toxicity via augmentation of the antioxidant system in rats. Clinical Nutrition Open Science. 2021 Feb;35:12–25.
- Nguyen TXT, Dang DL, Ngo VQ, Trinh TC, Trinh QN, Do TD, et al. Anti-inflammatory activity of a new compound from *Vernonia amygdalina*. Nat Prod Res. 2021 Dec 2;35(23):5160-5.
- 19. Liu H, Kang P, Liu Y, An Y, Hu Y, Jin X, et al. Zinc oxide nanoparticles synthesised from the Vernonia amygdalina shows the antiinflammatoryandantinociceptiveactivities in the mice model. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol. 2020 Jan 20;48(1):1068–78.
- 20. IfedibaluChukwu El, Aparoop D, Kamaruz Z. Antidiabetic, anthelmintic and antioxidation properties of novel and new phytocompounds isolated from the methanolic stem-bark of Vernonia amygdalina Delile (Asteraceae). Sci Afr. 2020 Nov;10:e00578.
- 21. Yedjou CG, Sims JN, Njiki S, Tsabang N, Ogungbe I V, Tchounwou PB. VERNONIA AMYGDALINA DELILE EXHIBITS A POTENTIAL FOR THE TREATMENT OF ACUTE PROMYELOCYTIC LEUKEMIA. Glob J Adv Eng Technol Sci. 2018;5(8).
- 22. Wong FC, Woo CC, Hsu A, Tan BKH. The Anti-Cancer Activities of Vernonia amygdalina Extract in Human Breast Cancer Cell Lines Are Mediated through Caspase-Dependent and p53-Independent Pathways. PLoS One. 2013 Oct 24;8(10):e78021.
- 23. Howard CB, McDowell R, Feleke K, Deer E, Stamps S, Thames E, et al. Chemotherapeutic vulnerability of triplenegative breast cancer cell-derived tumors to pretreatment with vernonia amygdalina aqueous extracts. Anticancer Res. 2016;36(8).
- 24. Barnes P, Yeboah JK, Gbedema W, Saahene RO, Amoani B. Ameliorative Effect of *Vernonia amygdalina* Plant Extract on Heavy Metal-Induced Liver and Kidney Dysfunction in Rats. Adv Pharmacol Pharm

- Yunusa AY, Yakasai MA, Namadina MM. Evaluation of pharmacognostic and acute toxicity of <i>Vernonia amygdalina</i> leaves. Dutse Journal of Pure and Applied Sciences. 2025 Jan 23;10(4a):70-80.
- 26. Egharevba C. Significance of Bitter Leaf (Vernonia Amagdalina) In Tropical Diseases and Beyond: A Review. Malar Chemother Control Elimin. 2014;03(01).
- 27. Kunnumakkara AB, Hegde M, Parama D, Girisa S, Kumar A, Daimary UD, et al. Role of Turmeric and Curcumin in Prevention and Treatment of Chronic Diseases: Lessons Learned from Clinical Trials. Vol. 6, ACS Pharmacology and Translational Science. 2023.
- 28. Sofowora A, Ogunbodede E, Onayade A. THE ROLE AND PLACE OF MEDICINAL PLANTS IN THE STRATEGIES FOR DISEASE PREVENTION. African Journal of Traditional, Complementary and Alternative Medicines. 2013;10(5).
- 29. Asante DB, Henneh IT, Acheampong DO, Kyei F, Adokoh CK, Ofori EG, et al. Antiinflammatory, anti-nociceptive and antipyretic activity of young and old leaves of Vernonia amygdalina. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy. 2019 Mar;111:1187–203.
- Oladele JO, Oyeleke OM, Oladele OT, Olaniyan M. Neuroprotective mechanism of Vernonia amygdalina in a rat model of neurodegenerative diseases. Toxicol Rep. 2020;7:1223–32.
- 31. Degu A, Kefale B, Alemayehu D, Tegegne GT. Evaluation of the Antidiarrheal Activity of Hydromethanol Crude Extracts of *Ruta chalepensis* and *Vernonia amygdalina* in Mice. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. 2020 Jan 13;2020(1).

- Meyerhof W, Batram C, Kuhn C, Brockhoff A, Chudoba E, Bufe B, et al. The Molecular Receptive Ranges of Human TAS2R Bitter Taste Receptors. Chem Senses. 2010 Feb;35(2):157–70.
- 33. Scholar E. Chloroquine. In: xPharm: The Comprehensive Pharmacology Reference. Elsevier; 2007. p. 1–7.
- 34. Foley M. Quinoline Antimalarials Mechanisms of Action and Resistance and Prospects for New Agents. Pharmacol Ther. 1998 Jul;79(1):55–87.
- 35. Krishna S, White NJ. Pharmacokinetics of Quinine, Chloroquine and Amodiaquine: Clinical Implications. Clin Pharmacokinet. 1996;30(4).
- 36. Tungmunnithum D, Thongboonyou A, Pholboon A, Yangsabai A. Flavonoids and Other Phenolic Compounds from Medicinal Plants for Pharmaceutical and Medical Aspects: An Overview. Medicines. 2018;5(3).
- Erhonyota C, Edo GI, Onoharigho FO. Comparison of poison plate and agar well diffusion method determining the antifungal activity of protein fractions. Acta Ecologica Sinica. 2023;43(4).
- Attah AF, O'Brien M, Koehbach J, Sonibare MA, Moody JO, Smith TJ, et al. Uterine contractility of plants used to facilitate childbirth in Nigerian ethnomedicine. J Ethnopharmacol. 2012 Aug;143(1):377–82.
- 39. Ijeh II, Igwe KK, Ejike CECC. Effect of Leaf Aqueous Extracts of Vernonia amygdalina Del on Contraction of Mammary Gland and Uterus of Guinea Pig Dams. Vol. 1, American Journal of Tropical Medicine & Public Health. 2011.
- 40. Adebodun GO, Dikne A, Egbeke A, Arikawe H. Ameliorative Potentials of Vernonia amygdalina in High-fat Diet and Letrozoleinduced Polycystic Ovary Syndrome in Female Wistar Rats. Tropical Journal of Natural Product Research. 8(4):6995–9.



Pancytopenia in Epidemic Dropsy: A Case Report

Ashish Gautam¹, Poonam Gupta², Jitendra Shukla³ and Ajeet Chaurasia⁴

^{1:4} Department Of Medicine, Moti Lal Nehru Medical College Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, India

Emails: aashish.gautam5688@gmail.com, poonam_gupta16@yahoo.com, Jitendrashukla1688@gmail.com, ajeetkc30@gmail.com

Received on, 12 February 2025 - Accepted on, 17 March 2025 - Published on, 28 April 2025

ABSTRACT:

Epidemic dropsy is caused by the consumption of mustard oil contaminated with argemone oil, characterized by pitting edema of the extremities, especially lower limbs; cutaneous erythema and local tenderness; Glaucoma and other visual field defects, leading to blindness; cardiac and respiratory problems leading to death are among the most severe manifestations. A family consuming self-cultivated contaminated mustard oil suffered from dyspnoea and pedal edema; 5 of them approached the tertiary center after the demise of two members, an elderly and a kid, at home. Out of those five, three were hospitalized in the medicine department, while 2 were admitted to the pediatric department. So here we report a case series of 3 patients, residents of Prayagraj Uttar Pradesh, India, who presented in March 2023 with all the classical features of epidemic dropsy (ED), all belonging to the same family admitted in the medicine department. They had variable presentations, but surprisingly, all of them had pancytopenia, all had AKI(acute kidney injury), all had a reticular hyperpigmented rash, all landed up in noncardiogenic edema but the one with underlying Perimembraneous VSD(ventricular septal defect) had increased severity, two had renal concretions, one had visual defect and the one using it topically too, had diffuse hyperpigmented skin and hair loss as well. The adulteration of oil with argemone was confirmed by nitric acid test and ferric chloride test. Patients felt improvement in conservative management. AKI improved in 45 days on average. This is the first case report having pancytopenia in all cases never found in any single family outbreak or multiple family outbreak of epidemic dropsy.

Keywords: Epidemic Dropsy, Mustard oil, Argemone maxicana, AKI, Pancytopenia.

1. Introduction

Epidemic dropsy is caused by the consumption of mustard oil contaminated with argemone oil. The seeds of the weed plant Argemone Mexicana mimic mustard seeds, and the season of blooming is the same. Besides, the flowers are the same color. Thus making the removal of weed cumbersome. Moreover, mustard oil is completely miscible with argemone oil.[1-4] Epidemic dropsy has been prevalent in the community for ages now. Evidence of this dates back to the Mughal armies being affected by several diseases, including dropsy. [5]. Traditionally, the use of this plant, Argemone *mexicana*, has been studied extensively. The seeds of this plant have been used as antidotes in snake poisoning. Other uses of the plant include dermatological use, cold sores, ophthalmic problems, controlling blood sugar levels, scorpion bites, and malaria fever. The use of this plant is not limited to its seeds, but literature shows data regarding several uses of the plant oil, leaves, and yellow juice.[6]

Epidemic dropsy is characterized by pitting edema of the extremities, especially of the lower limbs, cutaneous erythema, and local tenderness. Sanguinarine and dihydrosanguinarine are the toxins in Argemone (*katkar*) oil that are responsible for the pathogenesis causing enhanced permeability and leaking of proteinaceous plasma in interstitium and dilatation of capillaries resulting in anasarca, specifically oedematous feet. [7]

2. Case report

Out of a family of 7 members from Prayagraj, five presented to our hospital with bilateral pedal edema, hyperpigmented rash, and dyspnoea for two weeks; two of them were children. They all were receiving treatment from the local hospital for similar complaints, but two of the family members expired during the treatment before coming to our tertiary care center. Out of the surviving five, three were hospitalized in the medicine department, while two were admitted to the pediatric department. So here we report a case series of 3 patients belonging to the same family and residents of Prayagraj Uttar Pradesh, India, who presented in March 2023 with all the classical features of epidemic dropsy (ED). The family was primarily involved in agriculture and belonged to the lower middle class. The patient's age varied from 5 to 45 years. All the members of the family were consuming oil of mustard seeds cultivated in their own land for the first time in their life from last 1 month. The clinical details of all three cases are shown in Table 1.

Table 1: shows the clinical manifestations of all the patients

CASE	1	2	3
Age/Gender	35/male	30/female	25/male
Symptoms from the last 2 weeks	B/L lower limb swelling, chest pain &dyspnoea, diminution of Right eye vision	B/L lower limb swelling and dyspnoea on exertion	B/L lower limb swelling, dyspnoea on exertion
General examination	Pallor, B/L pitting pedal edema, and hyperpigmented rash over both legs, chest, and trunk were present.	Pallor, B/L pitting pedal edema, and hyperpigmented rash all over the body were present.	Pallor, B/L pitting pedal edema, hyperpigmented rash all over the body
Cardiac examination	pan systolic murmur present	WNL	WNL
Respiratory examination	Right sided pleural effusion	WNL	WNL
Refraction Right eye Left eye-	6/24 6/9	6/6 6/6	6/6 6/6
Fundus examination Right Eye- Left Eye-	premacaluar hemorrhages with peripapillary superficial retinal hemorrhages superficial peripapillary hemorrhages with few para macular hemorrhages.	No Abnormality Detected in both the eyes	No Abnormality Detected in both the eyes

B/L bilateral







Fig1 & 2 show the skin manifestations of the cases.

Fig 1 (a) Case 1 hyperpigmented reticular Rash over chest and abdomen Fig 1 (b) Case 1 showing B/L pedal edema with hyperpigmented reticular rash. Fig 2 Case 3- showing hyperpigmented reticular rash over chest and abdomen and hyperpigmentation of hands and face due to topical application of contaminated mustard oil

Patients were thoroughly investigated, and reports are shown in Table 2.

Table 2: Showing Investigations of all the cases

Investigation (Reference range)	Case 1	Case 2	Case 3
Blood tests Hb(12-16 g/dl) TLC(4000-11000cells/mm ³) Platelets(1.5-4.5lac cells /mm ³) MCV(84-100fl) GBP Bone Marrow Aspiration Vitamin B12(normal Range= 189-	6.1 3600 0.55 88.6fl Normocytic normochromic anemia Hypercellular	5.2 2200 0.40 78.6fl Normocytic normochromic anemia Normocellular	7.9 3200 0.80 72.6fl Normocytic normochromic anemia Normocellular
889ng/dl/) Ferritin (30-333ng/ml) Folic acid(2.5-20ng/ml)	180 45 12	320 289 23	280 302 16
KFT Creatinine(<1mg/dl)	2.35	1.78	1.92
Urine R/M	Proteinuria +	WNL	WNL
24 hour urinary protein	956mg in 24 hours	250mg in 24 hours	390 mg in 24 hours
USG Abdomen	WNL	WNL	WNL
2D ECHO	Global hypokinesis, Severe MR, TR with Perimemberaneous VSD Left to Right shunt	WNL	WNL
Xray chest PA view	Right sided pleural effusion	WNL	WNL
Nitric acid test Ferric chloride test	Mustard Oil from home tested positive for argemone oil contamination by Nitric acid test and ferric chloride test.		

B/L bilateral, WNL-with in the normal limit, Hb-hemoglobin, TLC-total leucocyte count, MCV-mean corpuscular volume, GBP-general blood picture, Urine R/M- routine and microscopic, KFT-kidney function test, USG-ultrasonography, 2D ECHO-2-dimensional echocardiography, MR-mitral regurgitation, TR-tricuspid regurgitation, VSD-ventricular septal defect, +present, PA-posterior-anterior view.

3. Differential Diagnosis:

Food poisoning was the foremost differential, as all the members of a single family were involved. Water contamination was ruled out as other families residing around were using water from the same water supply, and none suffered. Hypoalbuminemia, congestive heart failure, wet beriberi, and nephrotic syndrome have similar clinical presentations as dyspnoea and pedal edema, but none of the above investigating reports favored. Diagnosis of noncardiogenic edema, pancytopenia, and AKI(acute kidney injury) was made in all three cases, besides a component of CHF(congestive heart failure) was seen too and more evident in case 1 as case 1 had Ventricular Septal Defect and retinal hemorrhage too was seen in Case 1.

Nitric acid test was done in our own biochemistry lab by us in which 5ml of adulterated oil was mixed with equal amount of nitric acid and was shaken. On standing acid layer turned orange. (As shown in Figure 3).



Figure 3: showing Nitric Acid test positive –orange, suggesting the presence of argemone oil Ferric chloride test-2ml oil and 2ml of concenterated HCL(hydrochloric acid) and heated in water bath at 33.5-35C for 2minutes, then 8 ml of ethyl alcohol added and ferric chloride was added and again heated for 10 minutes. Orange red precipitate was formed.

Thus, both tests suggested adulteration of the mustard oil with argemone Mexicana.

Levels of toxins in blood could not be tested due to nonavailability of tests.

4. Treatment

Cases were notified to the District Chief Medical Officer(CMO), and they visited the patients to interview, and surveillance was done at the hospital bedside beside their village residence area.

Case I: was managed on IV antibiotics and Inj furosemide 40mg IV 8hrly, Tab Metoprolol 25 BD. The patient also required moist O2 inhalation at 2l through a Flexi mask for the first 3 days; then, he was off oxygen. A total of four units of PRBC were transfused. Injection of Vitamin Bl2 was also given. The hospital stay was for 40 days, and he was discharged on Tab Metoprolol 25 BD, Tab (Torsemide+spironolactone) 10/50 OD.

Case 2: A total of 2 units of PRBC were transfused and were managed on IV antibiotics and Inj Furosemide for 7 days only. The patient got symptomatically better after a blood transfusion. The hospital stay was 15 days. The case was discharged on Hematinics.

Case 3: No PRBC transfusion was required in case 3, and it was managed with diuretics for 7 days only. The hospital stay was 10 days.

All the three patients were given Tab Vitamin C 500 BD, Tab Zinc 50 OD, Tab B Complex BD and Tab calcium 500 BD.

5. Discussion

Dropsy is a disease that usually occurs in epidemics; isolated cases are seldom seen and reported [8]. Cases of epidemic drops are seen in northern regions of India, such as Uttar Pradesh, as in southern regions, coconut oil is consumed [9,10].

Epidemic Dropsy is seen in poor socioeconomic people as they cannot afford high-quality

edible oils that are commercially tested prior with AGMARK(Agriculture Mark- Agriculture and Marketing Advisory To the Government of India, is a third-party guarantee for agricultural product) mark approving to be accordance to Indian standards. Confirmation of the adulterated oil is cumbersome, and detection of edible mustard oil being consumed necessitates laboratory investigation. Adulteration with even 1% of Argemone oil can produce manifestation. [11]

The reasons for this outbreak being restricted to a particular family can be explained as the contamination of mustard seeds with argemone seeds that occurred at the household level, where the mustard oil was extracted from the seeds of the plants cultivated on their own land. The family's low socioeconomic status and lack of knowledge prevented them from availing good quality edibles, and poor literacy was responsible for their ignorance regarding adulteration in mustard seeds being contaminated with argemone seeds, which was the source of the current outbreak. Target organs for Argemone oil poisoning include the gastrointestinal tract, heart, liver, lungs, kidney, and serum, as sanguinarine can stay in these sites for longer than 4days.[7]Dropsy patients have low levels of antioxidants, especially vitamins E and A.[12]

Sanguinarine causes inactivity of cytochrome P-450, and accumulation of sanguinarine further leads to its cumulative toxicity.[13,14] Additionally, sanguinarine acts on the Na+-K+-ATPase pump in intestinal cells, resulting in glycogenolysis and causing an accumulation of pyruvate in the blood. A similar effect is seen in the heart, which may provoke cardiac failure.[15] The commonest presentation of Argemone oil poisoning is an acute, bilateral lower limb swelling, which was found in all of our cases. Nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, mild liver dysfunction, and hepatomegaly are a frequent feature found in almost all patients, but none was seen in any of the members of this family in our case study. In extreme cases, glaucoma and even death due to cardiac arrest have been encountered.

The majority of cases reported are from groups of families, and outbreaks in single families are less in the medical literature.

Most of the cases reported had diarrhea at the onset. Surprisingly, none of our patients had diarrhea all through the course. Sunil Kumar Rao et al. in 2019[16] also reported epidemic dropsy in a single joint family with none of the patients having diarrhea. All the patients presented with dyspnoea at the onset of pedal edema and the probable mechanism was increased permeability in capillaries due to sanguinarine. Pleural effusion was seen in case 1, who had additional congenital heart disease, i.e. Perimemberaneous VSD, and was diagnosed incidentally on Echo being indicated because of an alarming murmur he had on clinical physical examination and as a workup for dyspnoea and pedal edema even though the probable mechanism is noncardiogenic edema [17].

There is single case report in Epidemic dropsy having manifestation of AKI at the onset[18] and that too without any prior dehydrating illness like diarrhoea and vomiting in medical literature similar to that which is seen in our study and our all patient suffered from it which was reversible and improved on an average of 45–60 days and none had any dehydrating manifestation like vomiting or diarrhoea prior to it.

Regarding vision diminution, case 1 had macular hemorrhages with peripapillary superficial retinal hemorrhages in the right eye on fundoscopy with 6/24 refractive error and superficial peripapillary hemorrhages with few para macular hemorrhages in the left eve on fundoscopy with 6/9 refractive error. Kamal Singh et al. reported retinal abnormality in their case study as superficial retinal hemorrhages were present in both eyes in a boy of 12 yr and soft exudates in the left eye in a 55 yr old male in an outbreak in a single family[17]. Sunil Rao reported subconjunctival hemorrhage in one of the members of his case report. [16] Raised intraocular pressure is noticed in 0-12% of cases, and retinal hemorrhage, if present, requires urgent surgical intervention to prevent blindness [19, 20]

Our all the members of the family had pancytopenia which has never been seen in any case reports. Other etiologies of pancytopenia, was searched. Our cases didn't have hepatosplenomegaly; nutritional cause was ruled out as just only one case had borderline low Vitamin B12, rest all folate and ferritin were normal. MCV was normal in all the patients .Bone marrow disclosed no clue in any.

In our case, case 3 also had hyperpigmentation of the skin and increased hair loss as he was applying the oil to his face and hair. This darkening might be attributed to the topical application of oil to the face, leading to transcutaneous absorption of argemone oil and sanguinarine toxicity. In some of the case reports, red macules and telangiectasia have been documented, but patchy reticular hyperpigmentation in all the members of the family and diffuse hyperpigmentation because of the effect of topical application is the first time seen and reported here only.

Organs of predilection for Argemone oil include the gut, cardiac, hepatic, pulmonary, kidneys, and serum because sanguinarin persists in these sites for longer than 4days.[7].Dropsy patients have low antioxidants, especially vitamins E and A.[12].

Recovery time is about 3 months.[17]. Our patients had a history prior to admission of 15 days and remained hospitalized for one and a half months till they became symptomatically relieved, so the total duration of hospitalization and significant improvement was 2 months. The patients came in for follow-up, and total improvement took nearly 3 months.

The differential diagnosis to be considered includes nephrotic syndrome, congestive cardiac failure, myxoedema, and anemia, and all of these are usually not seen in all the family members simultaneously, except one more differential beriberi, which was ruled out as no alteration in the usual routine diet was seen. The only change in lifestyle was a change in oil consumption, and the symptoms appeared after around 15 days of consumption. In a similar case report, symptoms started after 15 days of consumption.[17]Toxins in water were not considered to be attributable as they were not seen in members of the localities who all consumed water from the same water supply. A correct diagnosis requires a high index of suspicion, as the disease is rarely seen in regular clinical practice.

As anemia was normocytic normochromic and was found in all the cases, the probable cause might be bleeding in

the gut, inactive bone marrow, and decreased red blood cell survival.[21]

Nitric acid testing and ferric chloride are the two easily done lab tests[22]

Nitric acid Tests can detect even if the concentration of argemone is as low as 0.25%. Nitric acid and Ferric Chloride Tests were done in the oil brought from their home. If argemone oil

is present, an orange-red precipitate is formed, as in our study.

Paper Chromatographic Method – This is supersensitive, detecting as low as 0.0001% Argemone oil contamination.

The foremost need is to withdraw the culprit oil. Avoidance of exertion and leg dangling must be advised. Judicious and cautious use of diuretics with vigilance of hypovolemia and electrolyte imbalance is needed. The pleural effusion of case 1 improved with diuretics. Replenishment of antioxidants (vitamins A, C, E), Vitamin B1, Protein, and calcium must be done. AKI(acute kidney injury), in our cases, didn't need dialysis. Patients were discharged on significant improvement, and case 1 was referred to an eye surgeon for his retinal hemorrhage. Poor prognostic factors like ARDS (adult respiratory distress syndrome), heart failure, and AKI were which were seen in our cases, and besides pneumonia, can be complicated with medical literature showing a 5% mortality rate.

Suspiciousness and vigilance in the right direction is must for detection of argemone oil in mustard oil and ruling out differentials is must to reach the final diagnosis of epidemic dropsy.Timely Blood transfusions in our cases of pancytopenia was very much warranted.

References

- 1. Mukherjee SP, Lal RB, Mathur KBL. Investigation into the epidemiology of epidemic dropsy - XII. Isolation of active substances from toxic ois. 1941;(1).
- Lal RB, Das Gupta AC. Investigation into epidemiology of epidemic dropsy X A note on an outbreak of epidemic dropsy associated with the use of mustard oil pressed from adulterated seed. Indian Journal of Medical Research . 1941;29(1):157–65.
- 3. Chopra R, Pasricha C, Goyal RK, Lal S, Sen A. The Experimental Production of Syndrome of Epidemic Dropsy in Man. Indian Med Gaz . 1939;74(4):193–5.
- 4. SANYAL PK. Argemone and mustard seeds. Indian medical gazette. 1950;85(11).
- 5. Begum A, Parwez M. Diseases and Treatments: A Reflection from Medieval

Our patients were having a multitude of lifethreatening manifestations such as ARDS, CHF, AKI, and debilitating vision diminution to the extent of blindness and pancytopenia.

6. Conclusion

Strong suspicion and sharp vigilance in a group of people belonging to a single family presenting with dyspnea and pedal edema unmasked the diagnosis of Epidemic dropsy with grave complications of ARDS, AKI, CHF, pancytopenia and retinal hemorrhages, and this life-threatening situation could be salvaged. This case report further highlights the need to educate farmers regarding food adulteration.

Public and Patient Involvement

The diagnosis of epidemic dropsy should be strongly suspected if there is a simultaneous complaint of dyspnea and bilateral pedal edema within the group of people sharing the same kitchen in a single family, especially where the preferred edible oil is mustard oil. Patients and the Public, especially farmers, must be educated about the Food Adulteration Act, argemone weed growing rampantly in the same season amongst mustard plants and mimicking in all aspects in appearance and smell, and the need to prevent dropsy.

Assam. 2025;

- 6. Sharma D, Sharma L. ARGEMONE MEXICANA A HIDDEN MEDICINAL PLANT AND TO EVALUATE ITS EDIBILITY. 2024;273-83.
- Das M, Khanna SK. Clinicoepidemiological, Toxicological, and Safety Evaluation Studies on Argemone Oil. Crit Rev Toxicol. 1997 Jan 25;27(3):273–97.
- Mahajan A, Manhas AS, Jamwal SS, Jasrotia D, Yograj S. Epidemic Dropsy in a Family. 2000;1(1):44–7.
- Lakshmi PVM, Sharma A, Bhatia D, Tikoo K, Kumar R. Dropsy Outbreak in a Single Family in Punjab, India. The American Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 2014 Oct 1;91(4):786–9.
- Azazh A, Seboxa T, Bane A, Habte M, Melkie A, T/Mariam S, et al. Outbreak of epidemic dropsy in Ethiopia: the clinical and therapeutic observation. Ethiop Med J

. 2013;2:1–7.

- Lal R, Dasgupta A. Investigations into the epi demiology of epidemic dropsy. . Indian Journal of Medical Research. 1942;
- 12. Das M, Babu K, Reddy NP, Srivastava LM. Oxidative damage of plasma proteins and lipids in epidemic dropsy patients: Alterations in antioxidant status. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj. 2005;1722(2).
- 13. Reddy NP, Das M. Interaction of sanguinarine alkaloid, isolated from argemone oil, with hepatic cytochrome P450 in rats. Toxicol Mech Methods. 2008;18(8).
- 14. Eruvaram NR, Das M. Phenotype of hepatic xenobiotic metabolizing enzymes and CYP450 isoforms of sanguinarine treated rats: Effect of P450 inducers on its toxicity. Toxicol Mech Methods. 2009 Oct 30;19(8):510–7.
- Seifen E, Adams RJ, Kirk Riemer R. Sanguinarine: A positive inotropic alkaloid which inhibits cardiac Na+,K+-ATPase. Eur J Pharmacol. 1979 Dec;60(4):373-7.
- Kumar Rao S, M. Malviya L. Epidemic Dropsy in a Single Joint Family in Uttar Pradesh: A Case Report. Pediatric Education and Research. 2019;7(2):65–7.

- 17. Singh K, Sharma N. An Uncommon Case of Argemone Poisoning (Dropsy) Outbreak in a Single Family. Journal of Evidence Based Medicine and Healthcare [Internet]. 2020 Mar;7:511–4. Available from: https://www. jebmh.com/articles/an-uncommoncase-of-argemone-poisoningdropsyoutbreak-in-a-single-family.pdf. pdf
- SHAH MJ, LEWIS RA. Epidemic dropsy, Nadiad epidemic; observations on serum proteins and cortisone therapy. J Indian Med Assoc. 1955;24(7).
- 19. Mohan M, Sood NN, Dayal Y, Sekhar GC, Sachdev MS, Bhatnagar S. Ocular & clinicoepidemiological study of epidemic dropsy. Indian Journal of Medical Research. 1984;80:449–56.
- 20. Rathore MK. Ophthalmological study of epidemic dropsy. British Journal of Ophthalmology. 1982;66(9).
- 21. Sengupta PC, Napier LE. Haematological changes in epidemic dropsy. Indian Journal of Medical Research. 1940;28:197–203.
- 22. Singh GB, Khanna SK. Argemone Mexicana strikes again. Sci Rep. 1983;20:108–10.

A Primer on Fabricating Bioactive Regenerative Scaffolds – From Materials and Surface Properties to Microenvironment

Mai M. Ali

Department of Pharmaceutics, Division of Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Pharmacy, Arab Academy for Science, Technology and Maritime Transport, Alexandria.

Email: drmaiali@aast.edu

Received on, 28 March 2025 - Accepted on, 14 April 2025 - Published on, 29 April 2025

ABSTRACT:

Scaffold-based regenerative medicine is based on the creation of biomaterial constructs that effectively mimic the native tissue extracellular matrix (ECM), guiding cell behavior and enhancing functional tissue regeneration. Achieving this requires a multifaceted approach that includes careful material selection, control over scaffold architecture, enhancement of bioactivity, and the application of appropriate fabrication techniques. This review offers a comprehensive exploration of these core design principles, equipping researchers with the knowledge to engineer successful scaffolds for a range of regenerative applications. The review examines a spectrum of biocompatible materials and their surface characteristics like roughness, topography, and wettability, carefully weighing their strengths and limitations with respect to mechanical properties, degradation kinetics, potential immunogenicity, and bioactivity. Furthermore, scaffold architecture-encompassing pore size, interconnectivity, and fiber alignment-that plays a crucial role in mediating cell infiltration, nutrient transport, and tissue organization will be discussed. The review also covers the different aspects of increasing scaffold bioactivity, like functionalization with cell adhesion motifs, incorporation of encapsulated growth factors, phytoconstituents, and immunomodulation to create a proregenerative microenvironment. Finally, the review discusses the application of various techniques like 3D printing and electrospinning, among others, in scaffold fabrication. By effectively integrating these elements, researchers can design scaffolds that not only provide structural support but also actively orchestrate the regenerative process for better treatment outcomes.

Keywords: scaffold, biopolymer, regenerative medicine, drug loading, mechanical properties, porosity, immunomodulation, degradation, surface topography, bioactivity.

1. Introduction

Regenerative medicine, once considered "a dream," is now a fast-developing scientific area aiming to restore, maintain, or improve damaged tissues and organs affected by disease, injury, or congenital conditions [1]. It combines various knowledge disciplines, including cell biology, materials science, and engineering principles, to offer treatment options that traditional methods lack [2]. Within regenerative medicine, tissue engineering is a strategy that makes use of scaffolds as temporary 3D frameworks similar to native tissue extracellular matrices (ECMs) that facilitate cell attachment, proliferation, differentiation, and the formation of functional tissue [3]. In the last 20 years, an increase in the number of relevant publications on the Scopus Database (Figure 1) has been noted, which indicates its importance.



Figure 1: Number of publications over the past 20 years related to the terms "Regenerative medicine" and "Tissue engineering" and "Scaffold" on the Scopus Database.

Engineering of a successful regenerative scaffold is complex and relies on the scaffold's ability to mimic the native tissue extracellular matrix (ECM) microenvironment. This necessitates careful consideration of key design principles (like material selection, scaffold design, bioactivity, and suitable fabrication technique) that influence cellular responses and tissue development [1, 4]. Failure to properly balance these aspects can ultimately lead to scaffold failure.

This review aims to help junior researchers explore the core design principles that govern scaffold performance in regenerative medicine. By analyzing the interplay of materials, structure, and biological activity, the review underscores the need for an integrated, interdisciplinary approach to engineer a successful scaffold. This review further explores the latest trends in material research and fabrication, aligning them with the evolving needs of regenerative strategies to address the development of scalable and cost-effective manufacturing techniques for complex scaffold designs, an area requiring further attention. Ultimately, this understanding will empower researchers to effectively develop more clinically relevant scaffolds to address tissue and organ damage.

2. Key Design Considerations

A. Material Properties:

1. Material Biocompatibility

Materials selection for scaffolds depends on the application and desired tissue properties [5]. The chosen materials dictate mechanical properties, degradation kinetics, and, critically, the host scaffold interactions through cell adhesion, and immune response [6]. Inappropriate materials selection can trigger inflammatory immune responses, that ultimately leads to scaffold rejection and treatment failure.

Materials used in any scaffold fabrication can be generally grouped into polymers (natural and synthetic), bio-ceramics, and biodegradable metals, [7] each with unique biocompatibility profiles and application suitability. Using combinations of these biomaterials in composites can open an avenue for properly tailoring scaffold properties to

intended applications [8]. A summary of the popular materials used in scaffold fabrication is presented in Table 1.

a. Polymers

Polymeric biomaterials can be derived from both natural and synthetic sources. Natural polymers used in scaffolds encompass carbohydrates like alginate and hyaluronic acid alongside proteins like collagen and elastin alone or in combinations [9]. These biopolymers are widely available, generally non-toxic, and highly biocompatible due to their close resemblance to ECM [10] and provide excellent support for cell adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation [11]. However, natural polymers often suffer from sensitivity and degradation at elevated temperatures, purification necessitating to prevent immunological responses after implantation, and poor mechanical properties. Crosslinking, both chemical and physical, remains a primary method to address the mechanical limitations of natural polymers in scaffold fabrication. Chemical crosslinking, using agents like genipin (favored for its lower cytotoxicity compared to glutaraldehyde) or enzymatic methods, increases polymer network density and enhances mechanical properties. Physical crosslinking, methods like dehydrothermal treatment (DHT) or ionic crosslinking with multivalent ions, offers improvements while often maintaining better biocompatibility [12, 13].

In contrast to natural polymers, synthetic polymers provide enhanced control over properties such as mechanical scaffold properties, degradation rates, and minimized immunogenicity [14, 15]. However, they often lack inherent bioactivity, requiring surface modification or mixing with other natural polymers to facilitate cell attachment [15]. Common synthetic polymers used in tissue engineering and scaffold fabrication include PCL [16] and PLA [17], as well as PLGA [18], PEG [19], and emerging materials like poly(hydroxyalkanoates) (PHAs) [20].

Table 1: A summary of the popular materials used in scaffold fabrication and their properties.

Material Category	Material	Advantages	Disadvantages	Applications	Ref.
Natural Polymers	Collagen	Excellent biocompatibility, cell adhesion, and biodegradability.	Batch-to-batch variability, limited mechanical strength, potential immunogenicity.	Skin, bone, cartilage, and vascular tissue engineering.	[21-25]
	Gelatin	Similar to collagen, but often more processable and readily available.	Lower mechanical strength than collagen, potential immunogenicity.	Wound healing, drug delivery, cell encapsulation.	[26-28]
	Hyaluronic Acid (HA) Excellent biocompatibility, inherent bioactivity		Rapid degradation and limited mechanical strength.	Cartilage, skin, and wound healing applications.	[28]
	Alginate	Easy gelation, biocompatible, relatively inexpensive.	Limited cell adhesion, rapid degradation in vivo.	Cell encapsulation, drug delivery, wound dressings.	[29, 30]
	Chitosan	Antimicrobial properties promote wound healing.	Variable purity, limited mechanical strength.	Wound healing, bone regeneration, drug delivery.	[31]
	Silk Fibroin	High mechanical strength, biocompatibility, slow degradation.	It can be challenging to process, potential for immunogenicity.	Bone, cartilage, and tendon/ligament regeneration.	[32, 33]
Synthetic Polymers	Poly(lac- tic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA)	Biodegradable, biocompatible, tunable degradation rate.	Acidic degradation products, lack cell adhesion sites.	Drug delivery, bone regeneration, suture material.	[18, 34]
	Polycaprolac- tone (PCL)	Biodegradable, slow degradation rate, good mechanical properties.	Hydrophobic, slow degradation, lack of cell adhesion sites.	Bone regeneration, vascular grafts, long-term implants.	[16, 35]
	Poly(lactic acid) (PLA)	Biodegradable, biocompatible, good mechanical properties.	Brittle, slow degradation, acidic degradation products.	Bone screws, suture material, drug delivery.	[17, 35, 36]
Bioceram- ics	Hydroxyapatite (HAp)	Osteoconductive, biocompatible, promotes bone ingrowth.	Brittle, low tensile strength.	Bone regeneration, dental implants, drug delivery.	[37, 38]
	Tricalcium Phosphate (TCP)	Osteoconductive, biocompatible, bioresorbable.	With lower mechanical strength than HAp, the degradation rate can be difficult to control.	Bone regeneration, drug delivery.	[39, 40]
	Bioactive Glasses (BG)	Osteoconductive and bioactive promote angiogenesis.	Brittle can be challenging to process.	Bone regeneration, wound healing.	[41, 42]
Biodegrad- able Metals	Magnesium (Mg) and its alloys	(Mg) and its mechanical properties,		Bone fixation screws, cardiovascular stents.	[43-45]
	Zinc (Zn) and its alloys	Biodegradable, essential trace element, antibacterial properties.	Limited mechanical strength can be brittle.	Small bone implants, wound healing.	[44, 45]
	Iron (Fe) and its alloys	Biodegradable, good mechanical strength.	Slower degradation than Mg, the potential for iron overload.	Cardiovascular stents, bone fixation devices.	[46, 47]
Composite Materials	Hydroxyapatite (HAp) / Polymer Composite	Combines osteoconductivity of HAp with tunable degradation and mechanical properties of the polymer.	It can be challenging to achieve uniform distribution of HAp, which has the potential for delamination.	Bone and dental regeneration.	[21, 26, 37, 48, 49]
------------------------	---	--	--	--	----------------------------
	Collagen and polymer Composite	Enhanced biocompatibility promotes cell adhesion. Antimicrobial properties (chitosan), tunable mechanical properties (synthetic polymers)	Chitosan variability, limited mechanical strength, potential immunogenicity, degradation control challenges.	Wound healing, bone/ cartilage regeneration, nerve conduits.	[50-52]
	Decellularized ECM / Synthetic Polymer Composite	Provides natural ECM signals with enhanced mechanical properties and processability from synthetic components	Decellularization can change native architecture, and it can be challenging to maintain ECM bioactivity during the processing.	Vascular grafts, soft tissue, and nerve repair	[53-55]

b. Bioceramics

Bioceramics like Hydroxyapatite (HAp) and tricalcium phosphate (TCP) are widely used in dental and bone tissue engineering due to their biocompatibility, osteoconductivity, and ability to promote bone regeneration [21, 26]. While offering advantages like non-toxicity and inherent bioactivity, they are brittle and have low elasticity, promoting their use in composites for weight-bearing applications [26].

c. Metal implants

Traditional metal implants, made of stainless steel [56] and titanium alloys [57], are characterized by their strength, corrosion resistance, and cost-effectiveness [58], but their non-biodegradable nature has inspired the development of biodegradable porous metal implants, such as magnesium [43], iron [46] and zinc [44] based implants, which offer controlled corrosion properties. While these biodegradable metals offer biocompatibility and bone-like mechanical properties, they face challenges, including slow degradation and MRI incompatibility [59].

d. Composite Materials

Combining various materials in scaffold design can provide tunable properties to simulate target tissue properties. Introducing synthetic polymers, such as PLGA or PCL, often enhances the mechanical strength, degradation control, and processability of scaffolds derived from naturally sourced materials like collagen, chitosan, or alginate. However, the inherent biocompatibility of natural polymers can be compromised. Synthetic polymers may elicit an inflammatory response or generate acidic degradation products that negatively affect cell viability and tissue regeneration. Ultimately, designing successful synthetic-natural polymer blends necessitates a delicate balance to optimize mechanical properties while minimizing adverse biological responses and promoting effective tissue integration. Collagen-PLGA composites offer enhanced cell adhesion and controlled degradation [59]. Incorporating bioactive ceramics like hydroxyapatite into polymer matrices enhances osteoconductivity for bone regeneration [38]. Silk fibroin-based composites are also gaining attention due to their excellent mechanical properties and biocompatibility in cartilage regeneration [32].

It is worth noting that standardized testing and validation for demonstrating scaffold biocompatibility is essential for the successful translation of scaffold-based therapies. Available in vitro and in vivo techniques to evaluate the scaffold's biocompatibility include cell viability assays, cytokine release assays and histological analysis [60].

2. Scaffold degradation

The scaffold degradation process (including both biodegradation and biosorption) is a critical design parameter to achieve optimal outcomes in regenerative scaffolds. Ideally, a scaffold should degrade at a rate proportional to new tissue formation to ensure that the mechanical support provided by the scaffold gradually diminishes as the newly formed tissue gains its own structural integrity. Disproportionality in these rates can lead to a variety of complications where premature degradation causes scaffold collapse, while slow degradation hinders tissue remodeling.

Several factors influence the degradation rate of a scaffold, including the material composition, crosslinking density, porosity, and the presence of enzymes [36]. Synthetic polymers like polycaprolactone (PCL) and poly(lactic acid) (PLA) are widely used due to their controllable degradation profiles [35]. Also, it has been reported that incorporating bioceramic materials such as hydroxyapatite (HA) into polymer scaffolds in high concentrations can often lead to slower scaffold degradation rates [37].

In some cases, scaffold degradation products can promote tissue regeneration. The release of Zn^{2+} ions from degrading zinc alloys can promote osteogenesis and angiogenesis [45]. Recent studies have explored developing "smart" scaffolds that respond to microenvironmental stimuli and degrade in a controlled manner [61].

Scaffold degradation mediated by enzymes is a key contributing factor to the success of regenerative scaffolds. Collagenases, specifically matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) secreted by fibroblasts and immune cells, metabolize collagen in scaffolds such as collagen-based sponges or decellularized ECM, thereby affecting the rate of tissue integration and vascularization [62]. In addition, Esterases hydrolyze ester bonds prevalent in synthetic biodegradable polymers like poly(lactic acid) (PLA) and poly(ε -caprolactone) (PCL) [63].

Recent studies have shown that a variety of techniques can be used to monitor in vivo degradation, such as histological evaluation, imaging modalities, and biochemical assays [64]. Further research into the mechanisms of in-vivo scaffold degradation and the effects of degradation products on the host response will pave the way for the development of more effective and biocompatible regenerative therapies.

In designing scaffolds, understanding how mechanical properties influence cell behavior and tissue regeneration is critical due to the mechanosensitive nature of cells. Scaffold's mechanical characteristics, such as stiffness (Young's modulus), tensile strength, elasticity, viscoelasticity, and compressive strength, may govern cell fate, ECM production, and, ultimately, the functional integrity of engineered tissues [24]. Consequently, studies to balance these mechanical attributes are essential to effectively mimic the native tissue microenvironment in engineered scaffolds. A summary of scaffold mechanical properties in relation to engineered tissue is presented in Table 2.

Scaffold stiffness plays a crucial role in directing cell behavior and tissue regeneration. Cells, being mechanosensitive, will migrate towards regions of optimal stiffness for their specific phenotype. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), for instance, exhibit differential differentiation based on substrate stiffness, with softer substrates promoting neurogenic lineages and stiffer substrates favoring osteogenic differentiation. This mechanotransduction mechanism highlights the need to carefully consider the target tissue's inherent stiffness during scaffold design [65].

Furthermore, the presence of stiffness gradients within a scaffold is a feature that directs regeneration events toward mimicking the mechanical properties of native tissues. Native tissues, such as bone or cartilage, rarely exhibit uniform stiffness; instead, they display gradual transitions in mechanical properties across different regions and interfaces, providing cells with positional information and guiding their migration and differentiation.

Tissue	Key Mechanical Property	Desired Range	Typical Scaffold Materials	Ref.
Bone	Compressive Strength	2-200 MPa (Cancellous) 100-200 MPa (Cortical)	Hydroxyapatite (HAp), Tricalcium Phosphate (TCP), PLGA/HAp Composites, PCL, Metals (Ti, Mg)	
	Elastic Modulus	0.02-20 GPa (Cancellous) 10-30 GPa (Cortical)	HAp, TCP, PLGA/HAp Composites, PCL	[66]
	Viscoelasticity	energy absorption during impact.	HAp/Polymer Composites, Collagen-mineral composites	
Cartilage	Compressive Modulus	0.1-10 MPa	Collagen, Hyaluronic Acid (HA), Agarose, Alginate, PCL/Collagen Composites	
	Tensile Strength	1-10 MPa	Collagen, Silk Fibroin, HA	[67]
	Viscoelasticity	load distribution and shock absorption.	HA, Agarose, Alginate, crosslinked Collagen hydrogels with specific crosslinking.	

3. Mechanical Properties

Table 2: A summary of scaffold mechanical properties in relation to engineered tissue.

June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

Tendon/ Ligament	Tensile Strength	50-100 MPa	Collagen, Silk Fibroin, Electrospun Polymers (PCL, PLA), Collagen/Polymer Composites	
	Elastic Modulus	100-1000 MPa	Collagen, Silk Fibroin, Electrospun Polymers (PCL, PLA)	[68]
	Viscoelasticity	energy dissipation under dynamic loading.	Aligned Collagen fibers, PCL, and composite materials.	
Skeletal Muscle	Elastic Modulus	1–100 kPa	Hydrogels (Fibrin, GelMA, PEG), Electrospun Polymers	
	Tensile Strength	0.1-1 MPa	Hydrogels (Fibrin, GelMA, PEG)	[68]
	Viscoelasticity	muscle's ability to withstand contractions.	Fibrin, GelMA, composites with tunable degradation.	
Vascular Tissue	Tensile Strength	1-3 MPa (Artery)	Elastin, Collagen, PCL, Decellularized Vessels, Elastin-like Polypeptides (ELPs)	
	Elastic Modulus	0.1-10 MPa (Artery)	Elastin, Collagen, PCL, Decellularized Vessels, ELPs	[69]
	Viscoelasticity	damping pulsatile blood flow and preventing aneurysms.	Elastin-rich materials, dynamically crosslinked polymers.	
Neural Tissue	Elastic Modulus	0.1–10 kPa	Hydrogels (Agarose, Hyaluronic Acid, PEG), Self- Assembling Peptides	
	Compressive Modulus	Similar to Elastic Modulus	Hydrogels (Agarose, Hyaluronic Acid, PEG), Self- Assembling Peptides	[70]
	Viscoelasticity	Plays a role in neuronal signaling and axonal guidance.	Self-assembling peptides, very soft hydrogels	

Processes. In this context, scaffolds engineered with stiffness gradients create a more biomimetic environment that can trigger different intracellular signaling pathways through varying mechanical forces promoting controlled tissue regeneration [71].

Tensile strength, the capacity of a scaffold to resist breaking under tension, is also fundamental determinant of a scaffold performance. A scaffold with low tensile strength will prematurely fail under physiological loads, compromising its structural integrity and impeding tissue regeneration. A scaffold's tensile strength requirements vary considerably depending on the target tissue, reflecting the diverse mechanical demands of different organs [72]. For highly tensile tissues like tendons and ligaments, scaffold tensile strength is paramount physiological loads to withstand during movement [73]. In vascular tissue engineering, scaffolds must maintain structural integrity while preventing aneurysmal dilation or rupture of engineered blood vessels under pulsatile blood pressure [74]. In bone regeneration, higher tensile strength correlates with slower degradation, which is important where the scaffold needs to provide long-term support for bone ingrowth and mineralization [75]. For skin regeneration, adequate tensile strength in dermal scaffolds provides a stable platform for fibroblast infiltration, growth, and production of ECM, preventing wound contraction and promoting a natural skin architecture [76].

Elasticity, defined as a material's ability to return to its original shape after deformation, directly impacts the performance of scaffolds in tissue engineering applications. For highly elastic tissues such as arteries and lung alveoli, the scaffold must exhibit sufficient elasticity to withstand repetitive cycles of expansion and contraction without permanent deformation, ensuring long-term structural integrity and functionality [75]. Furthermore, scaffold elasticity directly influences cellular mechanotransduction. Cells adhere to the scaffold via integrins, forming focal adhesions that link the scaffold matrix to the intracellular cytoskeleton. The scaffold's elastic behavior then creates a biomimetic microenvironment that influences intracellular signaling pathways that regulate cell proliferation and differentiation 77 to promote successful tissue regeneration.

Viscoelasticity, which describes a material's time-dependent response to applied stress, affects scaffold performance by influencing and modulating cell-matrix interactions within the scaffold [78]. Viscoelastic scaffolds exhibit energy dissipation, with a portion of the energy being dissipated as heat due to internal friction. The significance of viscoelasticity stems from its ability to more closely mimic the mechanical behavior of many native tissues, particularly those subjected to complex, dynamic loading [79]. Cartilage, a highly viscoelastic tissue, exhibits time-dependent response a to compressive forces, allowing it to efficiently dissipate energy during joint loading. Scaffolds that mimic this viscoelastic behavior can better protect chondrocytes from excessive mechanical stress, promoting matrix synthesis and preventing tissue degradation [79].

At the cellular level, the viscoelastic properties of a scaffold can directly modulate the dynamics of cell-matrix interactions. Cells respond not only to the magnitude of the applied force but also to the rate at which the force is applied, a feature that is inherently encoded in viscoelastic materials [80]. For example, studies have shown that viscoelastic substrates can promote enhanced integrin clustering and focal adhesion formation, leading to increased cell adhesion and spreading [81], and can provide dynamic mechanical guides that promote stem cell differentiation along specific lineages, such as osteogenesis or chondrogenesis [30].

Compressive strength, defined as a material's ability to withstand axial compressive loads before failure, is a critical mechanical property in scaffold design. A scaffold with insufficient compressive strength will deform or collapse under physiological loading conditions, compromising its structural integrity and hindering tissue regeneration. Bone scaffolds, for example, must possess adequate compressive strength to support weight-bearing and promote bone ingrowth [82]. Similarly, cartilage scaffolds must withstand compressive forces within joints, maintaining joint space and facilitating shock absorption [31]. In addition, compressive strength also influences cellular behavior within the scaffold. For instance, compressive forces can enhance chondrocyte differentiation and promote the synthesis of cartilagespecific extracellular matrix components [83]. Therefore, matching the compressive strength of the scaffold to the target tissue's mechanical demands is crucial for successful integration and long-term functionality.

4. Surface Properties

The design of regenerative scaffolds depends not

only on bulk properties but on scaffold surface characteristics as well, where the scaffold-cell interactions govern the overall success of the regeneration process. Key factors that influence cell fate on scaffolds include surface topography (particularly roughness and surface pits/ grooves) and surface chemistry (particularly wettability and functional groups). A summary of scaffold surface properties in relation to cell adhesion and differentiation is presented in Table 3.

Studies have demonstrated the significant influence of scaffold topography on cell behavior [71]. Implants with nano grooves/pits exhibit enhanced bone ingrowth compared to smooth surfaces. Furthermore, the size and distribution of surface features can influence cell adhesion, with certain configurations promoting enhanced osteoblast attachment. Surface roughness also differentially affects cell types, with osteoblast proliferation increasing with roughness while fibroblast proliferation decreases [84].

Scaffold surface chemistry also plays a crucial role in cell adhesion. Generally, an increase in scaffold hydrophilicity promotes osteoblast adhesion, while fibroblast adhesion peaks intermediate wettability. at Conversely, hydrophobic surfaces may hinder cell adhesion and can even promote microbial biofilm formation. In addition, hydrophilic surfaces also facilitate protein adsorption and cell spreading, fostering a more favorable environment for cell growth. An excellent review by Idaszek J. et al. discusses the effect of surface properties on scaffold performance [85].

Furthermore, scaffold surface modification can improve biocompatibility and enhance regenerative outcomes. By strategically modifying the scaffold surface, researchers can create a microenvironment that provides control over cell adhesion, spreading, migration, differentiation, and the production of extracellular matrix. Surface modification strategies can be generally classified into physical, chemical, and biological modifications [86].

Surface Property	Impact on Cell Attachment	Impact on Cell Differentiation	Modification Techniques	Ref.
Surface Roughness (Ra, Sq)	Increased roughness generally enhances cell adhesion by providing more surface area for cell attachment and promoting integrin clustering. Nanoroughness can be particularly effective.	It can direct cell fate. Certain lineages (e.g., osteogenic) are often enhanced on rougher surfaces.	Sandblasting, acid etching, plasma etching, micro/ nanofabrication, self- assembling nanostructures.	[87, 88]
Surface Topography (Grooves, Pits, Nanopatterns)	Aligned features (e.g., grooves, nanofibers) provide contact guidance cues, directing cell alignment and elongation.	Can influence cell lineage commitment and function. Aligned features can promote differentiation along specific lineages (e.g., tenogenic, myogenic).	Micro/nanofabrication (e.g., lithography, etching), electrospinning, microcontact printing.	[39, 84]
Wettability (Hydrophilicity/ Hydrophobicity)	Hydrophilic surfaces generally promote protein adsorption, which is crucial for initial cell attachment.	It can influence the lineage commitment of stem cells. Some lineages (e.g., fibroblast) prefer moderately hydrophilic surfaces.	Plasma treatment, surface grafting of hydrophilic polymers (e.g., PEG), self- assembled monolayers (SAMs) with hydrophilic terminal groups.	[89, 90]
Surface Charge (Positive/Negative)	Influences protein adsorption (charge-charge interactions). Positive charges can enhance cell attachment in some cases.	It can affect signaling pathways involved in cell differentiation.	Plasma treatment, surface grafting of charged polymers (e.g., poly(acrylic acid)), chemical modification with charged functional groups.	[91]
Growth Factor Immobilization	Enhances cell recruitment and differentiation by providing localized growth factor signaling.	Directly promotes differentiation by activating specific growth factor receptors and downstream signaling pathways.	Physical adsorption, covalent grafting, encapsulation within micro/nanoparticles.	[92, 93]

Table 3: A summary of scaffold surface properties in relation to cell adhesion and differentiation.

Physical methods, such as plasma treatment, surface roughening, and micro/nanofabrication, alter the scaffold's topography and roughness to influence cell adhesion and alignment. It was found [94] that increasing the roughness of a titanium implant surface can promote osteoblast adhesion and the subsequent growth of bone tissue while creating aligned microgrooves on a polymer scaffold can guide cell orientation and the deposition of extracellular matrix in anisotropic tissues like muscle or nerve [95].

Chemical methods involve introducing or modifying functional groups on the scaffold surface. This affects properties like wettability, which can improve protein adsorption and cell adhesion. In addition, a surface charge can influence the recruitment of specific proteins or cells. Techniques like chemical self-assembled monolayers and surface grafting can be used to create surfaces with specific chemical functionalities [86].

Finally, biological methods involve immobilizing bioactive molecules such as cell adhesion peptides directly onto the scaffold surface [87]. This technique allows control over cell signaling to promote very specific cellular responses. The optimal surface modification strategy will depend on the specific needs of the tissue that is being engineered and the precise cellular behaviors that need to be encouraged.

B. Scaffold Architecture:

While material selection and bioactivity are crucial for proper scaffold design, it is the architecture of the scaffold that exerts a dominant influence on its clinical success. Scaffold architecture features like porosity and fiber alignment will be discussed.

1. Porosity

Porosity exerts a dominant influence on the scaffold microenvironment and, consequently, its performance. The pore's size and interconnectivity control nutrient and waste transport through the scaffold and cell infiltration.

a. Pore size

The importance of pore size in facilitating cell migration, nutrient diffusion, and vascularization

scaffold within the for successful tissue regeneration is well recognized. Macropores create pathways for cells to migrate into the interior of the scaffold, access nutrients, and get rid of metabolic waste products. It is noteworthy that the optimal pore size can vary depending on the specific tissue being engineered. For bone tissue, studies suggest that a combination of smaller pores (50-100 µm) to promote initial cell attachment and larger pores (200-400 μ m) to enhance nutrient diffusion and angiogenesis is most effective. For other tissues, such as skin, smaller pores (1-12 μ m) have demonstrated the greatest support for cell attachment [96, 97].

b. Interconnectivity

Similar to pore size, the interconnectivity of scaffold pores is also crucial. While pore size dictates cellular accessibility, interconnected pores establish continuous pathways for mass transport throughout the scaffold 3D structure, enhancing diffusion and transport of essential nutrients to cells deep within and facilitating the efficient removal of metabolic waste products, preventing accumulations that can inhibit cellular function, leading to apoptosis or necrosis, and compromise extracellular matrix (ECM) synthesis. In this context, pores interconnectivity is essential for maintaining cellular viability and promoting proliferation [98].

In large, complex scaffolds with increased distances, pore interconnectivity diffusion becomes more significant in preventing nutrient depletion and waste accumulation in the scaffold core by providing efficient mass transport pathways across the scaffold volume. This transport system helps keeping a proper microenvironment across the scaffold, promotes uniform cellular distribution, robust tissue formation, and long-term functional integration [99]. However, scaffold porosity can compromise its mechanical properties. This creates a necessity to balance scaffold requirements for the design of effective scaffolds.

2. Fiber Alignment

Many native tissues, including nerves, muscles,

tendons, and blood vessels, exhibit highly organized microstructures in which cells and ECM components are aligned in a specific direction (anisotropic). This precise alignment is vital for imparting the required functional mechanical characteristics, facilitating cell communication, and, ultimately, ensuring proper tissue function. In this context, fiber alignment within regenerative scaffolds (mimicking the anisotropic architectures of native tissues) exerts a significant influence on cellular organization and function. Scaffolds with controlled fiber alignment guide cell interactions within the scaffold by providing topographical signals that influence extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition, induce cell directional orientation, promote cellcell communication along the longitudinal axis, and mirror the native tissue structure [100].

The effects of fiber alignment are particularly relevant in musculoskeletal system tendon regeneration. and ligament In engineering, it was reported [101] that aligned electrospun nanofibers were able to guide stem cell differentiation toward the tenocyte lineage, fostering the development of longitudinal organization of collagen fibrils with enhanced mechanical properties and the upregulation of tenogenic markers in seeded cells. Furthermore, in neural tissue engineering, aligned nanofibers were found to create guidance templates for axonal extension, promoting directional nerve regeneration [102].

C. Bioactivity

Regenerative scaffolds provide an artificial ECM for cells to adhere, proliferate, and differentiate. The ability of cells to interact effectively with the microenvironment within the regenerative scaffold (bioactivity) directs the formation of new tissue. Consequently, increasing scaffold bioactivity can help achieve scaffold functional success. Various strategies are adopted to increase scaffold bioactivity, including the incorporation of cell adhesion motifs, growth factors, immunomodulators, and the addition of encapsulated phytoconstituents. A summary of scaffold bioactivity strategies is presented in Table 4.

June 2025 Volume 5

issue 1

Advances in Medical, Pharmaceutical and Dental Research Journal (AMPDR)- ISSN 2812-4898 http://dx.doi.org/10.21622/AMPDR.2025.05.1.1282

Table 4: A summary of the scaffold bioactivity strategies.

Bioactivity Strategy	Mechanism of Action	Examples	Benefits	Limitations	Representa- tive Tissues Studied	Ref.
Incorporation of Cell Adhesion Motifs	Promotes cell attachment and spreading by providing specific binding sites for integrins	-RGD (Arginine- Glycine-Aspartic acid) peptides -YIGSR (Tyrosine- Isoleucine-Glycine- Serine-Arginine) peptides	Enhances cell adhesion, migration, and ECM production; improves cell- scaffold integration; enables selective cell binding through specific motif choice.	It may not be sufficient for all cell types or tissue types, requiring combinations of motifs; it can be costly to synthesize peptides; motif presentation and accessibility can be challenging; and susceptibility to enzymatic degradation.	Bone, Cartilage, Skin, Neural Tissue	[103- 105]
Growth Factor Delivery (Controlled Release)	It provides tissue- specific localized and sustained stimulation of cell proliferation, differentiation, and angiogenesis.	 BMP-2 (Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2) VEGF (Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor) TGF-β (Transforming Growth Factor-β) NGF (Nerve Growth Factor) 	Promotes targeted cell responses, enhances tissue formation, accelerates healing; allows for precise control over GF dose and release kinetics.	Requires careful optimization of release kinet- ics and dose to avoid supra- physiological levels; potential for off-target effects if GF dif- fuses away from the intended site; GFs can be un- stable and prone to degradation.	Bone, Cartilage, Vascular Tissue, Neural Tissue, Wound Healing	[106- 109]
Immunomod- ulation	Twists macrophage polarization from pro- inflammatory (M1) to pro-regenerative (M2); reduces inflammation and promotes tissue repair.	 Incorporation of M2-polarizing cytokines: (IL-4, IL-10) Use immunomodulary biomaterials (Decellularized ECM, hyaluronic acid, and chitosan). 	Enhanced tissue regeneration; reduced fibrosis and scar formation; improved cell survival; modulated host-graft response.	Potential for off-target effects; requires careful control of cytokine dosage and release kinetics; dECM can be immunogenic if not properly processed; long-term effects on immune system not fully understood.	Bone, Cartilage, Wound Healing, Spinal Cord Injury, Vascular Grafts	[110- 112]
Incorporation of Phytocon- stituents	Modulate cell behavior through reduced oxidative stress and promote wound healing through natural bioactive compounds.	- flavonoids and essential oils (antioxidant, anti- inflammatory) - Aloe vera (wound healing)	Enhanced cell proliferation, differentiation, and migration; reduced inflammation and oxidative stress; improved angiogenesis and ECM deposition; can have antimicrobial properties.	Bioavailability limitations; potential for cytotoxicity at high concentrations; stability issues; batch-to-batch variability; some have limited aqueous solubility.	Skin, Wound Healing, Bone Re- generation, Nerve Re- generation	[113- 115]

1. Cell Adhesion Motifs

Cell adhesion motifs are short peptide sequences derived from ECM proteins, that mimic the natural signals that cells utilize to attach to and interact with their surroundings, thereby, influencing cell morphology, migration, gene expression, and ultimately, tissue organization.

Integrins, a family of transmembrane receptors, are the primary mediators of cell adhesion to the ECM. Integrins recognize and bind to specific amino acid sequences within ECM proteins, triggering intracellular signaling pathways that regulate cell behavior. As such, incorporating integrin-binding motifs such as arginineglycine-aspartic acid (RGD) sequence (found in a variety of ECM proteins, including fibronectin, vitronectin, and laminin) can effectively promote cell adhesion, spreading, and migration on a wide range of scaffold biomaterials. This sequence is one of the most widely studied cell-adhesive motifs and is recognized by several different integrins. RGD functionalization has also proven valuable in stimulating the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells [33].

The method of presenting cell adhesion motifs is also an important consideration. Simply incorporating adhesion ligands into the scaffold bulk may not be sufficient to promote cell adhesion, as they may be buried within the material core and inaccessible to cells. Surface modification methods like plasma treatment, chemical grafting, and layer-by-layer assembly can be used to ensure proper surface presentation [116]. Continued research into novel ECM-derived motifs, delivery strategies, and the synergistic effects of multiple bioactive signals will pave the way for the development of even more effective and clinically relevant regenerative therapies.

2. Growth Factor Delivery

Growth factors (GFs) are naturally occurring signaling proteins that play an essential role in almost all aspects of scaffold biological cell proliferation, regulating performance, differentiation, migration, and ECM synthesis. Although integrating growth factors within scaffolds can be challenging due to the inherent problems of bioavailability, short half-life, and potential side effects, their delivery from biomaterial scaffolds is swiftly becoming a vital research topic for promoting tissue regeneration. The choice of growth factor and its delivery strategy are highly tissue-specific. Scaffolds serve as vehicles for delivering GFs to the site of tissue regeneration. The controlled release of GFs

from scaffolds is crucial, as the timing and dose can profoundly affect cell response, including cell recruitment, tissue-specific differentiation, and tissue development [117].

Delivery of GFs ranges from simple GF incorporation within the scaffold matrix to sophisticated micro- or nano-encapsulation that provides sophisticated control over the GFs release within scaffolds, enhancing their regenerative potential [118]. Microparticles and nanoparticles can encapsulate GFs within a variety of materials, including polymers, lipids, and inorganic materials, protecting the GFs from degradation and enabling sustained release profiles. These systems are integrated into the scaffold structure, allowing for localized GF delivery [119]. PLGA microspheres loaded with bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP-2) were found to be successful in bone regeneration, providing a controlled release of BMP-2 that osteoblast differentiation promotes and bone formation [106]. Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) has been incorporated into hydrogels for cartilage regeneration, promoting chondrogenesis and cartilage matrix synthesis [120]. In addition, the liposomal hydrogel was found to deliver vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in a sustained manner in order to enhance the osteogenesis of MG-63 cells [121]. Overall, growth factors have become important means of promoting certain cellular behaviors by directing cells toward desired outcomes.

3. Immunomodulatory signals.

The host's immune response to the implanted scaffold and/or its degradation products represents one of the primary concerns for developing a successful regenerative scaffold [22]. Scaffolds can trigger immune responses, directing macrophage polarization towards either pro-inflammatory MI or pro-regenerative M2 phenotypes. This property is a key factor that governs the overall healing outcomes. MI macrophages release pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6, promoting chronic inflammation and scaffold failure, while M2 macrophages secrete antiinflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF-B that promote tissue repair, angiogenesis, ECM remodeling, and resolution of inflammation, making them highly desirable in regenerative settings. Consequently, the modulation of macrophage polarization towards the M2 phenotype is an increasingly desirable strategy in scaffold design.

Severalapproachesarebeingexploredtoachieve this immunomodulation. Certain biomaterial

hydrogels, such as hyaluronic acid and chitosan, possess inherent immunomodulatory properties, capable of steering the immune response toward a pro-regenerative state [122]. The use of decellularized ECM (dECM) holds significant promise, as it inherently contains tissue-specific growth factors and ECM proteins that can influence macrophage behavior [123].

4. Phytoconstituents

Incorporating phytoconstituents such as flavonoids and polyphenolic compounds in wound healing scaffolds significantly enhances their regenerative potential. They act as antioxidants, reduce inflammation, and promote a wound healing microenvironment. They offer distinct advantages of biocompatibility and complex mechanisms of action. Optimized phytoconstituents loading, release kinetics, and loaded scaffold degradation profiles are all responsible for attained therapeutic efficacy [124, 125].

In addition, encapsulating essential oils (EOs) within scaffolds also represents a promising strategy for enhancing their performance in a multifaceted approach. First, many EOs exert antimicrobial activity (disrupt bacterial cell membranes and inhibit biofilm formation), creating a cleaner environment that promotes cell survival and proliferation within the scaffold, risk of scaffold-associated reducing the infections, a significant barrier to successful tissue integration. In addition, many EOs possess anti-inflammatory properties, reducing the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and promoting an immunomodulatory shift towards a pro-regenerative immune response and preventing chronic inflammation, which can hinder tissue repair and lead to fibrosis. Also, certain EOs promote the release of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), stimulating angiogenesis essential for nutrient supply and waste removal within the scaffold [126].

Encapsulation of EOs from scaffolds not only protects EOs from degradation but also allows for sustained and localized delivery, maximizing their therapeutic effect while minimizing potential cytotoxicity associated with high concentrations. Various encapsulation methods, including microencapsulation, nanoencapsulation, and complexation with cyclodextrins, are employed to create EO-loaded delivery systems suitable for incorporation into a variety of scaffold materials [127]. This multifaceted modulation of the scaffold microenvironment by EOs helps increase their bioactivity for successful tissue regeneration and functional integration.

4. Fabrication Techniques

The proper selection of a suitable fabrication technique directly influences the scaffold's porosity, mechanical properties, and drug delivery capabilities, all of which are vital to the proper direction of cell behavior and tissue regeneration. In this context, the ideal fabrication method must be carefully considered with respect to the specific requirements of the target tissue and the desired scaffold characteristics, in addition to the scalability and cost-effectiveness of the technique for eventual clinical translation [128]. A summary of common scaffold Fabrication Techniques is presented in Table 5.

Traditional fabrication methods are simpler and more accessible and still present potential value. Solvent casting and particulate leaching are foundational for creating porous scaffolds with controlled pore size, are useful in bone regeneration, and provide a basic template for osteoblast attachment. Gas foaming, known for avoiding organic solvents, is suitable for enhancing biocompatibility in scaffolds designed for soft tissue applications. Freezedrying, or lyophilization, creates highly porous structures, mimicking the architecture of ECM and serving as a versatile starting point for deposition and cell infiltration in bone and skin regeneration. Each technique, though established, continues to be refined and adapted for novel applications [128, 129]. Advanced fabrication technologies, on the other hand, provide broader outcomes and versatility. Electrospinning creates nanofiber scaffolds with control over fiber alignment, which is essential for directional cell organization in anisotropic tissues like tendons, ligaments, and nerves. 3D printing, encompassing techniques like fused deposition modeling, stereolithography, and bioprinting, enables the creation of complex, customized scaffolds tailored to the patient's anatomy.

Table 5: Summary of common scaffold Fabrication Techniques.

[123, 139, 140]	wound healing, heart valves for valve replacement.	Difficult complete decellu- larization, potential immune response, limited control geometry and properties.	Retains natural ECM architecture, composition, and biomechanical properties, which provide a natural microenvironment.	Cells removed from native tissues/organs, leaving ECM scaffold.	Decellularization
[129, 137, 138]	PCL bone scaffolds, hydro- gel cartilage scaffolds.	Time-consuming, expen- sive, specialized equipment, material limitations.	Precise control geometry, pore size/ interconnectivity, promotes optimal cell infiltration, nutrient transport & material composition; customized scaffolds provides control over me- chanical properties.	Digital design builds scaf- folds layer by layer (FDM, SLS, SLA, bioprinting).	3D printing (additive manufacturing)
[129, 137]	PU scaffolds for vascular grafts.	Limited control of pore size and porosity hinders cell infiltration and transport.	High surface area promotes cell ad- hesion, and controlled fiber alignment guides cell orientation.	The polymer solution is ejected through a spin- neret under high voltage, forming nanofibers.	Electrospinning
[129, 135, 136]	PCL, PLGA, and collagen scaffolds for various tissue engineering applications.	It can be challenging to re- move all solvents; mechani- cal properties can be limited.	Good control over pore size and morphology; highly interconnected porous structures can be achieved, which promotes cell infiltration and nutrient transport.	Polymer solution under- goes liquid-liquid or sol- id-liquid phase separation upon cooling, followed by solvent extraction.	Temperature-induced phase separation (TIPS)
[129, 133, 134]	Collagen scaffolds and skin regeneration.	Limited control pore size and interconnectivity; anisotropic pore structures restrict cell migration and ECM deposi- tion.	Simple, versatile; high porosity pro- motes cell infiltration.	The polymer solution was frozen, and the solvent was sublimated under a vacuum.	Freeze-drying (lyophiliza- tion)
[129, 132]	PCL scaffolds for soft tissue regeneration.	Difficult to control pore size and interconnectivity; often, closed-pore structures restrict cell infiltration and nutrient diffusion.	Avoids organic solvents, potentially improving biocompatibility.	Polymer saturated with gas (CO ₂) under pressure; pressure release creates pores.	Gas foarning
[129-131]	PLGA scaffolds for non- load-bearing bone regen- eration.	Poor pore interconnectivity hinders nutrient transport in larger constructs, as well as difficult, complex geom- etries and potential solvent contamination.	Simple, cost-effective, controlled pore size and porosity.	The polymer solution is cast into a mold with porogen (salt, sugar); the solvent evaporates, and the porogen leaches out.	Solvent casting/particu- late leaching
Ref.	Examples	Limitations	Advantages	Process description	Fabrication technique

different scaffold fabrication Combining techniques is quickly gaining interest in overcoming the limitations of individual methods and creating scaffolds with tailored properties for complex applications. Examples of commonly combined fabrication techniques are listed in Table 6. By synergistically integrating multiple approaches, researchers can achieve greater control over scaffold architecture, mechanical properties, and bioactivity. These hybrid approaches leverage the strengths of each technique, resulting in scaffolds that better mimic the complex microenvironment of native tissues and promote enhanced tissue regeneration.

As the field advances, further research is needed to develop novel fabrication techniques, optimize existing techniques, and translate these promising technologies into clinical applications.

5. Conclusion

Successful scaffold design for regenerative medicine requires a meticulous balance of material properties, geometry, bioactivity, and selected fabrication technique. To optimize

material properties, continued research into biocompatible materials is crucial for minimizing adverse host responses, while controlled degradation mechanisms are necessary to ensure scaffold breakdown aligns with new tissue formation. Matching scaffold mechanical properties to native tissue properties is vital for creating biomimetic environments that promote appropriate cell responses. Regarding geometry, advanced fabrication methods are critical for achieving precise control over architecture, porosity, and pore interconnectivity, facilitating optimal cell infiltration and nutrient transport. Simultaneously, ongoing investigations into microfabrication techniques allow for the creation of surface features that enhance cell adhesion and direct cell behavior. Ultimately, optimizing scaffold bioactivity depends on research into novel ECM-derived motifs for cell signaling, innovative delivery strategies for growth factors and therapeutic agents, and a deeper understanding of the synergistic effects of multiple bioactive signals. A careful selection and implementation of suitable fabrication techniques are critical for improving tissue regeneration outcomes and successful clinical translation.

Table 6: Examples of Combined Scaffold Fabrication Techniques.

Combination of Techniques	Key Benefits Achieved	Target Tissue	Ref.
3D Printing + Electrospinning	Precise macropore architecture (3D printing) combined with aligned nanofiber guidance (electrospinning) for enhanced osteoblast differentiation and bone ingrowth.	Bone	[137, 141, 142]
Freeze-Drying + Gas Foaming	High porosity from freeze-drying, combined with interconnected pores, is achieved through gas foaming.	Bone	[143, 144]
Electrospinning + Solvent Casting/ Particulate Leaching	Aligned nanofibers for chondrocyte alignment, combined with macroporous structure for nutrient transport.	Cartilage	[145]
Electrospinning + Decellularization	Aligned nanofibers for chondrocyte alignment and decellularized ECM for enhanced biocompatibility and cell-specific cues	Cartilage	[146]
3D Printing + Decellularization	3D printed support structure providing mechanical strength, combined with decellularized ECM for enhanced biocompatibility and cell-specific signals.	Vascular Graft	[147, 148]
Electrospinning + Bioprinting	The electrospun layer provides dermal support, combined with a printed epidermal layer for enhanced skin regeneration.	Skin	[149, 150]

References

- Aiman AR, Vigneswari S, Amran NA, Murugaiyah V, Amirul AA, Ramakrishna S. Advancing Regenerative Medicine Through the Development of Scaffold, Cell Biology, Biomaterials and Strategies of Smart Material. Regen Eng Transl Med. 2022;8(2).
- 2. Bradshaw KJ, Leipzig ND. Applications of Regenerative Tissue-Engineered Scaffolds for Treatment of Spinal Cord Injury. Tissue Eng Part A. 2025 Feb 1;31(3–4):108–25.
- Lian L, Xie M, Luo Z, Zhang Z, Maharjan S, Mu X, et al. Rapid Volumetric Bioprinting of Decellularized Extracellular Matrix Bioinks. Advanced Materials. 2024 Aug 20;36(34).
- Ramesh P, Moskwa N, Hanchon Z, Koplas A, Nelson DA, Mills KL, et al. Engineering cryoelectrospun elastin-alginate scaffolds to serve as stromal extracellular matrices. Biofabrication. 2022;14(3).
- 5. Asadi N, Del Bakhshayesh AR, Davaran S, Akbarzadeh A. Common biocompatible polymeric materials for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Mater Chem Phys. 2020;242.
- Callaghan NI, Rempe CN, Froom ZSCS, Medd KT, Davenport Huyer L. Cell dynamics and metabolism of the foreign body response: characterizing host-biomaterial interactions for next-generation medical implant biocompatibility. Mater Adv. 2024;5(17):6719–38.
- 7. Koons GL, Diba M, Mikos AG. Materials design for bone-tissue engineering. Vol. 5, Nature Reviews Materials. 2020.
- Modrák M, Trebuňová M, Balogová AF, Hudák R, Živčák J. Biodegradable Materials for Tissue Engineering: Development, Classification and Current Applications. Vol. 14, Journal of Functional Biomaterials. 2023.
- 9. Reddy MSB, Ponnamma D, Choudhary R, Sadasivuni KK. A comparative review of natural and synthetic biopolymer composite scaffolds. Vol. 13, Polymers. 2021.
- Biswas MC, Jony B, Nandy PK, Chowdhury RA, Halder S, Kumar D, et al. Recent Advancement of Biopolymers and Their Potential Biomedical Applications. Vol. 30, Journal of Polymers and the Environment. 2022.

- Puertas-BartoloméM,Mora-BozaA,García-Fernández L. Emerging biofabrication techniques: A review on natural polymers for biomedical applications. Vol. 13, Polymers. 2021.
- 12. Yoon DM, Fisher JP. Natural and Synthetic Polymeric Scaffolds. In: Biomedical Materials. 2021. p. 257–83.
- 13. Ebhodaghe SO. Natural Polymeric Scaffolds for Tissue Engineering Applications. Vol. 32, Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition. 2021.
- Echeverria Molina MI, Malollari KG, Komvopoulos K. Design Challenges in Polymeric Scaffolds for Tissue Engineering. Vol. 9, Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology. 2021.
- Terzopoulou Z, Zamboulis A, Koumentakou I, Michailidou G, Noordam MJ, Bikiaris DN. Biocompatible Synthetic Polymers for Tissue Engineering Purposes. Biomacromolecules. 2022;23(5).
- Liu D, Nie W, Li D, Wang W, Zheng L, Zhang J, et al. 3D printed PCL/SrHA scaffold for enhanced bone regeneration. Chemical Engineering Journal. 2019;362.
- Diomede F, Gugliandolo A, Cardelli P, Merciaro I, Ettorre V, Traini T, et al. Threedimensional printed PLA scaffold and human gingival stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: A new tool for bone defect repair. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2018;9(1).
- Chew SA, Arriaga MA, Hinojosa VA. Effects of surface area to volume ratio of PLGA scaffolds with different architectures on scaffold degradation characteristics and drug release kinetics. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2016;104(5).
- Bhaskar B, Owen R, Bahmaee H, Wally Z, Sreenivasa Rao P, Reilly GC. Composite porous scaffold of PEG/PLA support improved bone matrix deposition in vitro compared to PLA-only scaffolds. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2018;106(5).
- Chen F, Liu X, Ge X, Wang Y, Zhao Z, Zhang X, et al. Porous polydroxyalkanoates (PHA) scaffolds with antibacterial property for oral soft tissue regeneration. Chemical Engineering Journal. 2023;451.

- 21. Arahira T, Todo M. Development of novel collagen scaffolds with different bioceramic particles for bone tissue engineering. Composites Communications. 2019;16.
- Dobaj Štiglic A, Lackner F, Nagaraj C, Beaumont M, Bračič M, Duarte I, et al.
 3D-Printed Collagen-Nanocellulose Hybrid Bioscaffolds with Tailored Properties for Tissue Engineering Applications. ACS Appl Bio Mater. 2023;6(12).
- 23. Fan C, Li X, Xiao Z, Zhao Y, Liang H, Wang B, et al. A modified collagen scaffold facilitates endogenous neurogenesis for acute spinal cord injury repair. Acta Biomater. 2017;51.
- 24. Gurumurthy B, Janorkar A V. Improvements in mechanical properties of collagenbased scaffolds for tissue engineering. Vol. 17, Current Opinion in Biomedical Engineering. 2021.
- 25. MobarakiM,BizariD,SoltaniM,Khshmohabat H, Raahemifar K, Amirdehi MA. The effects of curcumin nanoparticles incorporated into collagen-alginate scaffold on wound healing of skin tissue in trauma patients. Polymers (Basel). 2021;13(24).
- 26. Abbas Z, Dapporto M, Tampieri A, Sprio S. Toughening of bioceramic composites for bone regeneration. Vol. 5, Journal of Composites Science. 2021.
- 27. Choi DJ, Park SJ, Gu BK, Kim YJ, Chung S, Kim CH. Effect of the pore size in a 3D bioprinted gelatin scaffold on fibroblast proliferation. Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry. 2018;67.
- 28. Pfeifer CG, Berner A, Koch M, Krutsch W, Kujat R, Angele P, et al. Higher ratios of hyaluronic acid enhance chondrogenic differentiation of human MSCs in a hyaluronic acid-gelatin composite scaffold. Materials. 2016;9(5).
- 29. Grulova I, Slovinska L, Blaško J, Devaux S, Wisztorski M, Salzet M, et al. Delivery of Alginate Scaffold Releasing Two Trophic Factors for Spinal Cord Injury Repair. Sci Rep. 2015;5.
- 30. Wang L, Liu Y, Zhang Y, Sun Q, Wang X, Li Q, et al. Dual-crosslinkable alginate hydrogel with dynamic viscoelasticity for chondrogenic and osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Int J Biol Macromol. 2025;142346.

- 31. Shen Y, Xu Y, Yi B, Wang X, Tang H, Chen C, et al. Engineering a highly biomimetic chitosan-based cartilage scaffold by using short fibers and a cartilage-decellularized matrix. Biomacromolecules. 2021;22(5).
- 32. Ribeiro VP, da Silva Morais A, Maia FR, Canadas RF, Costa JB, Oliveira AL, et al. Combinatory approach for developing silk fibroin scaffolds for cartilage regeneration. Acta Biomater. 2018;72.
- 33. Wei J, Sun XQ, Hou BX. Evaluation of Silk Fibroin-RGD-Stem Cell Factor Scaffold Effect on Adhesion, Migration, and Proliferation of Stem Cells of Apical Papilla. Stem Cells Int. 2021;2021.
- 34. Mohammadalizadeh Z, Bahremandi-Toloue E, Karbasi S. Recent advances in modification strategies of pre- and postelectrospinning of nanofiber scaffolds in tissue engineering. Vol. 172, Reactive and Functional Polymers. 2022.
- Hlushchenko V, Oleshko T, Berladir K, Oleshko O, Rybarczyk J, Boiko V. Study of the Features of in Vitro Degradation of PCL, PLA, and Polymer 3D Scaffolds in Static and Dynamic Conditions. In 2024. p. 308–23.
- Li C, Guo C, Fitzpatrick V, Ibrahim A, Zwierstra MJ, Hanna P, et al. Design of biodegradable, implantable devices towards clinical translation. Vol. 5, Nature Reviews Materials. 2020.
- Dias GJ, Mahoney P, Hung NA, Sharma LA, Kalita P, Smith RA, et al. Osteoconduction in keratin-hydroxyapatite composite bonegraft substitutes. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2017;105(7).
- Rahman MM, Shahruzzaman M, Islam MS, Khan MN, Haque P. Preparation and properties of biodegradable polymer/ nano-hydroxyapatite bioceramic scaffold for spongy bone regeneration. Journal of Polymer Engineering. 2019;39(2).
- 39. Vu AA, Burke DA, Bandyopadhyay A, Bose S. Effects of surface area and topography on 3D printed tricalcium phosphate scaffolds for bone grafting applications. Addit Manuf. 2021;39.
- 40. Lu H, Zhou Y, Ma Y, Xiao L, Ji W, Zhang Y, et al. Current Application of Beta-Tricalcium Phosphate in Bone Repair and Its Mechanism to Regulate Osteogenesis.

Vol. 8, Frontiers in Materials. 2021.

- 41. Palivela BC, Bandari SD, Mamilla RS. Extrusion-based 3D printing of bioactive glass scaffolds-process parameters and mechanical properties: A review. Vol. 27, Bioprinting. 2022.
- 42. Jain S, Gujjala R, Abdul Azeem P, Ojha S, Samudrala RK. A review on mechanical and In-vitro studies of polymer reinforced bioactive glass-scaffolds and their fabrication techniques. Vol. 48, Ceramics International. 2022.
- 43. Hendea RE, Raducanu D, Claver A, García JA, Cojocaru VD, Nocivin A, et al. Biodegradable Magnesium Alloys for Personalised Temporary Implants. J Funct Biomater. 2023;14(8).
- 44. Qin Y, Liu A, Guo H, Shen Y, Wen P, Lin H, et al. Additive manufacturing of Zn-Mg alloy porous scaffolds with enhanced osseointegration: In vitro and in vivo studies. Acta Biomater. 2022;145.
- 45. Wang Z, Wang W, Zhang X, Cao F, Zhang T, Bhakta Pokharel D, et al. Modulation of Osteogenesis and Angiogenesis Activities Based on Ionic Release from Zn–Mg Alloys. Materials. 2022;15(20).
- 46. Salama M, Vaz MF, Colaço R, Santos C, Carmezim M. Biodegradable Iron and Porous Iron: Mechanical Properties, Degradation Behaviour, Manufacturing Routes and Biomedical Applications. J Funct Biomater. 2022;13(2).
- 47. Gąsior G, Szczepański J, Radtke A. Biodegradable iron-based materials what was done and what more can be done? Vol. 14, Materials. 2021.
- 48. Wang W, Zhang B, Li M, Li J, Zhang C, Han Y, et al. 3D printing of PLA/n-HA composite scaffolds with customized mechanical properties and biological functions for bone tissue engineering. Compos B Eng. 2021;224.
- 49. Bernardo MP, da Silva BCR, Hamouda AEI, de Toledo MAS, Schalla C, Rütten S, et al. PLA/Hydroxyapatite scaffolds exhibit in vitro immunological inertness and promote robust osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells without osteogenic stimuli. Sci Rep. 2022;12(1).

- 50. Suo H, Zhang J, Xu M, Wang L. Lowtemperature 3D printing of collagen and chitosan composite for tissue engineering. Materials Science and Engineering C. 2021;123.
- 51. Dewey MJ, Milner DJ, Weisgerber D, Flanagan CL, Rubessa M, Lotti S, et al. Repair of critical-size porcine craniofacial bone defects using a collagen-polycaprolactone composite biomaterial. Biofabrication. 2022;14(1).
- 52. Entekhabi E, Haghbin Nazarpak M, Shafieian M, Mohammadi H, Firouzi M, Hassannejad Z. Fabrication and in vitro evaluation of 3D composite scaffold based on collagen/ hyaluronic acid sponge and electrospun polycaprolactone nanofibers for peripheral nerve regeneration. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2021;109(3).
- 53. Xu P, Kankala RK, Wang S, Chen A. Decellularized extracellular matrix-based composite scaffolds for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Vol. 11, Regenerative Biomaterials. 2024.
- 54. Li S, Deng R, Zou X, Rong Q, Shou J, Rao Z, et al. Development and fabrication of coaxially electrospun biomimetic periosteum with a decellularized periosteal ECM shell/ PCL core structure to promote the repair of critical-sized bone defects. Compos B Eng. 2022;234.
- 55. Mao X, Li T, Cheng J, Tao M, Li Z, Ma Y, et al. Nerve ECM and PLA-PCL based electrospun bilayer nerve conduit for nerve regeneration. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 2023;11.
- 56. Nouri A, Wen C. Stainless steels in orthopedics. In: Structural Biomaterials. Elsevier; 2021. p. 67–101.
- 57. Chen Q, Thouas GA. Metallic implant biomaterials. Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports. 2015 Jan;87:1–57.
- 58. Sridhar TM, Vinodhini SP, Kamachi Mudali U, Venkatachalapathy B, Ravichandran K. Load-bearing metallic implants: electrochemical characterisation of corrosion phenomena. Materials Technology. 2016;31(12).
- 59. Bandyopadhyay A, Mitra I, Avila JD, Upadhyayula M, Bose S. Porous metal implants: processing, properties, and

challenges. Vol. 5, International Journal of Extreme Manufacturing. 2023.

- 60. Hsieh DJ, Srinivasan P, Yen KC, Yeh YC, Chen YJ, Wang HC, et al. Protocols for the preparation and characterization of decellularized tissue and organ scaffolds for tissue engineering. Biotechniques. 2020;70(2).
- 61. Montoya C, Du Y, Gianforcaro AL, Orrego S, Yang M, Lelkes Pl. On the road to smart biomaterials for bone research: definitions, concepts, advances, and outlook. Vol. 9, Bone Research. 2021.
- 62. Helling AL, Tsekoura EK, Biggs M, Bayon Y, Pandit A, Zeugolis DI. In Vitro Enzymatic Degradation of Tissue Grafts and Collagen Biomaterials by Matrix Metalloproteinases: Improving the Collagenase Assay. ACS Biomater Sci Eng. 2017;3(9).
- 63. Mukundan S, Sant V, Goenka S, Franks J, Rohan LC, Sant S. Nanofibrous composite scaffolds of poly(ester amides) with tunable physicochemical and degradation properties. Eur Polym J. 2015;68.
- 64. Lin W, Zhang H, Zhang W, Qi H, Zhang G, Qian J, et al. In vivo degradation and endothelialization of an iron bioresorbable scaffold. Bioact Mater. 2021;6(4).
- 65. Yi B, Xu Q, Liu W. An overview of substrate stiffness guided cellular response and its applications in tissue regeneration. Vol. 15, Bioactive Materials. 2022.
- 66. Lin CY, Kang JH. Mechanical properties of compact bone defined by the stress-strain curve measured using uniaxial tensile test: A concise review and practical guide. Vol. 14, Materials. 2021.
- 67. Wang W, Shi Y, Lin G, Tang B, Li X, Zhang J, et al. Advances in Mechanical Properties of Hydrogels for Cartilage Tissue Defect Repair. Vol. 23, Macromolecular Bioscience. 2023.
- 68. Bramson MTK, Van Houten SK, Corr DT. Mechanobiology in Tendon, Ligament, and Skeletal Muscle Tissue Engineering. J Biomech Eng. 2021;143(7).
- 69. Leal BBJ, Wakabayashi N, Oyama K, Kamiya H, Braghirolli DI, Pranke P. Vascular Tissue Engineering: Polymers and Methodologies for Small Caliber Vascular Grafts. Front

Cardiovasc Med. 2021;7.

- 70. Amini S, Salehi H, Setayeshmehr M, Ghorbani M. Natural and synthetic polymeric scaffolds used in peripheral nerve tissue engineering: Advantages and disadvantages. Vol. 32, Polymers for Advanced Technologies. 2021.
- Liu E, Zhu D, Gonzalez Dlaz E, Tong X, Yang F. Gradient Hydrogels for Optimizing Niche Cues to Enhance Cell-Based Cartilage Regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A. 2021;27(13– 14).
- 72. Esmaeili J, Jalise SZ, Pisani S, Rochefort GY, Ghobadinezhad F, Mirzaei Z, et al. Development and characterization of Polycaprolactone/chitosan-based scaffolds for tissue engineering of various organs: A review. Int J Biol Macromol. 2024 Jun;272:132941.
- 73. Mao Z, Fan B, Wang X, Huang X, Guan J, Sun Z, et al. A Systematic Review of Tissue Engineering Scaffold in Tendon Bone Healing in vivo. Vol. 9, Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology. 2021.
- 74. Omid H, Abdollahi S, Bonakdar S, Haghighipour N, Shokrgozar MA, Mohammadi J. Biomimetic vascular tissue engineering by decellularized scaffold and concurrent cyclic tensile and shear stresses. J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2023;34(3).
- 75. Javid-Naderi MJ, Behravan J, Karimi-Hajishohreh N, Toosi S. Synthetic polymers as bone engineering scaffold. Vol. 34, Polymers for Advanced Technologies. 2023.
- 76. Hosseini M, Shafiee A. Engineering Bioactive Scaffolds for Skin Regeneration. Vol. 17, Small. 2021.
- 77. Saraswathibhatla A, Indana D, Chaudhuri O. Cell–extracellular matrix mechanotransduction in 3D. Vol. 24, Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology. 2023.
- 78. Wu DT, Jeffreys N, Diba M, Mooney DJ. Viscoelastic Biomaterials for Tissue Regeneration. Vol. 28, Tissue Engineering – Part C: Methods. 2022.
- 79. Baghersad S, Sathish Kumar A, Kipper MJ, Popat K, Wang Z. Recent Advances in Tissue-Engineered Cardiac Scaffolds— The Progress and Gap in Mimicking Native Myocardium Mechanical Behaviors. Vol. 14,

Journal of Functional Biomaterials. 2023.

- Zhang Y, Wang Z, Sun Q, Li Q, Li S, Li X. Dynamic Hydrogels with Viscoelasticity and Tunable Stiffness for the Regulation of Cell Behavior and Fate. Vol. 16, Materials. 2023.
- Li L, Wang S, Chen Y, Dong S, Zhang C, Liao L, et al. Hydrogels mimicking the viscoelasticity of extracellular matrix for regenerative medicine: Design, application, and molecular mechanism. Chemical Engineering Journal. 2024 Oct;498:155206.
- 82. Collins MN, Ren G, Young K, Pina S, Reis RL, Oliveira JM. Scaffold Fabrication Technologies and Structure/Function Properties in Bone Tissue Engineering. Vol. 31, Advanced Functional Materials. 2021.
- 83. Uzieliene I, Bironaite D, Bernotas P, Sobolev A, Bernotiene E. Mechanotransducive biomimetic systems for chondrogenic differentiation in vitro. Vol. 22, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2021.
- 84. Xiao L, Sun Y, Liao L, Su X. Response of mesenchymal stem cells to surface topography of scaffolds and the underlying mechanisms. Vol. 11, Journal of Materials Chemistry B. 2023.
- 85. Idaszek J, Kijeńska E, Łojkowski M, Swieszkowski W. How important are scaffolds and their surface properties in regenerative medicine. Appl Surf Sci. 2016;388.
- 86. Qian Y, Lin H, Yan Z, Shi J, Fan C. Functional nanomaterials in peripheral nerve regeneration: Scaffold design, chemical principles and microenvironmental remodeling. Vol. 51, Materials Today. 2021.
- Ghorbani F, Ghalandari B, Sahranavard M, Zamanian A, Collins MN. Tuning the biomimetic behavior of hybrid scaffolds for bone tissue engineering through surface modifications and drug immobilization. Materials Science and Engineering C. 2021;130.
- Calore AR, Srinivas V, Groenendijk L, Serafim A, Stancu IC, Wilbers A, et al. Manufacturing of scaffolds with interconnected internal open porosity and surface roughness. Acta Biomater. 2023;156.
- 89. Młotek M, Gadomska-gajadhur A,

Sobczak A, Kruk A, Perron M, Krawczyk K. Modification of pla scaffold surface for medical applications. Applied Sciences (Switzerland). 2021;11(4).

- Raja IS, Lee SH, Kang MS, Hyon SH, Selvaraj AR, Prabakar K, et al. The predominant factor influencing cellular behavior on electrospun nanofibrous scaffolds: Wettability or surface morphology? Mater Des. 2022;216.
- Shin CS, Cabrera FJ, Lee R, Kim J, Ammassam Veettil R, Zaheer M, et al. 3D-Bioprinted Inflammation Modulating Polymer Scaffolds for Soft Tissue Repair. Advanced Materials. 2021;33(4).
- 92. Bavaro T, Tengattini S, Rezwan R, Chiesa E, Temporini C, Dorati R, et al. Design of epidermal growth factor immobilization on 3D biocompatible scaffolds to promote tissue repair and regeneration. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1).
- 93. Shen H, Hu X. Growth factor loading on aliphatic polyester scaffolds. Vol. 11, RSC Advances. 2021.
- 94. TeimouriR, AbnousK, TaghdisiSM, Ramezani M, Alibolandi M. Surface modifications of scaffolds for bone regeneration. Journal of Materials Research and Technology. 2023;24.
- Gao H, Xiao J, Wei Y, Wang H, Wan H, Liu S. Regulation of Myogenic Differentiation by Topologically Microgrooved Surfaces for Skeletal Muscle Tissue Engineering. ACS Omega. 2021;6(32).
- 96. Xia P, Luo Y. Vascularization in tissue engineering: The architecture cues of pores in scaffolds. Vol. 110, Journal of Biomedical Materials Research - Part B Applied Biomaterials. 2022.
- 97. Swanson WB, Omi M, Zhang Z, Nam HK, Jung Y, Wang G, et al. Macropore design of tissue engineering scaffolds regulates mesenchymal stem cell differentiation fate. Biomaterials. 2021;272.
- 98. Mukasheva F, Adilova L, Dyussenbinov A, Yernaimanova B, Abilev M, Akilbekova D. Optimizing scaffold pore size for tissue engineering: insights across various tissue types. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 2024 Nov 12;12.

- 99. Fattahpour H, Sanaei P. Effects of nutrient concentration and scaffold elasticity on the tissue growth in a tissue engineering scaffold channel. Physics of Fluids. 2023 Nov 1;35(11).
- 100. Xing J, Liu N, Xu N, Chen W, Xing D. Engineering Complex Anisotropic Scaffolds beyond Simply Uniaxial Alignment for Tissue Engineering. Vol. 32, Advanced Functional Materials. 2022.
- 101. Yang Q, Li J, Su W, Yu L, Li T, Wang Y, et al. Electrospun aligned poly(ε-caprolactone) nanofiber yarns guiding 3D organization of tendon stem/progenitor cells in tenogenic differentiation and tendon repair. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 2022;10.
- 102. Hu Y, Zhang H, Wei H, Cheng H, Cai J, Chen X, et al. Scaffolds with anisotropic structure for neural tissue engineering. Engineered Regeneration. 2022 Jun;3(2):154–62.
- 103. Li J, Zhang Y, Zhou X, Wang S, Hao R, Han J, et al. Enzymatically functionalized RGD-gelatin scaffolds that recruit host mesenchymal stem cells in vivo and promote bone regeneration. J Colloid Interface Sci. 2022;612.
- 104. Jha A, Moore E. YIGSR, A Laminin-Derived Peptide, Dictates a Concentration-Dependent Impact on Macrophage Phenotype Response. Cell Mol Bioeng. 2024 Oct 26;17(5):423-40.
- 105. Gao H, Liu Y, Guan W, Sun S, Zheng T, Wu L, et al. Surface topologized ovalbumin scaffolds containing YIGSR peptides for modulating Schwann cell behavior. Int J Biol Macromol. 2023;253.
- 106. Li W, Li S, Zhang J, Zhong H, Liang J, Huang S, et al. Fabrication and evaluation of bone morphogenetic protein-2 microspheres coated black phosphorus nanosheets@ polylactic-glycolic acid copolymers scaffold: A multifunctional antibacterial photothermal scaffold for bone regeneration. Int J Biol Macromol. 2022;210.
- 107. Pajooh AMD, Tavakoli M, Al-Musawi MH, Karimi A, Salehi E, Nasiri-Harchegani S, et al. Biomimetic VEGF-loaded bilayer scaffold fabricated by 3D printing and electrospinning techniques for skin regeneration. Mater Des. 2024;238.
- 108. Wang T, Dogru S, Dai Z, Kim SY, Vickers

NA, Albro MB. Physiologic Doses of TGF-b Improve the Composition of Engineered Articular Cartilage. bioRxiv. 2023;

- 109. Xu H, Yu Y, Zhang L, Zheng F, Yin Y, Gao Y, et al. Sustainable release of nerve growth factor for peripheral nerve regeneration using nerve conduits laden with Bioconjugated hyaluronic acid-chitosan hydrogel. Compos B Eng. 2022;230.
- 110. Tian G, Jiang S, Li J, Wei F, Li X, Ding Y, et al. Cell-free decellularized cartilage extracellular matrix scaffolds combined with interleukin 4 promote osteochondral repair through immunomodulatory macrophages: In vitro and in vivo preclinical study. Acta Biomater. 2021;127.
- Caldwell AS, Rao V V., Golden AC, Bell DJ, Grim JC, Anseth KS. Mesenchymal stem cell-inspired microgel scaffolds to control macrophage polarization. Bioeng Transl Med. 2021;6(2).
- 112. Wu Y, Chen X, Song P, Li R, Zhou Y, Wang Q, et al. Functional Oxidized Hyaluronic Acid Cross-Linked Decellularized Heart Valves for Improved Immunomodulation, Anti-Calcification, and Recellularization. Adv Healthc Mater. 2024 Jun 15;13(16).
- 113. Unalan I, Fuggerer T, Slavik B, Buettner A, Boccaccini AR. Antibacterial and antioxidant activity of cinnamon essential oil-laden 45S5 bioactive glass/soy protein composite scaffolds for the treatment of bone infections and oxidative stress. Materials Science and Engineering C. 2021;128.
- 114. AstanehME,NooriF,FereydouniN.Curcuminloaded scaffolds in bone regeneration. Heliyon. 2024 Jun;10(11):e32566.
- 115. Darzi S, Paul K, Leitan S, Werkmeister JA, Mukherjee S. Immunobiology and application of aloe vera-based scaffolds in tissue engineering. Vol. 22, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2021.
- 116. Yang Q, Peng J, Xiao H, Xu X, Qian Z. Polysaccharide hydrogels: Functionalization, construction and served as scaffold for tissue engineering. Vol. 278, Carbohydrate Polymers. 2022.
- 117. Oliveira ÉR, Nie L, Podstawczyk D, Allahbakhsh A, Ratnayake J, Brasil DL, et al. Advances in growth factor delivery for bone

tissue engineering. Vol. 22, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2021.

- 118. Chen T, Jiang Y, Huang JP, Wang J, Wang ZK, Ding PH. Essential elements for spatiotemporal delivery of growth factors within bio-scaffolds: A comprehensive strategy for enhanced tissue regeneration. Vol. 368, Journal of Controlled Release. 2024.
- 119. Shan BH, Wu FG. Hydrogel-Based Growth Factor Delivery Platforms: Strategies and Recent Advances. Vol. 36, Advanced Materials. 2024.
- 120. Ye W, Yang Z, Cao F, Li H, Zhao T, Zhang H, et al. Articular cartilage reconstruction with TGF-β1-simulating self-assembling peptide hydrogel-based composite scaffold. Acta Biomater. 2022;146.
- 121. Tsai MH, Megat Abdul Wahab R, Zainal Ariffin SH, Azmi F, Yazid F. Enhanced Osteogenesis Potential of MG-63 Cells through Sustained Delivery of VEGF via Liposomal Hydrogel. Gels. 2023;9(7).
- 122. Lynch RI, Lavelle EC. Immuno-modulatory biomaterials as anti-inflammatory therapeutics. Vol. 197, Biochemical Pharmacology. 2022.
- 123. Luo P, Huang R, Wu Y, Liu X, Shan Z, Gong L, et al. Tailoring the multiscale mechanics of tunable decellularized extracellular matrix (dECM) for wound healing through immunomodulation. Bioact Mater. 2023;28.
- 124. Ajith G, Tamilarasi GP, Sabarees G, Gouthaman S, Manikandan K, Velmurugan V, et al. Recent Developments in Electrospun Nanofibers as Delivery of Phytoconstituents for Wound Healing. Drugs and Drug Candidates. 2023;2(1).
- 125. Kamal NH, Heikal LA, Ali MM, Aly RG, Abdallah OY. Development and evaluation of local regenerative biomimetic boneextracellular matrix scaffold loaded with nano-formulated quercetin for orthopedic fractures. Biomaterials Advances. 2023;145.
- 126. Unalan I, Boccaccini AR. Essential oils in biomedical applications: Recent progress and future opportunities. Vol. 17, Current Opinion in Biomedical Engineering. 2021.
- 127. Yadav N, Mudgal D, Anand R, Jindal S, Mishra V. Recent development in

nanoencapsulation and delivery of natural bioactives through chitosan scaffolds for various biological applications. Vol. 220, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules. 2022.

- 128. Hutmacher DW, Tandon B, Dalton PD. Scaffold design and fabrication. In: Tissue Engineering. Elsevier; 2023. p. 355–85.
- 129. Koyyada A, Orsu P. Recent Advancements and Associated Challenges of Scaffold Fabrication Techniques in Tissue Engineering Applications. Vol. 7, RegenerativeEngineeringandTranslational Medicine. 2021.
- 130. Borbolla-Jiménez F V., Peña-Corona SI, Farah SJ, Jiménez-Valdés MT, Pineda-Pérez E, Romero-Montero A, et al. Films for Wound Healing Fabricated Using a Solvent Casting Technique. Vol. 15, Pharmaceutics. 2023.
- Gupta S, Javaid S, Dey M, Matzke C, Eades E, Ji Y. Exploration of solvent casting for designing engineered microstructures for biomedical and functional applications. Journal of the American Ceramic Society. 2022;105(3).
- 132. Fanovich MA, Di Maio E, Salerno A. Current Trend and New Opportunities for Multifunctional Bio-Scaffold Fabrication via High-Pressure Foaming. Vol. 14, Journal of Functional Biomaterials. 2023.
- 133. Katrilaka C, Karipidou N, Petrou N, Manglaris C, Katrilakas G, Tzavellas AN, et al. Freeze-Drying Process for the Fabrication of Collagen-Based Sponges as Medical Devices in Biomedical Engineering. Vol. 16, Materials. 2023.
- 134. Angraini N, Syarifuddin S, Rauf N, Tahir D. Advancements in Bone Tissue Engineering: A Comprehensive Review of Biomaterial Scaffolds and Freeze-Drying Techniques From Perspective Global and Future Research. Artif Organs. 2025 Feb 24;
- 135. Zeinali R, Del Valle LJ, Torras J, Puiggalí J. Recent progress on biodegradable tissue engineering scaffolds prepared by thermally-induced phase separation (Tips). Vol. 22, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2021.
- 136. Friuli M, Nitti P, Madaghiele M, Demitri C. A possible method to avoid skin effect

in polymeric scaffold produced through thermally induced phase separation. Results in Engineering. 2021;12.

- 137. Wang Z, Wang Y, Yan J, Zhang K, Lin F, Xiang L, et al. Pharmaceutical electrospinning and 3D printing scaffold design for bone regeneration. Vol. 174, Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews. 2021.
- 138. Prem Ananth K, Jayram ND. A comprehensive review of 3D printing techniques for biomaterial-based scaffold fabrication in bone tissue engineering. Vol. 13, Annals of 3D Printed Medicine. 2024.
- 139. Bakhtiar H, Ashoori A, Rajabi S, Pezeshki-Modaress M, Ayati A, Mousavi MR, et al. Human amniotic membrane extracellular matrix scaffold for dental pulp regeneration in vitro and in vivo. Int Endod J. 2022;55(4).
- 140. Puthiya Veettil J, Sasikumar Lolitha D, Payanam Ramachandra U. Combinatorial Decellularization as a Better Approach to Porcine Liver Extracellular Matrix Scaffold Fabrication With Preserved Bioactivity: A Comparative Evaluation. Xenotransplantation. 2025 Jan 17;32(1).
- 141. Yang DL, Faraz F, Wang JX, Radacsi N. Combination of 3D Printing and Electrospinning Techniques for Biofabrication. Vol. 7, Advanced Materials Technologies. 2022.
- 142. Qi Y, Lv H, Huang Q, Pan G. The Synergetic Effect of 3D Printing and Electrospinning Techniques in the Fabrication of Bone Scaffolds. Vol. 52, Annals of Biomedical Engineering. 2024.
- 143. Hashimoto K, Oikawa H, Shibata H. Characterization of Porous β-Type Tricalcium Phosphate Ceramics Formed via Physical Foaming with Freeze-Drying. Int J Mol Sci. 2024 May 14;25(10):5363.
- 144. Qamash M, Imani SM, Omidi M, Glancy C, Tayebi L. Investigation of the Effect of

Preparation Parameters on the Structural and Mechanical Properties of Gelatin/ Elastin/Sodium Hyaluronate Scaffolds Fabricated by the Combined Foaming and Freeze-Drying Techniques. Journal of Composites Science. 2024 Oct 4;8(10):408.

- 145. Rosalia M, Giacomini M, Tottoli EM, Dorati R, Bruni G, Genta I, et al. Investigation on Electrospun and Solvent-Casted PCL-PLGA Blends Scaffolds Embedded with Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells for Tissue Engineering. Pharmaceutics. 2023;15(12).
- 146. Mohammadi N, Alikhasi Amnieh Y, Ghasemi S, Karbasi S, Vaezifar S. Evaluation of the effects of decellularized extracellular matrix nanoparticles incorporation on the polyhydroxybutyrate/nano chitosan electrospun scaffold for cartilage tissue engineering. Int J Biol Macromol. 2024 Jul;273:133217.
- 147. Matejka R, Kanokova D, Supova M, Matejkova J, Chlupac J. Vascular Grafts Derived from Decellularized Tissues Modified with 3D Bioprinting. In 2024. p. 406–13.
- 148. Isik M, Karakaya E, Arslan TS, Atila D, Erdogan YK, Arslan YE, et al. 3D Printing of Extracellular Matrix-Based Multicomponent, All-Natural, Highly Elastic, and Functional Materials toward Vascular Tissue Engineering. Adv Healthc Mater. 2023;12(20).
- 149. Song Y, Hu Q, Liu S, Wang Y, Zhang H, Chen J, et al. Electrospinning/3D printing drugloaded antibacterial polycaprolactone nanofiber/sodium alginate-gelatin hydrogel bilayer scaffold for skin wound repair. Int J Biol Macromol. 2024;275.
- 150. Hosseini SA, Planz V, Stelzer EHK, Windbergs M, Pampaloni F. A hybrid bioprintingelectrospinning platform integrating nanofibers and mesenchymal cell spheroids for customizable wound healing dressings. 2024.

Issue 1

Dose-dependent response of metformin in enhancing motor performance and dopamine release in C57BL/6 mice afflicted by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)

Daha Umar ISHAQ^{1,2,3}, Binta Garba KURFI³ and Solomon Ojodemi Oguche^{3*}

¹Department of Bioscience and Bioengineering, School of Life Science and Technology, Xi'an Jiaotong University (XJTU), Xi'an, Shaanxi Province, China.

²Centre for Mitochondrial Biology and Medicine, The Key Laboratory of Biomedical Information Engineering of Ministry of Education, School of Life Science and Technology and Frontier Institute of Science and Technology, Xian Jiaotong University, Xi'an, Shaanxi Province, China.

³Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Basic Medical Sciences, College of Health Science, Bayero University, Kano (BUK), Kano, Nigeria.

Email: fidelity240@hotmail.com, binkurfi@gmail.com, soo2300001.mbc@buk.edu.ng

Received on, 28 February 2025 - Accepted on, 06 May 2025 - Published on, 12 May 2025

ABSTRACT:

Introduction: Clinically, metformin has been used as a cornerstone medicine in blood sugar homeostasis for further than 40 times It was obviously the first line treatment among type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) cases. Recently, fresh places of metformin in cancer & neurodegenerative conditions came apparent. Then, we delved the capabilities of this magic medicine in enhancing motor performance, dopamine (DA) release and TH- protein expression.

Methods: C57BL/6 mice were grouped into 4 via; Group1 (Saline), Group2 (MPTP), Group3 (MPTP + Met200), Group4 (MPTP + Met400). After acute administration of MPTP (25mg/kg for 5- successive days) and attendant follow-up by metformin (200 & 400 mg/kg), mice were exposed to several behavioral tests and later sacrificed for amperometric DA release measures.

Results: MPTP mice showed a significant drop in motor functions and amperometric amplitude (P<0.05), as well as the vesicle recycling as measured by pair-pulse ratio. Interestingly, metformin proves decisive in mollifying the motor dysfunctions caused by MPTP, with Met400 being more potent. It inversely improves the DA release as well the expression of its biomarker (Tyrosine Hydroxylase) in both striatum and Substantia Nigra pars compacta. This, in substance, has always indicated a functional part of metformin in employing the motor functions and DA release in the Parkinson's disease (PD) mode.

Conclusion: Our study demonstrated that metformin enhances motor function, DA release, and DA expression in C57BL/6 exposed to acute MPTP-induced neurotoxicity, possibly through vesicle recycling. These findings may facilitate the clinical application of metformin in the treatment of motor and even non-motor symptoms of PD.

Keywords: Metformin; Parkinson's Disease; Dopamine Release; MPTP; Motor Performance.

1. Introduction

Metformin is conventionally used as a foundation medicine in the treatment of type II diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and other metabolic syndromes (Patil et al. 2014). A long history of efficacy, energy, and safety has made metformin one of the most generally specified medications globally (Rena et al., 2013). Lately, it was set up to have profound eventuality in reducing the pitfalls of Parkinson's disease (PD) and other age-related central nervous system (CNS) diseases (Adedeji et al. 2014). The versatility of this magic medicine in upgrading the ruinous goods of both metabolic dislocations (e.g., T2DM) and neurodegenerative (e.g., PD) diseases is obviously due to the participated dysregulated pathways (Santiago and Potashkin 2014). It's vehemently believed that exposure to environmental factors and inheritable vulnerability is markedly associated with the etiology and progression of both conditions (Bayliss et al. 2016). Also, a compelling number of attestations from epidemiological studies suggested that T2DM is a threat factor for PD, although an implicit link between PD and T2DM remains controversial (Chen and Tsai 2010). Metformin also promotes neurogenesis and enhances spatial memory conformation through the activation of atypical PKC-CBP pathway (Wang et al. 2012). Metformin, besides it is currently trending role in neurodegenerative diseases (Alzheimer's disease, AD, and PD), was also found to have a profound role in mitigating the pathogenesis associated with cancer, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), inflammation, heart attack and polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) (Mahmood et al. 2013). Also, it's an important seeker in suppressing appetite and promoting weight loss (Day et al. 2019).

Levodopa, the current gold-standard medicine in the treatment of motor symptoms associated with PD, has been under pitfalls due to its incapability to upgrade the ruinous nonmotor symptoms. Still, under a long-term scale, it causes serious dyskinesia (involuntary muscle movements) called levodopa-induced dyskinesia (LID), and this, thus, corroborated the critical need for a more presumptive and potent medicine devoid of any long-term complications. Strong substantiation suggested the positivity associated with metformin in mitigating motor symptoms of PD and perfecting mitochondrial integrity by enhancing the upregulation of mitochondrial marker proteins such as heat shock protein 60 (HSP60) (Kang et al. 2017; Katila et al. 2017). Additionally, current progress is that mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress (substantially caused by occupational exposures to environmental poisons), and protein mishandling have a crucial part in PD pathogenesis (Martin et al. 2011). The neuropathological hallmark of PD is the presence of alpha-synuclein eliminations called Lewy- bodies in the midbrain, associated with progressive loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc) (Kakish et al. 2015). However, the precise medium underpinning the part of Lewy- bodies in PD cases isn't well established. Whereas Lewy bodies may represent an original attempt to sequester misfolded proteins, they may, at some

point, come as a trigger for a seditious response, which, in turn, damages DA neurons (Miller et al. 2019). In addition to Lewy bodies, activated microglia are also present in the brains of people with PD and in laboratory animals like mice and rodents. Inheritable factors are also attributed immensely to the etiology of PD, and until now, no available data has suggested the neuroprotective prowess of metformin on genetically caused PD. Numerous genes mutations similar to PINK1 (PARK6), LRRK-2, PARK2 (PRKN), MC-1, and UCHL-1 contributed putatively to the domestic PD (Lauretti et al. 2016; Pickrell et al. 2015). More so, gene mutations of PARK2 and PARK6 were reported to give rise to autosomal recessive youthful-onset Parkinsonism, a primary mitochondrial cytopathy (Goedert and Compston, 2018). However, it's imperative to understand that no available substantiation suggests that PD can be caused by inheritable factors single-handedly. However, a significant number of studies reported that a positive family history has been associated with a high risk of PD (Rotermund et al., 2018). Shen et al. (2018) reported that inheritable omission of vesicular glutamate transporter in DA neurons increases vulnerability to MPTP-induced neurotoxicity in mice.

In this study, we conducted four of the most constantly used behavioral assays (Open Field tests, Elevated Plus Maze, Rotarod, and Footprints), aimed primarily at the evaluation of motor activity, anxiety-related actions, and emotionality characteristics of C57BL/6 mice exposed to colorful treatments. We used an acute protocol of MPTP administration, which consists of administering 25mg/kg MPTP intraperitoneally for 5-successive days. As recently reported, metformin prevents dopaminergic neuron death in MPTP-induced mice models via autophagy and mitochondrial ROS concurrence (Patil et al. 2014; Martin et al. 2011).Werecentlyfoundthatmetforminenhances DA release and, therefore, vesicle recycling in dopaminergic neurons. Although its role in PD has been reported, no previous study has delved into its dose-dependent role in perfecting DA release on MPTP mice models. Most of the studies conducted so far concentrated on assessing its part in enhancing the integrity of mitochondrial proteins and posterior scavenging of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Kang et al. 2017). More so, the series of behavioral assays we conducted enabled proper evaluation of its role in motor performance and inescapably proved its eventuality in the treatment of motor symptoms.

Positive results attained from open field test and elevated plus maze test further indicated its propensity in treating non-motor symptoms that are similar to anxiety, a hallmark that wasn't hypothecated ahead. Eventually, our study suggests that metformin is a neuroprotective agent that mediates motor function, DA release, and vesicle recycling, a role that might be of remedial value for PD cases. Metformin might also be a rising pharmacological seeker against neurological diseases and, particularly, as a future replacement for Levodopa.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Animals and MPTP & Metformin Treatments

Twenty-five male C57BL/6 mice weighing 25–30 grams have been used in this study. All the experiments were intuitively conducted in the central laboratory and animal center of the School of Life Science and Technology of Xi'an Jiaotong University (XJTU), China, under the guidelines and directives of the Ethical Committee for Animal Care Protocol and Use. Adequate measures were put in place in order to minimize animal death, pain, and/or discomfort. Mice were equally exposed to the trial/training phase prior to the behavioral tests for habituation and acclimatization.

The MPTP administration protocol was developed by Jackson-Lewis and Przedborski (2007) (with little modification). The acute protocol (25 mg/ kg for five consecutive days intraperitoneally) was designed to produce desirable motor dysfunctions and dopaminergic loss. Since dopaminergic loss is a hallmark of PD, we analyzed whether acute MPTP administration can cause a loss of these DA neurons by investigating the level of tyrosine hydroxylase (being a major biomarker of PD) expression in both substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc) and striatum. Metformin (Sigma-Aldrich, ID# DST200524-178, CAS: 1115-70-4), on the other hand, was administered in two doses via middose of 200 mg/kg and high-dose of 400 mg/ kg. The potency and efficacy of each dose were analyzed accordingly.

Mice were kept for a couple of weeks in an animal center (five per cage) at light-dark cycles of 12 hours with free access to food and water. Prior to the treatments, mice were divided into four groups of 5-mice each and treated as follows: Group 1 was treated with saline and served as control, Group 2 was treated with MPTP (cumulative dose, 100 mg/kg of free MPTP), Group 3 was treated with MPTP and 200 mg/kg metformin (Met200) & Group 4 was treated with MPTP and 400 mg/kg metformin (Met400). After these treatments, mice were kept for a few days under the same environmental conditions and later sacrificed for further analysis using deep isoflurane anesthesia.



Figure 1 | Research Plan

The whole experiment was conducted in 3-4 months. 3-weeks are dedicated to mice's habituation and experimental trials. The next 3-weeks were dedicated to the administration of MPTP and Metformin. Four behavioral assays (EPM, OFT, Rotarod, and Footprints) were conducted between weeks 6th and 12th, including training. Mice were sacrificed, and biochemical and electrophysiological tests continued through week 18th.

2.2. Study Design

Thirty C57BL/6 male mice were randomly grouped into four as follows: Group I was treated with Saline and served as control. Group 2 was treated with MPTP (25 mg/kg intraperitoneally) for five consecutive days, and Group 3 and 4 were treated with 200 mg/kg and 400 mg/kg (met200 & met400) metformin, respectively. As an experiment that involved highly toxic agents, five extra mice were added to each group as a backup. The mice were serially trained for 14 consecutive days (2 weeks) to acclimatize and adopt the different motor tests (**Figure 1**). Metformin (dissolved in Saline) was administered orally using a plastic enteral feeding tube. Behavioral assessment was carried out on the 4th day following the administration of MPTP and Metformin. Later, the mice were sacrificed, and brain slides were systematically cut for DA release measurement using carbonfiber electrodes (CFE recordings).

2.3. Immunoblotting

Cells were isolated in lysis buffer containing 50mM HEPES, 150mM NaCl, 100mM NaF, 10mM sodium pyrophosphate, 5mM EDTA, 250mM sucrose, 1mM dithiothreitol and 1mM sodium orthovanadate with 1 % Triton-X and one tablet of complete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Roche, 11697498001) per 50mL, then stored at 80% until analysis. Protein concentration was determined with the Pierce BCA Protein Assay kit (Thermo Fisher). Lysates were then diluted with sample buffer and run on a polyacrylamide gel to separate proteins based on size. Next, samples were transferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride membrane and blocked in a 5% BSA for 1 hour at room temperature (20-25°C). Membranes were incubated with primary antibody (1:1000 except α -actin 1:1,500) overnight at 4°C. Appropriate antibodies secondary were used at a concentration of 1:10,000. Bound antibodies were detected using Clarity Western ECL Substrate (BioRad) (Vivacqua et al. 2020).

2.4. Open Field Test

In our laboratory settings, the Open Field Test (OFT) apparatus consists of a rectangular plastic arena measured (40 X 40 X 50) cm³. The area is well-tight to prevent fluid absorption. The whole arrangement is connected with a video tracking system in which the area is divided into small squares of 5cm by 5cm. The trajectory path of the mice was traced and recorded within the center and corner zones, respectively, using an automatic video tracking system mounted above the maze. The open field maze was cleaned thoroughly after each experiment with 70% ethyl alcohol to get rid of the odor signal and allowed to dry completely prior to testing other mice. The mice were taken from their respective cages to the behavior room directly and tested once at a time for 30 minutes. Occasionally, a

spherical beaker (or any other object) is placed at the center to measure the number of times the mice visited the region (center), and that will incontrovertibly mandate their social novelty, which, in substance, gives an evaluation of the position of depression and anxiety (Hwang et al. 2019).

2.5. Footprints

Footprint gaits were analyzed as preliminarily described by Wang et al. (2018). The hind paws and forepaws were coated with Red and Blue non-toxic ink. The mice were trained to walk along a 100cm-150cm long and 10cm wide opentop runaway (with 10cm high walls) with three runs per day for three successive days. A fresh sheet of white paper was placed on the bottom of the runway for each run. The footprint pattern was assessed quantitatively by stride length and front/hind footprint overlap or imbrication.

2.6. Rotarod

This test is used to evaluate mice's forelimb and hind-limb motor balance and coordination. In the 3rd week, mice were placed in a separate compartment on the rod and tested at an initial speed of 5 rpm until it reached 40 rpm. The latency to fall time (time on the rod) was recorded accordingly. Adapted from Ishaq et al. (2020) with little variations.

2.7. Elevated Plus Maze

The Elevated Plus Maze (EPM) test is used to assess anxiety-related behavior in mice models of Parkinson's disease and other Central Nervous System (CNS) disorders. The EPM set-up consists of a plus (+) – shaped maze elevated at roughly 100cm above the floor with two oppositely positioned closed arms, two oppositely positioned open arms, and a central area. As mice freely explore the maze, their behavior is recorded by means of a videotape camera placed above the maze and analyzed using a video tracking system. The preference for being in open arms over closed arms is calculated to measure anxiety-related behaviors. In order to detect zone entries and exits with perfection, the video was viewed in ANY-maze (Ojo et al. 2016).

Release Measurement)

Amperometric recordings in dorsal striatum slices were made using carbon fiber Electrodes (CFEs). Mice were anesthetized with isoflurane (1.5 g/kg, intraperitoneally) and transcardially perfused with approximately 50 ml ice-cold artificial cerebrospinal fluid-A (Sectioning CSF) (110 C5H14NCIO, 2.5 KCI, 0.5 CaCl2, 7 MgCl2, 1.3 NaH2PO4, 25 NaCO3, 25 glucose mM, saturated with 95% Oxygen and 5% Carbon dioxide). Next, the brain was quickly removed and cut into 300-micrometer horizontal slices on a vibratome (Leica VT 1000; Nussloch, Germany). Slices containing the striatum were collected at +0.0 to 1.2mm from bregma. Slices were allowed to recover for 30 min in another artificial cerebrospinal Fluid-B (recording CSF) (125 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 2 CaCl2, 1.3 MgCl2, 1.3 NaH2PO4, 25 NaCO3, 10 glucose mM, saturated with 95% oxygen and 5% Carbon dioxide at 37°C, and then kept at room temperature for recording. CFEs 7 micrometers in diameter with an approximate 200-micrometer sensor tip were used to measure DA release in the striatum. The exposed CFE tip was fully fitted into the sub-surface of the striatal slice at an angle close to 30°. A holding potential of 780 mV was applied to the electrode by an EPC9/2 amplifier and controlled by pulse software (HEKA Electronic, Lambrecht/Pfalz Germany). Single electrical field stimulation (Estim) pulses (0.2 ms, 0.6 mA) or trains (10 pulses at 20 Hz) were delivered through a bipolar platinum electrode (150-micrometer in diameter) and generated by a Grass S88K stimulator (Astro-Med). The amperometric current (I_{amp}) was low-pass filtered at 100 Hz and digitized at 3.13 kHz. The amplitude of amperometric current I_{amp} is proportional to the local DA overflow concentration [DA] with a calibration factor of 1 pA for nearly 6 nM. Offline analysis was performed using Igor software (WaveMetrix). This protocol was adopted by Hwang et al. (2019) with little revision.

2.9. Statistical Analysis

Results are presented as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical significance was assessed either via an unpaired 2-tailed student's t-test for two group comparisons or an ANOVA test with Turkey's HSD post hoc analysis for comparison of more than three groups. Statistical difference was considered significant at the level of P < 0.05 (5 % alpha). The results were analyzed using IgorPro, OriginPro2018, and SPSS 13.0 (statistical Packages for Social Sciences). Trajectory path/tract of the open field and elevated plus maze were obtained directly from the software (ANY-maze) and Bandicam independently with a videotape system mounted above the maze.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Metformin Improves locomotion in C57BL/6 mice

In this study, we conducted a series of behavioral tests using intact mice in order to evaluate the role of metformin in improving motor performance (especially locomotion). Open field test, being an important sensorimotor test used to determine gross locomotor activity and exploration habits in mice models exhibiting PD symptoms, was conducted in an open field maze with the mice allowed to move freely for 30 minutes while being recorded by an overhead camera. Total distance covered, time spent in pre-defined zones (center and corners), and average and maximum speed were all recorded and analyzed accordingly (Fig. 2A-E). The PD models (mice treated with MPTP) tend to cover a shorter distance and spent little time at the center of the maze when compared to the control (Fig. 2A). This, in essence, was attributed to the lack of balance and cognitive function following the predisposed DA neuronal loss in the striatum caused by MPTP. The cognitive dysfunctions (mostly anxiety and depression), however, are a result of precise damage of the DA neuron terminals in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) (Vivacqua et al. 2020). Another possible explanation for the decreased movement might be the increase in the actions of the direct pathway within the basal ganglia. It is obvious that deficiency of DA in the brain may lead to delayed and awkward movement (Fig. F {PD models}), and likewise, it is excess causes the body to make unnecessary movements such as repetitive tics or repetitious singularities (Ojo et al. 2016).

Metformin (especially Met400) showed some promising neuroprotective prowess with respect to locomotion as well as anxiety-related behaviors. The total distance covered by the MPTP group was improved handsomely following the administration of Met200 and Met400, with the latter being more potent and efficient (**Fig. 2A**). More so, the time spent in the inner/center zones in the MPTP group was improved significantly (P < 0.05) following the administration of metformin. This indirectly measures thigmotaxis or wall-hugging behavior, and it is invariably indicative of anxiety-related behavior (**Fig. 2F**). Maximum and average speed further explained the redundancy of the mice to explore more areas of the maze, and this might be attributed to the depression they suffered following the MPTP damage (**Fig. 2D/E**). The overall result, in essence, proves beyond doubt that metformin has potential with respect to neuroprotection.



(F) Trajectory Paths as Recorded by Video Assistant System, VAS



Figure 2 | Open Field Test

Saline, MPTP, Met200 & Met400 (n = 5, each) mice were subjected to the OFT, and Total distance covered, time spent in center zones, and average and maximum speed were statistically analyzed. Fig. 2A. Bar chart representation of the total distance covered by saline/control and PD model/MPTP. Fig. 2B. Bar chart showing the total distance covered by MPTP and Metformin groups. Met200 covered almost the same distance as the MPTP group, whereas Met200 was higher but still statistically insignificant (P = 0.096). This showed some promising neuroprotective role of metformin in improving motor performance. Fig. 2C. Bar chart representation showing the time spent in the inner/center zones. Time spent in the center zones is very limited in the MPTP group when compared with metformin groups (P < 0.05). Fig. 2D/E. Bar charts represent the maximum and average as indicative of locomotion and redundancy. Fig. 2F. Trajectory

paths as recorded by Video Assistant System, VAS: The mice were allowed to move freely in an open field rectangular space, and the corresponding movement (locomotion) was recorded by ANYMAZE software and video system. Center zones and corner zones were accordingly. MPTP-treated selected mice move more predominantly within the corner zones in contrast to the saline (control), which moves more evenly. The results for the data were expressed as mean ± SEM. Statistical analysis (*t-test*) was performed using SPSS and Microsoft Excel 2010. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05.

3.2. Metformin Plays a Key Role in Anxiety-Related Disorders

Following the establishment of some nonmotor function of metformin in C57BL/6 mice afflicted by MPTP, we investigated further using Elevated Plus Maze (EPM). EPM is used to assess anxiety-related behavior in rodent models of CNS disorders. As an anxiety test, we performed the test 3 days after the open field, Rotarod, and footprints in order to ensure full coordination and cognition. We analyzed their propensity to explore the open and closed arms of the maze, and from there, we evaluated the function of each treatment. In this study, we stationed open field tests together with EPM to evaluate spontaneous locomotors and exploratory conditioning. The number of arm entries (open and closed), as well as the duration spent in each, was the index we used to predict the anxiety-related behavior of each group. Interestingly, the time spent in the open and closed arms is significantly higher than that of the PD model (MPTP group) (P < 0.05). Metformin (Met400), on the other hand, increases the duration of the MPTP mice in both arms. The restoration conferred by Met400 was neither total nor absolute but proved decisive and promising. The explanation, then, is that when the mouse feels anxious, it tends to remain in the open arm, and that is what we discovered in our findings. The mice induced with MPTP (presumably, PD models) spent more time in the closed arms, and this clearly indicated an increase in anxiety as associated with PD subjects (Fig. 3B). We discovered that PD models have a limited number of arm entries and this indicated that, besides their motor impairment, there is a massive reduction in their cognitive function with respect to anxiety and depression (Fig. 3C). It appeared to us that the PD models feels very anxious to explore the various arms and slowly leads to slowness in decision and redundancy (**Fig. 3E**). We presumably postulated this theory based on the longest time they spent in the center when compared to other groups. Conclusively, motor impairment and cognitive function (specifically anxiety) are inversely proportional to the frequencies of arm entries and time spent in open arms. Furthermore, the impairment was to be directly proportional to the time spent in closed arms.





Fig. 3A. EPM set-up: The maze is settled with a height of about half-meter above the floor, with pillars standing from the ground floor. The maze is made up of two arms (2-open & 2-closed) crossing each other perpendicularly. The two paths facing each other have halls (hence called closed arms), and the other two have no walls (hence called open arms). Fig. 3B. Category Plot Bar chart representation of the time spent in the open and closed arms of the 4-groups. A very sharp and significant difference was observed between the two arms of each group (P < 0.05) and, obviously, higher time spent in closed arms. Fig. 3C. Bar chart representation showing the frequencies of arm entries. The frequency of arm entries decreases with an increase in motor impairment, and obviously, the MPTP group has the lowest. Fig. 3D. 100 % stacked column chart indicating the relative percentage of the time spent in each arm. Fig. 3D. A simple bar chart

representation shows the percentage of time spent in neither of the arms (center) of the respective groups. MPTP group has the highest.

3.3. Metformin Enhances Balance and Motor Coordination

Motor coordination and balance were intimately evaluated and quantitatively assessed using the Rotarod test. The C57BL/6 mice were exposed to a series of experimental trials and 3-week training prior to taking readings/data to ensure full adaptation and learning the task to the same degree. Data were collected in batches throughout the 9th and 12th weeks (**Fig. E-G**). And at the end of week 12th (**Fig. B-D**). Testing consists of three sessions every week. Then, mice were tested on the accelerating rotation protocol in which they were placed on a rod that accelerates initially from 0-5

June 2025 Volume 5 Issue 1

rpm and then gradually from 5 to 40 rpm until they collapsed. We observed carefully that the control and Met400 mice were able to withstand the rotating rod at the maximum speed (40 rpm) until they reached RAMP at 300 seconds (**Fig. 4B/D**). Meanwhile, the MPTP and Met200 mice withstood the rotation only hard and fell at a fairly lower time (**Fig. 4C**). As time progressed, we observed a massive improvement in the endurance, and metformin proved decisive over a period of 4 weeks. Initially (in the first 2 weeks), there was no statistical difference between the MPTP and metformin groups (Met200 & Met400). At week 3, we recorded a significant change in the endurance on the rod between the MPTP and Met400 (**Fig. 4G**), indicating positivity surrounding the neuroprotective training of metformin in improving motor performance; meanwhile, no progress was observed with respect to Met200. Unexpectedly enough, the loftiest latency to fall time was observed in the 3rd week, not 4th and the only conclusion we can decide then may be muscle fatigue, whereas the impotency in the first 2-weeks might be associated with motor learning skills/behaviors. Importantly, metformin showed some promising role in ameliorating the adverse effects of MPTP by nearly restoring balance and maybe social



Figure 4 | Rotarod Test

Fig. 4A. Mouse Rotarod Set-up: The apparatus consists of a circular rod turning at increased speed (Initial of 5 rpm and Max. of 40 rpm). Mice were placed on the rotating rod to maintain balance and coordination. It is well automated, and we were able to test 5-mice at a time. Vertical metallic plates served as barriers to separate each. The latency to fall time was recorded and analyzed accordingly. Fig 4B: Rotarod (Saline Vs. MPTP): Expectedly, the Latency to falling time in the Saline is significantly longer than that of MPTP (P < 0.05). Fig 4C. Rotarod (MPTP Vs. Met200): Met200 failed Fig. 4D. (MPTP Vs. Met400): Increased time was sustained on the rod in the same group of mice treated with MPTP. Surprisingly, during the first 2-weeks, there was not much difference with the MPTP group. Fig. E-G. Analyze the endurance level in 4 weeks. Motor impairment increases with time as MPTP consistently causes damage, and subsequently, the gap widens (E). Met200 appeared to be less potent here, and the mice fell almost at the

same time as that of the MPTP group (**F**). Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM of the triplicate readings and considered significant at **P* < 0.05 and ***P* < 0.01.

3.4. Metformin Treatment maintained stride length in Footprint Gait analysis

It has been established profoundly that MPTP causes motor deficits such as involuntary movements (Di Biase et al. 2020). Objective evaluation and analysis of the gait cycle is, therefore, pivotal in understanding the severity and inflexibility of motor impairment. Gait impairment is an evolving condition, and a series of gait disturbances are evident as the disease progresses. Here, we assess the progression and severity of motor abnormalities induced by MPTP. Footprint gait analysis is used as an evaluation index. Metformin improves the unbalanced gait induced by MPTP (Fig. 5C/E). The stride length of saline, when compared to MPTP, was found to be significantly different at P < 0.05. They showed greater variation with the MPTP group in both the SD and range of stride length (Fig. **B/D**). Our findings proved that metformin can ameliorate the unsupportable deterioration caused by MPTP in the performance of motor tasks. Both Met200 and Met400 exert a very amicable impact in subsidizing deficits within cognitive and behavioral domains. However, in order to ascertain the impact, only 5-6 footprints of each group were sufficiently clear to be analyzed. Collectively, these findings indicate that metformin at both doses is sufficient to ameliorate locomotor deficits associated with gait abnormality, among others.





Fig. 5A. Footprints: footprints showing the stride length and overlap. **Fig. 5B.** Footprints of the MPTP and Saline. Concentrated stride length in the MPTP models indicates lower numbers of overlap as well as irregularity in their movement (gait abnormality). **Fig. 5C/E.** Footprints (MPTP VS Metformin). The number of overlaps indicates the regularity and order of movement. Expectedly, MPTP models showed a significantly limited number of overlaps (P < 0.001). Metformin reverses some of the motor deficits caused by MPTP (P < 0.01).

3.5. Metformin Improves DA Release and Vesicle Replenishment in both Striatum and SNc

Grounded on the compelling number of former research, we heavily believed and established the fact that MPTP causes a series of neurotoxic insults by inhibiting complex I protein of the electron transport chain (ETC)

of the mitochondria (Hwang et al. 2019). This inhibition will integrate DA transporters (DAT) and block mitochondrial oxidative respiration, which will later result in the dysfunction of some mitochondrial proteins as well as the overall drop in mitochondrial energy and integrity (Mugikura et al. 2016). Accordingly, this will result in a lower release of neurotransmitters (specifically, DA) in the regions affected (Striatum and SNc). Then, we made amperometric recordings with electrochemical carbon-fiber electrodes (CFEs) in striatal and SNc slices to determine whether metformin can ameliorate the impaired DA release from the nigrostriatal terminals in mice induced by MPTP (Fig. 6B). When a local original electrical stimulus (Fig. 6A) was applied to the brain slice (striatal slice in particular), there was a transient increase in amperometric current with a subsequent decay to baseline. This laterally represents a transient increase in extracellular DA concentration. Our findings

showed that metformin (especially Met400) can reverse some of the effects caused by MPTP (**Fig. 6C/G**). No former exploration or research delved into the neuroprotective role of different doses of metformin on MPT-induced PD models. Kang et al. (2017) conducted their evaluation on 6-OHDA PD models with no account of DA release. Next, we evaluated the role of metformin on vesicle recycling to determine whether it favors exocytosis and/or endocytosis by assaying the pair-pulse ratios at different stimulus intervals (10s, 20s, 30s, 40s) (**Fig. 6D/E/H/I**).

Expectedly, we discovered a massive reduction in the DA release and vesicle recycling in the MPTP mice as compared to the control. Both the amplitude as well as the pair-pulse ratios are reduced significantly (P < 0.05) in both the striatum and the SNc regions. And has inevitably indicated that vesicle replenishment was vehemently inhibited. However, burst stimulation using 10 a train of 10 pulses at a frequency of 20Hz revealed a reduced releasable vesicle pool in the striatal DA terminals only. Furthermore, we assessed the role of metformin in vesicle recycling by stimulating the regions at different times. Originally (at 10s and 20s), the DA release was veritably harmonious and steady but nearly the same as the baseline, and there was no significant difference between the groups. This, in essence, indicates that transient stimulation is sufficient to initiate release while potency/ energy increases only with time (Fig. 6D/H). From the lower amplitude obtained in Met200, we stimulated only the Met400 strategically over four separate periods. Interestingly, we found that Met400 is potent enough to improve the DA release and vesicle recycling as time progresses (Fig. 6E/I).



Figure 6A | DA release in Striatum and SNc

Fig. 6A: Carbon-Fiber Electrode Recording Setup: Showing the arrangement for measuring the DA release in the striatum and substantia nigra. Representative amperometric currents in *Pico* ampere and statistics showing the intact DA release from dopaminergic terminals in the striatum and corresponding MPTP-damaged region. Carbon fiber is used to detect the release of DA. Estim serves as an electrophysiological stimulator that triggers the release of DA at different frequencies. **Fig. 6B/F: DA release of MPTP-mice:** striatal and SNc slices of the brain treated with MPTP show a massive reduction in the DA release when compared to the saline (P

< 0.01) in both regions. This inarguably confirms the successful administration of MPTP to the target area and paves the way for further tests. Fig. 6C/G: protective effects of metformin at different concentrations: Both Met200 and Met400 slightly improve the release of DA in the striatum and SNc. Expectedly, the highest amplitude was detected at 400mg/kg in both regions. Metformin displayed a certain level of DA replenishment against the effect induced by MPTP significantly in the SNc (P < 0.01) and statistically insignificant in the striatum (NS, P = 0.939). Fig. 6D/H: Vesicle Recycling (Saline vs. **MPTP) in the striatum and SNc:** MPTP inhibits vesicle pool replenishment in dopaminergic neurons in both regions at the 30s and 40s stimulus intervals. Fig. 6E/I: Vesicle Recycling (MPTP vs. Metformin) in the striatum and SNc: Both Met200 and Met400 enhance the vesicle recycling in a stimulus-dependent pattern in the two brain regions. At 10s and 20s, the DA release is not significant enough as compared to baseline, and there is no improvement in the vesicle recycling, whereas, at 30s and 40s, there is enough recycling of dopaminergic neurons from their vesicles (P < 0.01) (P < 0.05) respectively. Pair-pulse ratios of DA release with different stimulus intervals (10s, 20s, 30s, 40s) were recorded accordingly. Data were collected from three different experiments and were expressed as mean ± SEM and unpaired student t-test.

3.6. Metformin enhances the expression of DA Biomarker (Tyrosine Hydroxylase) in both Striatum and SNc

Western blot analysis of the striatum and SNc of the MPTP mouse models showed that metformin (both Met200 and Met400) increased the levels of TH expression, and this may potentially lead to the defensive effects of metformin in rescuing dopaminergic neurons (Fig. 7A/B). Subsequent MPTP intoxication led to relative suppression of the catecholaminergic protein, TH, in both regions of the brain, and hence, metformin can only reverse the degeneration slightly. Based on our data, we found that the intoxication caused by MPTP was not unrecoverable, and the architecture of the affected regions can get back to normalcy with appropriate interventions. Interestingly, the striatum and the SNc of the group treated with metformin (especially Met400) demonstrated maintenance of TH expression when compared to the treated group (control). In conclusion, our results from this analysis suggested that metformin plays a crucial part in the survival of dopaminergic neurons in the midst of intoxication and subsequent oxidative stress. More so, a compelling number of studies have reported unequaled neuroprotective role(s) of metformin in MPTP-induced PD models. However, Curry et al. (2018) claimed that metformin is ineffective in 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA)-induced PD models. Presently, no available data shows the neuroprotective prowess of metformin on rotenone-induced models.





Figure 7 | TH expression in Striatum and SNc/Densitometric Analysis

Acute administration of MPTP decreases TH protein level. Fig. 7A. Striatum: Representative western blots showing the expression of Tyrosine Hydroxylase (TH) in the SNc and striatum of C57BL/6 mice treated with MPTP or metformin or both as determined by western blot with the indicated antibody. Western blots were performed 4 weeks after the last MPTP injection. Fig. 7B. Bar chart representation showing the optical density of TH protein expression in the striatum region of the brain. The expression in the MPTP-treated mice is significantly reduced when compared to control/saline (P < 0.01) and almost significant when compared to a lower dose of metformin (Met200) (P = 0.741). However, Met400 enhances the clarity and, hence, the expression of the TH-protein in the MPTP-treated mice significantly (P < 0.05). Fig. 7C. SNc: Representative western blots showing the expression of TH in SNc of the midbrain performed 4 weeks after the last MPTP injection. Fig. 7D. Bar chart showing optical density fibers in the SNc. A significant reduction in expression of the TH in the MPTP group was observed when compared to the control (P < 0.05), whereas Met400 rescued some dopaminergic neurons in the region (P < 0.05) as Met200 showed no difference. Values were expressed as fold to control and analyzed using Image J and OriginPro18 accordingly. * indicated a significant difference at 5% confidence interval (CI), ** at 1% confidence interval (CI).

3. Discussion

Metformin was well known for its role in metabolic syndromes and established a reputable status

as a cornerstone remedial and therapeutic option for T2DM almost 5 decades ago. Recently, besides the aforementioned role, metformin was found to be effective in neurodegenerative diseases (e.g., PD) and cancer (Rotermund et al. 2018). Mechanistically, it affects several tissues that are central to metabolic homeostasis, including the pancreas, liver, brain, and skeletal muscle. In view of it is different physiological functions, it is not even surprising that metformin has an eventuality of improving motor deficits and DA release (Tayara et al. 2018; Lee et al. 2020)

June 2025

Volume 5

Issue 1

In recent years, metformin was set up to be effective in perfecting motor symptoms of PD in experimental animals and also eased the L-DOPA-induced motor complications (Ryu et al. 2018). Motor dysfunctions similar to resting tremors, rigidity, and bradykinesia were the most common and indeed the most visible symptoms of PD and have a negative impact on the quality of life of cases with the complaint (Murata et al. 2016; Ishaq et al. 2020). So far, the open Field Test (OFT) is the most effective canonical assay for the relative assessment of changes in locomotor function (Samson et al. 2015). Regardless of the dose, metformin-treated mice showed increased entries of the center zone in the open field maze, which always indicated an increased curiosity and lower situations of anxiety (El-Sisi et al. 2015). This, thus, verified the role of metformin in ameliorating motor deficits. OFT, in combination with the Elevated Plus Maze test (EPM), is typically used to probe the behavioral function of certain compounds (e.g., anxiolytic agents) in preclinical settings involving PD models (Ojo et al. 2016; Ramos et al.

2008; Sestakova et al. 2013). Here, we combined OFT and EPM results as indices of locomotion, anxiety, and exploration to predict the possible pharmacological role of metformin (Met400 in particular) in alleviating motor deficits caused by MPTP. As these two tests (OFT and EPM) all rely on the unconditioned avoidance of threatening situations and free moving within the maze, it could be hypothesized that metformin is not only effective in motor functions but also enhances non-motor deficits such as anxiety. In essence, Met400 improves locomotor function and mediates anxiety-related behaviors and gross motor functions in C57BL/6 mice induced by MPTP (**Fig. 2B-F & 3B-D**).

Having established the dose-dependent response of metformin on MPTP-induced PD models in locomotion and anxiety, we also set to explore the part of metformin in the conservation of balance and coordination. Postural balance, gait normality, and muscle strength were analyzed sequentially using Rotarod tests and footprints gait analysis (Hu et al. 2018). Here, we observed that mice treated with saline and metformin showed better balance and muscle coordination in the rotarod and footprints tests than the MPTP group (presumably PD). Groups treated with Met200 and Met400 may protect the dopaminergic neurons within the striatum from degeneration, leading to enhanced motor coordination, balance, and muscle strength. Also, as a hallmark of PD-like pathology in experimental animals, we measured the level of DA release using an electrophysiological carbon-fiber electrode. The amperometric amplitude (PA) was assessed, as well as the pair-pulse ratios at different stimulation intervals (Mosharov et al. 2005; Lahiri and Bevan 2020; Ivanova et al. 2020). Our findings, for the first time, reveal that metformin enhances DA release in a dose-dependent manner. Met400 was found to favorably increase the DA release magnitude compared to the MPTP group (Fig. 6).

Lower level and/or expression of TH- protein was one of the hallmarks attributed to PD pathogenesis. The expression of this biomarker is constitutively associated with catecholamines such as DA. Formerly, metformin was proved decisive in improving the number of TH-positive neurons in the striatum and SNc as evidenced by immunohistochemical assays/images (Patil et al. 2014; Bayliss et al. 2016; Kang et al. 2017; Vivacqua et al. 2020; Lee et al. 2020). Here, we observed that metformin has the ability to stimulate TH-protein expressions in both striatum and SNc. Met200 did not show any appreciable change compared to the control (**Fig 7**), and this demonstrated that only a high dose (Met400) of metformin is capable of inducing TH expression in both regions. A novel observation from our study is that the expression of TH in both striatum and SNc is fairly the same despite the unequal distribution of proteins.

A limitation of our study was that we could not give long-term experimental follow-up of metformin and the effects of metabolic phenotypes of C57BL/6 mice on the dosedependent neuroprotective response of metformin and consequent deceleration of body weight in MPTP-treated groups. Therefore, further studies should concentrate on histological morphologies, body weight variation, longterm effects of metformin (say 3-4 months), and proteomic changes associated with the major mitochondrial protein biomarkers. This is in view of the fact that MPTP specifically inhibits complex I of the electron transport chain (Kang et al. 2017; Jackson-Lewis and Przedborki 2007; Lee et al. 2020; Williams-Langson et al. 1985) and inevitably disrupts the integrity of Mitochondria as a whole. The consequences of this might lead to metabolic changes, including weight loss.

4. Conclusion

Our study demonstrated that metformin enhances motor function, DA release, and DA expression in C57BL/6 exposed to acute MPTPinduced neurotoxicity, possibly through vesicle recycling. Our findings may facilitate the clinical application of metformin in the treatment of motor and even non-motor symptoms of PD. We greatly believed that metformin might be the future clinical substitute for Levodopa.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest and sincere thanks to my able Professor Wang Changhe for his support, training and supervision. I am equally grateful for the wonderful support received from my respected lab mates Chen Yang, Gu-Yu Hao, and Shaoqin Hu. The support received from the non-teaching staff of the animal center should never be in vain. I am indeed thankful for your timely support.

Author Contributions

Daha Umar Ishaq: Conceptualization, Methodology, Software. Daha Umar Ishaq.: Data curation, Writing-Original draft preparation. Daha Umar Ishaq: Visualization, Investigation. Daha Umar Ishaq: Software, Validation: Binta Garba Kurfi and Solomon Ojodemi Oguche: Writing-Reviewing and Editing. Daha Umar Ishaq and Solomon Ojodemi Oguche.: Formal Analysis & Project Administration.

Disclosure Statement

The authors declared no potential conflicts of interests with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Funding

The work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31670843, 31400708, 81571235, 21790390 and 21790394), Shaanxi Natural Science Funds for Distinguished Young Scholars of China (2019JC-07), the Key Research and Development Program of Shaanxi Province China (2017SF-113), the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (2017qngz10), and the National Natural Science Foundation of Shandong Province of China (ZR2016CM16).

References

- Patil SP, Jain PD, Ghumatkar PJ, Tambe R, Sathaye S. Neuroprotective effect of metformin in MPTP-induced Parkinson's disease in mice. Neuroscience. 2014 Sep;277:747–54.
- 2. Rena G, Pearson ER, Sakamoto K. Molecular mechanism of action of metformin: old or new insights? Diabetologia. 2013 Sep 9;56(9):1898–906.
- 3. Adedeji HA, Ishola IO, Adeyemi OO. Novel action of metformin in the prevention of haloperidol-induced catalepsy in mice: Potential in the treatment of Parkinson's disease? Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2014 Jan;48:245–51.
- 4. Santiago JA, Potashkin JA. Shared dysregulated pathways lead to Parkinson's disease and diabetes. Trends Mol Med. 2013 Mar;19(3):176–86.
- Bayliss JA, Lemus MB, Santos V V., Deo M, Davies JS, Kemp BE, et al. Metformin Prevents Nigrostriatal Dopamine Degeneration Independent of AMPK Activation in Dopamine Neurons. PLoS One. 2016 Jul 28;11(7):e0159381.
- 6. Chen SY, Tsai ST. The Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease. Tzu Chi Med J. 2010 Jun;22(2):73–81.
- 7. Wang J, Gallagher D, DeVito LM, Cancino GI, Tsui D, He L, et al. Metformin Activates an Atypical PKC-CBP Pathway to Promote

Neurogenesis and Enhance Spatial Memory Formation. Cell Stem Cell. 2012 Jul;11(1):23– 35.

- Mahmood K, Naeem M, Rahimnajjad NA. Metformin: The hidden chronicles of a magic drug. Eur J Intern Med. 2013 Jan;24(1):20-6.
- Day EA, Ford RJ, Smith BK, Mohammadi-Shemirani P, Morrow MR, Gutgesell RM, et al. Metformin-induced increases in GDF15 are important for suppressing appetite and promoting weight loss. Nat Metab. 2019 Dec 9;1(12):1202-8.
- Kang H, Khang R, Ham S, Jeong GR, Kim H, Jo M, et al. Activation of the ATF2/ CREB-PGC-1α pathway by metformin leads to dopaminergic neuroprotection. Oncotarget. 2017 Jul 25;8(30):48603–18.
- Martin I, Dawson VL, Dawson TM. Recent Advances in the Genetics of Parkinson's Disease. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. 2011 Sep 22;12(1):301–25.
- Kakish J, Lee D, Lee JS. Drugs That Bind to α-Synuclein: Neuroprotective or Neurotoxic? ACS Chem Neurosci. 2015 Dec 16;6(12):1930-40.
- Miller SM, Marcotulli D, Shen A, Zweifel LS. Divergent medial amygdala projections regulate approach-avoidance conflict behavior. Nat Neurosci. 2019 Apr 25;22(4):565-75.

- Lauretti E, Di Meco A, Merali S, Praticò D. Chronic behavioral stress exaggerates motor deficit and neuroinflammation in the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Transl Psychiatry. 2016 Feb 9;6(2):e733– e733.
- 15. Pickrell AM, Youle RJ. The Roles of PINK1, Parkin, and Mitochondrial Fidelity in Parkinson's Disease. Neuron. 2015 Jan;85(2):257–73.
- Goedert M, Compston A. Parkinson's disease – the story of an eponym. Nat Rev Neurol. 2018 Jan 8;14(1):57–62.
- 17. Rotermund C, Machetanz G, Fitzgerald JC. The Therapeutic Potential of Metformin in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2018 Jul 19;9.
- Shen H, Marino RAM, McDevitt RA, Bi GH, Chen K, Madeo G, et al. Genetic deletion of vesicular glutamate transporter in dopamine neurons increases vulnerability to MPTP-induced neurotoxicity in mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2018 Dec 4;115(49).
- 19. Jackson-Lewis V, Przedborski S. Protocol for the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Nat Protoc. 2007 Jan 15;2(1):141–51.
- Vivacqua G, Biagioni F, Busceti CL, Ferrucci M, Madonna M, Ryskalin L, et al. Motor Neurons Pathology After Chronic Exposure to MPTP in Mice. Neurotox Res. 2020 Feb 13;37(2):298–313.
- Hwang DJ, Kwon KC, Song HK, Kim KS, Jung YS, Hwang DY, et al. Comparative analysis of dose-dependent neurotoxic response to 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine in C57BL/6N mice derived from three different sources. Lab Anim Res. 2019 Dec 25;35(1):10.
- 22. Wang C, Kang X, Zhou L, Chai Z, Wu Q, Huang R, et al. Synaptotagmin-11 is a critical mediator of parkin-linked neurotoxicity and Parkinson's disease-like pathology. Nat Commun. 2018 Jan 8;9(1):81.
- 23. DU I. Metformin Improves Dopamine Release and Motor Performance in C57BL/6N Mice induced by MPTP: Insights of Alternative Medication for Parkinson's Disease. Advances in Clinical Toxicology. 2020;5(1):1–9.

- 24. Ojo JO, Mouzon B, Algamal M, Leary P, Lynch C, Abdullah L, et al. Chronic Repetitive Mild Traumatic Brain Injury Results in Reduced Cerebral Blood Flow, Axonal Injury, Gliosis, and Increased T-Tau and Tau Oligomers. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2016 Jul;75(7):636– 55.
- 25. di Biase L, Di Santo A, Caminiti ML, De Liso A, Shah SA, Ricci L, et al. Gait Analysis in Parkinson's Disease: An Overview of the Most Accurate Markers for Diagnosis and Symptoms Monitoring. Sensors. 2020 Jun 22;20(12):3529.
- Mugikura S ichiro, Katoh A, Watanabe S, Kimura M, Kajiwara K. Abnormal gait, reduced locomotor activity and impaired motor coordination in Dgcr2 -deficient mice. Biochem Biophys Rep. 2016 Mar;5:120-6.
- 27. Curry DW, Stutz B, Andrews ZB, Elsworth JD. Targeting AMPK Signaling as a Neuroprotective Strategy in Parkinson's Disease. J Parkinsons Dis. 2018 Jun 13;8(2):161–81.
- Tayara K, Espinosa-Oliva AM, García-Domínguez I, Ismaiel AA, Boza-Serrano A, Deierborg T, et al. Divergent Effects of Metformin on an Inflammatory Model of Parkinson's Disease. Front Cell Neurosci. 2018 Nov 21;12.
- 29. Lee K, Claar LD, Hachisuka A, Bakhurin KI, Nguyen J, Trott JM, et al. Temporally restricted dopaminergic control of rewardconditioned movements. Nat Neurosci. 2020 Feb 13;23(2):209–16.
- Ryu YK, Park HY, Go J, Choi DH, Kim YH, Hwang JH, et al. Metformin Inhibits the Development of I-DOPA-Induced Dyskinesia in a Murine Model of Parkinson's Disease. Mol Neurobiol. 2018 Jul 16;55(7):5715–26.
- Murata M, Mihara M, Hasegawa K, Jeon B, Tsai CH, Nishikawa N, et al. Efficacy and safety of levodopa-carbidopa intestinal gel from a study in Japanese, Taiwanese, and Korean advanced Parkinson's disease patients. NPJ Parkinsons Dis. 2016 Nov 3;2(1):16020.
- 32. Samson AL, Ju L, Ah Kim H, Zhang SR, Lee JAA, Sturgeon SA, et al. MouseMove: an open source program for semi-automated analysis of movement and cognitive testing in rodents. Sci Rep. 2015 Nov 4;5(1):16171.

- 33. Mohammed Abd-Elrazek A, El-Sisi SF, Radwan OK, El-Nabarawy SK, Abdelrazek AM. Comparative Study of Some Natural and Artificial Food Coloring Agents on Hyperactivity, Learning and Memory Performance in Weanling Rats. Int J Sci Basic Appl Res. 2015;21(2).
- 34. Ramos A. Animal models of anxiety: do I need multiple tests? Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2008 Oct;29(10):493–8.
- Sestakova N, Puzserova A, Kluknavsky M, Bernatova I. Determination of motor activity and anxiety-related behaviour in rodents: methodological aspects and role of nitric oxide. Interdiscip Toxicol. 2013 Sep 1;6(3):126–35.
- 36. Hu M, Li F, Wang W. Vitexin protects dopaminergic neurons in MPTP-induced Parkinson's disease through PI3K/ Akt signaling pathway. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2018 Mar;Volume 12:565–73.

- 37. Mosharov EV, Sulzer D. Analysis of exocytotic events recorded by amperometry. Nat Methods. 2005 Sep 23;2(9):651–8.
- 38. Lahiri AK, Bevan MD. Dopaminergic Transmission Rapidly and Persistently Enhances Excitability of D1 Receptor-Expressing Striatal Projection Neurons. Neuron. 2020 Apr;106(2):277-290.e6.
- Ivanova D, Imig C, Camacho M, Reinhold A, Guhathakurta D, Montenegro-Venegas C, et al. CtBP1-Mediated Membrane Fission Contributes to Effective Recycling of Synaptic Vesicles. Cell Rep. 2020 Feb;30(7):2444-2459.e7.
- 40. William Langston J. MPTP and parkinson's disease. Trends Neurosci. 1985 Jan;8:79–83.





JOURNAL Volume 5 - Issue 1 - June 2025



E-ISSN: 2812-4898

1010 445